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Around the world, around the bloc( around the clock

Today a teacher in Texas laces up to train for her first

marathon, one year after beating cancer' A boy in Korea "'

sees his bright new smile after his first trip to the dentlst'

A binker in China schedules surgery, while a sa es managel

in T,,rrkey dreanrs of retiiement A father in f)enver takes a 
'

' front-row seat at his daughter's school science fair and

'. ,::,

Around the world, people have their owl unique stcrles

And around the clock, Cigna supports thelr needs fcr a

health5,, secure ife.



A message from David Cordani

Cigna once again delivered strong revenue and earnings*
growth in zor3, marking our fourth consecutive year of
competitively attractive financial results.

Wb achieved these results in the face of a disruptive and
dynamic global environment, with contributions from
multiple geographies and each of Cigna's three primary
business segments: Global Health Care, Global
Supplemental Benefits and Group Disability and Life.

In the four years since implementing our strategy of
"Go Deep, Go Global Go Individual," Cigna has achieved
compound aniiual'''growth of r5z. foi both.erre.rues and
adjusted income from operations per share.t::::,,, :'r l

f^r \,tgna s e, whlch has
dustry fo fouryears, p

i,,,.
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rn2OT4. : :

Cigna: 2013 at a glance 7" change
fram 2012

Consolidated
I Otat Kevenue

Adjusted Incoriie from Operationi*
Adjusted Income {rom Oper.tions
per share*

$32.+ billion +11%

sr.gi biliio" ' +1i%
,u: :a

$6.79/share +13Yo

Global Health Care ,,,,

Premiums and Fees

Adjusted Income from Operations*
$22.9 billian +9%

sr.a uiii;" *'ex

Global Supplemental Benefits
Premiums and Fees

Adjusted Incorne from Operations*
"$''u.o't 

- 
*i1v.

$183 million :', +24/"

Group Disability and Life
Premiums and Fees

Adjusted Income from Operationsl
$3.4bi]lion 't'+lOYo

g3rrmillion .,, +11Y"



In the following conversation, David Cordani discusses Cigna's 2O13 performance; the trends, opportunities

and challenges shaping Cigna's go-forward strategies for 2014 and beyond, and the company's approach

to bringing more personalized products and services to its customers and clients.

2O13 Performance

How do you characterize Cigna's 2Ol3
performance from an lnvestor perspective?

@ CiVna delivered, strong competitively differentiated

- results for our shareholders in zor3 - extending an

outstanding track record of financial performance over

the past four years. We generated a total shareholder

return of approximately 64rinzot1,which ranked as

the highest among our core managed care competitors.

We adapted to an environment of considerable market

disruption, most notably from Health Care Reform and

changes to Medicare Advantage in the United States.

In addition to solid performance from each of our operating

business segments, we strengthened our balance sheet

and generated significant free cash flow from our businesseg

enabling us to retum approximately $r billion in value to

shareholders in zor3 through share repurchases.

We delivered a full-year medical cost trend of below

5z for our U.S Commercial business for 2or3, which

was among the best in our industry and which directly

benefrted the approximately 852 of Cigna's U.S.

customers who are in self-funding arrangements.

We also had many important strategic achievements

that made a tangible, positive impact on our performance.

To name just a few:

We entered a transaction with Berkshire Hathaway, Inc.

to effectively exit our run-off reinsurance business. This
transactiorl completed during the first quarte! significandy
improved our frnancial fexibility and strengthened our
balance sheet.

We made further improvement to our Pharmary Benefits

Management capabilities through a new strategic
arrangement. This further enhanced our pharmacy
offerings for our customers and clients, and it allows

us to leverage an enhanced technology platform and

streamlined operating capabilities - to drive greater

fexibility and affordability for our customers and clients.

And we continued to deepen our global footprint, with
meaningful progress in important grovrth markets such

as Turkey, India and China. Our capabilities outside of
the United States clearly give us a more diverse platform
for growth.

All of these results and actions helped us to deliver more
personalized products and services, which we view as

essential to excelling in a highly competitive marketplace,

and to meetinq the individual needs of our customers.

*Eamings refers to Adjusted Income from Operations which along with Adjusted Income from Operations per share, are each non-GAAP measures used to describe the
Company's frnancial results Definitions of Adjusted Income from Operations on a consolidated and segment basis are contained in Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) on page 3r and 43, respectively, of the Form ro-K included in this annual report. The MD&A also includes
reconciliations of Adjusted Income from Operations to the most directly comparable GAAP measures.



This marks four consecutive ye.:rs of overall
growtfr for Cigna, What is driving this?

@ I attribute our g:owth to our emphasis on targeted

customer and client segments, and focus on our
targeted markets.

Four years ago, we made the choice to focus our
organization on the strategy of "Go Deep, Go Global,
Go Individual." Our "Go" strategy has served as a

foundation for pursuing three goals that have clearly
contributed to our long-term performance: repositioning
our portfolio for growth in target markets; improving
our strategic and financial fexibility; and pursuing new
opportunities in high-growth markets, with a special
emphasis on individuals.

Our strategy puts our customers at the center of all
we do, and guides our organization of approximately

35,ooo employees in more than 3o countries.

Can you cJiscuss the Go Global part of your
strategy? What sorts of contributions did
you see from your businesses outside of the
United States?

@ For Cigna, "Go Global" is about creating borderless
environments to leverage our capabilities in new

geographies. Itt about supporting an expanding, globally
mobile population through our proprietary expatriate
network, which remains the broadest and best-established
in the world.

To mention just a few examples from 2013: Korea continued
its long, sustained track record of growth; we deepened our
partnership in Thailand with Tesco, to offer personal health
and accident insurance; and we got off to a good start in
Turkey with our Cigna Finans joint venture, where we
market life and pension products in one of the fastest-

growing; Ieast-penetrated global insurance markets. We

also celebrated the tenth anniversary of our very successful

venture in China with China Merchants Bank meeting the
healtlu life and accident insurance needs ofthat countn/s
growing middle class.

Finally, we launched our venture with TTK in Indi4 where

we're the frrst U.S. insurer to be part of a stand-alone joint
venture hea-lth insurance company.

Our Global Supplemental business brings valuable health,
life and other solutions to serye the rapidly growing
middle classes in these countries - also consistent with
our "Go" strategy. In 2oB, we continued to see examples
of how Cigna's global presence allowed us to share best
practices among geographies. For instancg we are

Ieveraging our market{eading direet-to-consumer sales

capabilities from Asia to the U.S., to be deployed in public
and private exchanges.

@ euitOlnS on that, is Cigna exploring new
geographies or reqions?

@ W" *itt continue our global growth strategy -
particularly our geographic expansion. In the United

States, this means new cities for Medicare and individual
solutions - and, outside of the United States, it means
evaluating opportunities in new countries.

@ Wf,ut didn't go as well as you anticipated in 2A.J?

!f The industry experienced uncertainty surrounding
V t. r. r 1Medicare Advantaqe reimbursement levels. In the

short term, we expect th'ese pressures will continue even
as we focus on opportunities to improve our medical
costs for our Seniors business.

Whafs especially gratifying even given these pressures

and disruptiong is that we were the only publicly traded

company to achieve a frve-star CMS rating - for our
Medicare Advantage business in Florida. We remain
confrdent that initiatives such as our 2013 acquisition of
Alegis Care, a company focused on physician-based home

health care, further strengthen our Cigna-Healthspring
Seniors business and physician engagement capabilities -
and that we will continue to create even sreater value for
our customers.



The disruptive global environment

Let's talk about the "disruptive environment:"
How do you describe the global competitive
environment? What's changing? Wlrat makes
it so challenging?

their health care partners, and the levels of transparency

they expect.

In the U.S., consumers have more health care choices -
in part driven by the public and private exchangeg as

well as more convenient access to health care through

employer clinics and telemedicine, to give just a couple

of examples. Outside of the U.S., consumers with growing

incomes are looking for trusted, easy-to-use, personal and

reliable plans to protect their families.

In short: distribution channels, supply chaing primary
purchasers, political and health care systems are all in
fux. Within this environment of change, at Cigna we

continue to drive innovation with our physician partners

for the benefrt of our customers and clients. And we

continue to view information and supporting technology

as critical resources to support our partners, customers

and clients.

lil) W"'t" seeing a.fundamental reshaping of virtually
every asDecr or now we do business, and in the

demographics we serye. Populations are aging. Middle
classes are expanding. Chronic disease levels are rising
and affordability pressures for health care are increasing

for all.

At the same time, a digital world means that everything

today is faster and more personalized. Information flows

fastel decisions get made faster; expectations change

faste4 and customers expect higher levels of personalization

Evolution in technology and health care systems across

the globe is transforming how people interact with
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supplement the governmentS iraditional, b.Se-l"v"l l'
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In the U.S., we're just beginning to Eee the initial impact
of the Affordable Care Asl. The law generally affects
Clgr.a le"; than many oi J,r. ai*p"titor", b"."trie about
85% of ouiCorrimercial business ielationships are
self-funded 

lmployer 
relationships, ralher lhan fuly 

,,

insured. At the same time, it's a significant change, for
our customers,iour clientS,:and even our own,employees.

@ ti" ability to respond to these changes will determine
who succeeds and who does not. Anticipating and

proactively responding to these challenges positions
Cigna to continue to meet the needs of our customers
and clients, to deliver differentiated value - and. as a

result, to achieve our performance goals.

Evolving demographics result in a different balance,of
needs for our customers. The needs of a 65-year-old differ
in many ways from those of a lo-year-old - an old" 

'"1"''

population is more prone to chronic disease. Looking :

beyondage,theexpectationSofaiarger,gIobalmiddIe
clasi differ from those of an historically less afflue.ri''l 

:::':::

population. Quality of life, health,,protection and,asset
protection become maj,o1 factors. . ..r,,,.. . ,..... ......

At Cigna, we have gtratqgi d o-ur c.g1npany 
,,,,

to anticipate and adapt to shifts. We ve
broken out of the tiaditional:mode of beinE a health,rrr, ,t,'

insurer focused on financin9,,,sick,,carg,.,.,end transformed
o,rti"Lr"s into a g1;tal h""lth r"J"" iornf),ry th"t
focuses on health, weliness and preventive care,'and.,r,r,.. '.'.:.

sense of security solutions

ffi the public e notw
ness driver taken

a to articipating tates
that most ciosely align with our "Go Deep" strateg-y.

es, we are focused on select metropolitan
,i u,rr ...:. ..1.,.:_ ,rlril,rt: t:llllt:,-

we have our strongest physician networks
and collaborative accountable'lcare ielationships. :,

1.i;,:.,; *i: r_:t-]1, '; :'.re, ;;tal:,;.t.,: *>;t;.i t::::::tt:::il
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v alue,.!o consumers. .
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Whilq,we a.re pqs third-party
nrirrata o..lr".-o" ew,propnetary
nrirzeto --^1" ". -- ograms for the
needs of employer clients andbrokers, providing greater
ehoice and personalization for our customers.

Health Care Reform : ,, ,r i ii
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ffi Wnile the question 
1s 

U.S biased, in realiry, we're- seeing transforming hea_lth care systems throughout
the world - not only in the U.S. - in response to changihg
customer needs. There's tremendous pressure on these
systems to improve affordabiliry and in many cases to
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Where does Cigna believe Health Care Reform
should go from here?

G| fto* the beginning of the health care debate,

Cigna believed that the expansion of affordable

solutions, improvement of clinical and health qualiry
and improvements in affordability are all critical to
create sustainable change.

More specifically, a sustainable health care system starts
with individuals making healthy lifestyle and behavior
decisions, to mo<imize their personal health, quality of
life and productivity. Consumers must pursue high-
vdue health care alternatives. And when health care is
delivered health care providers should be compensated
based on the value they bring, not on the volume of
services they provide.

It will be important for aspects of the law to evolve which
is only achievable through true collaboration involving
policymakers, health care professionals and business

leaders. Cigna actively plays a convening role in encouraging

this direction in Washington, and in our industry.

We recognize this is harder than ever in a polarized
environment. However, in recognition of the long-term
societal impact, we remain steadfast in our active,
principle-based engagement with policy leaders.

What is most distinctive aboLrt Cign.r's pornt of
view on achieving the goals of reform?

@ *" believe employers play an essential role in
- creating access to high-quality health care. They

are uniquely capable of driving increased consumer

health engagement due to the shared culture and

common purpose they create. In short, they represent

distinctive "communities."

Employers are also the best situated to drive what we

refer to as "positive disruption," through their existing
communications platform, and their ability to incentivize
healthier behaviors; aggressive adoption of preventive

and chronic care programs; and use of the highest-

performing; value-based physician networks.

Bu! again, it's important to remember that no single public
or private entity can take our health care system to where

it needs to go. We need to work together to lead change.

In a larger sense, it's all about being attuned to the
changing global environment, and being nimble enough
to adapt to the changing needs of our customers and
clients - which can only happen by listening to them,
understanding what they need, and partnering with the
clinical community for their betterment.

The importance of personalization

fi You often reference "personalization" anq

- "oersonalized" oroducts and services.
Wh.rt do you mean by this?

O lttr Se:: to:he heart of our "Go Individual" strategy.

- Personalization is what customers demand today.

They expect our products and services to be personally
relevant to them, and adaptable to their needs; it's part of
an increased retail orientation.

Cigna is committed to personalizing our products and

services across custoqrer segments and around the world

- whether it's for a Government or Voluntary products
customer, a Supplemental Benefits customer, or a customer

from one of our Regional or Select employer-group clients.

We do this in collaboration with the physicians we engage;

to drive quality health outcomes and affordability, and

with more than r5o affinity partners who help make our
products and services locally relevant to our global
clients around the world.



The advantages for our customers are better health outcomes

and a greater sense of security. The advantages for our

employer clients are lower costs and higher productivity.

@ t hat nrovides a lo=oical seque to lrow Cigna is

- r,vorking with its customers rnd clients on a daily
basis. The world is changing: how are your
customer and client relationships changing along
with it?

O l*lll:t 
me offer.some backsround, as context.

l raortronal reactrve models of treating illness,

disease and disability are collapsing under the weight of
economic and demographic disruptions. To effectively
respond, health care systems have to evolve and reorient
rapidly to focus on the achievement and preservation of
health and productivity - not only on the provision of
treatment to those who are sick.

To date, the modern health care system has undervalued

the engagement of individuals in their own healtlu well-

being and health care purchasing decisions. We believe

when individuals are ineentivized to engage in value-

based health care; to make healthier lifestyle and health

care access choices; and are empowered by effective

support programs, information and communication -
they can and will make better decisions. This, in turry
will have a dramatic impact on overall quality of life and

the health care cost curye.

Howeveq, particularly in the United States today, indMduals
are highly disconnected from, and unaware of, the underbing
cost of health care and the role that individual choice

plays as a key driver of those costs. Although lifestyle and

behavioral choices are major drivers of individual health

care costs, Americans are less healthy than ever, and

medical costs continue to rise. In no other consumption-
based market or industry is there such a disconnect

between individual choice and frnancial obliqation.

The only way to help customers navigate through these

changes is to be much more personally relevant to them,

and more personally engaged with them.

In health care, it also means being personally engaged in
partnerships with the physicians who treat our customers -
and with the employers who hire them and rely on their
productivity. At Cign4 we seek to support and connect

employeeg clients and physicrans.

@ Wtrat is an example of this?

$l Our care deiivery and physician partnerships
Y .r r ar , r r.provide a great example of how Cigna is delivering
superior health and productivity outcomes in a local and

personaiized fashion.

In 2013 we increased the number of customers benefiting
from our collaborative relationships with physicians by

5oz. By the end of the yeaL we had 86 collaborative
accountable care initiatives, up from 52 at the end of zorz.

We're seeing positive cost and quality outcomes, and health

care professionals give us frequent feedback that Cigna's

approach to these initiatives is differentiated in the market.

What makes our collaborative approach unique, and so

personalized, is the degree to which it harnesses aligned
incentives around closing gaps in health eare delivery
and desirable health behaviors; specific, actionable
information; and care extenders such as health advocates

and case managers.

In addition, our global network of doctors and hospitals,

coupled with our localized health management and

coordination resources, enable us to offer more expansive
care options for customers in our target markets around

the world.
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@ Actually, it's a virtuous circle: We invest to iurther
our ability to personalize our serwices"and,"'as a result,

further our performance. Thery based on what we achieve
and what we learn, we revisit our investments,

We invest in several areas, some of which include
collaboritive physician relationships; joint ventures;
technologies and toois;'and expansion of our service
capabilities. 

: - : .:

I'll reference three key areas in which Cigna continues to
invest, to ensure we are positioned for ongoing success:
customer insights and engagement, ionsultative
distribution and innovative physician partnership models.

Insights give us deep knowledge that allows us io better
match distribution channels to our customers'needs.
When combined with our consuliative disiribuiion
capabilities - which identify the best solutions for the l

orgalizations we workwith: our insights give Cigna
a unique ability to bring our customers personalized
solutions as their life and health stageS change. i

Our third key area - our care delivery and physicia n
partnership capabilities,- also drives our successful
collaborative accor.mtable care and facilitates the delirren,

r 1'.or quarrrli, alloroable care.

:'17,r,.',:
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"Cigna's community involvement is one of the things
l'm most proud of as our president and CEO,"

David M, Cordani

Man5r s1 your investments and innovations are
technology driven. Discuss the role technology
plays at Cigna.

@ Technology enables our team to better communicate

with each other. and to in turn better communicate

with all of our stakeholders. We've evolved to the point
where our technology people think frrst in terms of our

customers' needs, and then identify the best technologies

to deliver differentiated value.

We're sharply focused on making ongoing, targeted

investments to help position us for sustained grovrth.

These investments are enabling us to create deeper,

more personal relationships with our customers - to
better understand their needg and to aligq integrate

and develop our products and services with those

needs. Technology is fueling our ability to create a new
personalized health care experience for our customers,

where mobile, social, gamification and web-based

incentives intersect to drive improved health behaviors,

health outcomes and affordability of health care services.

One example from 2org was our new initiative with
the digital health and social engagement company,

SocialWelltla to help individuals choose which health
and fitness apps are most appropriate to help them meet

their health and wellness qoa-ls.

In the community

Gl oit.rr. Cigna's community involvemerrt in 2013.

Cigna's community involvement is one of the things
I'm most proud of as our president and CEO.

Our global employees step up, time and again, to serve

people in the communities where we live and work - from

assisting people impacted by environmental and other

tragedies, to our ongoing participation with organizations

such as Habitat for Humaniry ChildObesityrSo, the

March of Dimes, Achilles International and Blessings

in a Backpaclg a U.S. charity that provides weekend

nourishment to school children.

Our philanthropic arm, the Cigna Foundation, further
expanded its global focus last year. In addition to numerous

charitable activities and support, we sponsored the first
Global Healthy Workplace Summit in London, where the

global business community shared innovative health

practices to extend and enhance better workforce health
worldwide. The Cigna Foundation also led charitable

efforts from China to Korea, and from the U.S. to Europe.





2014 and beyond

Let's conclude with a discussion .rbout wlrai investors should expect
from Cigna irr the conning years.

I remain conhdent that Cigna will continue to extend our track record for outstanding

performance, into a fifth consecutive year.

We have multiple sources for growth, including the addition of new customers, and

expansion of existing relationships through increased market share and increased

contributions from our ancillary product offerings.

We expect to drive continued growth in our Commercial Health Care business around

the world, as well as continued growth in our Global Supplemental Benefrts business. We

also see long-term opportunity for Medicare Advantage growth based on our positioning

relative to demographics and market expansion, and we expect an improving economic

environment for our Disability and Life segment.

In additioru we anticipate that benefrts from our Pharmacy Benef:ts Management
arrangement and operating expense efficiencies will contribute to our long-term growth.

We will also continue the effective deployment of our capital, and will have good capital

flexibility driven by the strong free cash flows generated from our businesses.

Based on all of these factors - along with the continued execution of our "Go Deep, Go

Global, Go Individual" strategy in our target markets, and in new ones where we see

opportunities - Cigna expects to further improve individual health and productivity, and

deliver attractive and sustainable long-term growth, all while continuing to invest back

in our company. Our clear direction, strong product portfolio, frnancial flexibility and

outstanding global team give us a solid foundation for eontinued success.

On behaif of my approximately 35,ooo colleagnres around the world, we appreciate the

confrdence that our shareholders have placed in our company. We look forward to growing

Cigna together over the years ahead.

4L,ra M
David M. Cordani
President and Chtef
Executive Officer

Cigna Corporation



all around you
Children run regularly, through ChildObesity'l8O school programs
made possible by Cigna Foundation grants of $4SO,OOO.

Cigna provides assistance for customers who have
a dlsability and aren't able to walk their doqs.
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Cigna volunteers knit
that warm the spirits
with cancer.

snawtS
of customers

A ballerina with scoliosis
celebrates her [riumph
over adversity at a Cigna
Fou ndation-spo nsored
Pennsylvania Ballet
performance.Volunteers visit children at the Shanghai Bo'ai

Children's Rehabilitation Center.



Arjan Toor, a marketing leader at Cigna,
visits an African village with his family
and brings needed food and supplies,
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Personal. Relevant. Meaningful.

You want a health service company that understands you. One that makes

every interaction personal and relevant, One that works with doctors you

can trust, and provides information you can understand. A company that
gives you the answers you need when you need them.

The myCigna.com website provides answers nearly 6o,ooo times a day as

customers search online for doctors. Cigna's team talks with customers

hundreds of thousands of times each week.

Personalized health and wellness information is at our customers' fingertips.

One example from 2o1g is our arrangement with mobile technology giant

Samsung, which will put Cigna health and wellness information on their mobile

devices. Another is our new initiative with SocialWellth, the digital health

social engagement compant to help individuals choose the mobile apps that

match their health and wellness goals.

Our collaborative care arrangements with doctors are helping to improve

quality of care, costs and patient experience, leading to 50% fewer emergency

room visits compared to the market.*

And our health information and service lines are open 2{ hours a day, because

our customers' needs can't wait until tomorrow.

*Source: Cigna Collaborative Accountable Care, Large PCP Group Results,2or!.

Results vs, market averaoe
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A helping hand around the world

Providing you with meaningful help goes beyond service. lt extends

to the support we give the people and places where we live and work.

We created the new Cigna Korea Foundation to improve the lives of seniors

arrd the underprivileged in Korea. This continued our long tradition of helping

the elderly in Kore4 where Cigna volunteers mal<e weekly calls to check on

seniors living alone.

The Cigna Foundation marked five decades of giving in 2013 with a new

global focus. This was highlighted by our sponsorship of the first Global

Healthy Workplace Summit in Londoru where the global business community

shared innovative health practices to extend and enhance better workforce

health worldwide.

Our Corporate Responsibility

Cigna Connects, our corporate responsibility platform, empowers and guides

us in connecting our mission, expertise and resources to a broad range of social,

environmental and economic efforts.

Cigna customer George
Rodriguez celebrates
crossing the finish line at
the Hope & Possibility
Race, sponsored by the
Cigna Foundation
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At the heart of Cigna Connects are our people who give generously of their time

and talent and demonstrate they have more than a job; they have a career in
helping others. This work includes community involvement, diversity and

inclusion, environmental sustainability and ethics and governance. This year,

Cigna will communicate our unique set of initiatives in a formal coryorate

responsibility report highlighting our efforts as we work to create positive

impact on the health of peoplg communities and the environment.

Employees giving back

Cigna s people give generously of their time and talent, whether tuming

out in force or quietly volunteering one by one. Two thousand employees

organized Cigna Day 2o1!, raising nearly $loQooo for community service

programs worldwide.

In China our volunteers visited children at the Shanghai Bo'ai Children s

Rehabilitation Center. In Connecticut, Cigna employees worked alongside

Blessings in a Baclcpacll to send children home from school with healthy

food for the weekend And in Pittsburgtr, Pennsylvani4 we were proud to

honor our Cigna 2013 Volunteer of the Yeal Brian Urban. A health educator

from Baldwin, Pennsylvani4 Brian's leadership helped people get cancer

screenings through the Obediah Cole Prostate Cancer Foundation in Pittsburgh-

Guiding the way

Within Cigna s disability business, we work with Achilles International.

Togetherwith this nonprofit organization, we help our customers with long-

term disabilities return to productMty and regain a sense of achievement

through training for, and completingr, a race - representing independence

and an important milestone on their road to recovery.

Cigna and our employee volunteers have teamed up with Achilles Intemational

since zoo8, helping adults and children with disabilities participate in the Walt

Disney WorI& Marathon Weekend, and many other events.

Supporting customers and communities is an important part of who

and where we are.
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Unique, yet universal

Each one of us is unique. But as different as we are, we share a universal need

We all want to feel secure.

Secure that you can call a Cigna health information line in the middle of the

night when yotlre worried because your child cant stop coughing.

Secure that your husband's asthma is under control, because you're working with

Cigna, a company that has received National Committee for Quality Assurance

Patient and Practitioner Oriented Disease Management Accreditation for the

following programs: asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, congestive

heart failure, coronary artery disease, depression and diabetes.

Secure that your mom is getting quality care for her diabetes, because

her doctor is with Cigna-HealthSpring. In zo4, Cigna-HealthSpring earned the

highest possible rating - five stars from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid

Serviees - for its Medicare Advantaqe business in Florida.

Secure that when you've been hurt and can't earn a living, you'lI hear from a

Cigna disability case manager who has a plan to help with your recovery and

return to work, as part of Cigna's award-winning disability and rehabilitation

case management.

The desire for security circles the globe. When you're working on assignment

outside your home country and need an operation, you can count on Cigna to

direct you to medical care within a global network of one-million health care

professionals - and to help you navigate through paperwork and payments so

you can focus on getting well.

And whether you live in New Zealand, China, Indonesia or Turkey - and many

places in between - you can frnd a Cigna plan that will help you prepare for

retiremenl illness, injury or financial loss - and will offer protection to you and

rr^ttr f.-il.t

From country to country and customer to customer, Cigna helps give people the

sense of security they need to achieve what matters most in their lives.
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Cigna in Perspective

Cigna is a qloba' hea,th servcereacer fl-a_ orovides nedrca, de^tej, o,sability,
life and accident insurance and related products and services to cusromers rn

tlre Lniloo Slalcs and arourd rhe qlobe

Global Health Care i" ,

' Global Health care includes a commercial line of business encompassing u.S. 
rr

and international operations. Commercial offers a broad line of insured and "

,self-insured medical, dental, behavioral health, vision, prescription drug benefrt
plans, health advoeacy programs and other products and services that may be ,,,,

integrated to provide comprehensive global health care benefrt programs to 
:' employers and their employees, including globally mobile individuals.

':' .' ':

Global Health Care also includes a government line of business that offers , 
,

M Medicare plan 
:...:

or ndividuals sign of our
M customers ians lan

'models designed to improve health'outcomes and lower medical costs. cigna
offers Medicare Advantage,plans in ls states and the District of Columbia,,,',, , ,l

Medicare Part D plans in al District of Columbia, and ,:,1

Medicaid plans in targeted we expect to expand Medicaid 
rl'operations 

to new markets Illinois.

Glcbal Slpplom,.:,tal B,,r:efiis

Global Supplemental ge,-refrt. off"., ,r,ppL-ental hea-lth, life and accident 
:tl

'l insuiance pioductslin sel"cted'int"rn"iior.r"l -"rk"t. "r-rd 
ih" unit"a si"t"i.

with licenses and parlnerships across Asia-pacific, Errrope and North America,
,,, cigna offers products and services to local citizens and globally mobile "i: :

individuals,,Global Supplemental Benefits also offers Medicare supplemental ,

coverage.

. : l: '

Groqp Disability anC l_ife : ,

Group oiriihq, 
"r.a 

Life provides insurance products and rerated services

comprehensive tools and services for easy benefrt management.



Global Supplemental Benefits
by country:

Global Health Care

by product:

Group Disability and
by product:

Medical - 632

! Dental - 5z

I Government - 3z%

Premiums and fees in

Commercial Segment - 68%

millions: $22,933

South Korea - 5rz
I Taiwan - uz
I Europe - ro%

Premiums and fees in

U.S. - rzy"

Tnlnno.i^ - z.z

d Other - rzy"

millions: $2,513

Life

I Disability - +zz
lLife- +Sy"

I Other - 8z

Premiums and fees in millions: $3,425
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FOR\TARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, Forward-looking statements are based on Cignat current expectations and projections about future trends, events and uncertainties. These

statements are not historical facts. ForwardJooking statements may include, among others, statements concerning our business strategy, strategic

or operational initiatives, including our ability to deliver improved health services outcomes and productivity for our customers and clients while
lowering the costs of health care; future growth and expansion; future financial or operating performance; economic, regulatory or competirive

environments; and our projected cash position, future pension funding and financing or capita.l deployment plans. You may identifr forward-

looking statements by the use of words such as "believe," "expect,"'plan," "intend," "anticipate," "estimate," "predict," "potential," "may,"
"should," "will" or other words or expressions of similar meaning, although not all forwardJooking statements contain such terms.

Forward-looking statements are subjecr to risks and uncertainties, both known and unknown, that could cause actual results to differ materially

from those expressed or implied in forwardlooking statements. Such risla and uncertaincies include, but are not limited to: our abiliry to achieve

our financial, strategic and operational plans or initiatives; our abiliry to predict and manage medical costs and price effectively and develop and

maintain good relationships with physicians, hospitals and other health care providers; our abiliry to realize the expected benefits of strategic

transactions and/or acquisitions; the substantial level of government regulation over our business and the potential effects of new laws or
regulations or changes in existing laws or regulations; the outcome oflitigation, regulatory audits, investigations and actions and/or guaranty fund
assessments; uncertainties surrounding participation in government-sponsored programs such as Medicare; and unfavorable industry economic

or political conditions, as well as more specific risla and uncertainties discussed in Part I, Item 1A - Risk Factors and Part II, Item 7 -
Managementt Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Form l0-K and as described from time to time in
our future reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You should not place undue reliance on forwardlooking statements,

which speak only as ofthe date they are made, are not guarantees offuture performance or results, and are subject to risks, uncertainties and

assumptions that are difficult to predict or quanti$/. Cigna undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forwardJooking statement, whether

as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law.
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ITEM 1. Business

ITEM 1. Business

Overview

Cigna Corporation, together with its subsidiaries (either individually
or collectively referred to as "Cigna," the "Company," "we" or "our"),

is a global health services organization with a mission to help

customers improve their health, well-being and sense of securlty. Our
subsidiaries are major providers of medical, dental, disabiliry, life and

accident insurance and related products and services.

To execute on our mission, we have focused our efforts over the past

several years on serving the emerging needs ofour customers around

the world through our "Go Deep, Go Global, Go Individual" strategy,

as follows:

. GO DEEP: We seek to increase our presence and brand suength in
key "go deefl' geographic areas, grow in targeted segments or
capabilities, and deepen our reladonships with current customers

through cross-selling.

. GO GIJOBAL:'We seek to deliver a range of differentiated products

and superior service to meet the distinct needs of a growing global

middle class and a globally mobile workforce through expansion in
existing international markets and extension of our business model

to new geographic areas.

. GO INDMDUAL:.We strive to establish a deep understanding of
our customers' un.ique needs and to be a highly customer-centric

organization. To do this, we are seeking to further simplifr the

buying process by providing choice, transparency of information,
and a personalized customer experience. Our goal is to build
long-term relationships with each of our customers and meet their
needs throughout each stage of their lives regardless of the

customert plan rype: employer-based, government-sponsored, or
individual coverage.

As part of this strategy, we have focused our efforts on delivering

innovative health and wellness solutions tailored to our employer and

government customers, enhancing collaboration with physicians and

hospitals to offer affordable, value-based high qualiry care to
individuals and building deeper relationships with individual
customers through rhe world. Through these efforts, we believe we

can achieve better health outcomes for our global customers and

improve employee producdviry all while lowering the costs of health

care for all parties.

As of December 31,2013, our consolidated shareholders' equicy was

$10.6 billion, assets were $54.3 billion and we reported revenues of
$32.4 billion for the year then ended. Our revenues are derived

principally from premiums on insured products, fees from self-insured

products and services, mail-order pharmacy sales, and investment

income.

We report the financial results of our businesses in five segments, the following three of which are the most significant:

Global Health Care Aggregares rhe Commercial and Government operating segments:

Commercial
. Encompasses both our U.S. commercial and cerain internationd health care businesses.
. Serves employers and their employees, including globally mobile individuals, and other

groups (e.g. governmenral and non-governmental organizations, unions and associations).
In addition, our U.S. commercial health care business also serves individuals.

. Offers our insured and self-insured customers medical, dental, behavioral health, vision,
and prescription drug bene0t plans, health advocacy programs and other products and
services rhat may be inregrared as part of a comprehensive global health care benefit

Program.

Medicare Part D and Medicaid

This segment offers supplemental health, life and accidenc insurance products in selected
internarional markets and the U.S.

long-term and short-term disabiliry group life, accident and

CIGNA CORPOMTION - 2013 Form l0-K I
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'We 
also report in two other segments: Run-off Reinntrance and. Other Operatiozs, including Corporate-owned Life Insurance.

Kev Thansactions

Over the past two years, we have entered into a number of
transactions that have helped us to achieve our strategic goals by:

(l) repositioning the porfolio for growth in targeted geographies,

product lines, buying segments and distribution channels;

(2) improving our strategic and financial flexibility; and (3) pursuing

additional opportunities in high growth markets with particular focus

on individuals. Specificdly:

. In February 2073, we effectively exited our Run-off guaranteed

minimum death benefit ("GMDB" also known as "VADBe") and

guaranteed minimum income benefit ("GMIB") reinsurance

businesses by entering into an agreement with Berkshire Hathaway

Life Insurance Company of Nebraska ("Berlahire") to reinsure

100%o of our future exposures for these businesses, net of
retrocessional arrangements.in place as ofFebruary 4, 2013, up to a

specified limit.

. In June 2013, we entered into a ten-year pharmacy benefit

management services agreement with Catamaran Corporation
("Catamaran'). Under this agreement, we will utilize Catamaran's

technology and service platforms, prescription drug procurement

and inventory management capabilities, and order fulfillment
services to lower costs and enhance our home delivery pharmacy,

retail network contracting and claims processing servlces.

. ln 2012, we entered into three strategically significant transactions

targering several key markets: seniors, individual and global

supplemental benefits:

. \X'e acquired HealthSpring, a Medicare Advantage provider, to

assist us in serving individuals actoss their life stages and deepen

our presence in a number of geographic markets. This acquisition

brought us industryJeading physician partnership capabilities,

deepened our existing client and customer reladonships, and

facilitated a broader deployment of our range of health and

wellness capabilities and product offerings.

Global Health Care

. \7e acquired Great American Supplemental Benefits to both
strengthen our capabilities in the individual market and facilitate
our expansion into the Medicare supplemental business.

. \(e entered into a joint venture with Finansbank to expand our
global footprint in Tirrkey.

Other Information
The financial information included in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
("Form 10-K") is in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States ofAmerica ("GAAP"), unless otherwise

indicated. Industry rankings and percentages set forth herein are for
the year ended December 31, 2013 unless otherwise indicated. In
addidon, statements set forth in this document concerning our rank

or position in an industry or particular line of business have been

developed internally, based on publicly available information, unless

otherwise noted.

Cigna Corporation lvas incorporated in Delaware in 1981. Our
annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other

filings, and any amendments to these filings, are made available Free of
charge on our website (http://www.cigna.com, under the "Investors -
Quarterly Reports and SEC Filings" captions) as soon as reasonably

practicable after we electronically file these materials with, or furnish
them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). \[e
use our website as a channel of distribution for material company

information. Important information, including news releases, analyst

presentations and financial information regarding Cigna is routinely
posted on and accessible at wwwcigna.com. See "Code of Ethics and

Other Corporate Governance Disclosures" in Part III, Item l0
beginning on page 116 of this Form 10-K for additional available

information.

The Global Health Care segment constitutes approximately 80% of
our revenues and aggregates the Commercial and Government

operating segments due to their similar economic characteristics,

products and services and regulatory environment. All products and

services sold by this segment are offered by subsidiaries of Cigna

Corporation. 'We 
seek to differentiate ourselves in this business by

providing deep customer insights, high quality care delivery, effective

product integration and unique product offerings. Ve expect to
accomplish these goals by targeting selected geographies and market

segments and accelerating our engagement with employers,

individuals and preferred health care professionals.

Our Commercia.l operating segment encompasses both our U.S.

commercial and certain international health care businesses serving

employers and their employees, including globally mobile individuals,
and other groups (e.g. governmental and non-governmental

organizations, unions and associations). In addition, our U.S.

2 CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2013 Form r}-K

commercial health care business also serves individuals. Through this

segment, we offer our insured and self-insured customers medical,

dental, behavioral health, vision, and prescription drug benefit plans,

health advocacy programs and other products and services that may be

integrated as part of a comprehensive global health care benefit

program. Our Government operating segment offers Medicare

Advantage, Medicare Part D and Medicaid plans.

Principal Products and Services

Comwercial Mcdical Heabh Pkns - U.S. and
International
The Commercial operating segment, either directly or through its

partners, offers some or all ofits products in all 50 states, the District



of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, Canada, Europe, the Middle
East, and Asia. Ve offer a variety of medical plans including:

. Managed Care Pkns. Our managed care benefit plans (including

Open Access Plus and Health Maintenance Organizations
("HMO)) encourage the use of "in-network" versus

"oucof-network'health care providers and primary care physicians.

Employers may elect to use a subset of our network to better manage

costs and qualicy.

. Prefened Prouider Pkns. Ov preferred provider (.'PPQ) product
line features a newvork with broader provider access than the

Managed Care Plans. The preferred provider product line may be at

a higher medical cost than our Managed Care Plans.

PART I
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. Choice FanP Saite of Consumer-Driuen Produrrs. Our medical plans

are often combined with the Cigna Choice Fund suite of products,

including Health Reimbursement Accounts ("HRA"), Health

Savings Accounts ("HSA') and Flexible SpendingAccounts ("FSA')

that are designed to encourage customers to understand and manage

their health and health benefits. Customers can use these accounrs

to pay medical care expenses not covered by their base medical plan.
In most cases, these products are combined with a high deducible
medical plan.

Approximately 85% of our commercial medical customers are in funding arrangements where lower medical costs directly benefit our corporate

clients and their employees. These funding arrangements for our commercial medical health plans and dental coverages are as follows:

Administrative Senices

Only ("ASO" or
"self-insured")

. ASO plan sponsors are responsible for self-funding all claims, but may purchase stop loss insurance

to limit exposure for claims in excess of a predetermined amount.
. We collect fees from sponsors for providing access to our pardcipating provider nework and for

other services and programs including: claim administration; behavioral health; disease management;

utilization management; cost containment; dental; and pharmacy benefit management.

' In sorne cases, we provide performance guarantees associated with meeting cenain service standards,

clinical outcomes or financial metrics.

Retrospectively

Experience-rated
("Insured - Fxperience-
rated")

. Premium charged during the policy period ("initial premium') may be adjusted following the policy
period for actual claim, and in some cases, administrative cost experience of the policyholaer.

. rVhen claims and expenses are less than the initial premium charged (an "experience surplus"), the

policyholder may be credited for a porrion of this premium.
. However, if claims md expenses exceed the initia.l premium (an "experience deficii'), we generally

bear the risk. In certain cases, experience deficim may be recovered through future year experience

if the oolicvholder account ren€ws.

Insured - Guaranteed

Cost

. We establish the cost to the policyholder at the beginning ofa poliry period and generally cannot

subsequently adjust premiums to reflect actual claim experience until the next annual renewal.
. Employers and other groups with guaranteed cost policies are generally smaller than those with

experience-rated group policies; accordingly, our claim and expense assumptions may be based in
whole or in part on prior experience ofthe poliryholder or on a pool ofaccounts, depending on the

policyholdert size and the statistical credibiliry of their experience.
. HMO and individual plans (medical and dental) are offered on a guaranteed cost basis only.

Beginning in 2014, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act requires that non-grandfathered

individual and small group plans be community rated.

'W'e offer stop loss insurance coverage for ASO plans that provides

reimbursement for claims in excess of a predetermined amount for
individuals ("specific"), the entire group ("aggregate"), or both.'!(/'e

also include stop loss features in our experience-rated group medical
insurance policies.

In most staces, individual and group insurance/HMO premium rates

must be approved by the applicable state regulato ry ^gency 
(typically

department of insurance) and state laws may restrict or limit the use of
rating methods. Premium rates for groups and individuals are subject

to state review for unreasonable increases. In addition, the Patient

Protection and Affordable Care Act (also referred to as "Health Care

Reforrn') subjects rate increases above an identified threshold to
review by the United States Department of Health and Human
Services ("HHS), requires most non-grandhthered individual and

small group health insurance policies to be community rated
(beginning in 2014) and requires payment of premium refunds on

individual and group medical insurance products if minimum

medical loss ratio ("MLR) requirements are not met. The MLR
represents the percentage of premiums used to pay customer medica.l

claims and other activities that improve the quality of care. See the
"Regulation' section of this Form 10-K for additional information on
the commercial MLR requirements of Health Care Reform.

Gouentment Heabh Pkns

Medicare Advantage
rVe offer Medicare Advantage plans in 15 states and the District of
Columbia through Cigna-HealthSpring. Under a Medicare

Advantage plan, Medicare-eligible beneficiaries may receive health

care benefits, including prescription drugs, through a managed care

health plan such as our coordinated care plans. A significant portion
of our Medicare Advantage customers receive medical care fiom our
innovative plan models that focus on developing highly engaged

physician nerworks, aligning payment incentives to improved health
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outcomes, and using timely and transparent data sharing. W'e are

focused on continuing to expand these models in the frrture.

'We receive revenue from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
Services ("CMS") for each plan customer based on customer

demographic data and actual customer health risk factors compared to
the broader Medicare population. 'We also may earn additional
revenue from CMS related to qualiry performance measures (known

as "Medicare Stars"). Additional premiums may be received from
customers, representing the difference between CMS subsidy

payments and our assumed revenue determined as part ofour annual

Medicare Advantage bid submissions. Beginning in 2014, Hea.lth

Care Reform requires Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D plans

to meet a minimum MLR of 85%. Under the rules proposed by HHS,
if the MLR for a CMS contract is less than 850/o, the conmactor is

required to pay a penalry to CMS and could be subject to additional
sanctions if the MLR continues to be less than 850/o for successive

years.

Medicaid
'We offer Medicaid coverage to low income individuals in selected

markets in Texas, Our Medicaid customers benefit from many of the

coordinated care aspects of our Medicare Advantage programs. 'We

expect to expand our Medicaid operations during 2014 as a result of
previously awarded contracts in Illinois and Texas.

Medicare Part D
Our Medicare Part D prescription drug program provides a number of
plan options, as well as service and information support to Medicare

and Medicaid eligible customers. Our plans are available in all 50

states and the District of Columbia and offer the savings of Medicare

combined with the flexibilicy to provide enhanced benefits and a drug
list tailored to individuals' specific needs. Retirees benefit from broad

network access and value-added servftes intended to help keep them

well and save them money.

Speciahy Products

Our specialry products and services described below are designed to

improve qualiry lower the cost of medical services and help customers

achieve better health outcomes. These products can be sold on a

standalone basis, but we believe they are most effective when
integrated with a Cigna-administered health plan. Our specialry

products are focused in the areas of medical, behavioral, pharmacy
management, dental and vision.

Medical Specialty
.Cost-Containment Seruice. V/e administer cost-containment

programs on behalf of our clients and customers for health care

services and supplies that are covered under healrh benefit plans.

These programs may involve contracted vendors and are designed

to control health costs by reducing out-of-network utilization,
including educaring customers regarding the availability of lower

cost, in-network services, reviewing provider bills, and recovering

overpayments from other insurance carriers or health care

:..n*: 
Ve charge fees for providing or arranging for these

. Heahh AduocdT 'We offer a wide array of medical management,

disease management, and other health advocacy seryices to

employers and other plan sponsors to help individuals improve

their health, well-being and sense of securiry. These services are

offered to customers covered under plans that we administer, as

well as plans insured or administered by competing insurers or
third-parry administrators. Our health advocacy programs and

services include early intervention in the treatment of chronic

conditions. Ve also offer online tools and software to help

customers manage their health and an array of health coaching
programs designed to address lifesryle management issues such as

stress, weight, and tobacco cessation.

Behavioral Health Specialty
'We arrange for behavioral health care services For customers through

our nerwork of approximarely 83,500 participating behavioral health

care professionals and 10,500 facilities and clinics. We offer behavioral

health care case management services, employee assistance programs

(EAP), and work/life programs to employers, government entities and

other groups sponsoring health benefit plans. 'We focus on integrating

our programs and services with medical, pharrnacy and disability
programs to facilitate customized, holistic care.

Pharmacy Management
'We offer prescription drug plans to our insured and ASO customers

both in conjunction with our medical products and on a stand-alone

basis. Vith a network of over 65,000 contracted pharmacies, Cigna

Pharmacy Management is a comprehensive pharmacy benefim

manager ('PBM) offering clinical integration programs and specialty

pharmacy solutions. We also offer fast, cost-effective mail order,

telephone and on-line pharmaceutical fulfillment services through our
home delivery operation. Cigna Home Delivery Pharmacy provides

high-quality, efficient home delivery of prescription medications.

Our medical and pharmacy coverage can meet the needs of customers

with complex medical conditions requiring specialry pharmaceuticals.

These rypes of medications are covered under both pharmacy and

medical benefits and can be expensive, often requiring associated lab

work and administration by a health care professional. Therefore,

coordination is critical in improving affordability and outcomes.

Clients with Cigna-administered medical and pharmacy coverage

benefit from continuity of care, integrated reporting, and aggressive

unit cost discounts on all specialcy drugs - regardless ofwhere they are

administered.

Under our 2013 agreement, Catamaran provides us with access to
their technology and service platforms, prescription drug
procurement and invenrory management capabilities, retail network
contracting and claims processing services.
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Dental

'W'e offer a variery of dental care products including dental health

maintenance organiz:tion plans ("Denml HMO") in 37 states, dental

preferred provider organization ("Dental PPO") plans in 42 states and

the District of Columbia, exclusive dental provider organization

plans, traditional dental indemnity plans and a dental discount

program. Employers and other groups can purchase our products as

stand-alone products or integrated with medical products.

Additionally, individual customers can purchase Dental PPO plans in
conjunction with individual medical policies.

As of December 31, 2013, our dental customers totaled

approximately 12.l million, most of whom are in self-insured plans.

All oF our Dend HMO customers participate in guaranteed cost

insured plans. Our customers access qrre from one oF the largest

Dental PPO nerworks and Dental HMO networks in the U.S.,

with the following approximate number of dental care providers:

304,900 Dental PPO-contracted access points (105,800 unique

health care professionals) and77,400 Dental HMO-conracted access

points (19,000 unique health care professionals).

Vision

Cigna Vsion offers flexible, cost-effective PPO coverage that includes

a :'ange of both in and out-of-network benefits for routine vision

services offered in conjunction with our medical and dental product

offerings. Our national vision care network, consisring of
approximately 63,000 health care providers in over 24,000 locations,

includes private practice ophthalmologist and optometrist offices, as

well as retail eye care centers.

Service and Quality
Customer Seruice

For U.S.-based customers, 1\'e operate l8 service centers that together

processed approximately 160 million medical claims in 2013, As of
December 31,2013, we operated 13 ca.ll centers, ten of which serve

customers 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. The remaining three call

centers exclusively service Medicare Advantage health care providers

and customers and operate for extended hours during high volume

periods to accommodate customer demands.

In our international health care business, we provide our 1.3 million
customers around the globe with access to our health care provider

necworks and case management experts. Claims specialists are

available 24 hours a, day,365 days a year, through service centers

dedicated to their unique needs. \7e use a wide range of measurement

tools to berter understand customers' needs - ranging from quick

5-minute surveys of their call-center experience to more elaborate

tracking of loyalcy as measured by the likelihood of them to refer

Cigna to a friend.

Tbchnology

Ve continue to invest in our information technology infrastructure to

maximize and leverage the strategic capabilities of our businesses.

PART I
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These investments are focused on improving the customer experience

and affordabiliry ensuring high qualiry production support for our
applications and infrastructure, and ensuring regulatory compliance.

The customer enabling investments include retail-centric

infrastructure improvements, flexible and efficient transaction

processing and innovative mobile tools and Internet-enabled

technology that support our focus on providing customers with a

personalized experience in making health care decisions and

leveraging customer insigha to drive our straregy and mission.

Quality Medical Care

Our commitment to promoting quality medical care to the people we

serve is reflected in a variety of activities.

Physician Engagement for Health Improvement

Most recently, we have been increasing our engagement with
physicians through the rapid development of the rypes of
arrangements discussed below. More than one million medical

customers are currently serviced by physicians compensated under

these types o[ arrangements.

. Colkboratiue Accorntable Care Organizations ('CACs). Ve are

focused on collaboracing with physicians and other health care

professionals and facilities with the goal ofimproving the qualiry of
care and patient satisfaction while lowering medical costs, resulting

in improved overall value. This focus is illustrated by our more than

85 CACs currently established and by our commitment to continue

increasing the number of CACs over the next several years. Our goal

is to reach 100 of these programs in 2014.

. Independent Practice Associations - Cigna-HeahhSpring. IWith the
innovative physician engagement models in out
Cigna-HealthSpring business, we utilize a variety of business

arrangements that shift the physiciant reimbursemenc from the

traditional fee-for-service model to one that is focused on rewarding

qualiry medicd outcomes and an enhanced patient experience at a

lower cost. In these arrangements, the physician groups share

financial outcomes with us. The Cigna-HealthSpring clinical model

also includes outreach to new and at-risk padents to ensure they are

accessing their primary care physician.

Participating Provider Network/Cigna Care

NetworksM

Ve have an extensive nework of participating health care

professionals, hospitals, and other facilities, pharmacies and providers

of health care services and supplies. In most instances, we contract

with them directly; howeve! in some instances, we contract with third
parties for access to their provider networks and care management

services. In addition, we have entered into scrategic alliances with
several regional managed care organizations (e.g. Tirfts Health Plan,

HealthPartners, Inc., Health Alliance Plan, and MVP Health Plan) to

gain access to their provider networks and discounts.

'W'e credential physicians, hospitals and other health care professionals

in our participating provider networks using quality criteria that meet
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or exceed the standards of external accreditation or state regulatory

agencies, or both. Typically, most health care professionals are

re-credentialed every three years.

The Cigna Care Networh, a benefit design option available in 69

service areas across the U.S., is a subset of participating specialist

physicians so designated based on specific clinical quality and

cost-efficiency criteria, Customers pay reduced co-payments or
co-insurance when they receive care from a specialist designated as a

Cigna Care Nework physician. Participating specialists are evaluated

regularly for the Cigna Care Network designation.

Onsite Medical Care

, Cigna Medical Group is a rnulti-specialry medical group practice that
delivers primary care and certain specialty care services through 25

medical facilities and approximately 180 employed clinicians in the

Phoenix, Arizona metropolitan area. Twenty-two of these

multi-specialcy health care centers and their affiliated primary care

physicians have received the top level ofaccreditation (level 3) from
the National Committee for Qualiry Assurance ("NCQA') a

private, nonprofit organization dedicated to improving health care

qualiry. Cigna Medical Group currently holds the highest level of
this accredication for the greatest number ofpractices and physicians

in the state of Arizona.

. Cigna Onsite Heabh. Our onsite services include more than 150

health centers at various employer sites that offer health coaching,
wellness seminars and biometric screenings.

. LiuinglVell Heahh Centers. Our Medicare Advantage customers may

receive care from a team of physicians, nurse practitioners and

Markets and Distribution

pharmacists. \7e operate five stand-alone centers and seven

'practices" that incorporate the principles ofthe larger srand-alone

centers while allowing the customer to continue to see his or her

primary care physician in an office setting. In addition, we expanded

our service model to include embedded case management resources

in three physician practice locations.

External Validation
'!(i'e continue to demonstrate our commitment to quality and have a

broad scope of qualiry programs validated through nationally
recognized external accreditation organizations. Ve were awarded

Excellent, Commendable or Accredited for Health Plan accreditation
from NCQA in 36 of our markets. Additional NCQA recognitions

include Full Accreditation for Managed Behavioral Healthcare

Organization for Cigna Behavioral Health, Performance Reporting

for '!?'ellness & Health Promotion accreditation for our wellness

programs and Physician & Hospital Q"rlity Certification for our
provider transparency program. Ve have Full Accreditation for
Health Utilization Management, Case Management and Pharmacy

Benefit Management from URAC, an independent, nonprofit health

care accrediting organization dedicated to promoting health care

quality through accreditation, certifi cation and commendation.

'\il'e participate in the NCQAT Health Plan Employer Data and

Information Set ("HEDISo") Quality Compass Report, whose

Effectiveness of Care measures are a standard set of metrics to evaluate

the effectiveness of managed care clinical programs. Our national
results compare favorably to industry averages.

7o of Medical
Customers

\We offer health care and related products and services in the following customer segments or markets:

Nationd Mulri-state employers with 5,000 or more U.S.-based, fu|l-time employees. V'e primarily offer ASO funding
solutions in this market segment.

Middle Mrket Employers generally with 250 ro 4,999 U.S.-based, full-time employees. This segment also jncludes single+ite

27%

52o/o

Select

Individual

Government

employers wirh more than 5,000 employees, Thft-Hartley plans and other rhird parry payers. We offer ASO,
experience-rated and guarmteed cosr funding solutions in this market segment.

Employers generally w'rh 5l-249 eligible employees, 1i7'e offer ASO and guaranteed cost funding solutions in this : 7o/o

marker segment.

Individuals in ten srates as of December 31, 2013: Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, 2o/o

North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee and Texas. Effective Ocrober l, 2013, we began offering coverage on
five public health insurance exchanges (Arizona, Colorado, Florida, Tennessee and Texas). W'e offer plans only on

a guaranteed cost basis in this market segment.

Offers Medicare Advantage (both to individuals who are post-65 retirees, as well as empfoy.el group sponsorec 3o/o

pre- and post-65 retirees), Prescription Drug programs, and Medicaid products as managed care alternatives to
publicly funded health care programs.

lntemational Focused on the needs of local and multinational companies and organizations and their local and globally mobile 9o/o

employees and dependents. \fle offer guaranteed cost, experience-rated and ASO funding solutions in this market

segment.

'We employ sales representatives to distribute our products and
services through insurance brokers and insurance consultants or
directly to employers, unions and other groups. We also employ
representatives to sell utilization review services, behavioral health care
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and pharmacy management, and employee assistance services directly
to insurance companies, HMOs, third party administrators and

employer groups. As of December 31, 2013, our field sales force

consisted ofover 1,000 sales representatives in more than 100 field



locarions. In our Cigna-HealthSpring business, Medicare Advantage

enrollment is generally a decision made individually by the customer,

and accordingly, sales agents and representatives focus their efforts on
in-person conracts with potential enrollees, as well as telephonic and

group selling venues.

Competition and Industry Developments

Our business is subject to intense competition and continuing
industry consolidation that has created an even more competitive

business environment. In certain geographic locations, some health

care companies may have significant market share positions, but no

one competitor dominates the health care market nationally. We

expect a continuing trend of consolidation in the industry given the

current economic and political envitonment. Ve also expect

continued vertical integration, with the line blurring between

clinicians and hospitals, and traditional insurers.

Competition in the hedth care market exists both for employers and

other groups sponsoring plans and for the employees in those

instances where the employer offers its employees a choice of products

from more than one health care company. Most group policies are

subject to annual review by the policyholder, who may seek

competitive quotations prior to renewal. Ve expect competition to

increase in the individual market as a result ofthe introduction ofthe
new health insurance Marketplaces (or exchanges) under Health Care

Reform.

The primary competitive factors are qualicy and cost-effectiveness of
service and provider networks; effectiveness of medical care

management; products that meet the needs of employers and their
employees; total cost management; technology; and effectiveness of
marketing and sales. Financial strength ofthe insurer, as indicated by

ratings issued by nationally recognized rating agencies, is also a

competitive factor. W'e believe that our health advocacy capabilities,

holistic approach to consumer engagement, breadth of product
offerings, clinical care and medical management capabilities and array

of product funding options are competitive advantages. These

advantages allow us to respond to the diverse needs of our customer

base. We also believe that our focus on helping to improve the health,

well-being and sense of securiry of the customers we serve wiil allow us

to differentiace ourselves from our competitors.

Our principal competitors in the U.S.-based business are:

' other large insurance companies that provide group health and life
insurance products;

. Blue Cross and Blue Shield organizations;

. stand-alone HMOs and PPOs;

. HMOs affiliated with major insurance companies and hospitals;

and

. national managed pharmacy, behavioral health and utilization
review services comoanies.
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The primary competitors of the international health care business

include U.S.-based and European health insurance companies wich

global health benefits operations. The primary competitors for our
international health care operations in the United Kingdom and Spain

are regional and local insurers.

Comperition also arises from smaller regional or specialry companies

with strength in a particular geographic area or product line,

administrative service firms and, indirectly, self-insurers. In addirion
to these traditional competitors, a new group of compecitors is

emerging. These new competitors are focused on delivering employee

benefits and services through internet-enabled technology that allows

consumers to take a more active role in the management of their
health. This is accomplished primarily through financial incentives,

access to enhanced medical qualiry data and other information
sharing. The effective use of our health advocary, customer insight

and physician engagement capabilities, along with decision support

tools (some of which are web-based) and enabling technology are

critical to success in the health care industry and we believe our

capabilities in these areas will be competitive differentiators.

2014isakeyyear in the implementation of Health Care Reform, with
rhe advent of the public Marketplaces (i.e. exchanges), the Health

Insurer fee, the reinsurance assessment, and the MLR requirement for
Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D Plans. Despite the

administrative challenges involved in the rollout of the public
Marketplaces, we continue to operate under the assumption that
Health Care Reform will largely be implemented as the law was

originallywritten. See the "Regulation'section ofthis Form 10-Kfor
additional information regarding Health Care Reform.

On February 21, 2014, CMS issued is Advance Nodce of
Methodological Changes for Calendar Year 2015 for Medicare

Advantage Capitation Rates, Part C and Part D Payment Policies (the

"Notice"). The final terms are expected to be published on April 7,

2014. Vhile the terms contained within the Notice are within the

range of our expectations, there remain numerous open issues and

substantial uncertainties regarding the final terms of the Notice. \7e
expect that CMS will receive a significant number of comments from
interested parties (including Cigna) prior to issuance of the final
terms; however, there can be no assurance that CMS will amend its

current positions. Given the uncertainty regarding the final terms of
the Notice, we cannot reliably estimate the impact on our business,

revenues or results of operations in 2015 and beyond; under certain

circumstances, it is possible that the impact could be materially

adverse. In addition, we expect to adjust our programs and services in
response to the proposed 2015 terms.
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Global Supplemental Benefits

Our Global Supplemental Benefits segment offers supplemental

health, life and accidenr insurance products in selected international
markets and the United States.'!flith local licenses and partnerships in
approximately 20 countries and jurisdictions, we are able to offer

products and services to local citizens and globally mobile individuals.

All products and services are offered by subsidiaries of Cigna

Corporation. This segment constituted 8%o of our consolidated

revenues for the year ended December 31,2013.

'We continue to distinguish ourselves in the global supplemental

health, life and accident businesses through our differentiated

direct-to-consumer distribudon, customer insights and marketing

capabilities. Ve enter new markets when the opportunity to bring our
product and health solutions is attractive. Over the past several years,

we have continued to extend our product offerings and geographic

reach. For example, in 2012, we extended our reach in Tirrkey through
the joint venture with Finansbank and expanded into the U.S.

Medigap and supplemental lines of business through the acquisition

of GreatAmerican Supplemental Benefits. In 2011, our acquisition of
FirstAssist in the U,K. added a travel insurance product line and

expanded our distribution channels. Ln2014, we will begin offering

products in India through our joint venture with TTK Group.

Principal Products and Services

Supplemental Health, Life and Accident Insurance

Supplemental health, Iife and accident insurance products generally

provide simple, affordable coverage of risks for the health and

financial security of individuals. Supplemental health products

provide specified payments for a variery of health risks and include

personal accident, accidental death, critical illness, hospitalization,

travel, dental, cancer and other dread disease coverages. Ve also offer
cusromers individual private medical insurance, term and variable

universal life insurance, and other savings products.

Medicare Supplement Plans

'!?'e offer individual Medicare Supplement plans that provide retirees

with federally standardized Medigap+ryle plans. Redrees may select

among the various plans with specific plan options to meet their
unique needs and may visit, without the need for a referral, any health

care professional or faciliry that accepts Medicare throughout the

United States.

Pricing and Reinsurance

Premium rates for our global supplemental benefits products are based

on assumptions about mortaliry, morbidiry customer acquisidon and

retention, expenses and target profit margins, as well as interest rates.

For variable universal life insurance products, fees consist ofmortaliry
administracive, asset management and surrender charges assessed

against the contractholder's fund balance. Mortality charges on
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variable universal life may be adjusted prospectively to reflect expected

mortaliry experience. For Medicare Supplement products, premium
rates and fees reflect assumptions about future claims, customer

retention, expenses, customer demographics, investment returns, and

profit margins. Most contracts permit premium rate changes at least

annually.

A global approach to underwriting risk management allows for each

locd business to underwrite and accept risk within specified limits.
Retentions are centrally managed through cost effective use ofexternal
reinsurance to limit our liabiliry on per life, per risk, and per event

(catastrophe) bases.

Markets and Distribution

Our supplemenml health, life and accident insurance products are

offered primarily in Sourh Korea and select markets in Asia and

Europe, as well as the United Srates. In China and Turkey we offer

products and services through joint ventures in which we own 50%o

and 57o/o interests, respectively. ln 2014, we will begin offering

products and services in India through a joint venture in which we

own a 260/o interest. Our Medicare supplement product line is

primarily distributed through independent agents and telemarketing

direcdy to the U.S. consumer.

South Korea represen$ our single largest geographic market for
Global Supplemental Benefits. For information on the concentration

of risk with respect to the Global Supplemental Benefits segmentt

business in South Korea, see "Other Items Affecting Results of GlobaI

Supplemental Benefits" in the Global Supplemental Benefits section

of the MD&A beginning on page 47 of rhis Form 10-K.

Our supplemenml health, life and accident insurance products sold in
foreign countries are generally marketed through distriburion parmers

with whom the individud insured has an affinity relationship. These

products are sold primarily through direct marketing channels, such as

outbound telemarketing, and in-branch bancassurance (where we

partner with a bank and use the bank's sales channels to sell our
insurance products). Marketing campaigns are conducted through

these channels under a variecy ofarrangemens with affiniry partners,

including banks, credit card companies and other financial and

non-financial institutions. We also market direcdy to consumers via

direcc response television and the Internet. Our Medicare supplement

product line is distributed primarily through independent agents and

telemarketing directly to the consumer.

For our supplemental health, life and accident insurance products sold

in foreign markets we are increasingly exposed to geopolitical and

other risl<s inherent in foreign operations. A]so, given that we bill and

collect a significant portion of premiums through credit cards, a

substantial contraction in consumer credit could impact our ability to
retain existing policies and sell new policies. A decline in customer

retention would result in both a reduction of revenue and an

acceleration of the amortization of acouisition related costs. Changes



in regulation for permitted distribution channels also may impact our

business or results.

Competition

\(e expect that the competitive environment for global supplemental

benefits will continue to intensifr as U.S. and Europe-based insurance

and financial services providers more aggressively pursue global

expansion opportunities. tVe believe competitive factors will include

product and distribution innovation and differentiation, efficient

management of marketing processes and costs, commission levels paid

to distribution partners, and the qualiry of claims and customer

services. Additionally, in most overseas markets, perception of
financial strength also will likely continue to be an important
competitive factor.

Our competitors are primarily locally-based insurance companies,

including insurance subsidiaries of banks primarily in Asia and

Europe and multi-national companies. Insurance company

competitors in this segment primarily focus on traditional product

Group Disability and Life
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distribution through captive agents, with direct marketing being

secondary channels. 'We estimate that we have less than 2% market

share of the total life insurance premiums in any given market in
which we operare.

In the Medicare supplement business, the principal competitive

factors are underwriting and pricing, relative operating efficienry,

broker relations, and the qualiry of claims and customer service. Our
primary competitors in this business include U,S.-based health

insurance comoanies.

Industry Developments

Pressure on social health care systems and increased wealth and

education in emerging markets are leading to higher demand for
products providing health insurance and financial securiry. In the

supplemental health, life and accident business, direct markecing

channels are growing and attracting new competitors and increasing

demand for local employee talent, while industry consolidation

among financial institutions and other affiniry partners continues.

Our Group Disabiliry and Life segment provides group long-term and

short-term disabilicy insurance, group life insurance, accident and

specialty insurance and related services. 
'W'e market these products and

services in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the

U.S. Virgin Islands and Canada. All products and services are offered

by subsidiaries of Cigna Corporation.

Products and Services

Group Disability

Long-term and short-term group disabiliry insurance products

generally provide a fixed level ofincome to replace a portion ofwages

lost because of disability. Group disability coverage is typically
employer-paid or a combination of employer and employee-paid, but
also may include coverage paid for entirely by employees. As parr of
our group disability insurance products, we also provide assistance to

employees in returning to work and assistance to their employers in
managing the cost of employee disabiliry. We are an industry leader in
helping employees return to work quickly, resulting in higher

productivity and lower cost for employers and a better qualicy of life
for their employees.

'We seek to integrate our disability insurance products with other

disabiliry benefit programs, behavioral programs, medical programs,

social securicy advocacy, and administration of federd and state

Family and Medical kave Act (FMIA) Iaws and other leave oF

absence programs.'We believe this integration provides our custorners

with increased efficiency and efFectiveness in disabiliry claims

management, enhances productivity and reduces overall costs to
employers. This integration also provides early insight into employees

at risk for future disabiliry claims. Coordinating the administration of
these disabiliry programs with medical programs offered by our health

care business provides enhanced opportunities to influence outcomes,

reduce the cost of both medical and disabiliry events and improve the

return to work rate. The benefits of this integrated approach also

include:

. using informarion from the health care and disabiliry databases to
help identifr, rreat and manage disabilities before they become

chronic, longer in duration and more costly; and

. proactively reaching out to assist employees suffering from a mental

health or chronic condition, either as a primary condition or as a

result of another condition.

Our disabiliry products and services are offered on a fully insured,

experience-rated and ASO basis, although rnost are fully insured. As

measured by 2013 premiums and fees, disabiliry constituted

approximately 470lo of this segment's business. Approximately 13,600

insured disability policies covering approximately 7.5 million lives

were in force as of December 31,2013.

Group Life Insurance

Group life insurance products offered include term life and universal

life. Group rerm life insurance may be employer-paid basic life
insurance, employee-paid supplemental life insurance or a

combinadon thereof. Group universal life insurance is an

employee-paid, voluntary life insurance product in which the owner

may accumulate a cash value. The cash value earns interest at rates

declared From time to time, subject to a minimum guaranteed

contracted rate, and may be borrowed, withdrawn, or, within certain

limits, used to fund future life insurance coverage.

As measured by 2013 premiums and fees, group life insurance

constituted approximarely 45o/o of this segmentt business.

Approximately 7,300 group life insurance policies covering

approximately 6.1 million lives were in force as of December 31,

2013.
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Other Products and Services

\We also offer personal accident insurance coverage, consisting

primarily of accidencal death and dismemberment and travel accident

insurance to employers. Group accident insurance may be

employer-paid or employee-paid. In addition, we offer specialry

insurance services that consist primarily ofdisabiliry and life, accident,

and hospital indemnity products to professional or trade associations

and financial institutions.

'We also provide a number of voluntary products that are rypically paid

by the employee and offered ar rhe employert worksite. Our plans

provide employers with flexible enrollment options, list billing,

medical underwriting, and individual record keeping. These offerings

are designed so that employers will have a complete and simple way to

manage their benefits, including personalized enrollment

communication and administration of the benefits program. In the

last year, we have brought to market two new voluntary offerings -
accidentd injury insurance and critical illness coverage. Both these

offerings provide additional dollar payouts to employees for accidental

issues or more serious illnesses.

Pricing and Reinsurance

Premiums and fees charged for disabiliry and term life insurance

products are usually established in advance ofthe policy period and

are generally guaranteed for one to three years and selectively

guaranteed for up to five years; policies are generally subject to

termination by the policyholder or by the insurance company

annually. Premium rates reflect assumptions about future claims,

expenses, credit risk, investment returns and profit margins. These

assumptions may be based in whole or in part on prior experience oF

the account or on a pool ofaccounts, depending on the group size and

the statistical credibility of the experience that varies by product.

Premiums for group universal life insurance products consist of
mortaliry and administrative charges assessed against the

policyholdert fund balance. Interest credited and mortaliry charges

for group universal life may be adjusted prospectively to reflect

expected interest and mortality experience. Mortality charges are

subject to guaranteed maximum rates stated in the policy.

The effectiveness of return to work programs and morbidity levels will
impact the profitabiliry of disability insurance products. Our previous

claim experience and industry data indicate a correlation between

disabiliry claim incidence levels and economic conditions, with
submitted claims rising under adverse economic conditions, although

this impact is not clear. For life insurance products, the degree to

which future experience deviates from mortality and expense

assumptions also affects profitabiliry.

To reduce our exposure to large individual and catastrophic losses

under group life, disabiliry and accidental death policies, we purchase

reinsurance from unaffiliated reinsurers.

Markets and Distribution
'We market our group disability and life insurance products and

services to employers, employees, professional and other associations
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and groups in the National, Middle Markec and Select segments, In
marketing these products, we primarily sell through insurance brokers

and consultants and employ a direct sales force. As of December 31,

2013, the field sales force for the products and services of this segment

consisted of approximately 230 sales professionals in 27 office

locations.

Competition

The principal competitive factors that affect the Group Disabiliry and

Life segment are underwriting and pricing, the quality and

effectiveness of claims management, relative operating efficiency,

investment and risk management, distribution methodologies and

producer relations, the breadth and variery of products and services

offered, and the qualiry ofcustomer service. For certain products with
longer-term liabilities, such as group long-term disability insurance,

the financial strength of the insurer, as indicated by ratings issued by

nationally recognized rating agencies, also is a competitive factor.

The principd competitors of our group disabiliry, life and accident

businesses are other large and regional insurance companies that

market and distribute these or similar types of producm. fu of
December 31, 2013, we are one of the top five providers of group

disabiliry life and accident insurance in the United States, based on

premiums.

Industry Developments

Employers are expressing a growing interest in employee wellness,

absence management and productivicy and likewise are recognizing a

strong link between employee health, productiviry and their

profitability. As this interest grows, we believe our healthy lifestyle and

return-to-work programs and integrated family medicd leave,

disability and health care programs position us to deliver integrated

solutions for employers and employees. We also believe that our

strong disabiliry management portfolio and fully integrated programs

provide employers and employees tools to improve health status. This

focus on managing the employeet total absence enables us to increase

the number and likelihood of interventions and minimize disabling

events.

The group insurance market remains highly competitive as the rising

cost of providing medical coverage to employees has forced companies

to re-evduate their overall employee benefit spending, resulting in

lower volumes of group disabiliry and life insurance business and

more competitive pricing. Demographic shifts have further driven

demand for products and services that are sufficiently flexible to meet

the evolving needs of employers and employees who want innovative,

cost-effective solutions to their insurance needs. Employers continue

to shift towards greater employee participatory coverage and voluntary

purchases. \fith our broad suite ofvoluntary offerings and continued

focus on developing additional voluntary products and service

capabilities, we believe we are well positioned to meet the needs of
both employers and employees as the market shifts to become more

retail-focused.



Over the past few years, there has been heightened review by state

regulators of the claims handling practices within the disabiliry and

life insurance industry. This has resulted in an increase in coordinated,

multi-state examinations that target specific market practices in

Run-off Reinsurance
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addidon to regularly recurring examinations of an insurert overall

operations conducted by an individual statet regulators. Ve were

recently subject to such an examination. See Note 23 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Our reinsurance operations are an inactive business in run-offmode.

In February 2013, we effectively exited the Run-off guaranteed

minimum death benefit ('GMDB") and guaranteed minimum

income benefit ('GMIB") businesses by reinsuring 100% of our

Other Operations

future exposures, net of retrocessional arrangements in place at that

time, up to a specified limit. For additional information regarding this

reinsurance transaction, see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements,

Our Other Operations segment includes the following three

businesses:

Corporate-owned Life Insurance ("COLI")

The principal products of the COLI business are permanent insurance

contracts sold to corporations to provide coverage on the lives of
certain employees for the purpose of financing employer-paid future

benefit obligations. Permanent life insurance provides coverage that,

when adequately funded, does not expire after a term of years. The
contracts are primarily non-participating universal life policies. Fees

for universal life insurance products consist primarily of mortaliry and

administrative charges assessed against the policyholdert fund
balance. Interest credited and mortality charges for universal life and

mortaliry charges on variable universal life may be adjusted

prospectively to reflect expected interest and mortaliry experience. To

reduce our exposure to large individual and catastrophe losses, we

purchase reinsurance from unaffiliated reinsurers.

Investments and Investment Income

Individual Life Insurance and Annuity and

Retirement Benefits Businesses

This business includes deferred gains recognized from the 1998 sale of
the individual life insurance and annuity business and the 2004 sale of
the retirement benefits business. For more information regarding the

sale of these businesses and the arrangements that secure our
reinsurance recoverables for the retirement benefits business, see

Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Run-off Settlement Annuity Business

Our settlement annuiry business is a closed, run-off block of single

premium annuity conuacts. These contracts are primarily liability
settlements with approximarcly 260/o of the liabilities associated wirh
paymenm that are guaranteed and not contingent on survivorship. For

conuacts that involve non-guaranteed payments, such payments are

contingent on the survival of one or mote parties involved in the

settlement.

General Accounts

Our investment operations provide investment management and

related services for our corporate invested assets and the insurance-

related invested assets in our General Account ("General Account
Invested Assets"). Ve acquire or originare, directly or through
intermediaries, a broad range of investments including private

placements and public securities, commercial mortgage loans, real

estate, mezzanine, private equity partnerships and short-term
investments. Invested asse6 also include policy loans that are fully
collateralized by insurance poliry cash values. Invested Assets are

managed primarily by our subsidiaries and, to a lesser extent, external

managers with whom our subsidiaries contract. Net invesrment

income is included as a component of segment earnings for each of
our reporting segments and Corporate. Realized investment gains

(losses) are reported by segment but excluded from segment earnings.

For additional information about invested assets, see the "lnvestment

Assets" section of the MD&A beginning on page 54 and Notes l0 to
l4 o[our Consolidated Financial Statements.

'W'e manage our investment portfolios to reflect the underlying

characteristics of related insurance and contractholder liabilities and

capital requirements, as well as regulatory and tax considerations

pertaining to those liabilities and state investment laws. Insurance and

contractholder liabilities range from short duration health care

products to longer term obligations associated with disability and life
insurance products and the run-off settlement annuity business.

Assets supporting these liabilides are managed in segregated

investment portfolios to facilitate matching of asset durations and

cash flows to those of corresponding liabilities. Investment strategy

and results are affected by the amount and timing of cash available for
investment, competition for investments, economic conditions,

interest rates and asset allocation decisions. \(e routinely monitor and

evaluate the status of our investments, obtaining and anallzing
relevant investment-specific information and assessing current

economic conditions, trends in capital markets and other factors such

as industry sectot geographic and/or properry-specific information.
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Separate Accounts

Our subsidiaries or external advisors manage Separate Account assets

on behalfofcontractholders. These assets are legdly segregated from
our other businesses and are not included in General Account
Invested Assets. Income, gains and losses generally accrue directly to
the contractholders. As of December 31,2013, our Separate Account
assets consisted ofi

. $3.8 billion in separate account assets that constitute a portion of
the assets of the Cigna Pension Plan;

Regulation

. $3.4 billion in separate account assets that supporr Variable

Universal Life products sold as a part of our corporate-owned life
insurance business, as well as through our Global Supplemenral

Benefits segment; and

. $1.1 billion in separate account assets that support primarily health

care and other disabiliry and life products.

The laws and regulations governing our business continue to increase

each year and are subject to frequent change. We have established

policies and procedures to comply with applicable requirements.

Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries must be licensed by the
jurisdictions in which they conduct business. These subsidiaries are

subject to numerous state, federal and international regulations

related to their business operations, including, but not limited to:

. the form and content of customer contracts including benefit

mandates (including special requirements for small groups);

. premium rates and medical loss ratios;

. the content of agreements with participating providers of covered

serylces;

. producer appointment and compensation;

. claims processing and appeals;

. underwriring practices;

. relnsurance afrangements;

. unlair trade and claim practices;

. protecting the privacy and confidentialiry of the information
received from customers;

. risk sharing arrangements with providers;

. reimbursement or payment levels for Medicare services;

. advertising; and

. the operation ofconsumer-directed plans (including health savings

accounts, health reimbursement accounts, flexible spending

accounts and debit cards).

In addition, our international subsidiaries comply with regulations in
international jurisdictions where foreign insurers may be faced with
more onerous regulations than their domestic competitors. The
broader regulatory environment may include anti-corruption laws,

economic sanctions laws, various insurance, tax, tariff and trade laws

and regulations, corporate governance, employment, intellectual

property and investment laws and regulation, discriminatory licensing

procedures, compulsory cessions of reinsurance, required localization

of records and funds, higher premium and income taxes, and

requirements for local participation in an insurert ownership. In
addition, the expansion of our operations into foreign countries
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increases our exposure to certain U.S. laws, such as the Foreign

Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 ('FCPA). See page 15 for further
discussion of international regulations.

The business of administering and insuring employee benefit

programs, particularly health care programs, is heavily regulated by

state and federal laws and administrative agencies, such as state

departments of insurance and the federal departments of Labor,

Health and Human Services, Tieasury and Justice and the Internal
Revenue Service, as well as the courts. Health savings accounts, health

reimbursement accounts and flexible spending accounts also are

regulated by the U.S. Department of the Tieasury and the Internal
Revenue Service.

Our operations, accounts and other books and records are subject to

examination at regular intervals by regulatory agencies, including state

insurance and health and welfare departments, state boards of
pharmacy and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

("CMS") to assess compliance with applicable laws and regulations. In
addition, our current and past business practices are subject to review

by, and from dme to time we receive subpoenas and other requests of
informarion from, various state insurance and hedth care regulatory

authorities, attorneys generd, the Office of Inspector General, and

other state and federal authorities, including inquiries by, and

testimony before committees and subcommittees of the U.S.

Congress regarding certain of its business practices. These

examinations, reviews, subpoenas and requests may result in changes

to or clarifications ofour business practices, as well as fines, penalties

or other sanctions.

Regulatory and Legislative Developments

The federal and state governments in the U.S. as well as governments

in other countries where we do business continue to enact and

seriously consider many broad-based legislative and regulatory

proposals that could materially impact various aspects of our business.

Health Care Reform

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care

and Education Reconciliation Act (collectively referred to as "Health

Care Reform') mandates broad changes affecting insured and

self-insured health benefit plans that impact our current business

model, including our relationship with current and future customers,



producers and health care providers, products, services, processes and

technology. Certain of the lawt provisions became effective bewveen

2010 and 2013 and other provisions will take effect from 2014 to
2018. Health Care Reform left many details to be established through

regulations. Vhile federal agencies have published proposed and final
regulations with respect to most provisions, many issues remain

uncertain. For the financial effects of these provisions, see the

Overview secdon of our MD&A beginning on page 3l of this

Form 10-K.

Proaisions tbat toob ffict fiom 2010-2013. Commercial

minimum medical los ratio requirements as prescribed by the

Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") became

effective in January 201 I and require payment of premium rebates to

group and individual policyholders if certain annual minimum
medical loss racios ("MLR") are not met in our commercial business.

HHS issued guidance that provides transitional relief from certain

Health Care Reform requirements for expatriate health coverage

(including the MLR requirements) through plan years ending on or
before December 31,2015. The adjustments allowed for calculating

the MLR for limited benefit plans are reduced each year through 2014

after which no adjustments are permitted. For the financial impact of
the commercial MLR requirements on our results, see the "Overvie#'
section of our MD&A in this Form l0-K.

Other provisions that have already taken effect include reduced

Medicare premium rates beginning in 2011, the requirement to cover

preventive services with no enrollee cost-sharing, banning the use of
lifetime and annual limits on the dollar amount of essential health

benefits, increasing restrictions on rescinding covenge and extending

coverage of dependents to the age of 26. Health Care Reform also

changed certain tax laws that effectively limit the amount of certain

employee compensation that is tax deductible by health insurers.

Proaisions beconing ffictiue in 2014-2018. Various fees,

including the heabh inwrance indusny fee and the reinsurance fee, wlll
be assessed beginning in 2014. The health insurance industry fee,

totaling $8 billion for the industry in 2014 and increasing to

$13.9 billion by 2017, will not be tax deductible. Our share of this

industry fee will be determined based on our proportion of premiums

for both our commercial and government businesses to the industry
total. Our effective tax rate is expected to increase beginning in 2014
as a result ofthis fee. The reinsurance fee is a fixed dollar per customer

lery on a.ll commercial business, including ASO and is tax deductible.

Our Medicare Aduantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug pkn
businesses are also impacted by Health Care Reform in a variety of
additional ways beginning in 2014, including mandated minimum
reductions to risk scores, transition of Medicare Advantage
"benchmark" rates to Medicare fee-for-service pariry reduced

enrollment per.iods and limitations on disenrollment, providing
"quality bonuses" for Medicare Advantage plans with a rating for four
or five stars from CMS and mandated consumer discounts on brand

name and generic prescription drugs for Medicare Part D plan

participants in the coverage gap. Beginning in 2014, Health Care

Reform requires Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D plans to
meet a minimum MLR of 85%. Under the rules proposed by HHS, if
the MLR for a CMS contract is less than 85%, the contractor is
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required to pay a penalry to CMS and could be subject to additional
sanctions if the MLR continues to be less than 85%o for successive

years. Through Health Care Reform and other federal legislation,

funding for Medicare Advantage plans has been and may continue to
be altered.

Heabh Insurance Exchanga begin in 2014. Each state is required to
have either a state-based, a state and federal partnership, or federally

facilitated health insurance exchange for individuals and small

employer groups to purchase insurance coverage. The enrollment
process began on October 1,2013. In the ten states where we

currently offer individual coverage, most exchanges are federally

facilitated.'We are offering coverage on five public health insurance

exchanges (Arizona, Colorado, Florida, Tennessee, and Texas). tWe

continue to sell individual and family plans off-exchange in ali ten

staces where such coverage is currently offered.

Because individuals seeking to purchase health insurance coverage on

the exchanges are guaranteed to be issued a poliry, Health Care

Reform provides three programs designed to reduce the risk for
participating health insurance companies:

. a three-)lear (20 I 4-20 I 6) reinsurance program for non-grandfathered

individual business sold either on or off the public exchanges

beginning in 2014. This program is designed to provide

reimbursement for high cost individual customers and will be

funded by the per-customer reinsurance fee assessed against insurers

and self-insured group health plans;

. a three-jear (2014-2016) rish corridor program putin place to limit
insurer gains and losses and protect against inaccurate rate setting at

the outset of the new program; and

. a ?ermanent rhle adjustment Prlgram that will transfer funds from
lower risk to higher risk plans based on the relative health risk scores

of plan participants.

\(e have irnplemented the provisions of Health Care Reform thac are

currently in effect (including the commercial minimum MLR
requirements) and we continue our implementation planning for
those provisions that take effect in the future. Management condnues

to closely monitor the implementation of Health Care Reform and is

actively engaged with regulators and polirymakers with respecr to
rule-making.

Dodd-Frank Act

In 2010, Congress enacted the Dodd-Frank Vall Street Reform and

Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act") that provides for a

number of reforms and regulations in the corporate governance,

financial reporting and disclosure, investments, tax and enforcement

areas that affect us. The SEC and other regulatory authorities engaged

in rulemaking efforts under the Dodd-Frank Act throughout 2011,

2012 and 2013, and additional rulemaking continues. The
Dodd-Frank Act established a Federal Insurance Ofilce that will
develop and coordinate federal policy on insurance matters. \7e are

closely monitoring how these regulations impact the Company,

however the full impact of the legislation may not be known for
several years until regulations become fully effective.
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Regulation of Insurance Companies

Financial Reporting and Internal Control

Regulators closely monitor the financial condition of licensed

insurance companies and HMOs, States regulate the form and

content ofstatutory financial statements, the rype and concentration

of permitted investments, and corporate governance over financial

reporting. Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries are required to file
periodic financial reports and schedules with regulators in most ofthe
jurisdictions in which rhey do business as well as annual financial

statements audited by independent registered public accountants.

Certain insurance and HMO subsidiaries are required to file an

annual report of internal control over financial reporting with most
jurisdictions in which they do business. Insurance and HMO
subsidiaries' operations and accounts are subject to examination by
such agencies. 

'We expect states to expand the scope of regulations

relating to corporate governance and internal control activities of its
insurance and HMO subsidiaries as a result of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners' ("NAIC") amendmenc ro

the Annud Financial Reporting Model Regulation to adopt elements

of corporate governance and internal control requirements similar to
those under federal securities' laws,

Guaranty Associations, Indemnity Funds, Risk Pools
and Administrative Funds

Most states and certain non-U.S. jurisdictions require insurance

companies to support guaranty associarions or indemniry funds that
are established to pay claims on behalf of insolvent insurance

companies. In the United States, these associations lery assessments

on member insurers licensed in a particular state to pay such claims.

Several states also require HMOs to participate in guarancy funds,

special risk pools and administrative funds. For additional
information about guaranty fund and other assessments, see Note 23
to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Some states also require health insurers and HMOs ro participate in
assigned risk plans, joint underwriting authorities, pools or orher
residual market mechanisms to cover risks not acceptable under
normal underwriting standards.

Solvenry and Capital Requirements

Many states have adopted some form of the NAIC model solvency-

related laws and risk-based capital rules ("RBC rules") for life and
health insurance companies. The RBC rules recommend a minimum
level of capital depending on the rypes and quality of invesrments

held, the types ofbusiness written and the rypes ofliabilities incurred.
Ifthe ratio ofthe insurer's adjusted surplus ro its risk-based capital falls

below statutory required minimums, the insurer could be subject to
regulatory actions ranging from increased scrutiny to conservarorship.

In addition, various non-U.S. jurisdictions prescribe minimum
surplus requirements that are based upon solvency, liquidiry and

reserve coverage measures. During 2013, our HMOs and life and
health insurance subsidiaries, as well as non-U.S. insurance
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subsidiaries, were compliant with applicable RBC and non-U.S.

surplus rules.

In September 2012, the National Association of Insurance

Commissioners adopted the fusk Management and Own Risk and

Solvenry Assessment Model Act. The Act provides requirements and

principles for maintaining a group solvenry assessment and a risk
management framework and reflects a broader and more prospective

approach to U.S. insurance regulation. The Act, which includes a

requirement to file an annual ORSA Summary Report in the lead

state of domicile, now must be adopted into law by each state. Our
insurance business in the U.S. will be subject to the requirements that

are expected to become effective in 2015, !7e will be prepared to file
an ORSA Summary Report with our lead state regulator consisrent

with rhe requirements.

Holding Company Laws

Our domestic insurance companies and certain of our HMOs are

subject to state laws regulating subsidiaries o[ insurance holding
companies. Under such laws, certain dividends, distributions and

other rransactions between an insurance or HMO subsidiary and its

affiliates may require notification to, or approval by, one or more state

insurance commissioners.

In December 2010, the NAIC adopted revisions to the Model
Insurance Holding Company System RegulatoryAct and Regulation.
The revisions were designed to allow a better understanding of the
risla and activities of non-insurance entities within a holding
company system. The main focus of the revisions has been to
incorporate the concept of "enterprise risk" and to enact provisions

designed to provide regulators with additional inFormation and

authority to manage this new concept. To date, approximately 20

states have taken action to adopt the amended Model Act and

Reguladon.'We continue to follow the states' activity in this area and

will amend its processes as necessary to comply with revised state laws.

Marketing, Advertising and Products

In most states, our insurance companies and HMO subsidiaries are

required to certi0, compliance with applicable advertising regulations

on an annual basis. Our insurance companies and HMO subsidiaries

are also required in most states to file and secure regulatory approval of
products prior to the marketing, advertising, and sale of such

products. State and/or federal regulatory scrutiny of life and health

insurance company and HMO marketing and advertising practices,

including the adequacy of disclosure regarding products and their
administration, may result in increased regulation.

Licensing Requirements

Pharmacy Licensure Laws

Certain of our subsidiaries are pharmacies that dispense prescription
drugs to participants of benefit plans administered or insured by

Cignat HMO and insurance company subsidiaries. These pharmacy-
subsidiaries are subject to state licensing requirements and regulation

as well as U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency registration requirements.



Other laws and regulation affecting our pharmacy-subsidiaries include

federal and state laws concerning labeling, packaging, advertising and

adulteration of prescription drugs and dispensing of controlled
substances.

International Licensure Laws

Our international subsidiaries are often required to be licensed when

entering new markets or starting new operations in certain

jurisdictions. The licensure requirements for these subsidiaries vary by

country and are subject to change.

Claim Administration, Utilization Review and Related

Services

Certain subsidiaries contract to provide claim administration,

utilization management and othe r related services for the

administration of self-insured benefit plans. These subsidiaries may be

subjec to state third-parry administration and other licensing

requirements and regulation,

International Regulations

Our operations outside the United States expose us to laws of multiple
jurisdictions and the rules and regulations ofvarious governing bodies

and regulators, including those related to financial and other

disclosures, corporate governance, privacy, data protection, data

mining, data transfler, labor and employment, consumer protection

and anti-corruption, The operations in countries outside the United
States:

. are subject to local regulations in the locations in which Cigna

subsidiaries conduct business,

. in some cases, are subject to regulations in the locations of
customers. and

. in all cases, are subject to FCPA.

FCPA prohibits offering, promising, providing or authorizing others

to give anything of value to a foreign government official to obtain or
retain business or otherwise secure a business advantage. We are also

subject to applicable anti-corruption laws in the jurisdictions in which
we operate. Additionally, in many countries oucside of the U.S.,

health care professiona.ls are employed by the government. Therefore,

our dealings with them are subject to regulation under the FCPA.

Violations of the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws may result in
severe criminal and civil sanctions as well as other penalties and the

SEC and Department of Justice have increased their enforcement

activities with respect to FCPA. The UK BriberyAct of 2010, which
went into effect in 2011, is an anti-corruption law that applies to all

companies with a nexus to the United Kingdom and whose scope is

even broader than the FCPA. Any voluntary disclosures of FCPA

violations may be shared with the UK authorities, thus potentially
exposing companies to liabiliry and potential penalties in multiple
jurisdictions. We have internal control policies and procedures and

have implemented training and compliance programs for our
employees to deter prohibited practices. Howeve! if our employees or
agents fail to comply with applicable laws governing our international
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operations, we may face investigations, prosecutions and other legal

proceedings and actions that could result in civil penalties,

administrative remedies and criminal sanctions. See the Risk Factors

section beginning on page 18 for a discussion of the risks related to
operating globally.

Federal Regulations

Employee Retirement Income Security Act and the

Public Health Service Act

Our domestic subsidiaries sell most of their products and services to
sponsors ofemployee benefit plans rhat are governed by the Employee

Retirement Income Securiry Acr oF 1974, as amended ('EzuSA').

ERISA is complex set of federal laws and regulations that is

interpreted and enforced by the IRS, DOL and federal courts. Our
domestic subsidiaries are subject to requirements imposed by ENSA
affecting claim and appeals procedures for individual health insurance

and insured and self-insured group health plans and for the insured

dental, disability, life and accident plans we administer. Our domestic

subsidiaries may also contractually agree to comply with these

requirements on behalf of the self-insured dental, disabiliry, life and

accident plans they administer.

Many of the hea-lth insurance reform provisions of the Patient

Protection and Affordable Care Act impacting insured and

self-insured group health plans were incorporated in ENSA. The
health insurance reform provisions under ENSA were also

incorporated into the Public Health Service Act and are direcdy

applicable to health insurance issuers (i.e., health insurers and

HMO'.

Medicare Regulations

Several of our subsidiaries engage in businesses that are subject to
federal Medicare regulations such as:

. those offering individual and group Medicare Advantage (HMO)
coverage;

. those offering Medicare Pharmacy (Part D) products that are subject

to federal Medicare reguladons; and

. billing of Medicare Part B claims on behalf of providers with whom
we have contractual management agreements.

In our Medicare Advantage business, we contract with CMS co

provide services to Medicare beneficiaries pursuant to the Medicare

program. As a result, our right to obtain payment (and the

determination of the amount of such payments), enroll and retain

members and expand into new service areas is subject to compliance

with CMS'numerous and complex regulations and requirements that
are frequently modified and subject to administrative discretion. The
marketing and sales activities (including those of third-parry brokers

and agents) are also heavily regulated by CMS and other

governmental agencies, including applicable state departments of
insurance.'We expect to continue to allocate significant resources to

our compliance, ethics and fraud, waste and abuse programs to
comply with the laws and regulations governing Medicare Advantage

and prescription drug plan programs.
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Several ofour subsidiaries are also subject to reporting requirements

pursuant to Section I l l o[ the Medicare, Medicaid and SCHIP
Extension Acr of 2007.

Federal Audits of Government Sponsored Health Care

Programs

Participation in government sponsored health care programs subjects

us to a variety offederal laws and regulations and risks associated with
audits conducted under these programs. These audits may occur in
years subsequent to our providing the relevant services under audit.

These risks may include reimbursement claims as well as potendd
fines and penalties. For example, with respect to our Medicare

Advantage business, CMS and the Office of the Inspector General

perform audits to determine a health plant compliance with federal

regulations and contractual obligations, including compliance w.ith

proper coding practices (sometimes referred to as Risk Adjustment
Data Vdidation Audits or RADV audits) and compliance with fraud

and abuse enforcement practices through Recovery Audit Contractor
(RAC) audits in which third-parry contractors conduct post-payment

reviews on a contingency fee basis to detect and correct improper
payments. See "Business - Global Health Care" beginning on page 2

ofthis Form 10-K for addidonal information about our participation
in government health-related programs.

The Federal government has made investigating and prosecuting

health care fraud and abuse a prioriry. Fraud and abuse prohibitions
encompass a wide range of activities, including kickbacla for referral

of customers, billing for unnecessary medical services, improper
marketing, and violation of patient privacy rights. The regulations

and contractual requirements in this area are complex, are frequently

modified, and are subject to administrative discretion. Ve expect to
continue to allocate significant resources to comply with these

regulations and requirements and to maintain audit readiness.

Health Insurance Portabiliw and Accountabiliw Act
Regulations

The federal Health Insurance Portabiliry and Accountability Act of
1996 and its implementing regulations ("HIPAA) impose

requirements on hedth insurers, HMOs, health plans, health care

providers and clearinghouses. Health insurers and HMOs are further
subject to regulations related to guaranteed issuance (for groups with
50 or fewer lives), guaranteed renewal, and portabiliry of health

insurance.

HIPM also imposes minimum standards for the privary and security

of protected health information. HIPAAT privacy and security

requirements were expanded by the Health Information Technology

for Economic and Clinical Health Act ("HITECH") that enhanced

penalties for HIPM violations and requires regulated entities to
provide notification to various parties in the event of a breach of
unsecured protected health information. Regulations pursuant to

HITECH continue to be promulgated and are monitored and

implemented as they are finalized.

HIPM also established rules that standardize the format and contenc

of certain electronic transactions, including, but not limited to,
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eligibiliry and claims. Federal regulations were issued requiring
entities subject to HIPM to update their transaction formats for
electronic data interchange from HIPAA 4010 to version 5010
standards and conven from the ICD-9 diagnosis and procedure codes

to the ICD-10 diagnosis and procedure codes. The ICD-10
conversion is required by October l,2014.

Other Confidentiality Requirements

The federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act generally places restrictions on

the disclosure of non-public information to non-afiiliated third
parties, and requires financial institutions, including insurers, to
provide customers with notice regarding how their non-public
personal information is used, including an opportunity to "opt out" of
certain disclosures. State departments ofinsurance and certain federal

agencies adopted implementing regulations as required by federal law.

Neither the HIPAA nor the Gramm-Leach-Bliley privacy regulations

preempt more stringent state laws and regulations that apply to us,

and a number of states have adopted data security laws and

regulations, regulating data securiry and requiring security breach

notification that may apply to us in certain circumstances.

Antitrust Regulations

Our subsidiaries also are engaged in activities that may be scrutinized

under federal and state antitrust laws and regulations, These activities

include the administration of strategic alliances with competitors,

information sharing with competitors and provider contracting.

Anti-Money Laundering Regulations

Certain ofour products ("Covered Products" as defined in the Bank

Secrecy Act) are subject to U.S. Department of the Tieasury

anti-money laundering regulations. \i(e have implemented

anti-money laundering policies designed to ensure that its Covered

Products are underwritten and sold in compliance with these

regulations. We may also be subject to antlmoney laundering laws in
non-U.S. jurisdictions where it operates.

Office of Foreign Assets Control
'We 

are also subject to regulation put forth by the Office of Foreign

Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Tieasury which
administers and enforces economic and trade sanctions based on U.S.

foreign policy and national security goals against targeted foreign

countries and regimes, terrorists, international narcotics traffickers,

those engaged in activities related to the proliferation ofweapons of
mass destruction, and other threats to the national security, foreign

policy or economy of the United States. In addidon, we may be

subject to similar regulations in non-U.S. jurisdictions in which it
oPerates.

Investment-Related Regulations

Depending upon their nature, our investment management activities

are subiect to U.S. federal securities laws, ENSA. and other federal



and state laws governing investment related activities. In many cases,

the investment management activities and investments of individud

Miscellaneous
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insurance companies are subject to regulation by muldple
jurisdictions.

Premiums and fees from CMS represented 220/o of otu total

consolidated revenues for the year ended Decemb er 31, 2013 under a

number ofcontracts. We are not dependent on business from one or a

few customers. Other than CMS, no one customer accounted for
l07o or morc of our consolidated revenues in 2013. W'e are not

dependent on business from one or a few brokers or agents. In
addition, our insurance businesses ate generally not commifted to

accept a fixed ponion of the business submimed by independent

brokers and agena, and generally all such business is subject to its
approval and acceptance.

'\7e 
had approximately 36,500 employees as of December 31,2013l'

35,800 employees as of Decembcr 31,2012; and 31,400 cmployees as

of December 31,2011.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
As a large com?an! operating in a complex industry, ue encounter a

uariety ofrhhs and uncertainties that could haue a material aduerse efect

on our business, liquidity results ofoperations orf.nancial condition. Yot

should carefully considzr each of the isks and ancertainties discussed

belou in Managementi Diseussion and Anallsis of Raubs of Operations

and Financial Condition and information contained elsewhere in this

Annual Report on Forn 10-K, These rishs and uncertainties are not the

only ones we face. Allitional rishs and uncertainties not presentl! hnoun

to t.us or tltat we currentb beline to be immateial ma1 abo aduersely afect

Our business is subject to substnntial gouernment
reguktion, as well ns new la.ws or regalntions or
cbanges in existing laws or reguktions that could
baue a material aduerse ffict on our business, results

of operntions, financial condition rtnd liquidity.

Our business is regulated at the federal, sate, local and international
levels. The laws and rules governing our business and related

interpretations, including, among others, those associated with
Health Care Reform, are increasing in number and complexity, are

subject to frequent change and can be inconsistent or in conflict with
each other. As a public company with global operations, we are subject

to the laws of multiple jurisdictions and the rules and regulations of
various governing bodies, such as those related to financial and other

disclosures, corporate governance, privacy, data protection, labor and

employment, consumer protection, tax and anti-corruption.

'We must identift assess and respond to new trends in the legislative

and regulatory environment, as well as comply with the various

existing regulations applicable to our business. Existing or future laws,

rules, regulatory interpretations or judgments could force us to change

howwe conduct our business, restrict revenue and enrollment growth,

increase health care, technology and administrative costs, including
capital requirements, and require enhancements to our compliance

infrastructure and internal controls environment. Existing or future
laws and rules also could require us to take other actions such as

changing our business practices, thereby increasing our liabiliry in
federal and state courts for coverage determinarions, contract

interpreration and other actions.

In the foreseeable future, the impact of existing regulations and future
regulatory and legislative changes could materially adversely affect our
business, results ofoperations, financial condition and cash flows by,

among other things:

. reducing the potential for growth in revenues and customers by
disrupting rhe employer-based market (currently the primary
market for our Commercial operating segment) if employers cease

to offer health care coverage for their employees;

. restricting revenue, premium and customer growth in certain

products and markets or expansion inro new markets;

. increasing health care or other benefit costs through enhanced or
guaranceed coverage requirements;
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. increasing operating cos$ through the imposition of new or
increased taxes and other financial assessments,;

. restricting our abiliry to increase premium rates to rneet costs

(including denial or delays in approval and implementation of those

rates);

. limiting the level of margin rile can earn on premiums through
mandated minimum medical loss ratios: and

. significantly reducing the level of Medicare program payments.

Specifically, in the United States, significant changes are occurring in
the health c:re q/stem as a result of Health Care Reform. Certain of
Health Care Reformt provisions have already become effective and

other significant provisions become effective in 2014. \(hile federal

agencies have published interim and final regulations with respect to
certain requirements, many issues remain uncertain. It is difficult to
predict the impact of Health Care Reform on our business due to the

lawt complexity, the political environment, the continuing
development of implementing regulations and interpretive guidance

and possible future legislative changes. Ve are unable to predict how
these events will develop and what impact they will have on Health
Care Reform, and in turn, on our business including, but not limited
to, our relarionships with current and future customers, producers and

health care providers, products, services, processes and technology.

Further, if we fail to effectively implement or adjust our strategic and

operational initiatives, such as by reducing operadng costs, adjusting

premium pricing or benefit design or transforming our business

model, in response to Health Care Reform and any other future
legislative or regulatory changes, this hilure may have a material

adverse effect on our results of operations, financia.l condition and

cash flows, including our ability to maintain the value of our goodwill
and other intangible assets.

In addition to the regulation discussed above, we are required to
obtain and maintain insurance and other regulatory approvals to

market many of our products, increase prices for certain regulated

products and consummate some of our acquisitions and divestitures.

Delays in obtaining or failure to obtain or maintain these approvals

could reduce our revenue or increase our costs.

For further information on regulation, see "Business - Regulation' in
Part I, Item 1 ofthis Form lO-K. See also the description ofHealth
Care Reformt minimum medical loss ratio and customer rebate

requirements in the "Business - Global Health Care" section

beginning on page 2 of this Form lO-K.

We face rislas related to litigation, regulatory audits
and inuestigations.

'We are routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits, regulatory

audits, investigations and other legal matters arising in the ordinary
course of business, including that of administering and insuring
employee benefit programs. These could include benefit claims,

breach ofcontract actions, tort claims, disputes regarding reinsurance

arrangements, employment and employment discrimination-related

suits, employee benefit claims, wage and hour claims, tax, privacy, and

intellectual property and real estate related disputes. In addition, we

have incurred and likelv will continue to incur liabilirv for claims



related to our health care business, such as failure to pay for or provide

health care, poor outcomes for care delivered or arranged, provider

disputes, including disputes ovet compensation, and claims related to

self-Funded business. Also, there are currently, and may be in the

future, attempts to bring class action lawsuits against the industry.

Court decisions and legislative activity may increase our exposure for

any of these types of claims. In some cases, substantial non-economic

or punitive damages may be sought. We seek to procure insurance

coverage to cover some of these potential liabilities. However, certain

potenrial liabilities may not be covered by insurance, insurers may

dispute coverage or the amount of insurance may be insufficient to

cover the entire damages awarded. In addition, certain ryPes of
damages, such as pun.itive damages, may not be covered by insurance,

and insurance coverage for all or certain forms of liability may become

unavailable or prohibitively expensive in the future. It is possible that

the resolution of current or future legal matters and claims could

result in losses material to our results of operations, financial

condition and liquidiry.

'We 
are frequently the subject of regulatory market conduct and other

reviews, audits and investigations by state insurance and health and

welfare departments, attorneys general, the Centers for Medicare and

Medicaid Services ("CMS") and the Office of Inspector General

(.'OIG"). Vith respect to our Medicare Advantage business, CMS

and OIG perform audits to determine a health plan's compliance with
federal regulations and contractual obligations, including compliance

with proper coding practices and fraud and abuse enforcement

practices through audits designed to detect and correct improper

payments. There also continues to be heightened review by fedaral

and state regulators of business and reporting practices within the

health care and disability insurance industry and increased scrutiny by

other state and federal governmental agencies (such as state attorney

general offices) empowered to bring criminal actions in circumstances

that could have previously have given rise only to civil or

administrative proceedings. These regulatory audits or reviews or

actions by other governmental agencies could result in changes to or

clarifications of our business practices, retroactive adjustments to

certain premiums, significant fines, penalties, civil liabilities, criminal

liabilities or other sanctions that could have a material adverse effecc

on our business, results ofoperation, financial condition and liquidiry.

A description of material pending legal actions and other legd matters

is included in Note 23 ro our Consolidated Financial Statements

included in this Form 10-K. The outcome of litigation and other legal

matters is always uncertain, and outcomes that are not justified by the

evidence or existing law can occur.

Future performance of our business will depend on
our dbilit! to execute our strategic and operational
initiatiaes ffictiuely.
The future performance of our business will depend in large part on

our abiliry to effectively implement and execute our strategic and

operational initiatives including: (l) driving growth in targeted

geographies, product lines, buying segments and distribution
channels; (2) improving our strategic and financial flexibility; and

(3) pursuing additional opportunities in high-growth markets with
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particular focus on individuals. Successfrrlly executing these initiatives

depends on a number of factors, including our ability to:

. differentiate our products and services from those of our

competitors;

. develop and introduce new products or programs, particularly in
response to government regulation and the increased focus on

consumer-directed products;

. identify and introduce the proper mix or integration of products

that will be accepted by the marketplace;

. attracr and retain sufficient numbers of qualified employees;

. attract and maintain good relationships with a sufficient number of
qudified partners, including physicians and other health care

providers in an environment of growing shortages of primary care

professionals and consolidation within the provider induscry;

. improve medical cost competitiveness in targeted markets;

. manage our medical and administrative costs effectively;

. manage our balance sheet exposures effecdvely, including our

pension funding obligations; and

. reduce our Global Health Care operating expenses to achieve

sustainable benefits,

Ifthese initiatives fail or are not executed effectively, it could harm our

consolidated financial position and results ofoperations. For o<ample,

efforts to reduce operating expenses while maintaining the necessary

resources and talent pool are important and, if not managed

effectively, could have long-term effects on our business by negatively

impacting our ability to drive improvements in the quality of our

produccs. For our strategic initiatives to succeed, we must effectively

integrate our operations, including our acquired businesses, actively

work to ensure consistency throughout rhe organization, and promote

a global mind-set and a focus on individual customers. If we fail to do

so, our business may be unable to grow as planned, or the result of
expansion may be unsatisfactory. In addition, the current competitive,

economic and regulatory environment requires our organization to

adapt rapidly and nimbly to new opportunities and challenges. Ve
will be unable to do so ifwe do not make important decisions quickly,

define our appetite for risk specifically, implement new governance,

managerial and organizational processes smoothly and communicate

roles and responsibilities clearly.

As a global compan!, we face political" legal"

operational, regaktorJt, ecorxomic and other rishs
that present challenges and coull. negatiuely ffict
our muhindtional operations and/or our long-terrn
growth.

As a global company, our business is increasingly exposed to risks

inherent in foreign operations. These risla, which can vary

substantially by market, include political, legal, operational,

regulatory, economic and other risks, including government

intervention that we do not face in our U.S. operations. The elobal
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nature of our business and operations may present challenges

including, but not limited, to those arising fiom:

. varying regional and geopolitical business conditions and demands;

. discriminatory regulation, narionalizadon or expropriation of assets;

. price controls or other pricing issues and exchange controls or other

restrictions that prwent us from transferring funds From these

operations out of the countries in which we operate or converting

local currencies that our foreign operations hold into U.S. dollars or
other currencies:

. foreign currency exchange rates and fluctuations that may have an

impact on the future costs or on future sales and cash flows from our
international operations, and any measures that we may implement
to reduce the effect of volatile currencies and other risks of our
international operations may not be effective;

' our reliance on local sales forces for some operations in countries

that may have labor problems and/or less flexible employee

relationships thar can be difficult and expensive to terminate, or
where changes in local regulation or law may disrupt business

oPeratrons;

. effectively managing our partner relationships in countries outside

of the United States:

. managing more geographically diverse operations and projects;

. operating in new foreign markets that may require considerable

management dme before operations generate any significant
revenues and earnings;

. the need to ptovide sufficient levels of technical support in different
locations:

. political instabiliry or acts of war, terrorism, natural disasters or
pandemics in locations where we operate; and

. general economic and polidcal conditions.

These factors may increase in significance as we continue to expand

globally, and any one of these challenges could negatively affect our
operations or long-term growth. For example, currendy, South Korea

is the single largest geographic market in our Global Supplemental

Benefits segment. Due to the concentration of business in South
Korea, the Global Supplemental Benefits segment is exposed to
potential losses resuhing from economic, regulatory and geopolitical

developments in that country, as well as foreign currency movements

affecting the South Korean currency, that could have a significant
impact on the segmentt results and our consolidated financial results.

International operations also require us to devote significant resources

to implement controls and systems in new markets to comply with
U.S. and foreign laws prohibiting bribery, corruption, money

laundering and similar crimes. Volations of these laws and

regulations could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us, our
officers or employees, restrictions or outright prohibitions on the

conduct of our business, and significanr reputationa.l harm.'We must
regularly reassess the size, capability and location of our global
infrastructure and make appropriate changes, and must have effective

change management processes and internal controls in place to
address changes in our business and operations. Our success depends,
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in part, on our abiliry to anticipate these risla and manage these

difficulties, and the failure to do so could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidicy
and long-term growth.

There nt"e aarious risks associated with pdrticipating
in gouernment-sponsored progralns such as Medicare,
inclading depmdtnce apon gouernment funding,
changes occurring as a resuh of Health Care Reform,
compliance with gournmetrt contrttcts and increased
reguktor! oaersight,

Through our Cigna-HealthSpring business, we contract with CMS
and various state governmental agencies to provide managed health

care services, including Medicare Advantage plans and Medicare-

approved prescription drug plans. Revenues from the Medicare

programs are dependent, in whole or in part, upon annual funding
from the federal government through CMS and/or applicable state or
local governments. Funding for these programs is dependent on many

factors outside our control, including general economic conditions,

continuing government efforts to contain health care costs and

budgetary constraints at the federal or applicable state or local level

and general political issues and priorities. These entities generally have

the right to not renew or cancel their contracts with us on short notice

without cause or if funds are not available. Unanticipated changes in
funding by the federal or state governments could substantially reduce

our revenues and profiabiliry.

The Medicare program has been the subject of recent regulatory

reform initiatives, including Health Care Reform. The premium rates

paid to Medicare Advantage plans are established by contract,

although the rates differ depending on a combination oFfactors, many

of which are outside our control. Effective in 2012, Health Care

Reform ties a portion of each Medicare Advantage plan's

reimbursement to the plant "star rating" by CMS, with those plans

receiving a rating of three or more stars eligible for qualiry-based

bonus payments. The star rating system considers various measures

adopted by CMS, including, among other things, qualiry of care,

preventative services, chronic illness management and customer

satisfaction. Beginning in 2015, plans must have a star rating o[four
or higher to qualifr for bonus payments. Our Medicare Advantage

plans' operating results, premium revenue and benefit offerings are

likely to continue to be significantly determined by their star ratings.

If we do not maintain or continue to improve our star ratings, our
plans may not be eligible for full-level quality bonuses, which could

adversely affect the benefits that our plans can offer, reduce our
customer base and/or reduce margins.

Contracts with CMS and the various state governmental agencies

contain certain provisions regarding data submission, provider

network maintenance, quality measures, claims payment, continuity
of care, call center performance and other requirements. If we fail to
comply with these requirements, we may be subject to fines or
penalties that could impacr our profitability.

In addition, any failure to comply with various state and federal health

care laws and regulations, including those directed at preventing fraud

and abuse in government funded programs, could result in



investigations or litigation, with the imposition of fines, limitations

on our abilicy to expand, restrictions or exclusions from program

participation or other agreements with a federal or state govelnmental

agency that could adversely impact our business, cash flows, financial

condition and results of operacions.

In addition, our Medicare Advantage and Medicare prescription drug

businesses face a number of others risks including potential

uncollectible receivables resulting from processing and/or verifring

enrollment, inadequate underwriting assumptions, inabiliry to receive

and process correct information, increased medical or pharmaceutical

costs. Actual results may be materially different than our assumptions

and estimates regarding these complex and wide-ranging programs,

which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial

condition and results o[ operations.

Finally, our Cigna-HealthSpring business may underperform, relative

to our expectacions, which could have a material adverse impact on

our financial condition and results o[operations. For example, ifour
existing contracts are not tenewed, or if we ate not awarded new

contracts as a result of this competitive procurement process, this

could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows,

financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to deuelolt and mahtain satisfactory
rektionships with physiciaru, hospitak and other
health care proaidefs, ottr business nnd resubs of
operations m&! be adaerselt fficnd.
'W'e contract with physicians, hospitals and other health care providers

for services rendered to our customers. Our results of operarions are

substantially dependent on our ability to contract for these services at

competitive prices. In any particular market, physicians, hospitals and

health care providers could refuse to contract, demand higher

payments or take other actions that could resuh in higher medical

costs or less desirable products for our customers. In some markets,

certain providers, particularly hospitals, physician/hospital

organizations and multi-specialry physician groups, may have

significant or controlling market positions that could result in a

diminished bargaining position for us. If providers refuse to contract

with us, use their market position to negotiate favorable contracts or

place us at a comperitive disadvantage, our ability to market products

or to be profitable in those areas could be materially and adversely

affected.

Our abiliry to develop and maintain satisfactory relationships with
health care providers also may be negatively impacted by other factors

not associated with us, such as changes in Medicare and./or Medicaid

reimbursement levels, increasing revenue and other pressures on

health care providers and consolidation activiry among hospitals,

physician gtoups and health care providers. For example, ongoing

reductions by CMS and state governments in amounts payable to

providers, particularly hospitals, for services provided to Medicare and

Medicaid enrollees may pressure the financial condition of certain

providers and, in turn, adversely impact our abiliry to maintain or

develop new cost-effective health care provider contracts or result in a

loss of revenues or customers.
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Recent and continuing consolidation among physicians, hospitals and

other health care providers, development of accountable care

organizations and other changes in the organizational structures that

physicians, hospitals and health care providers choose may change the

way these providers interact with us and may change the competitive

landscape in which we operate. In some instances, these organizations

may compete directly with us, potentially affecting the way that we

price our products or causing us to incur increased costs ifwe change

our operations to be more compedtive. Our focus on developing

collaborative accountable care organizations and independent practice

associations or similar business arrangements with physicians and

other health care providers may not achieve intended benefits, which

could adversely affect our strategy or prospects.

Out-of-network providers do not have a pre-established

understanding with us about the amount of compensation due for
their services. Some states define by law or regulation the amounts

due, but in most instances it is not defined or is established by a

standard chat is not clearly translatable into dollar terms. In such

instances, providers may believe that they were underpaid and may

litigate or arbitrate their dispute with us or try to recover from our

customers the difference bewveen what we have paid them and the

amount they charged us. The outcome of disputes where we do not

have a provider contract may cause us to pay higher medical or other

benefit costs than we projected.

We are clependent on the success of our relationships
with third parties for aa.rious seruices and functions,
inc luding p b arm nc! b enefit lnandgeTn ent s eru ices.

To improve operating costs, productivity and efficiencies, we

outsource to, or enter into partnership arrangements with, third
parties for selected services and functions. These third parties include

Catamaran Corporation for pharmacy benefit management services

and various other service providers in areas such as information

technology, independent practice associations, medical management

services, call centers and claim services. Our operations may be

vulnerable ifthese third parties fail to satisry their obligations to us or

if the arrangement is terminated for any reason. Even though

contracts are intended to provide certain protections, we have limited
control over the actions ofthird parties. For example, noncompliance

with any privacy or securiry laws and regulations or any securiry

breach involving one ofour third-parry vendors could have a material

adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial

condition, liquidity and reputation. In addition, with respect to

outsourced services or functions to third parties in foreign

jurisdictions, we also are exposed to risks inherent in conducting
business outside of the United Stares.

Outsourcing also may require us to change our existing operations,

adopt new processes for managing these providers and/or redistribute

responsibilities to realize the potential productivity and operational

efficiencies. If there are delays or difficuldes in changing business

processes or our third party vendors do not perform as expected, we

may not realize, or realize on a timely basis, the anticipated economic

and other benefits of these relationships that could result in
substantial costs or regulatory compliance issues, divert managementt

attention from other strategic activities, negatively affect employee
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morale or create other operational or financial problems for us.

Terminating or ransitioning arrangements with key vendors could
result in addidonal costs or penalties, risks of operational delays or
potential errors and control issues during the termination or transition
phase. 'rilfe may not be able to find an alternative partner in a timely
manner or on acceptable financial terms. If chere is an interruption in
business or loss of access to data resulting from a termination or
transition, we may not be able to meet the demands of our customers

and, in turn, our business and results of operations could be

unfavorably impacted.

Acquisitions, joint aentures and otlter transactiorts
inuolae rishs and we vna! not realize the erpected
benefts because of integration dfficuhies,
underpnfonndnce relatiae to oar exPectations and
other challenges.

As part of our growth strategy, we regularly consider and enter into
scrategic transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, joint ventures,

licenses and other partnerships (collectively referred to as

"transactions"), with the expectation that these ttansactions will result

in various benefits. Our abiliry to achieve the anticipated benefits of
these transactions is subject to numerous uncertainties and risks,

including our abiliry to integrate operations, resources and systems in
an efficient and effective manner; the failure to achieve expected

revenues, earnings or cash flow business opportunities, efficiencies,

growth prospects or other anticipated benefits; challenges in
implementing business plans; changes in laws and regulations or
conditions imposed by regulators applicable to the business; retaining
key employees; and general competitive factors in the marketplace.

Failure to achieve these anticipated benefits could result in increased

costs, decreases in expected revenues, earnings or cash flow, and

goodwill or other intangible asset impairment charges. Further, we

may finance transactions by issuing common stock for some or all of
the purchase price, which could dilute the ownership interests of our
shareholders, or by incurring additional debt that could impact our
abiliry to access capital in the future.

In addition, effective internal controls are necessary to provide reliable

and accurate financial reports and to mitigate the risk of fraud. The
integration ofbusinesses is likely to result in our systems and internal
controls becoming increasingly complex and more difficult ro

manage. Any difficulties in the assimilation of businesses .into our
control system could cause us to fail to meet our financial reporting
obligations. Ineffective internal controls also could cause investors to
lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could
negatively impact the trading price of our stock and our access to
capital.

Oar bwiness depends on our ability to properb
mainta.in the integrity of our data and the
uninteffaPted oPerntion of our tlsterns and business

fun ctio ns, inc lading information te c hno lo gy and
otlter business slsterns.

Our business is highly dependent on maintaining both effective

information systems and the integrity and timeliness of the data we
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to fraud or other error, or ifwe (or the third-parry service parties we

utilize) were to fail to maintain information rystems and data integrity
effectively, we could experience operational disruptions that may

impac our customers and health care professionals and hinder our
abiliry to establish appropriate pricing for products and services, retain

and attract customers, establish reserves and report financial results

timely and accurately and maintain regulatory compliance, among

other things.

In addition, our business is highly dependent upon our abiliry to

perform, in an efficient and uninterrupted fashion, necessary business

funcdons, such as: claims processing and payment; internet support

arrd customer call centers; and the processing of new and renewal

business. A power outage, cyber-anack or other failure ofone or more

of information technology or other qrstems could cause slower

response times, resulting in claims not being processed as quickly as

clients or customers desire, decreased levels of client or customer

service and satisfaction, and harm to our reputation. Because our
information technology and other systems interface with and depend

on third-party systems, we could experience service denials if demand

for such service exceeds capacity or a third-party system fails or
experiences an interruption. If sustained or repeated, such a business

interruption, systems failure or service denial could have a material

adverse effect on our business, resuks of operations, financial

condition and liquidicy,

Like other companies in our industry we have been and may in the

future be the subject of cyber-security breaches. Computer systems

may be vulnerable to physicel break-ins, computer viruses,

programming errors, attacks by third parties or similar disruptive

problems. If a cyber-security breach of our systems or the systems of a

third-party service provider occurs, ir could also interrupt our
operations and damage our reputation. We also could be subject to
liabiliry if sensitive custorner information is misappropriated. Any
compromise of security could result in additional government

regulations, the loss of existing customers, impaired abiliry to secure

new customers, increased operating expenses, financial losses, and

additional litigation or other claims that could have a material adverse

effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and

liquidiry.

Effectiae inaestment in and ercecation of
improaements to our information technohglt
infrastructure and fanctionality are important to our
strategJt and failure to do so ma! impedz otff ab;l;t!
to drliuer cost-ffictiue seraices necessar! to comPete

in tbe marhet.

Our information technology strategy and execution are critical to our

continued success. Increasing regulatory and legislative mandated

changes will place additional demands on our information technology

infrastructure that could have a direct impact on available resources

for projects more directly tied to strategic initiatives. rVe must

continue to invest in long-term solutions that will enable us to
anticipate customer needs and expectations, enhance the customer

experience and act as a differentiator in the market. Our success is



dependent, in large part, on maintaining the effectiveness ofexisting

technology systems and continuing to deliver and enhance technology

systems that support our business processes in a cost-effrcient and

resource-efficient manner. Ve also must develop new systems to meet

currenc market standards and keep pace with continuing changes in
information processing technology, evolving industry and regulatory

standards and customer needs. Failure to do so may impede our abiliry

to deliver services at a competitive cost. Furthe! system development

projecrs are long-term in nature, may be more cosdy than expected to

complete and may not deliver the expected benefits upon completion.

Effectiue Preuention, detection and control slstems

are critical to maintain regulatory comltliance and
preaent fraad and failure of these slstems could
adaersely ffict us,

Federal and state governments have made investigating and

prosecuting health care and other insurance fraud and abuse a priority.

Fraud and abuse prohibitions encompass a wide range of activities,

including kickbacks for referral of members, billing for unnecessary

medical services, improper marketing, and violations of patient

privacy rights. The regulations and contractual requirements

applicable to us are complex and subject to change. In addition,
ongoing vigorous law enforcement, a highly technicd regulatory

scheme and the Dodd-Frank legislation and related regulations being

adopted to enhance regulators' enforcement powers and whistleblower

incentives and protections mean that our compliance efforts in this

area will continue to require significant resources. Failure of our

prevention, detection or control systems related to regulatory

compliance or the failure of employees to comply with our internal

policies, including data systems security or uneth.ical conduct by

managers and employees, could adversely affbct our reputation and

also expose us to litigation and other proceedings, fines and penalties.

In addition, provider or customer fraud that is not prevented or
detected could impact our medical costs or chose of our self-insured

customers, Further, during an economic downturn, we may

experience increased fraudulent claims volume that may lead to
additional costs due to an increase in disputed claims and litieation.

Our pharmacy benefit management business and
related operations are subject to a number of rishs

ltnd uncertainties that dre in addition to tbose ue

face in our heahh care bus;ness.

Notwithstanding our agreement \Mith Catamaran, we remain

responsible to regulators and members for the delivery of pharmacy

benefit management services. This business is subject to federal and

stare regulation, including federal and state anti-remuneration laws,

ERISA, HIPM and laws related to the operation of Internet and

mail-service pharmacies. In addition, certain of our subsidiaries are

pharmacies subject to state licensing and U.S. Drug EnForcement

Agency registration requirements and laws concerning labeling,

packaging, advertising and adulteration oF prescription drugs and

dispensing of controlled substances. Noncompliance with such

regulations by us or Catamaran could have a material adverse effect on
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our business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidiry and

rePutation.

Our pharmacy benefit management business also would be adversely

affected by an inabiliry to contract on favorable terms with
pharmaceutical manufacturers and we could suffer claims and

reputational harm in connection with purponed errors by mail order

or retail pharmacy businesses.

In operating onsite clinics and other types of medical

facilities, we ma! be subject to additional liability
that could resuh in significant time and expense.

In addition to contracting with physicians and other health care

providers for services, we employ physicians and other health care

professionals at onsite low acuity and primary care clinics that we

operate for our customers (as well as certain clinics for our employees).

In addition, our Cigna-HealthSpring business operates LivingVell
health centers and we own and operate multispecialry health care

centers, low acuiry clinics and ocher types ofcenters in the Phoenix,

fuizona metropolitan area that employ physicians and other health

care professionals. As a direct employer of health care professionals

and as an owner or operator of medical facilities, we are subject to
liabiliry for negligent acts, omissions, or injuries occurring at one of
these clinics or caused by one of our employees. Even if any claims

brought against us were unsuccessfirl or without merit, we would have

to defend against such claims. The defense of any actions may result in
significant expenses that could have a material adverse effect on our

business, results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

'We 
face ?rice competition and otber pressures thnt

coaW result in premiums that are insufficient to
coaer the cost of the heahh cttre seruices deliuered to
our rnembers and inadequate medical ckims
r€seruss.

'While health plans compete on the basis of many service and qualiry-
related factors, we expect that price will continue to be a significant

basis of competition. Our customer contracts are subject to
negotiation as customers seek to contain their costs, including by

electing to reduce benefits. Alternatively, our customers may purchase

different types of products that are less profitable, or move to a

competitor to obtain more favorable premiums. Each of these events

would likely negatively impact our financial results.

Further, federal and state regulatory agencies may restrict our abiliry

to implement changes in premium rates. For example, Health Care

Reform includes an annual rate review requirement to prohibit
unreasonable rate increases. Fiscal concerns regarding the continued

viabiliry of programs such as Medicare may cause decreasing

reimbursement rates, delays in premium payments or insufficient

increases in reimbursement rates lor government-sponsored programs

in which we participate. Any limitation on our abiliry to maintain or

increase our premium or reimbursement levels, or a significant loss of
membership resulting from our need to increase or maintain premium
or reimbursement levels, could adversely affect our business, cash

flows, financial condition and results of operations.
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In addidon, factors such as business consolidations, strategic alliances,

legislation and marketing practices will likely condnue to create

pressure to contain or otherwise resuict premium price increases,

despite increasing medical costs. For example, the Gramm-kach-
BlileyAct gives banks and other financial institutions the abiliry to be

affiliated with insurance companies. This may lead to new

competitors with significant financial resources. Our product margins

and growth depend, in part, on our ability to compete effecdvely in
our markets, set rates appropriately in highly compedtive markets to
keep or increase our market share, increase membership as planned,

and avoid losing accounts with favorable medical cost experience

while retaining or increasing membership in accounts with
unfavorable medical cost experience.

Premiums in the health care business are generally set for one-year

periods, based on our estimate of future health care costs over such

period. Actual costs may exceed what we estimated and charged in
premiums due to factors such as medical cost inflation, higher than

expected utilization of medical services, the introduction of new or
cosdy fieatments and technology, and membership mix. Our
profitability depends, in part, on our abiliry to accurately predict and

control future hedth care cosrs through underwriting criteria,

provider contracting, utilization management and product design.

'We record medical claims reserves on our balance sheet for estimated

future payments. Vhile we continually review estimates of future
payments relating to medical claims costs for services incurred in the

current and prior periods and make adjustments to our reserves, the

actual healtJr care costs may exceed the reserves we have recorded.

Significant stoch marhet or interest rate dcclines
could resuh in additional u.nfunded pensiotx
obligations, resuhing in the need for additional plan

funding by us and incrcased pension expenses.

\7e cutrently have unfi.rnded obligations in our frozen pension plans.

A significant decline in the value ofthe plant equiry and fixed income

investments or unfavorable changes in applicable laws or regulations

could materially increase our expenses and change the timing and

amount of required plan funding that could reduce the cash available

to us, including our subsidiaries. Ve also are exposed to interest rate

and equiry risk associated with our pension and other post-retirement

obligations. Sustained declines in incerest rates could have an adverse

impact on the funded status of our pension plans and our
reinvestment yield on new investments. See Note 9 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on our
obligations under the pension plan.

Significant changes in marbet interest rates dffect the
ualue of our financial instruments that promise a

ftxed renrn or benefit and the aahe of ltarticukr
assets and liabilities.

As an insurer, we have substantial investment assets that support

insurance and contract holder deposit liabilities. Generally low levels

ofinterest rates on investments, such as those experienced in U.S. and

foreign financial markets during recent years, have negatively

impacted our level of investment income earned in recent periods.
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Substantially all ofour investment assets are in fixed interest-yielding

debt securities of varying manrrities, fixed redeemable preferred

securities and commercial mortgage loans. The value of these

investment assets can fluctuate significantly with changes in market

conditions. A rise in interest rates would likely reduce the vdue of our
investment pottfolio and increase interest expense ifwe were to access

our available lines of credit.

A downgrade in the f.nancial strength raings of our
insurance subsidiaries couU adaersefu affect new sd.lzs

and retention of current business, and a downgrade
in our debt ratings wouW increase the cost of
borrowed funds and negatiuely ltffect oilr ability to

^ccess 
capital,

Financial strength, claims paying abiliry and debt ratings by

recognized rating organizetions are each important factors in
establishing the competitive position of insurance and health benefits

companies. Ratings information by nationally recognized ratings

agencies is broadly disseminated and generally used throughout the

industry. Ve believe that the claims paying abiliry and financial

strength ratings of our principal insurance subsidiaries are an

important factor in marketing our products to certain customers. Our
debt ratings impact both the cost and availability of future
borrowings, and accordingly, our cost of capital. Each of the rating
agencies reviews ratings periodically and there can be no assurance

that current radngs will be maintained in the furure. A downgrade of
these ratings in the future could make it more difficult to market our
products successfully and/or raise capital to support business growth

within our insurance subsidiaries.

Global marhe4 econornic and geopolitical cond.itions
,na! cta$e fluctuations in equity rnarhet Prices,
interest rates dnd tedit sprends that could impact
our nbility to rnise or fuploy capital tmd ffict our
oaerdll liquidity.

If the equity markets and credit market experience extreme volatility
and disruption, there could be downward pressure on stock prices and

credit capaciry for certain issuers without regard to those issuers'

underlying financial strength. Extreme disruption in the credit

markets could adversely impact our availability and cost of credit in
the future. In addition, unpredictable or unstable market conditions

or condnued pressure in the global or U.S. economy, such as the

sovereign debt crisis in the European Union and uncertainty regarding

the U.S. fiscd position, including the federal debt ceiling, could result

in reduced opportunities to find suitable opportunities to raise capital.

As of December 31, 2013, our outstanding long-term debt totaled

$5.0 billion. Our debt obligations could make us more vulnerable to
general adverse economic and industry conditions and require us to

dedicate increased cash flow from operations to the payment of
principal and interest on its debt, thereby reducing the funds we have

available for other purposes, such as investments in ongoing

businesses, acquisitions, dividends and stock repurchases. In these

circumstances, our abiliry to execute our strateglr' may be limited, our
flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in business and



market conditions may be reduced, or our access to capital markets

may be limited such that additional capital may not be available or
may only be available on unfavorable terms.

Unfauorable deueloprnents in economic conditions
mn! adaerseb ffict our business, resuhs of
operdtions and fnancial condition.

The economic conditions in the United States and globally continue

to be challenging. Continued concerns about slow economic growth,

high unemployment rates, the sovereign debt crisis in the European

Union and uncertainty regarding the U.S. fiscal position, geopolitical

issues, the availability and cost of credit and other capital, consumer

spending and other factors continue to negatively impact expectations

for the U.S. and global economy. Our results of operadons could be

materially and adversely affected by the impact of unfavorable

economic conditions on our customers (both employers and

individuals), health care providers and third-parry vendors. For

examPle:

. Employers may take action to reduce their operating cos$ by

modifying, delaying or canceling plans to purchase our products or
making changes in the mix of products purchased that are

unfavorable co us.

. Higher unemployment races and workforce reductions could result

in lower enrollment in our employer-based plans (including an

increase in the number of employees who opt out of employer-based

plans) or our individual plans,

. Because of unfavorable economic conditions or Health Care

Reform, employers may stop offering health care coverage to
employees or elect to offer this coverage on a voluntary, employee-

funded basis as a means to reduce their operating coss.

. Our historical disabilicy claim experience and industry data indicate

that submitted disabiliry claims rise under adverse economic

conditions.

. Ifcustomers are not successful in generating sufficient profits or are

precluded ftom securing financing, they may not be able to pay, or
may delay payment of, accounts receivable that are owed to us.

. Our customers or potential customers may force us to compete
more vigorously on factors such as price and service co retain or
obtain their business.

. A prolonged unfavorable economic environment could adversely

impact the financial position of hospitals and other healrh care

providers, potendally increasing our medical costs as these providers
attempt to maintain revenue levels in their efforts to adjust to their
own economic challenges.

. Our third-parry vendors could significantly and quickly increase

their prices or reduce their output to reduce their operating costs.
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Our business depends on our abiliry to perform necessary business

functions in an efficient and uninterrupted fashion.

These factors could lead to a decrease in our customer base, revenues

or margins and/or an increase in our operating costs.

In addition, during a prolonged unfavorable economic environmenr,

state and federal budgets could be materially and adversely affected,

resulting in reduced reimbursements or payments in state and federal

government programs, such as Medicare and Social Security. These

state and federal budgetary pressures also could cause the governmenr

to impose new or a higher level of taxes or assessments on us, such as

premium taxes on insurance companies and HMOs and surcharges or
fees on select fee-for-service and capitated medical claims. Although
we could attempt to mitigate or cover our exposure from such

increased costs through, among other things, increases in premiums,

there can be no assurance that we will be able to mitigate or cover all of
such costs, which may have a material adverse effect on our business,

results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

'W'e 
are subject to tlte credit rish of our reinsarers.

'We enter into reinsurance arrangements with other insurance

companies, primarily to limit losses from large exposures or to permit
recovery of a portion of direct losses. W'e also may enrer into
teinsurance arrangements in connection with acquisition or
divestiture transactions when the underwriting company is not being
acquired or sold.

Under all reinsurance arrangements, reinsurers assume insured losses,

subiect to certain limitations or exceptions that may include a loss

limit. These arrangements also subject us to various obligations,
representations and warranties with the reinsurers. Reinsurance does

not relieve us ofliabiliry as the originating insurer. \(e remain liable to
the underlying policyholders if a reinsurer defaults on obligations
under the reinsurance arrangement. Although we regularly evaluate

the financid condition of reinsurers to minimize exposure ro
significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies, reinsurers may become

financially unsound. If a reinsurer fails to meet its obligations under

the reinsurance contract or ifthe liabilities exceed any applicable loss

limit, we will be forced to cover the claims on the reinsured policies.

The collectability of amounts due from reinsurers is subject to
uncertainry arising from a number bf factors, including whether rhe

insured losses meet the qualifting conditions of the reinsurance

contract, whether reinsurers or their affiliates have the financial
capaciry and willingness to make payments under the terms of the
reinsurance conuact, and the magnitude and type of collateral

suppofting our reinsurance recoverable, such as by holding sufficient
qualifring assets in uusts or letters ofcredit issued. Although a portion
of our reinsurance exposures are secured, the inabiliry to collect a

material recovery from a reinsurer could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidiry.

CIGNA CORPOMTION - 2013 Form ll-K 25



PART I
ITEM 1B. Unresolved StaffComments

ITEM lB.Unresolved Staff Comments

ITEM 2. Properties
Our global real estate portfolio consists of approximately 7.9 million
square feet of owned and leased properties. Our domestic portfolio
has approximately 6.0 million square feet in 38 states, the District of
Columbia, Puerto Rico and The Vrgin Islands. Our International
properties contain approximately 1.9 million square feet located

throughout the following countries: Belgium, Canada, China, France,

Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Italy, Malaysia, Netherlands, New
Zealand, Singapore, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland,

Taiwan, Thailand, Tirrkey, United fuab Emirates, and the United
Kingdom.

Our principal, domestic office locations, including various support

operations, along with Group Disabilicy and Life Insurance, Health

Services, Core Medical and Service Operations and the domestic

office of our Global Supp[emental Benefits business are the '$filde

Building located at 900 Cottage Grove Road in Bloomfield,
Connecticut (our corporate headquarters) and Two Liberry Place

located at 1601 Chestnut Street in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The
'\filde 

Building measures approximately 833,000 square feet and is
owned, while Two Liberty Place measures approximately 462,000
square feet and is leased ofice space.

rVe believe our properties are adequate and suitable for our business as

presently conducted. The foregoing does not include information on

investment properties.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
The information contained under "Litigation Matters" in Note 23 to our Financial Statements beginning on page 110 of this Form l0-K, is

incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 4. Mine S"ftry Disclosures
Not applicable.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
All officers are elected to serve for a one-year term or until their
successors are elected. Principal occupations and employment during
the past five years are listed below.

LISA R BACUS, 49, Executive Vice President and Global Chief
Marketing Ofticer of Cigna beginning May 2013; Executive Vice

President and Chief Marketer at American Family Insurance from
February 2008 until Mey 2013.

MARK L. BOXER, 55, Executive Vice President and Global Chief
Information Officer of Cigna beginning April 2011; Depury Chief
Information Officer, Xerox Corporation; and Group Presidenr,

Government Health Care, for Xerox Corporation/Affiliared
Computer Services from March 2009 until April 2011.

DAVID M. CORDANI, 48, Chief Executive Officer of Cigna

beginning December 2009; Director since October 2009; President

beginning June 2008; and Chief Operating Ofiicer from June 2008

until December 2009.

HERBERT A. FzuTCH, 63, President, Cigna HealthSpring

beginning J"trurty 2012; and Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of HealthSpring and its predecessor,

NewQuest, LLC, from commencement of operations in September

2000 undl HealthSpring was acquired by Cigna inJanuary 2012.

DAVID D. GUILMETTE, 52, President, Global Employer Segment

beginning July 2012; President, National, Pharmacy and Product

from November 2011 until JuIy 2012; President, National Segment

from February 2010 until November 201 l; and Managing Director of
Towers Perrin Global Health & 'Welfare from January 2005 until
Ianuary 2010.
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NICOLE S. JONES, 43, Executive Vice President and General

Counsel of Cigna beginning June 2011; Senior Vice President and
General Counsel of Lincoln Financial Group from May 2010 until

June 20ll; Vice President and Depury General Counsel of Cigna
from April 2008 until May 2010; and Corporate Secretary of Cigna
from September 2006 until April 2010.

THOMAS A. McCARIHY, 57, Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Cigna beginningJ:uly 2013; Vice President of
Finance with responsibility for treasury tax, straregy and corporate
development, and management of run-offreinsurance from February
2003 until July 2013; Acting Chief Financial Officer from September

20 l0 until June 201 l, and Tieasurer from July 2008 until June 201 l.

MATTHE\fl G. MANDERS, 52, President, Regional and
Operations beginning November 2011; President, U.S. Service,

Clinical and Specialry from January 2010 until November 20ll;
President of Cigna HealthCare, Total Health, Productiviry
Network & Middle Market from June 2009 until January 2010; and
President, of Cignat Customer Segments from July 2006 until June
2009.

JOHN M. MUMBITO, 55, Executive Vice President, Human
Resources and Services of Cigna beginning August 2003.

IASON D. SADLE& 45, President, Global Individual Health, Life
and Accident beginningJuly 2010, and Managing Director Insurance
Business Hong Kong, HSBC Insurance Asia Limited from January
2007 until July 2010.
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ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

The information under the caption "Quarterly Financial Data - Stock

and Dividend Data" appears on page ll4 and the number of
shareholders of record as of December 31, 2013 appears under the

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

caption "Highlights" on page 30 of this Form l0-K. Cigna's common

stock is listed with, and trades on, the New York Stock Exchange

under the symbol "CI".

The following table provides information about Cignat share repurchase activity for the quarter ended Decembet 31,2013:

Period

Approximate dollar value of sha-nes

Total # ofshares Average price paid Total # ofshares puchased as part of tfiat may yet be purchased as put
purchased (r) oer share publiclv announced orogra.m 

(2) of publiclv announced orogram(3)

October l-31,2013
November l-30,2013
December l-31,2013

r,793,79r
22,465

1,241

$

$

$

78.r7
79.68

87.t|

r,792,625 $ 31r,869,667

$ 31r,869,667

$ 811,869,667

Totd r,8r7,497 $ 78.20 1,792,625 N/A
(I)Incfdasharsnndzrdb7em2k1r:r?rmentofteeruithheaontheuerciseofstochopliowandtheuotingofrestrictedltochgrantedanderth

Enphya tendered 1,166 rhdrs in October, 22,465 in Nouember and 1,241 shares in December 2013-

(2)Cignahalhadarepurharprogramforman77ear,andhrhadaaringhuelsofrepurchreauthoilyandaaiuit7undttbitprogram,Theptogramhunoexpirationdate,Cignalwpen
actiaityunderthfprogramfromtimetotimeandaboremouessachsuspensions,generdllJuitbo/tPiblicannouncement,In20l3,theCompdn7r2urhued13.6milliontharetr
approximanf $1.0 billion. Remaining authoiurion und* thc program wa approximately $812 million a ofDeember 31, 2013, The Companyi Board ofDirector increrced share

repurchasc authoity b7 $500 nillion on Februtry 26, 2014, From January I, 2014 throtgb February 26, 2014, the Compazy repurchrced 5.0 million ilaret for approximately

$4 I I nillion. Remaining drthoriution under the plogram wn approximately $901 million a of February 26, 2014.

(3) Approxinatc dalhr ualue of sbares k u of the lut datc of the appliubh month.
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Five Year Cumulatirrc Total Shareholder Return*
December 31, 2008 - December 31,2013

$50o

$400

$300

$200

$loo

$o
r2l3u09 r2l3uro 12l30ltl t2l3rl12 r2l3rl13

*Cig"a
#S&P500 Indq

--+-- SscP Maaaged Helth Cse, Ufc et Health Ins. Indree**

$500

r2l3u08

r2l3u09 t2l30ltl r2l3ur2 r2l3rlt3
2t8 $ 251 $319 $

S&P 500 Index $ 100 $ 126 $ 146 $ r49 $ r72 $ 228

S&PManagedHealthCare,Life&HealthIns. Indeies*+ '$ 100 $ 125 $ 140 $ 169 $ 181 $ 273
* ,*sumet that the ualue ofthe investwent in Cigna common *och and eacb indx wre $100 on December 31, 2008 and that all diuifunds uere reinaested.

** W'eightcd atuage of S&P Maruged Health Care (75o/o) and Life and Heabh Iuurancc (25t/o) Indaes.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data
The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere herein.

Highlights

Premiums and fees and other revenues

Net investment income

Mail order oharmacv revenues

Realized invesrmenr sains

TOTAL REVENUES

Results of Operations:
Global Heahh Care

Global Supplemental Benefits

Group Disabiliry and Life
Run-off Reinsurance

Other Operations

Corporate

Realized invesrmenr gains (losses), net of tues and

Shareholders' income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations attributable to
lnterests

lncome from continuing operations

Income from discontinued ooerations. net of tues

NET INCOME

Shareholders' net income per share:

Basic

Diluted
Common dividends declared per share

Total assets

Long-term debt

Shareholders' equity

Per share

Common shares outstanding (in thousands)

Shareholder3 of record

$ 26,308 $ 19,210 $ 18,528 $ 16,018

r,144 r,146 1,105 t,0t4
t,420 r,282

1,418

r42
279

82

(329)

1,623

44

| 447

62

4r

t,260

l19 $ 2r,865

75

21,t28 $ 18,271

85

(2r1)

50 (26)

1,279 1,291

4 J

1,283 r,294

I

$ 940 $ 775

84 107

305 306
26 185

JT

r,623

$ 5.70 $

$ 5.61 $
g o.o4 $

$ 53,734 $

$ 4,986'i' $

$ 9,769 $

$ 34.18 $

285,829

7,885

L,26r

4.65

4.59

0.04

50,697

4,990

7,994
28.00

$ 4.69

$ 4.65

$ o.o4

$ 45,393

$ 2,288

$ 6,356

$ 23.38

$ 4.71

$ 4.69

$ 0.04

$ 42,794

$ 2,436

$ t,198
$ 18.9i

274,257

8,888

29,300

285,533

8,178

L400

271,880

8,568

,600
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ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Index

Management\ Discussion and Analyis of Financial Condition and fusubs of Operations (MD4A) is intnded to prouide information to assist you in
bener anderstdnding anl eualuating our fnancial condition and resubs of operations. W'e encourage yoa to read this MD&A in conjunction with our

Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 ofthis Annual Report on Form I 0-K and the "Rish Factori' contained in Part I hem lA of
this Annual Report on Form l1-K.

[Jnless otherwise indicated, fnancial information in the MD&A is presented in accordance with accounting pinciples generalfi accepted in the United

States of Arnerica (GAAP). See Note 2 to the Couolidated Financial Statemenx for additional information regarding the Companyi signifcant

accounting policies. W? measure the fnancial resilts of our tegmentt rcing \egtnent eamings (hss)", dzfned as shareholdzri net income (loss) before

afier+ax realized inuestment resuhs. In this MD&A, we aho present information using adjasted income fom operationl Adjusted income (loss) from
operations is another measure ofproftability used by our management because it presents the underfuing resubs ofoperations ofour businesses and permitt

anafisit oftrends in undzrlying reuenue, expenses and shareholderi net income. Adjusted income (hs) fon operations is def.ned as rcgment earnings (lots)

exclulingspecial items (fustibed in the table on ?age 35 of this Form 10-19 and results of the GMIB busines. This meaure is not determined in

accordance with GAAP and should not be uiewed as a substitute for the most directly comparablz GAA? meawre that is shareholderi net income. Wb

acclade special items because management dnes not belieue thq are representatiue of oar unlzrlying resuhs of operations. W'e also excludz the resubs of the

GMIB business because, prior to February 4,2013, the changes in thefair ualue of GMIB dssets and liabilities were uoldtile and unpredictable.

Overview

\fe are a global health services organization with a mission to help our
customers improve their health, well-being and sense of securiry. Our
insurance subsidiaries arc malor providers oF medical, dental,

disabiliry life and accident insurance and related products and

services, the majority of which are offered through employers and

other groups (e.g. governmental and non-governmental organizations,

unions and associations). We also offer Medicare and Medicaid
products and health, life and accident insurance coverages primarily to
individuals in the U.S. and selected international markets. In addition
to our ongoing operations described above, we also have certain

run-off operations, including a Run-off Reinsurance segment.

Our Strategy

To execute on our mission, we have focused our efforts over the past

several years on serving the emerging needs of our customers around

the world through our "Go Deep, Go Global, Go Individual" strategy,

as follows:

. GO DEEP: We seek to increase our presence and brand strength in
key "go deep" geographic areas, grow in targeted segments or
capabilities, and deepen our reladonships with current customers

through cross-selling.

. GO GLOBAL: We seek to deliver a range of differentiated products

and superior service to meet the distinct needs of a growing global

middle class and a globally mobile workforce through expansion in
existing international markets and extension of our business model

to new geographic areas.

. GO INDMDUAL: W'e strive to establish a deep understanding of
our customers' unique needs and to be a highly customer-centric

organization. To do this, we are seeking to further simplifr the

buying process by providing choice, transparency of information,

and a personalized customer experience. Our goal is to build
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long-term relationships with each of our customers and meet their
needs throughout each stage of their lives regardless of the

customert plan rype: employer-based, government-sponsored, or
individual coverage.

fu part of this strategy, we have focused our efforts on delivering

innovative health and wellness solutions tailored to our employer and

government customers, enhancing collaboration with physicians and

hospitals to offer affordable, value-based high qualiry care to
individuals and building deeper relationships with individual

customers through the world. Through these efforts, we believe we

can achieve better health outcomes for our global customers and

improve employee productivity, all while lowering the costs of health

care for all parties.

As of Decembe r 31, 2013, our consolidated shareholders' equiry was

$10.6 billion, assets were $54.3 billion and we reported revenues of
$32.4 billion for the year then ended. Our revenues are derived

principally from premiums on insured products, fees from self-insured

products and services, mail-order pharmacy sales, and investment

income.

Our Segments

'We 
also report in Nvo other segments: Run-off Reinsurance and Other Operatiolzs, including Corporate-owned Life Insurance.

Recent Key Thansactions

Over the past two years, we have entered into a number of
transactions that have helped us to achieve our strategic goals by:

(1) repositioning the portfolio for growth in targeted geographies,

product lines, buyrng segments and distribution channels;

(2) improving our strategic and financial flexibility; and (3) pursuing
additional opportunities in high growh markets with particular focus

on individuals.

ln 2013, we completed the following transactions:

. Run-ofr Operatiotts. Prior to February 4, 2013, our Run-off
Reinsurance segment had significant exposures, primarily from our
guaranteed minimum death benefits ('GMDB" also known as

"VADBe") and guaranteed minimum income benefits ("GMIB")
business. Effective February 4,2013, we entered into an agreement

with Berlahire to reinsure future exposures for this business, net of
existing retrocessional arrangements, up to a specified limit, for a

32 CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2013 Form r}-K

payment of $2.2 billion, See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements and the Run-off Reinsurance section of this MDBcA for
additional information. As a result of this transaction, we recorded

an after-tax charge of$507 million in the first quarter of2013 that
is reported as a special item.

. Pharmaqr Beneft Management ("PBM") Seraices Agreement' In

June 2013, we entered into a ten-year pharmacy benefit

management services agreement with Catamaran Corporation
("Catamaran"). Under this agreement, we will utilize their
technology and service platforms, prescription drug procurement

and inventory management capabilities, and order fulfillment
services to lower costs and enhance our home-delivery pharmacy,

retail network contracting and claims processing services. In the

second quarter of2013, we recorded one-time transaction costs of
$37 millio.t pre-tax, primarily for advisory fees associated with this

Ve report the financial results of our businesses in five segmens, the following three of which are the most significant:

Global Health Care Aggregates the Commercial and Government operating segments:

Commercial
. Encompasses both our U,S. commercial and certain international health

care businesses.
. Serves employers and their employees, including globally mobile

individuals, and other groups (e.g. governmental and non-governmenml

organizations, unions and associations). In addition, our U.S.

commercial health care business dso serves individuals.
. Offers our insured and self-insured customers medical, dental,

behavioral health, vision, and prescription drug benefit plans, health

advocecy programs and other products and services that may be

integrated as pan of a comprehensive global health care benefit

Program.

Gouernment

Offers Medicare Advantase. Medicare Part D and Medicaid. (Jttefs Meclrcare Aclvantase. Meclrcare l'art u ancl Medlcalcl Dlans.

This segment offers supplemental heafth, life and accident insurance products

in selected international markets and the U.S.

This segment provides group long-term and short-term disability, group life,

accident and soecialtv insurance Droducts and related seryices.
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agreement, resulting in an after-tax charge of $24 million that is

reported as a special item. This agreement had an immaterial impacr

to adjusted income from operadons in 2013, and is expected to

produce a positive contribution to earnings beginning in 2014

through improved clinical management, purchasing and

administrative efficiencies.

In 2072, we completed three significant transactions targeting the

seniors, individual and global supplemental benefits markets:

. HeahhSpring Inc. \Ie acquired HealthSpring, a Medicare

Advantage provider, to assist us in serving individuals across their

life stages and deepen our presence in a number of geographic

markets. This acquisition brought us industryJeading physician

partnership capabilities, deepened our existing client and customer

relationships, and facilitated a broader deployment ofour range of
health and wellness capabilities and product offerings.

. Great Ameican Suppbmental Benefits. !?'e acquired Great

American Supplemental Benefits to both strengthen our capabilities

in the individual market and facilitate our expansion into the

Medicare supplemental business.

. Finans-Emehlilih, We entered into a joint venture with Finansbank

to expand our global footprint in Tirrkey.

Organizational Effi ciency Plans
'We 

are constantly evaluating ways to deliver our products and services

more efiiciently and at a lower cost. During 2013 and, 2012, we

adopted specific plans to increase our organizational efficiency as

follows.

2013 phn. During the fourth quarter of 2013, we committed to a

plan to increase our organizational efficiency and reduce costs through
a series ofactions that includes employee headcount reductions. As a

result, we recognized charges in other operating expenses of
$60 million pre-tax ($40 million after-cax) in the fourth quarter of
2013, consisting mostly of severance costs. The Global Health Care

segment reported $47 million pre-tax ($31 million after-tax). The
remainder was reported as follows: $11 million pre-tax ($8 million
after-tax) in the Global Supplemental Benefits segment and

$2 million pre-tax ($l million after-tax) in Group Disabilicy and Life.
'We 

expect most of the severance to be paid by rhe end of 2015. We

expect to realize annualized after-tax savings of approximately

$45 million. A substantial portion of these savings will be realized in
20r4.

2012 plan. During the third quarter of 2012, we committed to a
series of actions to further improve our organizational alignment,

operarional effectiveness, and efficiency. As a result, we recognized

charges in orher operating expenses of $77 million pre-tax
($50 million after-tax) in the third quarter of 2012 consisting

primarily of severance costs that are expected to be mostly paid by the

end of the first quarter of 2014. \7e realized annualized after-tax

savings of approximately $60 million, the majoriry of which was

reinvesred in the business to enhance our abiliry to provide superior

service and affordable oroducts to our customets.

Our Results

During the past three years, we have generated significant increases in
revenues, adjusted income from operations and medicd customers.

This growth is largely due to the continued execution on our strategy,

including the acquisition of HealthSpring, and continued business

growth in targeted markets of all of our ongoing segments,

Shareholders' net income declined 9o/o in 2013 compared wlth 2012

due primarily to the $507 million after-tax charge associated with the

February 4, 2013 reinsurance agreement with Berkshire, However,

shareholders' net income in 2013 increased l7o/o over 20 I I including
the 2013 charge. The reinsurance transaction in 2013 aligned with
our strategy of increasing financial flexibiliry by accomplishing an

effective exit from the run-off GMDB and GMIB businesses.

Cash flows from operating activities in 2013 declined by $1.6 billion
compared with2012 primarily due to payments totaling $2.2 billion
made in 2013 to Berkshire in connection with the reinsurance

transaction. See the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of this

MD8{A for additional information.

During 2013, our unfunded pension liabiliry decreased by

approximately $ 1.0 billion to $61 I million, largely due to an increase

of 100 basis points in the assumed discount rate, strong asset

performance and Company contributions of $195 million. See

Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional

information.

ln 2013, we repurchased 13.6 million shares for $1.0 billion. From

January l, 2014 through February 26, 2014 we repurchased

5.0 million shares for $4tt million. On February 26,2014, the

Company's Board of Directors increased share repurchase authoriry by

$500 million. Accordingly, the total remaining share repurchase

authorization as of February 26, 2014 was $901 million.

Shareholders' equity increased in 2013, reflecdng strong shareholders'

net income in 2013 and the favorable effects of the pension plan,

pardally offset by the effects ofshare repurchase and unrealized losses

on fixed maturities driven by rising inrerest rates.

Our consolidated results of operations are discussed in detail on

page 35 of this Form l0-K.

Industry Developments

Sequestration

On March 31,2013, a sequestration order under the Budget Control
Act of 20ll was issued that requires reductions in payments to
Medicare Advantage ("MA") and Prescription Drug Program
("PDP) carriers. Effective April l, 2013, payments to MA and PDP

carriers were reduced by 2o/o,with the reduction scheduled to remain

in place through 2023.The lower rates began impacting our revenue

in the second quarter of2013 and are expected to continue to reduce

revenue inro 2014 and beyond. The earnings impact is mitigated

somewhat by reductions to medical cost reimbursements to health

care professionals. Sequestration will continue to lower segment

earnings in 2014 in the Global Health Care segment; however, the

overall effect will depend on our ability to reduce medical cost

reimbursements to health care orofessionals.
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Medicare Advantage Reimbursement Rates

On April 1,2013, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

(CMS) issued the final Announcement of Calendar Yea.r 2014

Medicare Advantage Benchmark Rates and Payment Policies. 'We

submitted bids to CMS in the second quarter of 2013 that

incorporated the 2014 rates and that continue to provide programs

with attractive benefits to seniors.'We expect 2014 earnings in our

Government operating segment to be lower than prior years. The

magnitude of this earnings impact will depend largely on our ability to

manage medical costs.

On February 21,2014, CMS issued its Advance Notice for Calendar

Year 2015 (the "Notice"). The final terms are expected to be published

on April 7, 2014. While the terms contained within the Nodce are

within the range of our expectations, there remain numerous open

issues and substantial uncertainties regarding the final terms of the

Notice. We expect that CMS will receive a significant number of
comments from interested parcies (including Cigna) prior to issuance

of the final termsi however, there can be no assurance that CMS will
amend its current positions. Given the uncertainry regarding the final

terms of the Notice, we cannot reliably estimate the impact on our

business, revenues or results ofoperations in2015 and beyond; under

certain circumstances, it is possible that the impact could be materially

adverse. In addition, we expect to adjust our programs and services in

response to the proposed 2015 terms.

Health Care Reform

For addidonal information regarding the specific provisions of Health

Care Reform affecting us, see the "Regulation" section of this

Form 10-K. Outlined below are the reported and expected future

financial effects of various provisions of Health Care Reform.

Commercial minimum medical loss ratio ("MLR"). We record our
rebate accrual based on estimated medical loss ratios calculated as

prescribed by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

(.'HHS) using full-year premium and claim informacion by state and

market segment for each legal entiry that issues comprehensive

medical coveraSe. In 2013, we accrued an estimated rebate of

$12 million pre-rax ($8 million after-tax), compared with an accrual

of $37 million pre-ax ($24 million after-tax) in 2012. \trfle paid

$15 million in 2013, lower than the estimated rebate acctual of

$37 million, primarily due to refinements to the MLR rebate

calcularion. rhat also contributed to the lower 2013 rebate accrual

when compared to 2012.

Heahb insarance indastry fee. This fee, totaling $8 billion for rhe

industry in 2014 and increasing to $13.9 billion by 2017, will not be

tax deductible. Our effective tax rate is expected to increase beginning

in 2074 as a result of this fee. Our share of this industry fee will be

determined based on our proportion of premiums to the industry
total. The amount of this fee is expected to be approximately

$230 million in 2014: $130 million related to our commercial

business and $100 million related to our Medicare business. For our
commercial business, we anticipate recovering most of the industry fee

through rate increases, resulting in an immaterial effect on

shareholders' net income. For our Medicare business, although we

expect to partially mitigate the effect of the fee through benefit

changes and prices, we anticipate that the earnings impact will be

more significant than it will be for our commercial business.

Reinsurancefea Beginning in 2014, this fee will be a fixed dollar per

customer lery on aIl commercial business, including ASO, and is tax

deductible. It will be used to fund the reinsurance program for
non-grandfathered individual business sold either on or offthe public

exchanges beginning in 2014. The amount ofthis fee is expected to be

approximately $110 million in 2014. Because we anticipate

recovering most ofit through rate increases, the impact ofthis fee on

shareholders' net income is not expected to be material.

Medicare Adtar-uge and Medicarc Part D requiremcnts beginning
in 2014. Under the rules proposed by HHS, if the MLR for a

Medicare Advantage or Medicare Part D contract is less than the

required 85%o minimum, the contractor is required to pay a penalty to

CMS and could be sub.iect to additional sanctions if the MLR
continues to be less than 85% for successive years.'We currently expect

that our Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D plan offerings will
meet these MLR requirements.

Public Heahh Exchanges, Beginning in 2014, we are offering

coverage on five public health insurance exchanges (Arizona,

Colorado, Florida, Tennessee, and Texas). The enrollment process

began on October 1,2013, Based on our preliminary enrollment data

from the exchanges and the effect ofthe reinsurance, risk corridor and

risk adjustment programs (see the "Regulation" section of this

Form l0-K for additional informarion) we do not expect public

exchange-based enrollments to have a material effect on our medical

customer base, revenues, operating cash flows or results ofoperations
in 2014.

Disability Claims Regulatory Matter

During the second quarter of 2013, we finalized an agreement with
the Departments of Insurance for Maine, Massachusetts,

Pennsylvania, Connecticut and California (together, the "monitoring

states") related to our long-term disabilicy claims handling practices.

In connection with the terms of the agreement, the Company

recorded a charge of $77 million before-tax ($51 million after-tax) in
the first quarter o[2013. The charge is comprised of two elements:

(l) $48 million of benefit costs and reserves from reassessed claims

expected to be reopened, including $925,000 in fines, $750,000 in
regulatory surcharges and $9.5 million in claims handling expenses;

and (2) $29 million in additional costs for open claims as a result of
the claims handling changes being implemented. This charge is

reported in the Group Disability and Life segment. !7'e will be subject

to re-examination 24 months after the execution date of the

agreement. If the monitoring states find material non'compliance

with the terms of the agreement upon re-examination, we may be

subject to additional fines or penalties. In addition to the monitoring

states, most other jurisdictions have joined the agreement as

participating, non-monitoring states.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Summarized below are our results of ooerations on a GAAP basis.

For the Yearc Ended December 31, Increase /(Decrease) Increase /(Decrease)Financial Summary
(In milliow) 2013 2012 20tl 2Ol3 vs.2012 2012 vs.20ll
Premiumi and fees

Net investment income

Mail order pharmacy revenues

Orher revenues

Realized investment

Total revenues

Benefits and exper

Income before income mxes

Income taxes

Financial Summary
(In million)

$ 26,187 $

1,r44
r,623

t2l
44 8)

7 )\L
6,653

601

2i8

5IJ5

Increase./(Decrease)

18,966

r,146
1,447

244

OL

'r 79.<l

20

204
79

r69

3,26r
3,562

(3ol)
r5

lLo/o $

2

t3
65

'7 1)1

(2)

176
(123)

38o/o

t2
60)

29,1r9
26,642

', 477

853

21,865

19,989

1,876

615

33

33

4)

39

TtJj 29o/o

(2e)

29

Less: net income attriburable to nonconrrolling

lnterests

Net income t,624 r,261 (r46)

I

Shareholders' net income r,260 $

A reconciliation of shareholders' net income to adiusted income from operations follows:

For tle Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

Shareholders' net income

Less: realized investment gains, net of tues

Segment earnings

Less: GMIB and special items (after-tu):

Results of GMIB business

Costs associated with PBM services agreement

Charge related to reinsurance transaction
(See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements)

Charge for disabitiry claims regulatory matter
(See Note 23 to rhe Consolidated Financial

Statements)

Charges for organizational efficiency plans

(See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial

Scatements)

Charges associated with litigation matters
(See Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements)

Costs associated with acquisitions

(See Note 3 to the Consolidated Finmcial

Statements)

Compledon of IRS examination (See Note 19

to rhe Consolidated Financial Statements)

INCOME FROM

Other Key Consolidated Finmcial Data
Global medical cusromers (in thousands)

Effecrive tax rate l|!l}{l.'

2013 2012

r,623 $

31

I (c)t

29

(40)

(135)

24

$ 136r $

12,680

32.8o/o

(e)% $

355

JOJ

l0)

(16) 373

llo/o $ 373

r,365

l.60/o

2013 vs.2012

(r47)
110

Q5n

2012 vs.20ll
29o/o
(14\

JI

t64(4)

(24)

(e)

(24)

:"T'f&, 14,045

34.4o/o

172

(2.3)o/o
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Consolidated Results of Operations: 2013

Compared to 2012 and 2012 Compared to
2011
. Reteutzs: The componena of the revenue increases are discussed

furrher below:

. Premiums and Fees.The increase in2013 comparedwith 2012

reflected continued customer growth in targeted markets ofall
ofthe ongoing segments, and, to a lesser extent, acquisitions in
late 2012 in the Global Supplemental Benefits segment. In
2012, the increase over 201 I was largely due to contributions
from the 2012 HealthSpring acquisition. Continued customer

growth in the targeted market segments also contributed to the

strong premium growth in 2012.

. Net Inuestment Income. The increase in 2013, compared with
2012, primarily reflected higher yields driven in part by higher

partnership income, partially offset by lower average

investment assets primarily due to sales of assets to fund the

reinsurance transaction with Berkshire. In 2012, net

investment income remained flat compared with 2011,

primarily reflecting higher average investment assets and

improved resulm from partnership investments offset by lower

reinvesrment yields.

. Mail Order Pharmacy Reaenuel Increases in each of 2013 and

2012 compared with the prior year, primarily reflected higher

prescription volume for specialry medicadons (injectibles).

. Other Reuenues. Prior to the February 4, 2013 reinsurance

uansaction with Berlahire, other revenues included the results

of a hedge program in the Run-off Reinsurance segment

related to the GMDB and GMIB businesses. Other revenues

included pre-tax losses of $39 million in 2013, $119 million in
2012 and $4 million in 2011 associated with the hedge

program. Excluding the impact of the hedge program, other

revenues were flat in 20L3, compared with 2012, and

decreased 3o/o in 2012 compared with 201 1 .

. Realized Inuestment Resuhl The significant increase in 2013,
compared with 2012, primarily resulted from gains on the sales

of real estate joint ventures and higher gains on sales of fixed

maturities largely to fund the February 4,2013 reinsurarce

transacdon, ln 2012 realized investment resuls were lower

Liquidity and Capital Resources

than in 2011, primarily due to the absence of gains on sales of
real estate held in joint ventures reported in 201 l. See Note 14

to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information

. Bmefia and expetses. The increase in 2Ol3 compared with 2012

reflected continued business growth in the ongoing segments and

the charge associated with the reinsurance transaction. In 2012, the

increase compared with 201I reflected the acquisition of
HealthSpring and continued business growth in the ongoing

seSments.

. Sbareholdcrs' net income. The decrease in 2013, compared with
2012 primarily reflects the $507 million after-tax charge associated

with the February 4,2013 reinsurance agreement with Berkshire,

partially offset by an increase in adjusted income from operations.

ln 2012, the increase in shareholders' net income compared with
2011, resulted primarily from substantially higher adjusted income

from operations.

, Adjuted income from operations. The increase in 2013 compared

with 2012 was largely attributable to earnings growth in all of our

ongoing business segments (Global Health Care, Global

Supplemental Benefits, and Group Disabiliry and Life). See the

segment discussions later in this MD&A for funher information. In
2012, adjusted income from operations increased 27o/o compared

with 2011, largely attributable to earnings contributions fiom
HeahhSpring, as well as overall rwenue growth in the other ongoing

operating segments and lower charges related to the GMDB
business.

. Tbe consolidated effectiue tan rate decreased in 2013 compared

with 2012, primarily driven by the favorable effect of the

completion of the 2009-2010 tax audits in 2013 and recognizing

tax benefits in certain foreign operations. In 2012, the effective tax

rate increased reflecting the acquisition of HealthSpring and the

absence of the favorable impact of the completion of 2007 -2008 tax
audits in 2011.

. Global medical c*stonerc increased in 2013 compared with 20 12

and in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily driven by continued

growth in the regional, select, individual, and government market

:::ff:: 
ln20r2, the HealthSpring acquisition contributed to the

Financial Summary
(In

Short-term invescments

Cash and cash equivalents

Shon-term debt

Long-tenn dcbr $ 5,014
Shareholders' equity $ 10,567,,,,

$

o

$
C

$

2012 20Ll

225

4,690
104

4,990

7,994

154
2,978

201
4,986
9,769

$

$

The increase in short-term investments in 2013 compared with 2012

was driven by investment of increased cash levels in liquid commercial

paper and United States Government obligations.

Liquidiry
'!7e maintain liquidiry at nvo levels: the subsidiary level and the parent

company level.
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Liquidiry requirements at the subsidiary level generally consist o[:

. claim and benefit payments to policyholders; and

. operaung expense requrrements, primarily for employee

compensation and benefits.

Our subsidiaries normally meet their operating requirements by:

. maintaining appropriate levels of cash, cash equivalents and

short-term investments:

. using cash flows from operating actlvlues;

. selling investments;

. matching investment durations to those estimared for the related

insurance and contractholder liabilities: and

Cash flows for the years ended December 31, \'vere as follows:

(Ir milliore)

. borrowing from the parent company.

Liquidiry requirements at the parent company level generally consist

. debt service and dividend payments to shareholders; and

. pension plan funding.

The parent company normally meets its liquidity requirements by:

. maintaining appropriate levels of cash, cash equivalents and

short-term investments;

. collecting dividends from its subsidiaries;

. using proceeds from issuance of debt and equiry securities; and

. borrowing from its subsidiaries.

2013 20t2 20lt
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net cash provided bv (used in) financing activities

$ 2,?50 $ 1,491

$ (3,857) g (1,270)

$ (228) $ 2,867

Cash flows from operating activities consist of cash receipts and

disbursements for premiums and fees, mail order pharmacy, other
revenues, investment income, taxes, benefir and expenses, and, prior
to February 4,2013, gains and losses recognized in connection with
our GMDB and GMIB equity hedge programs. Because certain

income and expense transactions do not generate cash, and because

cash transactions related to revenues and expenses may occur in
periods different from when those revenues and expenses are

recognized in shareholders' net income, cash flows from operating

activities can be significandy different from shareholders' net income.

Cash flows from investing activities generally consist of net

investment purchases or sales and net purchases of property and

equipment including capitalized software, as well as cash used to
acquire businesses.

Cash flows from financing activities are generally comprised of
issuances and re-payment of debt at the parent company lwel,
proceeds on the issuance of common stock resulting from stock

option exercises, and stock repurchases. In addition, the subsidiaries

report net deposits and withdrawals to and from investment contract

liabilities (that include universal life insurance liabilities) because such

liabilities are considered financing activities with policyholders.

Operathtg artiuities

Cash provided by operating activities declined by $1.6 billion in 2013

compared with 2012 primatlly due to payments totaling $2.2 billion
made in 2013 to Berkshire in connection wich the reinsurance

transaction. Cash provided by operating activities in 2012 increased

by $0.9 billion compared with 2011, primarily as a result of strong
earnings growth in our ongoing business segmen$ and the absence of
claim run-out from the Medicare IPFFS business exited in 2011.

Inuesting actiaities

Cash flows from investing accivities increased by $3.9 billion in 2013

compared with 2012 primarily driven by the absence of rhe 2012
payment to acquire HealthSpring. Excluding that acquisition, cash

flows from investing activiries in 2012 increased by $0.6 billion
compared with 20ll primarily due to lower net purchases of fixed

maturiry investments.

Financing actiaities

Cash used in financing activities in 2013 increased by $0.7 billion
compared with 2012 primarrly due to higher repurchases of common
stock. Cash provided by financing activities in 201I was $2.9 billion,
primarily consisting of net proceeds from long-term debt that was

issued to finance the 2012 HealthSpring acquisition.

Share rEurchase
'\9'e mainain a share repurchase program that was authorized by our

Board ofDirectors. The decision to repurchase shares depends on market

conditions and alternate uses ofcapital. \(e have, and may continue from
time to time, to repurchase shares on the open market through a

Rule l0b5-1 plan thac permits a company to repurchase its shares at

times when ir otherwise might be precluded from doing so under insider

trading laws or because of self-imposed trading blackout periods. \tr0'e

suspend activity under this program ftom time to time and also remove

such suspensions, generally without public announcement.

In 2013 we repurchased 13.6 million shares for $1.0 billion. From

J*u"ry l, 2014 through February 26, 2014 we repurchased

5.0 million shares for $4tt million. On February 26,2014, the
Company's Board of Directors increased share repurchase authority by

$500 million. Accordingly, the total remaining share repurchase

authorization as of February26,2014 was $901 million. In 2012 the

Company repurchased 4.4 million shares For $208 million and in
20ll repurchased 5.3 million shares for $225 million.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense on long-term debt, shorcterm debt and capital leases was as follows:

(In milliont) 2013 2012

Interest 270 $ 268 $ 202

The increase in interest expense in 2012 was primarily due to the

issuance of $2.1 billion of long-term debt in the fourth quarter of
2011 ro fund the acquisition of HealthSpring, partially offset by a

lower weighted average interest rate reflecting the more favorable rates

ofthis debt issued. The weighted average interest rate for outstanding

short-term debt (primarily commercial paper) was 0.47o/o at

December 31, 2013 and .47o/o at 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources Oudook

At December 3l,2Ol3, there was approximately $760 million in cash

and short-term investments available at the parent company level. In
2014, the parent company's combined cash obligations are expected

to be approximately $480 million for commercial paper maturities,

interest and pension contributions.

'We expect, based on the parent companyt current cash position,

current projections for subsidiary dividends, and the abiliry to
refinance its commercial paper borrowing, to have sufficient liquidity
to meet the obligations discussed above.

Howevet our cash projections may nor be realized and the demand

for,funds could exceed available cash if our ongoing businesses

experience unexpected shortfalls in earnings, or we experience

material adverse effects from one or more risks or uncertainties

described more fully in the Risk Factors section of this Form l0-K. In
those cases, we expect to have the flexibiliry to satisry fiquidiry needs

through a variety of measures, including intercompany borrowings

and sales of liquid investments. The parent company may borrow up

to $1.2 billion from its insurance subsidiaries without prior state

approval. As ofDecember 31,2013, the parent company had no net

intercompany loan balance wirh its insurance subsidiaries.

Alternatively, to satisry parent company liquidiry requirements we

may use short-term borrowings, such as the commercial paper

program, the committed revolving credic and letter of credit

agreement of up to $ 1.5 billion subject to the maximum debt leverage

covenant in its line of credit agreement. As of Decembe r 31,2013, we

had $1.5 billion of borrowing capacity under the credit agreement.
rVithin the maximum debt leverage covenant in the line of credit

agreement, we have an additional $6.0 billion of borowing capacicy

in addition to the $5.2 billion of debt outstanding.

Though we believe we have adequate sources of liquidiry continued

significant disruption or volatility in the capital and credit markets

could affect our ability to access those markets for addidonal

borrowings or increase costs associated with borowing funds.

'We 
maintain a capital management strategy to indefinitely reinvest

the earnings ofcertain ofour foreign operations overseas. Indefinitely
reinvested earnings are generally deployed in these countries, and

other foreign jurisdictions in support ofthe liquidity and capital needs

of our foreign operations, where possible. As of December 31, 2013

indefinitely reinvested earnings were approximately $l.l billion.
Approximately $176 million of cash and cash equivalents held in these

countries would, if repatriated, be subject to a charge represendng the

difference berween the U.S. and foreign tax rates. This suategy does

not materially limit our abiliry to meet our liquidiry and capital needs

in the United States. Cash and cash equivalencs in foreign operations

are held primarily to meet local liquidity and surplus needs with excess

funds generally invested in longer duration high qualiry securicies.

Unfunded Pension Pkn Liabilfu. As of December 37, 2013, our

unfunded pension liabiliry was $611 million, a decrease of
approximately $1.0 billion from Decembe r 31, 2012, reflecdng an

increase in the assumed discount rate of 100 basis points, strong asset

returns, and pension conributions of $195 million in 2013. 
.\[e

expect to make pension contributions tn 2014 required under the

Pension Protection Act of 2006 of approximately $ 100 million. As a

result of the improved funding position, we do not expect to make

voluntary contributions in 2014. In addition, during 2013, we

increased our asset allocation to fixed income investments and

reduced our allocation to domestic stocks in order to reduce the

investment risk in the pension plan.

Solamcy II. Our businesses in the European Union will be subject

to the directive on insurance reguladon, solvency and governance

requirements known as Solvency II. This directive will impose

economic risk-based solvency and governance requirements and

supervisory rules and becomes effective in 2016, although certain EU
country regulators are requiring companies to demonstrate technical

capabiliry and comply with increased capital levels in advance of their
effective date. Our European insurance companies are capitalized at

levels consistent with projected Solvency II requirements and in
compliance with anticipated governance and technical capabiliry

requrrements.
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Ve are contingendy liable for various contractual obligations entered into in the ordinary course of business. The maurities of our primary

contracrual cash obligations, as of December 31, 2013, are estimated to be as follows:

Guarantees and Contractual Obligations

(In millions, on an rndicotnted bab)
Less than

Total I year
4-5 After 5

yeils years
r-3

years

On-Balance Sheec

Insurance liabilities:

Concractholder deposit funds

Future poliry benefits

Global Health Care medical claims payable

Unpaid claims and claims expenses

Shorcterm debt

Long-term debr

Other long-rerm liabilities

Off-Bdance Sheet:

Purchase obligarions

Operatinq leases

7,080 $

I 1,815

2,064

4,/4>
146

8,732

831

878

641

7r3 $

364

r,995
r,448

234

zo)
275

525

131

97r $

917

LO

9r4

t,192
t20

218

232

802 $

1,013

11

624

852

87

97

134

4,594
o <f I

32

r,759

6,425

349

xe

r44

TOTAL $ 37,020 $ 5,948 $ 4,590 $ 3,620 $ 22,862

The expected future cash flows for GMDB and GMIB contracts

included in the table above (within future policy benefits and other

long-term liabilities) do not consider any of the related reinsutance

arrangements.

On-Balance Sheet:

. Irlsxrance liabilities. Contractual cash obligations for insurance

liabilities, excluding unearned premiums and fees, represent

estimated net benefit payments for health, life and disabiliry
insurance policies and annuity contracts. Recorded contractholder

deposit funds reflect current fund balances primarily from universal

life customers. Contractual cash obligations for these universal life

contracts are esdmated by pro.iecting future payments using

assumprions for lapse, withdrawal and mortalicy, These projected

future payments include estimated furure interest crediting on

current fund balances based on current investment yields less the

estimated cost of insurance charges and mortality and

administrative fees. Actual obligations in any single year will vary

based on actual morbidity, mortaliry, lapse, withdrawal, investment

and premium experience, The sum of the obligations presented

above exceeds the corresponding insurance and contractholder

liabilities of $19 billion recorded on the balance sheet because the

recorded insurance liabilities teflect discounting for interest and the

recorded contractholder liabilities exclude future interest crediting,

charges and fees. Ve manage our investment poftfolios to generate

cash flows needed to satisry contractual obligations. Any shortfall

from expected investment yields could result in increases to

recorded reserves and adversely impact results of operations. The
amounts associated with the sold retirement benefits and individual
life insurance and annuity businesses, as well as the reinsured

workers' compensation, personal accident and supplemental

benefirs businesses, are excluded from the table above as net cash

flows associated with them are not expected to impact us. The total

amount of these reinsured reserves excluded is approximately

$6 billion.

. Short-term debt represents commercial papet current maturities of
long-term debt, and current obligations under capital leases.

. Long-tertn debt includes scheduled interest payments. Capital
leases are included in long-term debt and represent obligations for
IT nework storage, servers and equipment.

. Other hng-term liabilities, These icems are presenced in accounts

payable, accrued expenses and other liabilicies in our Consolidated

Balance Sheets. This table includes estimated payments for GMIB
contracts, pension and other postretirement and postemployment

benefit obligations, supplemental and defered compensation plans,

interest rate and foreign cuuency swap conuacts, and certain tax

and reinsurance liabilities.

Estimated payments of $82 million for deferred compensarion,

non-qualified and international pension plans and other

postretirement and postemployment benefit plans are expected to
be paid in less than one year. Our best estimate is that contributions
to the qualified domestic pension plans during 2014 will be

approximately $100 million. W'e expect to make payments

subsequent to 2014 for these obligations, however subsequent

payments have been excluded from the table as their timing is based

on plan assumptions that may materially differ from actual

activiries. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financid Statements for
further information on pension and other posffedrement benefit

obligations.

The above rable also does noc contain $17 million of liabilities for
uncertain tax positions because we cannot reasonably estimate the

timing of their resolution with the respective taxing authorities. See

Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year

ended December 31,2013 for further information.
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Off-Balance Sheet:

Parcbaseobligations. AsofDecember3l,2013,purchaseobligadonsconsistedofestimatedpaymentsrequiredundercontractualarrangemenrs
for future services and investment commitments as follows:

0n milliorc)

Fixed maturities

Commercial mortgage loans

Real estate

Limited liabiliry enrities (other lonq-term invesrments)

56

7

3

643

Total investment commitments

Future service commitments
709
l/<o

TOTAL PURCHASE OBLIGAilONS 878

\7e had commitments to invest in limited liabiliry entities that hold
real estate, loans to real estate entities or securities. See Note I 1(D) to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Our estimated future service commitments primarily represent

contracts for certain outsourced business processes and IT
maintenance and supporr. Ve generally have the abiliry to terminate

these agreements, but do not anticipate doing so at this time. Purchase

obligations exclude contracts that are cancelable without pendty and

those that do not specifr minimum levels of goods or services to be

purchased.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Operating bases. For additional information, see Note 2l to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Guarantees
'We are contingently liable for various financial and other guarantees

provided in the ordinary course of business. See Note 23 o rhe

Consolidated Financial Statements for addidonal information on

guarantees.

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance

with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions

that affect reported amounts and related disclosures in the

Consolidated Financial Statements. Management considers an

accoundng estimate to be critical if:

. it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time
the estimate was made; and

. changes in the estimare or different estimates that could have been

selected could have a material effect on our consolidated results of
operations or financial condition.

Management has discussed the development and selection of its

critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board

of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed the disclosures

presented below.

In addition to the estimates presented in the following table, there are

other accounting estimates used in the preparation of our

Consolidated Financial Statements, including estimatei of liabilities
for future policy benefits, as well as estimates with respect to unpaid

claims and claim expenses, postemployment and postretirement

[1;|;,I:;.' 
,n"r pensions, certain compensation accruals, and

Management believes the cuffent assumptions used to estimate

amounts reflected in our Consolidated Financial Staremenrs are

appropriate. However, if actual experience differs from the

assumptions used in esdmating amounts reflected in our

Consolidated Financial Statements, the resulting changes could have a

material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations and,

in certain situations, could have a material adverse effect on our
liquidiry and financial condition.

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further
information on significant accounting policies.
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Bdance Sheet Caption / Nature of Critical Accounting Estimate Effect if Different Assumptions Used

Goodwill

At the acquisition date, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
businesses acquired over the fair value of their net assets.

'We completed our annual evaluations of goodwill for impairment

during the third quarter of 2013. These evaluations were performed at

the reporting unit level, based on discounted cash flow analyses. The
evaluations indicated that no impairment was required.

Consistent with prior years, fair value of a reporting unit was estimated

using models and assumptions that we believe a hypothetical market

participant would use to determine a current transaction price. The
significant assumptions and estimates used in determining fair value

include the discount rate and future cash flows. A range of discount

rates was used, corresponding with the reporting unitt weighted

average cost of capital, consistent with that used for investment

decisions considering the specific and detailed operating plans and

strategies within the reporting units. Projections offuture cash flows

were consistent with our annual planning process for revenues, claims,

operating expenses, raxes, capital levels and long-term growth rates.

Our Cigna-HealthSpring business (reported in the Government

operating segment that is also the reporting unit) contracts with CMS
and various state governmental agencies to provide managed health

care services, including Medicare Advantage plans and

Medicare-approved prescription drug plans. Estimated future cash

flows for this business .incorporated the potential effects of
sequestration and the Medicare Advantage reimbursement rates lor
2014 and, beyond as discussed in the "Overview" section of this

MDE{A. Revenues from the Medicare programs are dependent, in
whole or in part, upon annual funding from the federal government

through CMS. Funding for these programs is dependent on many

factors including general economic conditions, continuing
government efforts to contain health care costs and budgetary

constraints at the federal level and general political issues and priorities.

Goodwill as of December 31 was as follows (in millions):

. 2Ot3 _ 96,029

. 2012 - $6.001

See Notes 2(H) and 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional discussion of our goodwill.

Ifwe do not achieve our earnings objectives or the cost ofcapital rises

significantly, the assumptions and estimates underlying these

impairment evaluations could be adversely affected and result in future
impairment charges that would negatively impact our operating
results.

The fair value estimate of our Government repofting unit could

decrease by approximately 30% before an indication of impairment of
goodwill occurs. Future changes in the funding for our Medicare

programs by the federal government could substantially reduce

Cigna-HealthSpringt revenues and profitabiliry and have a significant
impact on the hir value of the Government operating segment.

The fair value estimates of our remaining reporting units could

decrease by approximately 25o/o to 85o/o before an indication of
impairment of goodwill occurs. These outcomes were derived by

determining the magnitude of changes to certain assumptions and

estimates necessary for the estimared fair value of reporting units to
approach their carrying values.
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Balance Sheet Caption / Nature of Critical Accounting Estimate Effect if Differcnt fusumptions Used

Accoane payabh, amud e4renses afld othel lhbilities - pnsion
liabilities

These liabilities are estimates of the present value of the qualified and

nonqualified pension benefits to be paid (amributed to employee

service to date) net of the fair value ofplan assets. The accrued pension

benefit liability as of December 3l was as follows (in millions):

. 2013 - $611

. 2012 - $r,602

See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for assumotions

and methods used to estimate pension liabilides.

Using past experience, we expect that it is reasonably possible that a

favorable or unfavorable change in assumptions for the discount rate or
expected return on plan assets of 50 basis points could occur. An
unfavorable change is a decrease in these key assumptions wirh
resulting impacts as discussed below.

If discount rates for the qualified and nonqualified pension plans

decreased by 50 basis points:

. the accrued pension benefit liability would increase by approximately

$185 million as of December 31, 2013 resulting in an after-tax
decrease to shareholders'equiry of approximately $120 million as of
December 31, 2013.

. annual pension costs for 2014 would decrease by approximately

$5 million, after-tax; and

If the expected long-term return on domestic qualified pension plan

assets decreased by 50 basis points, annual pension costs for 2014

would increase by approximately $10 million after-tax.

If we used the market value of assets to measure pension costs as

opposed to the market-related value, annual pension cost for 2013

would decrease by approximately $20 million after-tax.

If the Decembe r 31, 2013 fair values of domestic qualified plan assets

decreased by 10o/o, the accrued pension benefit liabiliry would increase

by approximately $405 million as of December 31,2013 resulting in
an after-tax decrease to shareholders' equiry of approximately

$265 million.

An increase in these key assumptions would result in impacts to annual

pension costs, the accrued pension liabiliry and shareholders' equiry in
an opposite direction, but similar amounts.

Global Heahb Care medical chims payablz

Medical clairns payable for the Global Health Care segmenr include
both reported claims and estimates for losses incurred but not yet
reported.

Liabilities for medical claims payable as of December 31 were as

follows (in millions):

. 2OL3 - gross $2,050; net $1,855

. 2012 - gross $1,856; net $1,614

These liabilides are presented above both gross and net ofreinsurance

and other recoverables and generally exclude amounrs for
administrative services only business.

See Notes 2 and 5 to the Consolidated Financial Starements for
additional information regarding assumptions and methods used to
estimate this liability.

In 2013, actual experience differed from our key assumptions as of
December 31,2012, resulting in $182 rnillion of favorable incurred
claims related to prior years' medical claims payable or 1.3olo of the

current year incurred claims as reported in 2012. In 2012, actual

experience differed from our key assurnptions as of December Jl,
2011, resulting in $200 million of favorable incurred claims related to
prior years' medical claims, or 2.2o/o of the current year incurred claims

reported in 201 l. Specifically, the favorable impact is due to faster than

expected completion factors and lower than expected medical cost

trends, both of which included an assumption for moderately adveise

experience.

The impact of this favorable prior year development was an increase co

shareholders' net income of $77 million after-tax ($119 million
pre-tax) in 2013. The change in the amount of the incurred claims

related to prior years in the medical claims payable liabiliry does not
direcdy correspond to an increase or decrease in shareholders' net
income as explained in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Balance Sheet Caotion / Nature of Critical Accounting Estimate Effect if Different Assumptions Used

Valuation of fued maturity inaeshnents

Most fixed maturities are classified as available for sale and are carried

at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders' equiry.

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset could be exchanged

in an orderly transaction becween market participants at the balance

sheet date.

Determining fair value for a financial instrumenc requires management

judgment. The degree of judgment involved generally correlates to the

level of pricing readily observable in the markets. Financial instruments

with quoted prices in active markets or with market observable inputs

to determine fair value, such as public securities, generally require less

judgment. Conversely, private placements including more complex

securities that are traded infrequently are typically measured using

pricing models that require more judgment as to the inputs and

assumptions used to estimate fair value. There may be a number of
alternacive inputs to select, based on an understanding ofthe issuer, the

structure oF rhe securicy and overall market conditions. In addition,

there factors are inherendy variable in nature as they change frequently

in response to market conditions. Approximately two-thirds of our
fixed maturities are public securities, and one-third are private

placement securities.

See Note l0 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion

of our fair value measurements and the procedures performed by

managemenr to determine that rhe arnounts represent appropriate

estlmates,

Typicalln the most significant input in the measurement of fair value is

the market interest rate used to discount the estimated future cash

flows from the instrument. Such market rares are derived by calculating

the appropriate spreads over comparable U,S. Tieasury securities, based

on the credit qualiry industry and structure of the asset.

Ifthe spreads used to cdculate fair value increased by 100 basis points,

rhe fair value of the total fixed maturity porfolio of $16.5 billion
would decrease by approximately $900 million.

Assessment of "other-than-tenporar!" impairments of fued
manides

To determine whether a fixed maturicyt decline in fair value below its

amortized cost is other than temporary, we must evaluate the expected

recovery in value and its intent to sell or the likelihood ofa required

sale of the fixed maturity prior to an expected recovery. To make this

determination, we consider a number of general and specific factors

including the regulatory, economic and market environments, length

of time and severiry of the decline, and the financial health and specific

near term prospects oF the issuer.

See Notes 2 (C) and l1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional discussion of our review of declines in fair value, including
information regarding our accounting policies for fixed maturities,

Segment Reporting

For all fixed matutities with cost in excess of their fair value, if this

excess was determined to be other-than-temporary, shareholders' net

income for the year ended December 31,2013 would have decreased

by approximately $65 million after-tax.

The following section of this MD&A discusses the results of each of
our reporting segments. Ve measure the financial results oF our

segments using "segment earnings (loss)", defined as shareholders' net

income (loss) before after-tax realized investment results. In the

following segment discussions, we also present information using
"adjusted income (loss) from operarions", defined as segment earnings

(loss) excluding special items and results of the GMIB business.

Adjusted income (loss) from operations is another measure of

profitabiliry used by our management because it presents the

underlying results of operations oI our businesses and permits analysis

of trends in underlying revenue, expenses and shareholders' net

income. This measure is not determined in accordance with GAAP
and should not be viewed as a substitute for the most directly
comparable GAAP measure that is shareholders' net income. W'e

exclude special items because management does not believe they are

representative ofour underlying results ofoperations. We also exclude
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the results of the GMIB business because, prior ro the reinsurance fair value of GMIB assets and liabilities were volatile and

transaction with Berftshire on February 4, 2013, the changes in the unpredictable.

The rables presented below summarize results from operarions by segment.

Shareholders' Net Income For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increasd(Decrease)

(In willions) 2Ol3 2012 20ll 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 20ll

Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefi ts

Group Disability and Life

Run-off Reinsurance

Other Operations

Total

Net realized investment net of taxes

Shareholders' net income

Adjusted Income (loss) From Operations
On

Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefits

Group Disability and Life

Run-off Reinsurance

Other Operations

Total

Global Health Care Segment

'We measure the operating effectiveness of the Global Health Care

segment using the following key factors:

. segment earnings and adjusted income from operations;

. customer growth;

. sales of specialty products;

$ 1,418 $ 1,105 $ 99 7o/o $ 313 28o/o$ 1517
175

259

r42 ,,. 97 33

279 295 (20)

23 45 46
(7) (16) (5)

- , 183 100

15 (7) (8)

33 (r45) (79)
82

(32e)

r,592
3r

(183) (488)

89 12

(r84) r07

r,2r9 (257) (16) 373 3r
4r ll0 355

For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

2013 2012 20tl 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 20ll
1,480 $

148

281
(29)

82

(228)

1,104 $
100

290
(48)

85

(r70)

60/o $

24

l1
23

12

o

70

r5
3

376 34o/o

48 48

(e) (3)

19 40
(3) (4)

(58) (34)

1,734 $ r98 n%$ 373 27o/o

. operaung expense as a percentage oF segment revenues (operating

exPense ratio); and

. medical expense as a percentage of premiums (medical care rat.io or
"MCR") in the guaranteed cost and Medicare businesses.
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Results of Operations

Finaacial Sumnary

Premiums and fees

Net investment income

Mail order pharmacy revenues

Other revenues

Segment revenues

Mail order pharmary cost of goods sold

Benefir and other ex

Benefirs and

Income before taxes

Income taxes

SEGMENT EARMNGS

Less: special items (after-tu) included in segment earnings:

Charge for organizational efficiency plan (See Note 6 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements)

Costs associated with PBM services agreement

Costs associated with acquisitions (See Note 3 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements)

Charge related to litigation matter (See Note 23 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements)

Completion of IRS examination (See Note 19 to the

Consolidated Financial Statimen

INCOME FROM OPERAIIONS

Realized investment iains, net of taxes

Effective tax rate

PARI II
ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

2013 2012 20tl 2Ol3 vs.2012 2012 vs.20ll
20,973 S 14,443 $ 1,960 9o/o $ 6,530 45o/o

259

|,623

225

23,080 16,389

t,328 1,203

t9,541

20,869 t4,668 2,088 10 6,201

263 66 25 (4) (2)

447 204 13 176 12

(14)

2,2t1
793

1,721

6r6
490

177

z)o

2,2r6
181

r,907

t28
29

4r
l0
4)

10

I4
10

6

4

42

28
tcl

1,r05 28

( 4)\

(7)

(42)

(7)

( l3)

I

r,480 $ T.LO4 $92 60/o

-o/o

$ 376 34o/o

9$ 23 $64 6r

35.9o/o 35.8o/o (0.8)%

2013, results also included higher operating expenses associated with
customet growth and enhancements to our capabilities, partially offset

by operating cost efficiencies.

Earnings Discussiont 2Al2 compared to 2011

Global Hea-lth Caret segment earnings and adjusted income from
operations increased significantly in 2012, as compared wirh 2011.

This increase reflected the timing of the Hea.lthSpring acquisition in
2012 and, Commercial revenue growth driven by a higher ASO
customer base.

313

Earnings Discussion: 2013 compared ta 2AI2

The increase in Global Health Caret segment earnings and adjusted

income from operations in 2013, as compared with 2012, reflected

revenue growth from a higher customer base and rate increases

consistent with underlying medical cost trends. In 2013, both
measures also benefited from increased specialry conffibutions and

higher net investment income.

These favorable effects were partially offset by a higher MCR in
Medicare Advantage in 2013 driven by lower per member government

reimbursements and higher inpatient and outpatient medical costs. In
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Reuenues

The table below shows premiums and fees for the Global Health Care segment:

0n milliow) 2012 20ll
Medical:

Guaranteed cosr

Experience-rated

Srop loss

International health care

Dental

Medicare

Medicaid

,,rlii,:t:.:,,],

$ 4,463 $

2,292

1,907
1 7<)

1,139
,,,:,::a::. .'::,:a:,:a.'::.::.:: 5,639

1;:'11::;11,t.,',:,11:;,:';';'::;'l1l;1;,;1,t11,,317

4,256 $ 4,176
2,022 t,9i4
|,672 |,45r
r,648 r,344
1,005 894
4,969 489

207

Medicare Parr D
Other

Total medical

1 4)l
677

06)
600

17,877 rr,573
Fees 3,096 2,870

TOTAL PREMII.]MS AND FEES $ 20,973 $ 14,443

Premiums andfees increased in2013, compared with 2012, in U.S.

Commercial due to customer growth and rate increases consistenr

with underlying medical cost trends. In addition, Medicare Advantage

premiums were higher due to timing of the HealthSpring acquisition

and customer growth.

Premiums and fees increased in 2012 compared with 201l, primarily
reflecting the HealthSpring acquisition. U.S. Commercial growth was

driven by rate increases consistent with underlying medica.l cost

rends, and ASO customer growrh. International health care

premiums increased primarily due to the conversion of Vanbreda
business from service to risk.

Benefts and Expenses

Global Health Care segment benefits and expenses consist o[ the following:

(In milliow)

Net inuestment income increased in 2013, compared with 2012,
reflecting higher assets and higher income from partnership

investments. ln 2012, net investment income decreased compared
with 201 I reflecting lower yields, parrially offset by the impact of the

HealthSpring acquisition and higher income from partnership

tnvestments.

Mail order phaflnac! reaEnaes increased in each of 20 I 3 and.2012,

compared with each prior year, primarily reflecting higher
prescription volume for specialty medications (injectibles).

2013 2012 201 I
Mail order cost of

Medical claims expense

Operating expenses, excluding special items

Items

Total benefits and other

TOTAL BENEFITS AND E)(PENSES

Selected ratios

sold :i|rie,::: $ r,328 $ L,.LUt

14,228
< )1'7

96

C) I'5

4,340

K:liivdlj

19,541 13.465

$ 20,869 $l

80.2o/o 79.7o/o

80.9o/o 89.60/o

Guaranteed cost medical care rauo

Medicare Advantage medical care ratio
Medicare Parr D medical care ratio

Operating expense ratio - including special items

81.2o/o

23.0o/o

22.60/o

83.4o/o

26.5o/o

26.
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Medical ckims erpense increased 1,2o/o in 2013 compared with 2012,

primarily due to medical cost inflation, the timing of the

HealthSpring acquisition, and customer growth. Higher Medicare

Advantage inpatient and outpatient medical costs also contributed to
the increase.

Medical claims expense increased 560/o in2012 compared with 2011,

primarily reflecting the acquisition of HealthSpring, conversion of
Vanbreda business From service to risk, and medical cost inflation.

Operating expenses increased 5o/o in 2013 compared with 2012,

primarily reflecting customer growth, increased investments,

including costs associated with our new PBM arrangement, and the

timing of the HealthSpring acquisition, partially oFfset by operating

cost efficiencies. Operating expenses increased in 2012 compared with
2011 driven by the acquisition of HealthSpring.

The operating erlterrse ratio, calcllared as total operating expenses

divided by segment revenues, is one measure of the segmentt overall

operating efficiency.

The operadng expense ratio decreased in both 2013 and, in 2012,
compared with the prior year. These decreases were primarily driven

by revenue growth and operating cost efficiencies paftially offset by

higher investments, including 2013 costs associated with our new

PBM arrangement. The 2012 operaringexpense ratio, compared with
2011, benefited from additional HealthSpring business. Because the

HealthSpring business is fully insured, it has a substantially lower

operating expense ratio compared to out commercial business as

approximately 800/o of our commercial medical customers are in ASO
aflangements.

Effectiae tat rate. The slight decline in the effective tax rate in 2013

compared with 2012 primarily reflected the recognition of tax

benefits in certain of the segmentt foreign operations. In 2012, the

segmentt effective tax rate was essentially flat compared with 2011.

2013 2012 20tl

Other Items Affecting Health Care Results

Global Heahh Care Medical Clahns Payable

Medical claims payable increased l0o/o in 2013 compared with 2012, primarily driven by growth in the stop loss and HealthSpring books of
business. Medical claims payable increased 42o/o in 2072 cornpared with 2011, primarily reflecting the acquisition of HealthSpring.

Medical Customers

A medical customer is defined as a person meeting any one of the following criteria:

. is covered under an insurance policy or service agreement issued by the Company;

. has access to the Companyt provider network for covered services under their medical plan; or

. has medical claims that are administered bv the Company.

As of December 31, estimated medical custorners were as follows:

(In thowands)

Commercial Risk:

U.S. Guaranteed cost

U.S. Experience-rated

International heahh care - Risk

Toral commercial risk

Medicare

Medicaid ,

Total

Total risk

Service, international health care

TOTAL MEDICAL CUSTOMERS

786
/++

2,665
426
)?

449

r,091

798
582

44

1 0,1 65

12,680

2,47r

44

3,114
10,931

r4,o45
Less: voluntarv / limited benefirs cuscomers l 89 2r3

Total mediel custorners o<cludine voluntary / limited benefits customers 13,856 12

Medical customers increased Lo/o in 2013 compared to 2012,
primarily reflecting continued ASO customer growth due to strong
retention and sales in targeted market segments.

Medical customers increased 1 l0lo in 2012 compared to 20 I I ,

primarily reflecting ASO customer growth driven by strong retention

and sales in targeted market segments, the impact of the HealthSpring

acquisition, and growth in the international health care business.

Global Supplemental Benefits Segment

Segment Description

The key factors affecting segment earnings and adjusted income from
operarions for this segment are:

. premium growth, including new business and customer retention;
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. benefits expense as a percentage of earned premium (loss ratio);

. operating expense as a percentage of earned premium (expense

ratio); and

. the impact of foreign currency movements.

Throughout this discussion, prior period currency adjusted income

from operations, revenues, and benefits and expenses are being

calculated by applying the current periodt exchange rates to reported

results in the prior period. A strengthening U.S. Dollar against foreign

currencies will decrease segment earnings, while a weakening U.S.

Dollar produces the opposite effect.

fu described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the
Global Supplemental Benefits segment acquired two businesses

during the second half of 2012l. Great American Supplemental
Benefits and Finans Emeklilik (also referred to as the "Turkey JV").
Collectively, throughout this discussion these two transacrions are

referred to as "the acquisitions".

Results of Operations

Finmcial Summuy
(In million)

For the Yeus Ended December 31, Incteme/(Decreme) Increce/(Decrere)

2013 20t2 20ll 2Ol3 vs.20l2 2012 vs.20ll
Premiums and fees

Ner investment income

Other revenues

Segment revenues

$, 3 $

.l:;:i tO,Ot

r<ra {
83

t,984
90

2l
l0

544

456

7

6

300/o

8

40

5?q 27o/o $

n
24t5

2,095 t,626 26 469 29

Benefits and

Income before taxes

Income taxes

Income attributab[e to redeemable nonconrrollins interest

Income artributable to other noncontrolline interest

SEGMENT BIRNINGS

kss: special items (after-tax) included in segment

earnings:

Charges for organizational efficiency plans (See Note 6 to
the Consolidated Financid Statements)

Cosm associated wirh acquisitions (See Note 3 to rhe

Consolidated Financid Statements)

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

Adjusted income from operations, uslng acrual 2013

Realized investment net of txes

Effective tax rate

l,916 | /Lcl') 496 26 424 z6

4> 34

148 $

(2)

3 24o/o $

3(3)

100 $

3l 20o/o $

$l $4 400o/o $

26.90/o t.9%

exchange races to 2012 and 201 I results, premiums and fees increased

by 25o/o in 2013 and 32o/o in 2012. These increases are primarily
attributable to the acquisitions, and to a lesser extent, strong

persistency, and new sales growth, particularly in South Korea.

Net inaestment income increased in 2013 compared with 2012,

primarily due to the acquisitions in the second half of 2012.ln 2012,
net investment income increased compared with 2011, primarily due

to asset growth in South Korea.

Benefits and Expenses

Benefits and expenses increased in each of2013 and,2012, compared

with the comparable prior year. Excluding the organizational

efficiency plan charges from 2013 and2012 and, applying rcrual2013
currenry exchange rates to 2012 results, benefits and expenses

increased by 25o/o, These increases were primarily due to the

acquisitions and business growth. Excluding the special items in the

table above and applying acnal 2013 currency exchange rates to
results, benefits and expenses increased 30o/o in 2012, compared with
2011, primarily due to the acquisitions and business growth.

179

Jb

t34
.lo

48

r4
27

39

100

23

(6)

48

(6)

101

Earnings Discussiont 2013 compared to 2012

The increase in segment earnings (as well as the increase in adjusted
income from operations) was primarily driven by business growth,

primarily in South Korea, lower acquisition costs in Europe reflecting

a decision to cease selling activities in certain markets, and earnings of
the acquisitions during the second haJf o( 2012, paftially offset by
higher acquisition and benefits expenses.

Earnings Discussion: 2012 compared to 2011

The increase in segment earnings (as well as the increase in adjusred

income lrom operations) was primarily driven by strong revenue

growth, primarily in South Korea and, to a lesser extent, margin
improvement largely attributable to disciplined management of
solicitation spending.

Reaenues

Prerniums andfees increased in both 2013 and2012 compared with
the comparable prior year. lil/hen applying actual 2073 orrency
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Loss ratios increased in 2013 and20l2 compared with each prior year,

reflecting the inherently higher loss ratios of the acquisitions.

Policy acquisition expenses increased in 2013 and 2012, compared

with the prior year, refleccing the acquisitions and business growth,

partially offset by lower acquisition costs in Europe reflecting a

decision to cease selling activities in certain markets during2012.

Excluding the realignment and efficiency charges from 2013 and

2012, expense ratios decreased in 2013 compared with 2012. The

decrease was primarily driven by the impact of the lower expense

ratios associated with the Great American Supplemental Benefits

business, partially offset by strategically planned investment spending

to support future buslness growth. Excluding special items, expense

ratios increased in 2012 compared with 201 I primarily driven by the

impact of higher expense ratios associated with FirstAssist.

The increase in the effective tax rate in 2013 compared with 2012 and

the decrease in 2012 compared with 2011 are largely due to
implementing a capita.l management strategy in 2013 and 2012.
Excluding those effects, the Global Supplemental Benefits segmentt

effective tax rate was 24.0o/o in 2013, 24.60/o in 2012, and 27.3o/o in
2011. The continued decline in these rates reflects the favorable

effects of our capital manaBement strategy.

Results of Operations

Finucial Sumry
(In miltion)

Other Items Affecting Global Supplemental Benefits

Results

For our Global Supplemental Benefits segment, South Korea is the

single largest geographic market, generating 510/o of segmenr revenues

and 870/o of the segment earnings in 2013. Due to the concentration

of business in South Korea, the Global Supplemental Benefits

segment is exposed to potential losses resulting from economic,

regulatory and geopolitical developments in that country, as well as

Foreign currency movements affecting the South Korean currency, that
could have a significant impact on the segmentt results and our

consolidated financial results. In 2013, our operations in South Korea

represented 4% of Cignat total consolidated revenues and 10%o of
shareholders' net income.

Group Disability and Life Segment

Key factors for this segment are:

. premium growrh, including new business and cusromer retention;

' net investment income:

. benefits expense as a percentage ofearned prernium (loss rario); and

. other operating expense as a percentage of earned premiums and

fees (expense rario).

For the Yeus Ended December 31, Increre/(Decrease) Increce/(Decreroe)

2013 2012 20ll 2Ol3 vs.2012 2012 vs.20ll
Premiums and fees

Net investment income

Other revenues

l0o/o $

7

)\7

9

9%

3

Segmenr revenues ''1.' '1,/47:.; 3,409 3,148 338 l0 261 8

Benefits and expenses ,' 
'i5v: 

3,0t4 2,740 373 t2 274 t0

Income before tues 360 395 408 (35\ (9) (13) (3)

Income tug 101 116 fl3)33

$ 3,425 $ 3,I 09

321 .100

1

$ 2,857

291

$ 316

2l
I

SEGMENT EARNINGS 259 279 (20) \/t (r6) (5)

Less: special irens (after-tu) included in segmenr earnings:

Charg. for disabrliq clainrs regul;rory marrer 'Sec Nore 2J ro

rhe Conso|dared Fjnancial Sraremenrs) (51)

Charge for orgaoizational efficiency pLans (See Note 6 ro rhe

Consolidared Financial Sratemenrs) (1)

Complecion of IRS examination (See Nore l9 ro rhe

Consolidaced Financial Sratemenrs)

(2)

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS $ 3rr 281 $ 290 30

Realized investment net of tues $40 18 $ 227

Effective tu rate 28.10/o 29.4o/o 27.7o/o l.7o/o

Earnings Discussion:2013 compared to 2012

The decrease in segment earnings was primarily due to a charge

associated with a disability claims regulatory matter discussed further
in the Overview section of this MD&A. Adjusted income from
operations increased in 2013, reflecting a lower disabiliry loss ratio,

higher net lnvestment income and a lower expense ratio, partially
offset by a higher life loss ratio. Results in 2013 include the favorable

after-tax effect of reserve reviews of $60 million. Results in 2013 also

include the $29 million favorable after-tax ellect ofa higher discount

rate on claims incurred during 2013 as a result of reallocating higher

yielding assets to the disabiliry and life ponfolio. Results in 2012

include the $43 million after-tax favorable impact of reserve reviews.

The favorable impact ofrhe reserve reviews continues to reflect strong

operational performance by the disability claims management

operation as well as reserve assumptions consistenr with current

business and economic conditions.

CIGNA CORPOMTION - 2013 Form rl-K 49



PART II
ITEM 7. Managementt Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Earnings Discussion: 2012 compared to 2011

Segment earnings and adjusted income from operations decreased,

primarily attributable to a higher disabilicy loss ratio and higher

expense ratio, partially offser by a lower life loss rado and higher net

investment income. Results in 2012 include the $43 million after-tax

favorab.le impact of reserve reviews. Results in 2011 include the

$39 million after-tax favorable impact of reserve reviews offset by a

$7 -illion after-tax litigation accrual.

Reaenaes

Premiums andfees. The increases in both 2013 and in 2012 reflect

strong disabiliry and life new sdes, in-force growth and continued
stlong Persrstency.

Net inoestrnent income. The increases in both 2013 a.nd in 2012 are

tj:T::tt due to higher assets and higher partnership investment

Benefts and Expenses

The increase in 2013, compared with 2012, resulted from the

$77 million before-tax impact of the disabiliry claims regulatory
matter, premium growth in the disabiliry and life business and a
higher loss ratio in the life business, partially offset by a lower

disabiliry loss ratio and lower operating expense ratio. The higher life
loss ratio reflected higher new claim sizes. The lower disability loss

ratio is driven by reserve reviews and discount rate changes. The lower

expense ratio was driven by lower overhead. Benefits and expenses in
2013 included the before-tax favorable impact of reserve reyiews of
$84 million compared with $60 million in 2012. Benefits and

expenses in 2013 also included the before-tax favorable effect of
$40 million related to an increase in the discount rate for 2013
incr,rrred claims as a result of the reallocation of higher yielding assets

to the disabiliry and life porfolio.

The 2012 increase, compared with 2011, resulted from premium
growth in the disabiliry and life business, a higher loss ratio in the
disabiliry business and a higher operating expense ratio, partially offset

by a lower loss ratio in the life business. The higher disabiliry loss ratio
reflected less favorable claim experience primarily as a result ofhigher

new claims. The higher operating expense ratio was driven by higher
commissions and strategic information technology and claim office
investments. The lower life loss ratio primarily reflected lower new
claims. Benefits and expenses included the favorable impact ofreserve
studies of $60 million in 2012 as compared with the $59 million
favorable impact of reserve studies offset by a $10 million litigation
accrual in 2011.

Efectiue Thx Rate

In this segment, the efFective tax rate is generally lower than the federal

tax rate of 35o/o, primarily due to tax-exempt interest income on
bonds. The decline in the effective tax rare in 2013 compared with
2012 is due to the tax benefit reported in 2013 related to the
completion of the 2009-2010 tax audits. The increase in the effective

tax rate in 2012 compared with 201 I reflects the absence of rhe rax

benefit reported in 20ll related to the completion ofthe 2007-2008

tax audits.

Run-off Reinsurance Segment

Segment Description

Our reinsurance operations are an inactive business in run-offmode.

On February 4,2013, we eFfectively exited our Run-off GMDB and

GMIB business by entering into an agreement with Berkshire

Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska ("Berkshire") to
reinsure l00o/o of our future exposures for these businesses, net of
existing retrocession arrangements, up to a specified limit. See Note 7
to the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Introduction
section of this MD&A for addicional information.

'We exclude the results of the GMIB business from adjusted income
(loss) from operations because the fair value of GMIB assets and

liabilities is recalculated each quarter using updated capital market

assumpdons. Prior to the reinsurance transaction with Berkshire, the

resulting changes in fair value that were reported in shareholders' net

income were voladle and unpredictable. Beginning on February 4,

2013, changes in GMIB fair value due to non-performance risk are

reflected in realized investment gains or losses. Other net changes in
GMIB fair values are exoected to be minimal.
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(In millions) 2013 2012 20ll 2Ol3 vs2012 2012 vs.20ll

$ 21 $ 24 $ (20) (95)Vo $ (3) (r3)o/o

Results of Operations

Financial Summary

Net investment income

Other revenues .

Segment revenues

Benefirs and

Loss before income tu benefits

Income rax benefits

PART II
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For the Years Ended Decernber 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

r02 103 (83) (81)

80

(23)

727

(750)
(262)

1)4

405

(282)

o9)
050)
(262)

282

99

Segment loss

Less: results of GMIB business

Less: special items (after-tu) included in segmenr earnings:

Charee related to reinsurance rransaction

loss from

Redized investment , net of tues

Effective tax rate

Segment results for 2013 were significantly lower than 2012,

primarily due to the after-tax charge of $507 million related to the

reinsurance transacion with Berkshire. See Note 7 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for further information around

the loss on reinsurance.

Segment results improved, in 2012 compared to 2011 due to
significandy more favorable results for the GMIB business and lower

reserve strengthening for GMDB.

See the Benefits and Expenses section for further discussion of the

results of the GMIB and GMDB business, including the impact of the

February 4, 2013 reinsurance transaction.

/t
{ /ro\ { $23 79o/o $

$1 $4 $ 1l

r83

r64
(488)

(4)29

-%$
- o/o 35.1o/o 34.90/o

Net Inaestment Income

Net investmenc income decreased substantially in 2013 compared

with 2012, primarily anributable to selling or reallocating investment

assets as a result of the reinsurance transaction with Berkshire.

Other Reuenues

Other revenues consisted of gains and (losses) from futures and swap

contracts used in the GMDB and GMIB equiry and interest rate

hedge programs that were discontinued beginning February 4,2013.
The componenm were as follows:

GMDB - Equity Hedge Program

GMDB - Growth Interest Rate Hedge Program

GMIB - Equiry Hedge Program

These hedging programs generally produced losses when equity
markets and interest rates were rising and gains when equiry markets

and interest rates were falling. Amounts reflecting related changes in
liabilities for GMDB contacts were included in benefis and expenses

consistent with GAAP for a premium deficient book of business,

Benefits and Erpenses

Benefits and expenses were comprised of the following:

(In millions)

resulting in no effect on shareholders' net income (see below "Other

Benefits and Expenses"). Changes in liabilities for GMIB contracrs,

including the portion covered by the hedges, were recorded in GMIB
fair value (gain) loss.

2013 2012 20ll

fffi]li{lfift{frf,{fitl

2012 201 I
llo) $ (45)

) 5r
(16) 4

Total Other Revenues i

GMIB fair value (gain) loss

Other benefits and exoenses

Benefits and ex

GMIB fair ualue (gain) /oss. GMIB fair value results in 2013

reflected gains through February 4, 2013 from increases in underlying

4 405

account values and interest rates fully offset by the charge related to

the Februarv 4,2013 reinsurance transacuon.

(4r)
+)

234

17r
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GMIB fair value gains of $41 million for 2012 were primarily due to
the effect of increases in underlying account values, updates in the

claim exposure calculation, and a reduction in annuitization rates,

partially offset by a reduction in lapse rates and general declines in
interest rates.

Other Benfi* and Expetses are comprised of the following:

(In millior)

GMIB fair value losses of $234 million for 201I were primarily due to

a decline in both the interest rate used for projecting claim exposure
(7-year Tieasury rates) and the rate used for projecting market returns
and discounting (LIBOR swap curve).

2012 20rl
Results of GMDB equity and growth interest rate hedging programs

GMDB reserve srrengthening

Other GMDB, r accrdtion of discount

GMDB benefit expense

Other benefits and

Resahs of GMDB bedging plogrttms. Results in 2013 and 2012
reflected favorable equity market performance. The result in 201 I was

due to turbulent conditions in an overall declining equity market.

Results for 2013 are limited to market activiry prior to the hedge

programt discontinuance resulting from the reinsurance transaction

with Berkshire.

As explained in Other revenues above, these changes did not affect

shareholders' net income because they were offset by gains or losses on

futures contracts used to hedge equiry market and interest rate

performalce.

Reserue strergthening, The following highlights the impacts of
GMDB reserve strengthening:

The 2013 reserue sffengthening was driven by the reinsurance

transaction of February 4, 2013.

The 2012 reserve srrengthening was driven primarily by reducdons to
the lapse rate assumpdons, an update to management's consideration

of the anticipated impact of continued low shorcterm interesr rates,

and to a lesser extent, an increase to the volatility and correlation
assumptions, partially offset by favorable equity market conditions.

The 2011 reserve strengthening was driven primarily by volatiliry-
related impacs due to turbulent equity market conditions, an update

to management's consideration of the anticipated impact of the

continued low level of short-term interest rates, and the adverse

impacts of overall market declines, including an increase in the

provision for future partial surrenders and declines in the value of

171

contractholders' non-equiry investments such as bond funds, neither

of which are included in the hedge program.

Otber, ircluding o?erdting eq,erlres increased in 20 13 primarily due

to expenses associated with the reinsurance uansaction ofFebruary 4,

2013. The decrease in 2012 compared with 2011 was due to the

favorable impact of reserve studies and lower operating expenses.

Other Operations Segment

Segment Description

Cignat Other Operations segment includes the results of the

following businesses:

. corporate-owned life insurance ("COLI");

. deferred gains recognized from the sale of the retirement benefits

and individual life insurance and annuiry businesses; and

. run-off setdement annuity business.

COLI contributes the majoriry of earnings in Other Operations. The
COLI regulatory environmenc continues to evolve, with various

federal budget related proposals recommending changes in
policyholder tax treatment. Although regulatory and legislative

activiry could adversely impact our business and policyholders,

management does not expect the impact to materially affect our
results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

(105)

43

79

17

28

(14)

70

82

138

33
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Results of Operations

Financial Summary
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For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

2013 2012

100

388

55

2013 vs.2012 2012 vs.20ll
(14) (12)o/oPremiums and fees

Net investment income

Othel revenuis

Segmenr revenues

Benefits and

Income beFore taxes

Less: special items (after-tax) included in segment earnings:

Completion of IRS examination (See Note 19 to the

Consolidated Financial

AD INCOME FROM OPEMTIONS

Realized investment qains, net of taxes

Effective tu rate

The increase in segment earnings and adjusted income from
operations in 2013, compared with 2012, primarily resulted from a

lower effective tax rate due to the $14 million favorable impact of
completing the 2009-2010 IRS examinations during the third quarter

of 2013. See Note l9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information on the IRS examinations.

Segment earnings decreased in 2012 compared with 201 I, primarily
reflecting lower COLI interest margins and mortality gains and the

continued decline in deferred gain amortization associated with the

sold businesses. The effective tax rate in 201 I reflected the favorable

effect of compledng the 2007-2008 IRS examinations in 201I.

Premiams andfees reflect revenue primarily on universal and whole

life insurance policies in the COLI business. Premiums and fees

increased in 2013, compared with 2012, primarily due to strong

persistency, lower policyholder mortality credits and higher

transaction fees. Premiums and fees decreased in 2012, compared

with 2011 due to lower policyholder death benefit exposures.

4

$85$ l5o/o $

$6$ 450o/o $ (4) (67)o/o

24.60/o (l 9.80/o

Net inuesnnent income was essentially flat in 2013 compared with
2012. \n 2012. net investment income decreased comoared with
2011, primarily reflecting lower average yields.

Otber reumues decreased in 2013, compared with 2012 primarily
due co lower deferred gain amortization related to the sold retirement

benefits and individual life insurance and annuity businesses. Other
revenues were flar in 2012 compared with 2011.

Bnefi* and e4tmses increased in 2013 compared wich 2012,
primarily due to scheduled lump sum annuiry payments and the

expense to settle a tax sharing agreement with the buyer of the
retiremenr benefir business as a resulr of completing of the 2009 and

2010 IRS examinations. Also contributing to the increase was higher

amortization of deferred acquisition cosrs and higher claims

experience in COLI. Benefits and expenses decreased in 2012
compared with 20ll primarily due to favorable COLI claims

experience and lower policyholder death benefir coverage and the

absence of a charge recorded in the first quarter of 20 I I to reimburse

the buyer of the retirement benefits business wirh a portion of the tax

benefits resuldng from the completion of the 2007 and 2008 IRS

examinarion as required under a tax sharing agreement.

4o/o $ (r2) (3)

55

543
4r8

569

1>r

(t
(7)

6

Qij)
(33)

7

(3)

(2)

4

(6)r25

82

.4o/o

Corporate

Description

Corporate reflects amounts noc allocated to operating segments, such as net interest expense (defined as interest on corporate debt less net

nvestment rncome on lnvestments not suPpoftrng segment operations), inreresr on uncercain tax positions, cerrain litigation matters,
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intersegment eliminations, compensation cost for stock options, expense associated with our frozen pension plans and certain overhead and

project costs.

Financial Summary
For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

millions) 2013 2012 20ll 2013 vs.20l2 2Ol2 vs.20ll
Segment loss $(32e) $(184) $ 107 33o/o $ (145) (79)o/o

Less: special items (after-tax) included in segment loss:

Cost associated with HealthSpring acquisition (See Note 3
to the Consolidated Financial Staremencs)

Charges related to litigation matters (See Note 23 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements)

Completion of IRS examination (See Note i9 to the

Consolidated Financial

LOSS FROM OPEMIIONS 3o/o $

33

68

(33)

(68)

(t)

(68)

The decrease in Corporatet segment loss in 2013, compared with
2012, is primarily attributable to rhe absence of special item costs

associated with both litigation mafters and the HealthSpring

acquisition in 2012.

ln 2072, segment loss for Corporate was significantly higher than in
2011, primarily reflecting higher interest expense due to the

$2. I billion of long-term debt issued in the fourth quarter of 20 I I to

lLl;T ".t*Spring 
acquisition, and costs associated with litigation

Investment Assets
The following table presents our invested asset pordolio as of December 31,2013 and2012. Overall invested assets have declined during the year,

reflecting the funding ofthe Berkshire reinsurance transaction and the impact oIincreased market yields on asset valuations. These investments do

not include seDarate accounr assers.

2013 2012

$ 17,705

Equicy securities

Commercid mortgage loans

Policy loans

Real estate

Other long-term investments

Shon-term investments

TOTAL

Addirional information regarding our investment assets and related

accounting policies is included in Notes 2, 1 0, 1 1, 12, 13, 14 and, 17

to the Consolidated Financial Starements.

Fixed Maturities

Investments in fixed maturities include publicly traded and privately

placed debt securities, mortgage and other asset-backed securities,

ll1
2,851

1,50r

83

154

preferred stocks redeemable by the investor and hybrid and trading

securities. These investments are generally classified as available for
sale and are carried at fair value on our balance sheet. Additiond
information regarding valuation methodologies, key inputs and

controls is included in Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

lili:i'|6'

qn7

2,437
1 ?))

I 1,896

122

89

The following table reflects our fixed maturity portfolio by ryp. of issuer as of December 31, 2013 nd 2012.

n millions)

Federal government and agency

State and local governmenr

Foreign government

Corporate

Federal agency mortgage-backed

Orher mortgage-backed

Other asset-backed

TOTAL
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The fixed maturiry portfolio decreased approximately $1.2 billion
during 2013 driven by lower valuations due to an increase in market

yields and sales activiry supporting the funding of the Berlahire

reinsurance agreement. Although overall asset values are well in excess

of amortized cost, there are specific securities with amortized cost in
excess of fair value by $99 million in aggregate as of December 31,
2013. See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information.

As of December 31, 2013, $14.6 billion, or 88%o, of the fixed

maturities in our investment porrfolio were investment grade (Baa and

above, or equivalent), and the remaining $1.9 billion were below

investment grade. The majority of the bonds that are below

investment grade are rated at the higher end of the non-investment

grade spectrum. These qua.liry characteristics have not materially

changed during the year.

Corporate fixed maturities include private placement investments of
$4.5 billion that are generally less marketable rhan publicly-traded

bonds. However, yields on these investments tend to be higher than

yields on publicly-traded bonds with comparable credit risk. \We

perform a credit analysis of each issuer, diversifr investmenrs by
industry and issuer and require financial and other covenants thar
allow us to monitor issuers for deteriorating financial strength and

pursue remedial actions, if warranted. At December 31, 2013,
corporate fixed maturities include $383 million of investments in
companies that are domiciled or have significant business interests in
European countries with significant political or economic concerns
(Porugal, Italy, Ireland, Greece and Spain). These investmenrs have

an average quality rating ofBaa3 and are diversified by industry sector,

including approximately 2% invested in financial institutions.

Ve invest in high qualiry foreign government obligations, with an

average quality rating of Aa as of December 31, 2013. These

investments are primarily concentrated in Asia consistent with the

geographic distribution of the international business operations.

Foreign government obligations also include $178 million of
investments in European sovereign debt, none of which are in
countries with significant political or economic concerns.

Our investment in state and local government securities is diversified by issuer and geography with no single exposure greater than $32 million.
'We 

assess each issuer's credit qualiry based on a fundamental analysis of underlying financial inFormation and do not rely solely on statistical rating
organizations or monoline insurer guarantees. As of December 31, 2013, 97o/o of our investments in these securities were rated 43 or better
excluding guarantees by monoline bond insurers, consistent with the prior year. As of Decemb er 31,2013, approximately 63% or $ 1,340 million
ofour total investments in state and local government securities were guaranteed by monoline bond insurers, providing additional credit qualiry
support. The qualiry racings of these investments with and without this guaranteed support as of Decembe r 31,2013 were as Follows:

fu ofDecember 31,2013

Fair Value

Stare and local governmens

Total state and local

As of December 31,2013, our invesrments in other asset and

mortgage-backed securities totaling $1,037 million included

$463 million of private placement securities with an average qualiry

rating ofBaa3 that are guaranteed by monoline bond insurers. Qurliry
ratings without considering the guarantees for these other assec-

backed securities were not available.

Aaa

Aal-Aa3

A1-43

Baal-Baa3

Bal-Ba3

Not available

\J(lith

Guarantee

861 844

::.::,:,:,.:, , 321 310
:.:::.::::: A

As of December 31,2013, we had no direct investments in monoline bond insurers. Guarantees provided by various monoline bond insurers for
certain of our investments in state and local governments and other asset-backed securities as of Decembet 31,2013 were:

Guarantor
(In milliorc)

As of December 31,2013

Inditect

Narional Public Finance Guararree

Assured Guaranry Municipal Corp
AMBAC
Financial

Total

Insurance Co.
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Commercial Mortgage Loans

Our commercial mortgage loans are fixed rate loans, diversified by

properry rype, location and borrower. Loans are secured by high

quality commercial properties and are generally made at less than 757o

of the properry's value at origination of the loan. Property value, debt

service coverage, qualiry building tenancy and stabiliry of cash flows

are all important financial underwriting considerations. Ve hold no

direct residential mortgage loans and do not securitize or service

mortgage loans.

Ve completed an annual in depth review of our commercial mortgage

loan portfolio during the second quarter of 2013. This review

included an ana.lysis of each property's year-end 2072 financial

sarements, rent rolls, operating plans and budgets for 2013, a physical

inspection of the property and other pertinent factors. Based on this

review and subsequent fundings and repayments, the ponfoliot
average loan-to-value improved, to 640/o at December 31, 2013,
decreasing from 650/o as of December 31, 2012. The pordoliot
average debt service coverage ratio was estimated to be 1.62 at

December 31, 2013, an improvement from 1.56 as of December 3l,
2012.

Commercial real estate capital markets remain most active for well

leased, qualicy commercial real estate located in strong institutional
investment markets. The vast majority of properties securing the

mortgages in our mortgage portfolio possess these characteristics.
tVhile commercial real estate fundamentals continued to improve, the

improvement has varied across geographies and properry rypes.

The following table reflects the commercial mortgage loan portfolio as of Decembet 31,2013, summarized by loan-to-value ratios.

Loan-to-Value Distribution

Amortized Cost

l,oan-to-Value Ratios Senior Subordinated Total % of Mortgage Loans

Below 50%

50o/o to 59o/o

600/o ro 690/o

70o/o to 79o/o

80o/o to 89o/o

90o/o to 99o/o

100% or above

$ 260 $ 60 $ 320 l4o/o

730 - 730 32o/o

483 24 507 23o/o

192 - 192 8o/o

280 32 312 l4o/o

170 5 175 8o/o

16 - 16 7o/o

TOTAIJ $ 2,131 $ 2,252

As summarized above, $l2l million or 5o/o oF rhe commercial

mortgage loan portfolio is comprised of subordinated notes that were

fully underwritten and originated by us using our standard

underwriting procedures and are secured by first mortgage loans.

Senior interests in these first mortgage loans were then sold to other

institucional investors. This strategy allowed us to effectively utilize

our origination capabilities to underwrite high qualiry loans, limit
individual loan exposures, and achieve attractive risk adjusted yields.

In the event of a default, we would pursue remedies up to and

including foreclosure joindy with the holders of the senior interest,

ir:;,;;;;,, 
receive repayment only after satisfaction of the senior

The commercial mortgage loan portfolio contains approximately 120

loans, including five impaired loans with a carrying value totaling

$l l2 million that are classified as problem or porential problem loans.

Two of r.hese loans totaling $31 million are current based on

restructured terms and three loans totaling $81 million, net of
$8 million in reserves, are current. AII of the remaining loans continue

to perform under their contractual terms. 'W'e 
have $177 million of

loans maturing in the next twelve months. Given the qualiry and

diversity of the underlying real estate, positive debt service coverage

and significanc borrower cash investment averaging 300/o, we remain

confident that the vast majoriry of borrowers will continue to perform
as expected under the contract terms.

Other Long-term Investments

Our other long-term investments include $1,169 million in security

partnership and real estate funds as well as direct investments in real

estate joint ventures, The funds typically invest in mezzanine debt or
equiry ofprivately held companies (securities partnerships) and equiry

real estate. Given our subordinate position in the capital structure of
these underlying entities, we assume a higher level of risk for higher

expected returns. To mitigate risk, investments are diversified across

approximately 95 separate partnerships, and approximately 60 general

partners who manage one or more of these partnerships. Also, the

funds' underlying investments are diversified by industry sector or
properry rype, and geographic region. No single partnership

investment exceeds 7o/o of our securities and real estate partnership

portfolio.

Although the totd fair values ofinvestments exceeded their carrying

values as of December 31, 2013, the fair value of our ownership

interest in certain firnds that are carried at cost rilas less than carrying
value by $30 million. We expect to recover our carrying value over the

average remaining life of these investments of approximately 4 years.

Given rhe current econornic environment, future impairments are

possible; however, management does not expect those losses to have a

material effect on our results of operations, financial condition or
liouidiw.
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Problem and Potential Problem Investments

"Problem'bonds and commercial mortgage loans are either

delinquent by 60 days or more or have been restructured as to terms,

including concessions by us [or modification ofinterest rate, principal
payment or maturity date. "Potential problem" bonds and commercia-l

mortgage loans are considered current (no payment more than

59 days past due), but management believes they have certain

characteristics that increase the likelihood that they may become

problems. The characteristics management considers include, but are

not limited to, the following:

. request from the borrower for restructuring;

. principal or interest payments past due by more than 30 but fewer

than 60 days;

The following table shows problem and potential problem investments at amortized cost, net of valuation reserves and write-downs:

December 31,2013 Decembet 31,20L2

Gross Reserve Gross Reserve Net

Problem bonds

Problem commercial mortgage loans (l)

Foreclosed red estate

TOTAL PROBLEM IIWESTMENTS

Potendal problem bonds

Porenrial oroblem commercial

Investment Oudook

Financial markets in rhe United States continued to stabilize during
2013; however, fixed income asset values declined during the year due

to rising interest rates. In early 2014, rhere has been volatiliry in
emerging markets around the globe. Because our domestic and foreign

operations have limited exposure to investment securities in these

markets, we do not expecr this volatllity to have a significant effect on

resulm ofoperarions, liquidiry or financial condition. Future realized

and unrealized investment results will be driven largely by market

conditions that exist when a transaction occurs or at the reporting
date. These future conditions are not reasonablv oredictable. 'N?'e

. downgrade in credir rating;

. collateral losses on asset-backed securities: and

. for commercial mortgages, deterioration of debt service coverage

below 1.0 or value declines resulting in estimated loan-to-value

ratios increasing to 100%o or more.

\Ve recognize interest income on problem bonds and commercial

mortgage loans only when payment is actually received because of the

risk profile of the underlying investment. The amount that would
have been reflected in net income if interest on non-accrual

investments had been recognized in accordance with the original
terms was not significant for 2013 or 2072.

35 $ (17) $ 18

t04 (16) 88

29-29
168 $ r35

(e) $ zr(7) rr5

$ (13)

(1)

believe that the vast majority of our fixed maturity investments will
continue to perform under their contractual terms and the

commercial mortgage loan portfolio is positioned to perform well due

to its solid aggregate loan-to-value ratio and strong debt service

coverage. Based on our strategy to match the duration of invested

assets to the duration of insurance and contractholder liabilities, we

expect to hold a significant portion ofthese assets for the long term.

Although future impairment losses resulting from credit deterioration

and interest rate movements remain possible, we do not expect these

losses to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
liquidiry.

30$
162Ioans

TOTAL POTENTIAL PROBLEM INVESTMENTS $ r92 $ (ro $ 176

(1)AtDecemberjI,20I3,induded$7millionandatDecember31,20]2,incIuded$29millionofrrtrucnredloauclutifedinotherIong-teminae'tmit'thatwere?
com merc ia I mo r t gage lo ans.

Net problem and potential problem investments representing approximately 1olo of total investments, excluding policy loans at December 31,

2013, decreased by $96 million from December 31, 2012, primarily reflecting payoff activiry.

Included in after-tax realized investment gains (losses) were increases in valuation reserves related to commercial mortgage loans and

other-than-temporary impairments on fixed maturities and partnership investments as follows:

On 2013 2012

Credit-related (r)

Other

TOTAL
(1) Tbere uere no credit loses on fxed matuities for whicb a portion ofthe impairment wu recognized in other comprehensive income.
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Market Risk

Financial Instruments

Our assers and liabilities include financial instruments subiect to the

risk of potential losses from adverse changes in market rates and

prices. Our primary market risk exposures are:

. Interest-rate rish on fixed-rate, medium-term instruments.

Changes in market interest rates affect the value of instruments that

promise a fixed return and our employee pension liabilides.

. Foreign carreflc! exchange rate risb of the U.S. dollar primarily to

the South Korean won, Euro, British pound, Taiwan dollar, Chinese

yran renminbi and Ti-rrkish lira. An unfavorable change in exchange

rates reduces the carrying value ofnet assets denominated in foreign

currencies.

\(i'e predominantly rely on three techniques to manage our exposure

to market risk:

. Inaesturentlliability matcbing. \(i'e generdly select investment

assets with characteristics (such as duration, yield, currency and

liquidiry) rhat correspond to the underlying characteristics of our
related insurance and contractholder liabilities so that we can match

the investments to our obligations. Shorter-term investments

support generally shorter-term life and health liabilities.

Medium-term, fixed-rate investments suppoft interest-sensitive and

heahh liabilities. fonger-term investments generally support

products with longer pay out periods such as annuities and

long-term disability liabilities.

. Use of local carrencies for foretgn operations, Ve generally

conduct our international business through foreign operating

entities that maintain assets and liabilities in local currencies. \Vhile

this technique does not reduce foreign currency exposure on our net

assers, it substantially limits exchange rate risk to those net assets.

. Use of dcrioatfues, Ve generally use derivative financial
instruments to minimize certain market risks.

See Notes 2(C) and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information about financial instruments, including
derivative fi nancial instrumenrs.

Effect of Market Fluctuations

The examples that follow illustrate the adverse effect ofhypothetical
changes in market rates or prices on the fair value ofcertain financial

instruments including:

. a hypothetical increase in market interest rates, primarily for fixed

maturities and commercial mortgage loans, partially offset by
liabilities for long-term debt; and

. a hypothetical strengthening ofthe U.S. dollar to foreign currencies,

primarily for the net assets of foreign subsidiaries denominated in a

foreign currency.

Management believes that actual results could differ materially from
these examples because:

. these examples were dweloped using estimates and assumptions;

. changes in the fair values ofall insurance-related assets and liabilides

have been excluded because their primary risks are insurance rather

than market risk;

. changes in the fair values of investments recorded using the equity
method of accounting and liabilities for pension and other

postretirement and postemployment benefit plans (and related

assets) have been excluded, consistent with the disclosure guidance;

and

. changes in the fair values of other significant assets and liabilities
such as goodwill, deferred policy acquisition costs, taxes, and various

accrued liabilities have been excluded; because they are not financial

instruments, their primary risks are other than market risk.

Our Management of Market Risla

The effects ofhypothetical changes in market rates or prices on the fair values ofcertain ofour financial instruments, subject to the exclus.ions

noted above (particularly insurance liabilities), would have been as follows as of December 31 (the effects of the GMIB business are presented as

though our 2013 reinsurance agreement was effective as of Decembe r 31,2012):

Ioss in fair value

Market scenario for certain non-insurance Gnancial instruments

100 basis ooint increase in intere$ rares

in U.S. dollar to currencles

The effecr ofa hypothedcal increase in interest rates was determined

by estimating the present value of future cash flows using various

models, primarily duration modeling. The impact of a hypothedcal

increase to interest rates at December 3l,2Ol3 was less than that at

December 31, 2012 reflecting asset sales (primarily to fund the

reinsurance transaction with Berlshire) and an increase in market

yields, resulting in a decrease in fair values for certain ofour financial

instruments, primarily fixed marurities, commercial mortgage loans,

and long-term debt.
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The effect ofa hypothetical strengthening ofthe U.S. dollar relative to

the foreign currencies held by us was estimated to be l0%o of the U.S.

dollar equivalent fair value. Our foreign operations hold investment

assets, such as fixed maturities, cash, and cash equivalents, that are

generally invested in the currenry of the related liabilities. Due to the

increase in the amount of these investments in2013 that are primarily
denominated in the South Korean won, the effect of a hypothetical

l0% strengthening in U.S. dollar to foreign currencies at

December 31,2013 was greater than that effect at December 31,
20t2.

2013 2012

$

$
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Market Risk
ITEM 7L.Qo*titative and Qualitative Disclosures About

The information contained under the caption "Market Risli' in the MD&A section of this Form l0-K is incorporated by reference.
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To the Board of Directors
and Shareholders of Cigna Corporation

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income
and changes in total equiry and cash flows present fairly, in all marerial
respects, the financial position of Cigna Corporation and its

subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each ofthe three years in the period
ended December 31,2013 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - In*grated
Framework 1992 issted by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Tieadway Commission (COSO). The
Companyt management is responsible for these financial statemenrs,

for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment ofthe effectiveness ofinternal control over financial
reporting, included in Management's Annual Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our
responsibiliry is to express opinions on these financial statements and

on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on
our integrated audits. tWe conducted our audirs in accordance wirh
the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective

internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all macerial

respects. Our audits of the financial statemenrs included examining,
on a test basis, widence suppordng the amounts and disclosures in the
financial staremens, assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over

financial reporting included obraining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk rhat a material

weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness ofinternal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits
also included performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabiliry of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial sratements for
external purposes in accordance with generdly accepted accounring
principles. A companys internal conrrol over financial reporring
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions ofthe assets ofthe company;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation offinancial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of managemenc and directors of the company; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detecdon of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the

companyt assets that could have a material effecr on rhe financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. AIso, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to firture periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 27,2014

of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Income

(In milliorc, share omoants)

Revenues

Premiums and fees

Net inyestment income

Mail order pharmary revenues

Other revenues

Realized investment gains (losses):

Other-than-tempoiary impairments on fixed maturities, net

Other realized investment

Tota] realired inyestment qains

TOTAL REVENUES

Benefits and Expenses

Global Health Care medical claims expense

Other benefit expenses

Mail order pharmacy cost of goods sold

GMIB fair value (gain) loss

Other operati

TOTAL BENEFITS AND EXPENSES

Income before Income Taxes

Income taxes:

Current

Deferred

TOTAL TAXES

Net Incone
Less: Net Income Attributable to

STIAXEHOLDERS' NET INCOME

Shareholders' Net Income Per Share:

Basic

Diluted

Dividends Declared Per Share

iszilffi

'*.,&gtii
lrul

lt l.,

:

$ 26,187

1,r44
1,623

t2l

(11)

55

44

l19

26)

88

DL

(

14,228

3,672
r,328

(41)

/.4>>

2,477 1,876

lrlr' irrl:::i:tt i:::

r34 217

853 615

1,624

I
r,623

D

D

$

5.70 4.O)

).ol

0.04

$

$

4.59

0.04

719

r,26r
I

$

For the years ended December 31,

The accompanying Notet to tbe Consolidated Financial Statement! are an integral part of these rtatemeiltl
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Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the years ended December 31,
(ln milliou .Fctt ofr thde

Shareholders' net income

Shareholders' other comprehensive income (loss):

Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on securities:

Fixed maturities

Ner unrealized appreciadon (depreciation) on securities

Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation), derivatives

Net rranslation of foreign currencies

Posuetiremenr benefits

Shareholders' other

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interese

Net income anributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to other noncontrolling interest

208

I
(22)

(360)

(ioss)Inslve lncome

tncome
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Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In millions, share amornts)

ASSETS

Inves t m ents:

Fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cost, $15,273; $15,481)

Equity securities, at fair value (cost, $146; $i21)
Commercial mortgage loans

Policy loans

Real estate

PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

$ t7,705
111

2,85\
1,501

83
I ?<S

As of December 31,

Other long-rerm investments

Short-term investments

Tota.l investments

Cash and cash equivalena

Accrued investrnenr income

Premiums, accounts and notes receivable, net

Reinsurance recoverables

Deferred poliry acquisition costs

Properry and equipment

Deferred income taxes, net

Goodwill
Other assets, including other intangibles

account ass€ts

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Contractholder deposit funds

Fucure policy benefits

Unpaid claims and claim expenses

Global Health Care medicd claims oayable

Unearned oremiums and fees

Total insurance and contractholder liabilities

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

Short-term debr

Lons-term debr

TOTAI, LIABILITIES

Contingencies - Note 23

Redeemable noncontrolling interest

SITAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock (par value per share, $0.25; shares issued; 366; authorized,r600)

Additional paid-in capital

Ner unrealized appreciation, fixed maturities
Ner unrealized appreciation, equiry securities

Ner unrealized depreciation, derivatives

Ner rranslarion of foreign currencies

Postretirement benefits liabiliw adiustment

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Rerained earnings

less:

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS'

Noncontrolline interest

Total

Toral liabilities and

STIAXEHOLDERS' PER STIARE

I

tr4

92
1 ?q<

(671)

12,330

6,277)

9,769

$ 34.18

154

23,660

2,978

$ 8,508

9,265

258

r,777
6,256

1,r98
1,t20

5/4
6,001

o,oo/
20r

4,986

7,757

7.757

4,062

1,856

549

24,240

D ddj
4

(28)

69

The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statcmentt are an integral part of tl)ere ttdtemens.
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Cigna Corporation
Statement of Changes in Total Equity

Accumulatcd

Additional Other Redeemable

For the yer ended December 31, Cornmon Paid-in C,omprehensivc Retained liusury ShareholderJ frf6a6el6elling Toal Nonontrclling
(ln milliou, .xc.gt po sharc amor*tt) Stock Capital Inss Eamings Srock Equity Interert Equity InteErt

Balance at Ianuary 1, 2011 $ 88 $ 2,534 $ (614) $ 9,590 $(5,242) $ 6,356 $ 18 $ 6,374 $

20ll Activity:
Issuance of common srock

Effecr of issuing stock for employee

benefir plans

Effects of acquisition of noncontrolling

lntercst

Other comprehensive (loss)

Ner income

Common dividends declared (per share:

$0.04)

Repurchase of common stock

6296296254

(r73)

(52)

r,260

(11)

't56

2

(r73)

1,260

(1 1)

(225)
(11)

(225)

156

(r9) (17)

(r73)

I r,261

(225',)

BAI]INCE AT DECEMBER 3r,20rr 92 3,188 087t rO,787 6,286\ 7,994 - 7,994

2012 Activitt4
Effecr of issuing stock for employee

benefit plans

Effects of acquisition ofjoint venture

Other comprehensive income

Net income
Common dividends declared (per share:

$0.04)

107 (69) 2r7

ll6
1,623

(11)

,{<

l16
L,623

(11)

lr6
t,623

/r I\
(208)

ill
2

I

Repurchase of common stock (208) (208)

BAI.ANCE AT DECEMBER 3T, 2OT2

2013 Activit 4

Effect of issuing stock for employee

benefit plans

Effects of acquisition of joint venture

Orher compreheroive income (loss)

Net inome
Common dividends declared (per share:

$0.04)
Repurchase of common stock

Distribution to noncontrolline interesr

BAI]INCE AT DECEMBER 3I

(67r) I

Tlte accompanying Notes to tbe Couokdztcd Financial Sutment lrc an integrzl part of th* ttatmcne.
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For dre years ended Decembet 31,

?ART II
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Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustmena to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Redized invesrment gains
Deferred income taxes

Gains on sales of businesses

Net changes in assets and liabilities, ner of non-operating effects:

Premiums, accounts and notes receivable

Reinsurance recoverables

Deferred policy acquisition costs

Other assets

Insurance liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Current income taxes

Cash ued to exit the Run-off Reinsurance Business

Proceeds from sales of mortgage loans held for sale

Other, net

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPEMIING ACTTVITIES

Cash Flows from Investing Activitis
Proceeds from investments sold:

Fixed maturities
Equity securities

Orher (primarily short-rerm and orher long-term investmencs)

Investment maturities and repayments:
Fixed maturities
Equity securities

Commercial mortgage loans
Investments purchased or originated.:

Fixed maturities
Equiry securities

Commercial mortgage loans

Other (primarily short-term and other long-term investments)
Properry and equipment purchases

Acquisitions, ner of cash acquired
Other

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / III\fESTING ACTMTIES

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Deposits and interest credited to contractholder deposic funds
'\fithdrawals and benefit payments from conractholder deposit funds
Change in cash overdraft positron
Net change in short-term debt
Net proceeds on issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Repurchase of common stock
Issuance of common stock
Common dividends paid
Distribucion to redeemable noncontrollins interest

NET CASH / PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTTVITIES

Effect of on cash and cash eoui

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beeinning of

Cash and esh ecuivalents. end of

r,624

560
(44)
r34
(18)

. (7r)
62

(1 5e)

3r
245

(132)

1,507

722

(2,326)
(8)

(364)
(82 1)

(408)
(3,58 l)

(1,264)
t<
t8

(326)
(208)

121

(50)

r9
(r2e)
(307)

154
344

(246)

345
(62)
217
(25)

6r
28

583
8

831

1,491

830
r6

1,915

r,265
30

638

(2,877)
(20)

(487)
(2,056)

(422)
(102)

1,323
( 1,1 78)

(l)

z,o/ D

(451)
(225)

734

)4

(r,712)
4,690

$ 2,978

,085
,605

,690

3

l
4

$ 633

$ l8t
$ o))
$ 248

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Information:
Income taxes paid, net of refunds
Interest oaid

$,,,::::::::,:,,, 5.l9,,
$ 265

The accompanying Notes to the Coullidated Financial Statmenr tre an integral part of thae ttatmentl
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 Description of Business

Cigna Corporation and its subsidiaries (either individually or
collectively referred to as "Cigna", "the Company'', "we", or'bur") is a

global health services organization with a mission to help its

customers improve their health, well-being and sense of securiry, Its

insurance subsidiaries a.re malor providers of medical, dental,

disabiliry life and accident insurance and related products and

services, the majoriry of which are offered through employers and

other groups (e.g. governmental and non-governmental organizations,

unions and associations). Cigna also offers Medicare and Medicaid
products and health, life and accident insurance coverages primarily ro

individuals in the U.S. and selected international markets. In addition
to its ongoing operations described above, Cigna also has certain

run-off operations, including a Run-off Reinsurance segment.

NOTE 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Cigna

Corporation and its subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and

accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

These Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in
conformiry with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America ('GAAP). Amounts recorded in the

Consolidated Financial Statement3 necessarily reflect managementt

estimates and assumptions about medical costs, investment valuation,

interest rates and other factors. Significant estimates are discussed

throughout these Notes; however, actual results could differ from
those estimates. The impact of a change in estimate is generally

included in earnings in the period of adjustment. Certain

reclassifications have been made to orior vear arnounts to conform to
the current presentation,

In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company
has evaluated events that occurred benveen the balance sheet date and

February 27, 2014.

Variabh interest entities. As of December 31,2013 and 2012 the
Company determined it was not a primary beneficiary in any materid
variable interest entities.

Changes in Accounting
Pronouncements

Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accamukted Other
Comprebensiae Ircome (AOCry (Accoanting Standarb U2date
(ASU') 2013-02). Effective Jrnua.y l, 2013, the Company
adopted updated guidance from the Financial Accounting Standards

Board ("FASB") on reporting items of AOCI reclassified to net

income. The updated guidance requires disclosures of the effect of
items reclassified out ofAOCI into net income on each individual line
item in the statement of income. See Note 17 for the Companys

updated disclosures.
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B.

Dischsares aboat OftettingAssets and Liabilities (ASU 201 I-11).
The FASBT requirements to disclose information on both a gross and

net basis for certain derivatives, repurchase and reverse repurchase

agreements, and securities borrowing and lending uansactions that are

either offset in accordance with specific criteria or subject to a master

netting or similar arrangement became effective January 1, 2013,
There were no effects to the Companyt financial statements because

no tansactions or arrangements were subject to these new disclosure

requrfements.

Inuestmmt Company Accounting (ASU 2013-08),The FASB issued

accounting guidance to change the criteria for reporting as an

investment company, clarifr the fair value measurement used by an

investment company and require addidonal disclosures. This
guidance also confirms that parent company accounting for an

investment company should reflect fair value accounting and is
effective beginning on January 1,2014. Adoption of this standard is

l;:..J::::a 
to have a material impact on the Company's financid

Fees Paid to the Federal Goternment by Heahb Irsurers (ASU

2011-06). In 2011, the FASB issued accounting guidance for the

health insurance industry assessment (the "fee") mandated by the

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 ("Heal*r Care

Reform'). The fee will be levied on health insurers beginning in2014
based on a ratio of an insurert net health insurance premiums written
for the previous calendar year compared to the U.S. hea.lth insurance

indusrry total. In addition, because these fees will generally not be tax

deductible, the Companyt effective tar( rate is expected to increase

beginning in 2014. Under the guidance, the liabiliry for the fee will be

estimated and recorded in full each year beginning in 2014 when

health insurance is first provided. A corresponding deferred cost will
be recorded and amortized over the calendar year. The fee is expected

to be approximately $230 million in 2014: $130 million related to the

commercial business and $100 million related to the Medicare

business. The Company anticipates recovering most of the indusrry
fee related to our commercial business through rate increases. For the

Companys Medicare business, although we expect to partially
mitigate the effect ofthe fee through 2014 benefit changes and prices,



the Company anticipates that its impact on earnings will be more

significant than it will be for our commercial business.

Defened acqaisition costs. Effective January l,2012, the Company
adopted the FASB's amended guidance (ASU 2010-26) on accounting

for costs to acquire or renew insurance contracc. This guidance

requires certain sales compensation and telemarketing costs related to
unsuccessful efforts and any indirect costs to be expensed as incurred.

The Companyt deferred acquisition costs arise from sales and renewal

activities primarily in its Global Supplemental Benefits segment. This
amended guidance was implemented in 2012 through reuospective

adjustment of comparative prior periods.

Presmtation of Comprebensioe Income. Effective J*urty 1,2012,
the Company adopted the FASBT amended guidance (ASU 201l-05)
that requires presenting net income and other comprehensive income

in either a single continuous statement or in cwo separate, but
consecutive statements. Neither measurement of comprehensive

income nor disclosure requirements for reclassification adiustments

between other comprehenriv. in.o-. and net income were affected

by this amended guidance. The Company has elected to present a

separate statement of comprehensive income following the statement

ofincome and has retrospectively adjusted prior periods to conform to
the new presentation, as required.

Ammdments to Fair Value Measurement and Disclosare. Effective

Janrary l, 2012, the Company adopted the FASB's amended

guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure (ASU 2011-04)

on a prospective basis. A key objective was to achieve common fair
value measurement and disclosure requirements between GAAP and

IFRS. The amended guidance changes certain fair value measurement

principles and expands required disclosures to include quantitative

and qualitative information about unobservable inputs in Level 3
measurements and leveling for financial instruments not carried at fair
value in the financial statements. Upon adoption, there were no effects

on the Companyt fair value measurements. See Note 10 for expanded

fair value disclosures.

C. Investments

Fixed matuities and equity secuities. Most fixed maturities
(including bonds, mortgage and other asset-backed securities and

preferred stocks redeemable by the investor) and some equiry

securities are classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value

with changes in fair value recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders' equiry. The
Company records impairment losses in net income for fixed

maurities with fair value below amortized cost that meet either of the
following conditions:

. If the Company intends to sell or determines that it is more likely
than not to be required to sell these fixed maturities before their fair
values recover, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess ofthe
amortized cost over fair value.

. If the net present value of projected furure cash flows of a fixed

maturiry (based on qualitacive and quantitative factors, including
the probabiliry of default, and the estimated timing and amount of
recovery) is below the amortized cost basis, that difference is

recognized as an impairment loss. For mortgage and assec-backed
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securities, estimated future cash flows are also based on assumptions

about the collateral attributes including prepayment speeds, defaulc

rates and changes in value.

Commercial mortgoge loans. These loans are made exclusively to
commercial borrowers at a fixed rate of interest. Commercid
mortgage Ioans are carried at unpaid principal balances or, ifirnpaired,
the lower ofunpaid principal or fair value ofthe underlying real estate.

If the fair value of the underlying real estate is less than unpaid

principal of an impaired loan, a valuation reserve is recorded and

adjusted each period for changes in fair value. Commercial mortgage

loans are considered impaired when it is probable that the Company
will not collect amounts due according to the terms of the original
loan agreement. The Company monitors credit risk and assesses the

impairment of loans individually and on a consistent basis For all loans

in the portfolio. The Company estimates the fair value of the

underlying real estate using internal valuations generally based on

discounted cash flow analyses. Certain commercial mortgage loans

without valuation reserves are considered impaired because the

Company will not collect all interest due according to the terms of the

original aSreements; howeve! the Company expects to recover the

unpaid principal because it is less than the fair value ofthe underlying
real estate.

Policy loans. Policy loans are carried at unpaid principal balances plus

accumulated interest, the total of which approximates fair value. The
loans are collateralized by life insurance policy cash values and

therefore have no exposure to credit loss, Interest rates are reset

annually based on an index.

fual esute. The Company carries investment real estate at

depreciated cost less any write downs to fair value due to impairment
and assesses impairment when cash flows indicate that the carrying

value may not be recoverable. Depreciation is generally recorded using

the straightJine method based on the estimated useful life of each

asset. Investment real estate as of December 3L,2013 and 2012 is

expected to be held longer than one year and includes real estate

acquired through the foreclosure of commercial mortgage loans.

Othn long-term investnents, Other long-term investments include

investments in unconsolidated entities. These entities include certain

limited partnerships and limited liability companies holding real

estate, securities or loans. These investments are carried at cost plus

the Companys ownership percentage of reported income or loss in
cases where the Company has significant influence, otherwise the

investment is carried at cost. Income from certain entities is reported

on a one quarter lag depending on when their financial information is

received. Also included in other long-term investments are loans to

unconsolidated real estate entities secured by the equiry interests of
these entities and carried at unpaid principal balances (rnezzanine

loans). Other long-term investments are considered impaired, and

written down to rheir fair value, when cash flows indicate that the

carrying value may not be recoverable. Fair value is generally

determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

Additionally, other long-term investments include interest rate and

foreign currency swaps carried at fair value. See Note 12 for
information on the Companyt accounting policies for these derivative

financial instruments.
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Short-tetm ;rrvestmerrts. Investments with maturities of greater than

90 days but less than one year from time ofpurchase are classified as

short-term, available for sale and carried at fair value, which
approximates cost.

Deritatioe financial instruments. The Company applies hedge

accounting when derivatives are designated, qualify and are highly
effective as hedges. Effectiveness is formally assessed and documented

at inception and each period throughout the life of a hedge using

various quantitative methods appropriate for each hedge, induding
regression analysis and dollar offset. Under hedge accounting, the

changes in fair value ofthe derivative and the hedged risk are generally

recognized together and offset each other when reported in
shareholders' net income.

The Company accounts for derivative instruments as follows:

. Derivatives are reported on the balance sheet at fair value with
changes in fair values reported in shareholders' net income or
accumulated other comprehensive income.

. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that hedge market risk

related to future cash flows and that qualifr for hedge accounting are

reported in accumulated other comprehensive income ("cash flow
hedges").

. Changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument may not always

equal changes in the fair value of the hedged item (referred to as

"hedge ineffectiveness"). The Company generally reports hedge

ineffecriveness in realized investmenr gains and losses.

. On early termination, the changes in fair value of derivarives that
qualified for hedge accounting are reported in shareholders' net
income (generally as part of realized investment gains and losses).

Net inaestment income. When interest and principal payments on
investments are current, the Company recognizes interest income

when it is earned. The Company recognizes interest income on a cash

basis when interest payments are delinquent based on contractual

terms or when certain terms (interest rate or maturity date) of the

investment have been restructured.

Inaestmerrt gains and losses, Realized investment gains and losses are

based on specificzlly identified assets and result from sales, investment

asset write-downs, changes in the fair values ofcertain derivatives and
changes in valuation reserves on fixed maturities and commercial

morrgage loans.

Unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturiries and equiry securities

carried at fair value and certain derivatives are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of deferred

income taxes and amounts required to adjust future policy benefits For

the run-off settlement annuiry business.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of short-term investments with maturities of
three months or less from the time of purchase. These insuuments are

classified as held to maturiw and carried at amortized cost. The

Company reclassifies cash overdraft positions to accounts payable,

accrued expenses and other liabilides when the legal right of offset

does not exist.

E. Premiums, Accounts and Notes
Receivable and Reinsurance

Recoverables

Premiums, accounts and notes receivable are reported net of an

allowance for doubtful accounts of $43 million as of December 31,

2013 and $51 million as of December 31, 2072. Reinsurance

recoverables are estimates of amounts that the Company will receive

from reinsurers and are recorded net ofan allowance for unrecoverable

reinsurance of $4 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. The
Company esdmates these allowances for doubtful accounts and

unrecoverable reinsurance using managementt best estimates of
collectabiliry taking into consideration the age of the outstanding

amounts, historical collection patterns and other economic factors.

F. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Acquisition cosa eligible for deferral include incremental, direct costs

of acquisirion of new or renewal insurance contracts and other costs

directly related to successful contract acquisition. Examples of
deferrable costs include commissions, sales compensation and

benefits, policy issuance and underwriting costs and premium taxes.

The Company records acquisition costs differendy depending on the

product line. Acquisition costs for:

. Utiaersal W products 
^re 

deferred and amortized in proportion to
the present value of total esdmated gross profits over the expected

lives of the contracts.

. Sttpplemental heahh, hfe and accident btsrrance (pimafly
indiaidual produc*) and group beahb and accident insurance
producb arc deferred and amortized, generally in proportion to the

ratio of periodic revenue to the esdmated total revenues over the

contract periods.

. Other Produdts are expensed as incurred.

Deferred policy acquisition costs also include the value of business

acquired with the supplemental benefits business in2012. See Note 3
for additional information.

Each year, deferred policy acquisition costs are tested for
recoverability. For universal life and other individual products,

management estimates the present value of future revenues less

expected payments. For group health and accident insurance

products, management estimates the sum of unearned premiums and

anticipated net investment income less future expected claims and

related costs. If management's estimates of these sums are less than the

deferred costs, the Company reduces deferred policy acquisition costs

and records an expense. The Company recorded amortization for
policy acquisition costs of $255 million in 2013, $218 million in
2012 and, $259 million in 2011 in othet operating expenses.
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G. Property and Equipment

Properry and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated

depreciation. \flhen applicable, cost inc[udes interest, real estate taxes

and other costs incurred during conscruction. Also included in this

category is internal-use software that is acquired, developed or

modified solely to meet the Companyt internal needs, with no plan co

marker externally. Coss directly related to acquiring, developing or

modifring internal-use software are capitalized.

The Company calculates depreciation and amortization principally

using the straightJine method generally based on the estimated useful

life of each asset as follows: buildings and improvements, 10 to
40 years; purchased sofrware, one to five years; internally developed

software, three to seven years; and furniture and equipment (including

computer equipment), three to l0 years. Improvements to leased

facilities are depreciated over the remaining lease term or the

estimated life of the improvement. The Company considers events

and circumstances that would indicate the carrying value ofproperry,

equipment or capitalized software might not be recoverable. If the

Company determines the carrying value of any of these assets is nor

recoverable, an impairment charge is recorded. See Note 8 for
additional in[ormation.

H. Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess ofthe cost ofbusinesses acquired over

the fair value oftheir net assets. The resulting goodwill is assigned to
those reporting units expected to realize cash flows from the

acquisition, allocated to reporting units based on relative fair values

and reported in the Global Health Care segment ($5.7 billion) and

the Global Supplemental Benefits segment ($340 million). The

Company evaluates goodwill for impairment at least annually during
the third quarter at the reporting unit level and writes it down through
results of operations if impaired. Fair value of a reporting unit is

generally estimated based on a discounted cash flow analysis using

assumprions that the Company believes a hypothetical market

participant would use to determine a current transaction price. The

significant assumptions and estimates used in determining fair value

include the discount rate and future cash flows. A range ofdiscount
rates is used that corresponds with the reporting unitt weighted

average cost of capital, consistent with that used for investment

decisions considering the specific and detailed operating plans and

strategies within the reporting units. In 2013, the resulting discounted

cash flow analyses indicated that estimated fair values for the reporting
units significantly exceeded their carrying values, including goodwill
and other intangibles. Our Cigna-HealthSpring business contracts

with CMS and various state governmental agencies to provide

managed health care services, including Medicare Advantage plans

and Medicare-approved prescription drug plans. Revenues from the

Medicare programs are dependent, in whole or in part, upon annual

funding from the federal government through CMS. Funding for
these programs is dependent on many factors including general

economic conditions, continuing government efforts to contain

health care costs and budgetary constraints at the federal level and

general political issues and priorities. Future changes in the funding
for these programs by the federal Bovernment could substantidly
reduce our revenues and profitabiliry and have a significant impact on
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the fair value of this reporting unit. See Note 8 for additional
information.

I. Other Assets, including Other
Intangibles

Other assets primarily consist of guaranteed minimum income

benefits ("GMIB) assets and various insurance-related assets. The
Companys other intangible assets include purchased customer and

producer relationships, provider nerworls, and uademarks, The
Company amortizes other intangibles on an accelerated or
straightJine basis over periods from 1 to 30 years. Management

revises amortization periods if it believes there has been a change in
the length of time that an intangible asset will continue ro have value.

Costs incurred to renew or extend the terms of these intangible asses

are generally expensed as incurred. See Notes 8 and l0 for addidonal

information.

t. Separate Account Assets and Liabilities

Separate account assets and liabilities are contractholder funds

maintained in accounts with specific investment objectives. The assets

ofthese accounts are legally segregated and are noc subject to claims

that arise out ofany ofthe Company's other businesses. These separate

account assets are carried at fair value with equal amounts for related

separate account liabilities. The investment income, gains and losses

ofthese accounts generally accrue to the contractholders and, together

with their deposits and withdrawals, are excluded from the Company's

Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flows. Fees and charges

earned for asset management or administrative services and mortdiry
risks are reported in premiums and fees.

K. Contractholder Deposit Funds

Liabilities for contractholder deposit funds primarily include deposits

received from customers for investment-related and universal life
producs and investment earnings on their fund balances. These

liabilities are adjusted to reflect administrative charges and, for
universal life fund balances, mortaliry charges. In addition, this

caption includes: l) premium stabilization reserves representing

experience refunds under group insurance contracts left with the

Company to pay future premiums; 2) deposit administration funds

used to fund non-pension retiree insurance programs; 3) retained asset

accounts; and 4) annuities or supplementary contracts without
significant life contingencies. Interest credited on these funds is

accrued ratably over the contract period.

Future Policy Benefits

Future policy benefits represent the present value of estimated furure

obligations under long-term life and supplemental health insurance

policies and annuiry products currently in force. These obligations are

estimated using actuarial methods and primarily consist of reserves for
annuiry contracts, life insurance benefits, guaranteed minimum death

benefit ("GMDB") contracts (see Note 7 for additional information)

and certain health, life, and accident insurance products in our Global

Supplemental Benefis segment.

L.
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Obligations for annuities represent specified periodic benefits to be

paid to an individual or groups of individuals over their remaining

lives. Obligations for life insurance policies represent benefits to be

paid to policyholders, net of future premiums to be received.

Management estimates these obligations based on assumptions as to
premiums, interest rates, mortaliry and surrenders, allowing for
adverse deviation. Monaliry morbidiry, and surrender assumptions

are based on either rhe Companyt own experience or actuarial tables.

Interest rate assumptions are based on managementt judgment

considering the Companyt experience and fi-rture expectations, and

range from lo/o to 9o/o. Obligations for the run'offsettlement annuity
business include adjustments for investment returns consistent with
requirements of GAAP when a premium deficienry exists.

Liabilitia for GMDB contracts represent the excess of the guaranteed

death benefit over the contractholdert account values. See also Note 7
for additional in[ormation.

M. Unpaid Claims and Claims Expenses

Liabilities for unpaid claims and claim expenses are estimates of future
payments under insurance coverages (primarily long-term disabiliry,
life and health) for reported claims and for losses incured but notyet
reported. \Vhen esrimates of these liabilities change, the Company
immediately records the ad.justment in benefits and expenses.

The Company consistently estimates incurred but not yet reported

losses using actuarial principles and assumpdons based on historicd
and projected claim incidence patterns, claim size, subrogation
recoveries and the expected payment period. The Company
recognizes the actuarial best estimate of the ultimate liabiliry within a

level ofconfidence, consistent with actuarial standards ofpractice that
the liabilities be adequate under moderately adverse conditions.

The Companys liabiliry for disabiliry claims reported but not yet paid
is the present value of estimated future benefit paymen$ over rhe

expected disability period. The Company projects the expected

disabiliry period by using hiscorical resolution rates combined with an

analysis of current trends and operational factors to develop current

estimates of resolution rates. Using the Companys experience,

expected claim resolution rates may vary based upon the anticipated
disabiliry period, the covered benefit period, cause of disabiliry
benefit design and the policyholdert age, gender and income level.

The gross monthly benefit is reduced (ofFset) by disabilicy income
received under other benefit programs, such as Social Securiry
Disability Income, workers' compensation, sratutory disabiliry or
other group disabiliry benefit plans. For offsets not yet finalized, rhe

Company estimates the probabiliry and amount of the offset based on
the Companyt experience over rhe past three to five years.

The Company discounts certain unpaid claim liabilities because

benefit payments are made over extended periods. Subsrantially all of
these liabilities are associated with the group long-term disabiliry
business. Discount rate assumptions for that business are based on
projected investment returns for the asset portfolios that support these

liabilides and range from3.950/o to 5.45o/o. Discounted liabilities were

$3.5 billion at December 31, 2013 and $3.2 billion at December 31,
2012.

N. Global Health Care Medical Claims
Payable

Medical claims payable for the Global Health Care segment include
reported claims, estimates for losses incurred but not yet reported and
liabilities for services rendered by providers as well as liabilities under
risk-sharing and qualiry management arrangements wirh providers.
The Company uses actuarial principles and assumptions consistenrly

applied each reporting period and recognizes the actuarial best

estimate of the ultimate liability within a level of confidence, This
approach is consistent with actuarial standards of practice that the
liabilities be adequate under moderately adverse conditions.

The liabiliry is primarily calculated using "completion factors"

developed by comparing the claim incurral dace to the date claims

were paid. Completion factors are impacted by several key items

including changes in: 1) electronic (auto-adjudication) versus manual
claim processing, 2) provider claims submission rates, 3) membership
and 4) the mix of products. The Company uses historical completion
factors combined with an analysis of current trends and operarional
factors to develop current estimates of completion factors. The
Company estimates the liabiliry for claims incurred in each month by

applying the current estimates of completion factors to the current

paid claims data. This approach implicidy assurnes that historical

completion rates will be a useful indicator for the current period.

For the more recent months, the Company relies on medical cost

trend analysis that reflects expected claim payment patterns and other
relevant operational considerations. Medical cost trend is primarily
impacted by medical service utilization and unit costs that are affected

by changes in the level and mix of medical benefirs offered, including
inpatient, outpatient and pharmary, the impact of copays and
deductibles, changes in provider practices and changes in consumer

demographics and consumption behavior.

For each reporting period, the Company compares key assumptions

used to establish the medical claims payable to actual experience.
tVhen actual experience differs from these assumptions, medical

claims payable are adjusted through current period shareholders' net

income. Additionally, the Company evaluates expected future
developments and emerging trends that may impact key assumptions.

The estimation process involves considerable judgment, reflecting the

variabiliry inherent in forecasting fuure claim payments. These

estimates are highly sensitive to changes in the Company's key

assumptions, specifically completion factors and medical cost rrends.

O. Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

The redeemable noncontrolling inrerest primarily comprises the

preferred and common stock interests not purchased by the Company
in its acquisition of Finans Emeklilik in 2012 (see Note 3A. for further
information). The holder may require the Company to purchase the
49o/o redeemable noncontrolling interest at a redemption value equal

to its net assets in Finans Emeklilik and the value of its in-force

business in l5 years. Cigna also has the right to require the holder to
sell its 49%o interest to Cigna for the same value in 15 years. The
redeemable noncontrolling interest was recorded at fair value on the

date of purchase. Subsequently, if the estimated redemption value

exceeds the recorded value for the redeemable nonconuolling interest,
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an adjustment to increase the redeemable noncontrolling interest will
be recorded by charging shareholders' net income.

P. Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and

Other Liabilities

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities consist

principally of liabilities for pension, other postretirement and

postemployment benefits (see Note 9), GMIB confiacts (see

Note l0), self-insured exposures, management compensation, cash

overdraft positions and various insurance-related liabilities, including
experience rated refunds, the minimum medical loss ratio rebate

accrual under Health Care Reform, and reinsurance contracts. kgal
costs to defend the Companyt litigation and arbitration matters are

expensed when incurred in cases where the Company cannot

reasonably estimate the ulcimate cost to defend. In cases where the

Company can reasonably estimate the cost to defend, a liabiliry for
these costs is accrued when the claim is reported.

a. Thanslation of Foreign Currencies

The Company generally conducts its international business through
Foreign operating entities that maintain assets and liabilicies in local

currencies that are generally cheir functional currencies. The
Company uses exchange rates as ofthe balance sheet date to translate

assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars. Tianslation gains or losses on

functional currencies, net of applicable taxes, are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The Company uses

average monthly exchange rates during the year to translate revenues

and expenses into U.S. dollars.

R. Premiums and Fees. Revenues and
Related Expenses

Premiums for group life, accident and health insurance and managed

care coverages are recognized as revenue on a pro rata basis over the

contract period. Benefits and expenses are recognized when incurred.

For experience-rated contracts, premium revenue includes an

adjustment for experience-rated refunds which is calculated according

to contract terms and using the customert experience (including

estimates of incurred but not reported claims). Premium revenue also

includes an adjustment to reflect the estimated effect ofrebates due to
custome$ under the commercial minimum medical loss ratio
provisions of Health Care Reform.

Premiums for individual life, accident and supplemental health

insurance and annuity products, excluding universal life and

investment-related products, are recognized as revenue when due.

Benefits and expenses are matched with premiums.

Premiums and fees received for the Company's Medicare Advantage

Plans and Medicare Part D products from customers and the Centers

for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS) are recognized as

revenue ratably over the contract period. CMS provides risk-adjusted

premium payments for the Medicare Advantage Plans and Medicare

Part D products, based on the demographics and health severity of
enrollees. The Company recognizes periodic changes to risk-adjusted
premiums as revenue when the arnounts are determinable and
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collection is reasonably assured. Addidonally, Medicare Part D
includes payments from CMS for risk sharing adjustments. The risk
sharing adjustments that are esdmated quarterly based on claim

experience, compare actual incurred drug benefit costs to estimared

costs submitted in original contracts and may result in more or less

revenue from CMS. Final revenue adiustments are determined

through an annual settlement with CMS that occurs after the contract

yeaL

Revenue for investment-related products is recognized as follows:

. Net investment income on assets supporting investment-related

products is recognized as earned.

. Contract fees that are based upon related administrative expenses

are recognized in premiums and fees as they are earned ratably over

the contract period.

Benefits and expenses for investment-related products consist

primarily of income credited to policyholders in accordance with
contract provisions.

Revenue for universal life products is recognized as follows:

. Net investment income on assets supporting universal life products

is recognized as earned,

. Fees for mortality and surrender charges are recognized as assessed,

that is as earned,

. Administration fees are recognized as services are provided.

Benefits and expenses for universal life products consist of benefit

claims in excess of policyholder account balances. Expenses are

recognized when claims are submitted, and income is credited to
policyholders in accordance with contract provisions.

Contract fees and expenses for administrative services only ('ASO")

programs and pharmacy programs and services are recognized as

services are provided net of estimated refunds under performance

guarantees. In some cases, the Company provides performance

guarantees associated with meeting certain service standards, clinical

outcomes or financial metrics, If these service standards, clinical

outcomes or financial metrics are not met, the Company may be

financially at risk up to a stated percentage ofthe contracted fee or a

stated dollar amount. The Company establishes deferred revenues for
estimated payouts associated with these performance guarantees.

Approximately l4o/o of ASO fees reponed for the year ended

December 31, 2013 were at risk, with reimbursements estimated to be

approximately l7o.

The unrecognized portion o[ premiums and fees received is recorded

as unearned premiums and fees,

Mail order pharmacy revenues and cost of goods sold are recognized as

each prescription is shipped.

S. Stock Compensation

The Company records compensation expense for stock awards and

options over their vesting periods primarily based on the estimated fair
value at the grant date. For stock options, fair value is estimated using

an option-pricing model, whereas for restricted stock grants and units
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fair value is equal to the market price of the Companyt common stock

on the date of grant. Compensation expense for strategic performance

shares is recorded over the performance period. For strategic

performance shares with payment dependent on a market condition,
fair value is determined at the grant date using a Monte Carlo

simulation model and not subsequently adjusted regardless ofthe final
outcome. For strategic performance shares with payment dependent

on performance conditions, expense is initially accrued based on the

most likely outcome, but evaluated for adjustment each period for
updates in the expected outcorne. At the end of the performance

period, expense is adjusted to the actual outcome (number of shares

awarded times the share price at the grant date).

T. Participating Business

The Companyt participating life insurance policies entitle
policyholders to earn dividends that represent a portion of the

earnings of the Company's life insurance subsidiaries. Participating

insurance accounted for approximately 10lo of the Company's total life
insurance in force at the end o[ 2013, 2012 and,2011.

U. Income Taxes

The Company generally recognizes deferred income taxes for
differences beween the financial reporting and income tax reporting

NOTE 3 Acquisitions and Dispositions

carrying values of assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes are

established based upon enacted tax rates and laws. A valuation

allowance is recorded when the assessment of available evidence

indicates there is a less than 50% likelihood that a deferred tax asset

will be realized. Current income taxes generally represent amounts

owed to or due from taxing authorities as related to filed income tax

returns.

The Company records income taxes on the unremimed earnings of
certain foreign subsidiaries at the foreign jurisdiction tax rate which
can be significantly lower than the U.S. statutory tal( rate.

Note 19 contains detailed information about the Companyt income

taxes.

V Earnings Per Share

The Company computes basic earnings per share using the weighted-

average number of unrestricted common and deferred shares

outstanding. Diluted earnings per share also includes the dilutive
effect ofoutstanding employee stock options and unvested restricted

stock granted after 2009 using the ffeasury stock method and the

effect of strategic performance shares.

The Company may from time to time acquire or dispose of assets,

subsidiaries or lines ofbusiness. Significant transactions are described

below.

A. Joint Venture Agreement with
Finansbank

On November 9, 2012, the Company acquired 51o/o of the total
shares of Finans Emeklilik ve Hayat A.S. ("Finans Emeklilik'), a

Turkish insurance company, from FinansbankA.S. ("Finansbank"), a

Tirrkish retail bank, for a cash purchase price of approximately

$ 1 I 6 million. Finansbank continues to hold, 49o/o of the total shares.

Finans Erneklilik operates in life insurance, accident insurance and

pension product markets. The acquisition provides Cigna

opportunities to reach and serve the growing middle class market in
Tirrkey through Finansbankt network of retail banking branches.

In accordance with GAAI the total purchase price, including the

redeemable noncontrolling interest of $111 million, has been

allocated to the tangible and intangible net assets acquired based on

management's estimates of their fair value. Accordingly,

approximately $113 million was allocated to identifiable intangible

assets, primarily a distribution relationship and the value of business

acquired ('VOBA) that represents the present value of the estimated

net cash flows from the long duration contracts in force, with the

remaining $116 million allocated to goodwill. The identifiable
intangible assets will be amortized over an estimated useful life of
approximately l0 years. Goodwill has been allocated to the Globd
Supplemental Benefits segment and is not deductible for federal

income tax purposes.

The redeemable noncontrolling interest is classified as temporary

equiry in the Companyt Consolidated Balance Sheet because

Finansbank has the right to require the Company to purchase its 49o/o

interest for the value of its net assets and the inforce business in
15 years.
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The condensed balance sheet at the acouisition date was as follows:

0n milliow)

Investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Value of business acquired (reported in Deferred policy acquisition costs in the Consolidated Balance Sheet)

Goodwill
Separate account assets

Other assets, including other intangibles

$23
54
ZD

116

99
98

Total xsets acouired 416

Insurance liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Seoarare account liabilities

58

32
99

Total liabilities acouired 189

Redeemable noncontrolling interest

Net assets acquired lr6

The results of Finans Emeklilik are included in the Companyt

Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition. The

pro forma effects on total revenues and net income assuming the

acquisition had occurred as ofJanuary 1,2011 were not material to

the Compaoy for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

B. Acquisition of Great American
Supplemental Benefits Group

On August 31, 2012, the Company acquired Great American

Supplemental Benefits Group, one of the largest providers of
supplemental health insurance products in the U.S. with cash from
internal resources. The acquisition provides the Company with an

increased presence in the Medicare supplemental benefits market. It
also extends the Company's global direct-to-consumer retail channel

The condensed balance sheet at the acquisition date was as follows:

(In millions)

as well as further enhances its distribution network of agents and

brokers. Results of this business are reported in the Global

Supplemental Benefits segment.

In accordance with GAAB the total purchase price has been allocated

to the tangible and intangible net assets acquired based on

managementt estimates of their fair value. Approximately

$168 million was allocated to intangible assets, primarily the VOBA
asser that will be amortized.in proportion to premium recognized over

the life of the contracts, primarily over 15 years. Amortization is

expected to be higher in early years and decline as policies lapse.

Goodwill has been allocated to the Global Supplemental Benefits

segdrent. Substantially all of rhe goodwill is tax deductible and will be

amortized over 15 years for federal income tax purposes.

Investments
Cuh and cash equivalents

Reinsurance recoverables

Goodwill
Value of business acquired (repomed in Deferred policy acquisition costs in the Consolidared Balance Sheer)

Other assets, including other intangibles

$ 211

JD

448
168

r44
35

Total assets acouired t,042

Insurance liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

707
9

Total liabilities acouired / ll)

Net assets acquired )zo

The results of this business have been included in the Company's

Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition. The
pro forma effects on total revenues and net income assuming the

acquisition had occurred as ofJanuary 1,2011 were not material to
the Company for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

C. Acquisition of HealthSpring, Inc.

On January 31,201,2 the Company acquired the outstanding shares

ofHealthSpring, Inc. ("HealthSpring") for $55 per share in cash and

Cigna stock awards, representing a cost of approximately $3.8 billion.

HealthSpring provides Medicare Advantage coverage in l5 states and

the District of Columbia, as well as a large, national stand-alone

Medicare prescription drug business. The acquisition of HealthSpring

strengthens the Company's abiliry to serve individuals across their life
stages as well as deepens its presence in a number of geographic

markets. The addition of HealthSpring brings industry leading

physician partnership capabilities and creates the opportuniry to

deepen the Companyt existing client and customer relationships, as

well as facilitates a broader deployment of its range of health and

wellness capabilities and product offerings. The Company funded the

accuisition with internal cash resources.
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Mergn considzration of $3.8 billion was determined as follows:

(Dolkn ir milliore, acqt pcr sharc amounts)

HealthSpring, Inc. common shares outstanding at January 30,2012 (In thousands)
Less: common shares outstanding not settled in cash (ln thousands)

67,828
000)

Common shares settled in cash (In thousands)
Price oer share

67,728

Cash consideration for outstanding shares

Fair value of share-based compensation awards

Additional cash and equity consideration

3,725
65
2l

Total merger consideration 3,81 I

Fair aalue of sbare-based com?ensation auar&. On the date of
the acquisition, HealthSpring employees' awards of options and

restricted shares of HealthSpring stock were rolled over to Cigna stock

options and restricted stock. Each holder of a HealthSpring stock

option or restricted stock award received 1.24 Cigna stock opdons or
restricted stock awards. The conversion ratio of 1.24 at the date of
acquisition was determined by dividing the acquisition price of
HealthSpring shares of $55 per share by che price of Cigna stock on

January 31,2012 of $44.43. The Cigna stock option exercise price

was determined by using this same conversion ratio. Vesdng periods
and the remaining life of the options rolled over with the original
HealthSpring awards.

The Company valued the share-based compensadon awards as of the

acquisition date using Cignat stock price for restricted stock and a

Black-Scholes pricing model For stock options. The assumptions used

Vested options

Unvesred options

Restricted stock

were generally consistent wich those disclosed in Note 20 to the
Companyt 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements, excepr the
expected life assumption o[these opdons ranged from 1.8 to 4.8 years

and the exercise price did not equal the market value ar rhe granr date.

Fair value of the new stock opdons approximated intrinsic vdue
because the exercise price at the acquisition date for substantially all of
the options was significantly below Cignat stock price.

The fair value of these options and restricted stock awards was

included in the purchase price to the extent rhat services had been

provided prior to the acquisition based on the grant date of the

original HealthSpring awards and vesting periods. The remaining hir
value not included in the purchase price was recorded as

compensation expense subsequent to the acquisition date over the

remaining vesting periods. Most of the expense was recognized in
2012 and,2013.

14.04 $ 18 $ rs $

The following table summarizes the effect of these rollover awards for former HealthSpring employees.

589 $

r,336 $

786 $

16.21 37

44.43 35

28

L9

9

r6

Total 2,7r1 90$ o)$

Parchase pice allocation. In accordance with GAAB the total purchase price has been allocated to the tangible and intangible net assers

acquired based on management's estimates of their fair values. Goodwill has been allocated to the Government operating segment and is not
deductible for federal income tax purposes. The condensed balance sheet of HealthSpring at the acquisition date was as follows:

(In millions)

Investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Premiums, accounts and notes receivable

Goodwill

Intangible assers

Other

612
492

t 320

2,54r
795

96

Total assers acquired 4,856

Insurance liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Debt

505

214
1)(,

Total liabilities acouired r,045

Ner assets acouired 3,81I

In accordance with debt covenanrs,

was paid immediately following the

HealrhSpringt debt obligatron

acquisition. This repayment is

reported as a financing activiry in the statement of cash flows for the
year ended December 31,2012.
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The estimated fair values and useful lives for intanqible assets are as follows:

Estimated Estimated Usefirl Life
(Dolhrs tu miltiow) Fair Value (In Years)

Customer reladonships

Other
$ 7rr

84
8

3-10

Total other intanqible asses $ 795

The fair value of the customer relationship and the amortization

method rvere determined using an income approach that relies on

pro,jected future net cash flows including key assumptions for the

customer attrition rate and discount rate. The estimated weighted

average useful life reflects the time period and front-loaded pattern of
expected future cash flows. Amortizacion is recorded on a basis

consistent with that pattern, and as a result amortization expense

declined in 2013 from 2012, and will continue to decline in
subsequent years, The Company expects more than 50%o of the

intangible asset value to be amortized by the end of 2014.

The results of HealthSpring have been included in the Companyt
Consolidated Financial Statemenrs from the dare of the acquisition.

Revenues of HealthSprlng included in the Companyt results for the

year ended December 31, 2012 were approximately $5.4 billion.
Dwing 2012, the Company recorded $53 million pre-tax
($40 million after-tax) ofacquisition-related costs in other operating

exPenses.

Prcforma inforrnation. The following table presents selecced unaudited pro forma information for the Company assuming the acquisition of
HealthSpring had occurred as ofJanuary 1,201L. This pro forma information does not purport to represent what the Company's actual results

would have been if the acquisition had occurred as of the date indicated or what such results would be for any future periods.

Year Ended December Jl,
(In miltiou, .xccgt Dcr share amoxnt) 2012 201r

Total revenues

Shareholders' net income

Earnings per share:

Basic

Diluted

$

J
573
563

$

$

$

$

29,608
1,633

27,461
l,4)b

5.1 I
5.02

NOTE 4 Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share were computed as follows:

20t3
Shareholders' net income

Shares(rz th b usand.s) :
tVeighted average

Common stock

Total shares

EPS

20t2
Shareholders' net income

Effect of
Dilution

r,623 r,623

Shares(lz thousands):

Veighted average

Common stock equivalents
284,819

4.7r1
284,819

4,711

Total shares 284,819 4,7rr 289,530

EPS 5.70 (0.09) 561

20t I
Shareholders' net income r,260 r,260

Shares(lz ih ous and,r) :
lVeighted average

Common stock equivalents

270,691

3,558
270,69r

3,558

Total shares 270,691 3,558 274.249

4.65 $ (0.06) 4 <<lEPS
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The following outstanding employee stock options were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect would

have increased diluted earnings per share (antidilutive).

miltiow) 20t3 2012 20tr
Antidiludve 2. 7

NOTE 5 Global Health Care Medical Claims Payable

Medical claims payable for the Global Health Care segment reflec$

estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but
not yet reported, those that have been reported but not yet paid

(reported claims in process) and other medical expense payable, that

comprises accruals primarily for provider incentives and other

amounts payable to providers.

Incurred but not yet reported comprises the majoriry of the reserve balance as follows:

2013 2012

lncurred but not yet reponed

Reported claims in process

r,466
318

72Orhet medical

MEDICAL CI-IUMS PAYABIJ,

Activiry in medical claims payable was as follows:

(In milliorc) 2013 2012 zOLL

Balance at January l,
Less: Reinsurance and other amounts recoverable

Balance at January l, net

Acquired net:

Incurred claims related to:

Current year

Prior

Total incured
Paid claims related to:

1,305

249

1,400

284

1,1 l61,056

504

r4,428

14,228

Current year

Prior

Total paid

Balance at December 31, net

Add: Reinsurance and other amounts recoverable

Balance at December

Reinsurance and other amounts recoverable reflect amounts due from
reinsurers and poliryholders to cover incurred but not reported and

pending claims for minimum premium products and certain ASO
business where the right of offset does not exist. See Note 7 for
additional information on reinsurance. For the year ended

December 31,2013, acrual experience differed from the Company's

key assumptions resulting in favorable incurred claims related to prior
years'medical claims payable of $182 million, or l.3o/o of the currenc

year incurred claims as reported for the year ended December 31,
2012. Acuil, completion factors accounted, for $74 million, or 0.5o/o,

while actual medical cost trend resulted in the remaining

$108 million, or 0.8ol0.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, actual experience differed

from the Company's key assumptions, resulting in favorable incurred

claims related to prior years'medical claims payable of $200 million,
or 2.2o/o of the current year incurred claims as reported for the year

ended December 31, 2011. Actual completion factors resulted in
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1.856

$91 million, or 1.0%, while actual medical cost ftend resulted in the

remaining $109 million, or l.2o/o.

The corresponding impact ofprior year development on shareholders'

net income was $77 million for the year ended December 31,2013
compared with $66 million for the year ended December 31,2012.
The favorab.le effects of prior year development on net income in
2013 

^nd.2012 
primarily reflect low medical services utilization trend.

The change in the amount of the incurred claims related to prior years

in the medical claims payable liability does not directly correspond to
an increase or decrease in the Company's shareholders' net income

recognized for the following reasons:

First, the Company consistendy recognizes the actuarial best estimate

of the ultimate liability within a level of confidence, consistent with
actuarial standards of practice that the liabilities be adequate under

moderately adverse condicions. As the Company establishes the

liabiliry for each incurral year the Company ensures that its

12,854

r,320

r4,174
1,614

242

8,227

958

9,r85
r,056

249



assumptions appropriately consider moderately adverse conditions.
tVhen a portion of the dwelopment related to the prior year incurred

claims is offset by an increase determined appropriate to address

moderately adverse conditions for the current year incurred claims,

the Company does not consider that ofFset amount as having any

impact on shareholders' net income.

Second, as a result of the adoption of the commercial minimum
medical loss ratio (MLR) provisions of the Patient Protection and

Affordable Care Act in 201 l, changes in medical claim estimates due

to prior year development may be partially offset by a change in the

MLR rebate accrual.

NOTE 6 Organizational Efficiency Plans
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Third, changes in reserves for the Companyt retrospectively

experience-rated business for accounts in surplus do not usually

impact shareholders' net income because such amounts are generally

offset by a change in the liabiliry to the policyholder. An account is in
surplus when the accumulated premium received exceeds the

accumulated medical costs and administrative charges, including
profit charges.

The determination of liabilides for Global Health Care mediql
claims payable requires the Company to make critical accounting

estimates. See Nore 2(N) for further information around the
assumptions and estimates used to establish this liability.

The Company is constantly evaluating ways to deliver its products

and services more efficiently and at a lower cost. During 2013 and

201,2, the Company adopted specific plans to increase its

organizational efficiency as follows.

2013 Pkn During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company

committed to a plan to increase its organizational efficiency and

reduce costs through a series of actions that includes employee

headcount reductions. As a result, the Company recognized charges in
other operating expenses of $60 million pre-tax ($40 million after-tax)

in the fourth quarter of 2013, consisting mostly of severance costs.

The Globd Health Care segment reported $47 million pre-tax
($31 million after-tax). The remainder was reported as follows:

$11 million pre-tax ($8 million after-tax) in the Global Supplemental

Benefits segment and $2 million pre-tax ($1 million after-tax) in

Summarized below is activity for 2012 and,2013 for the plans described above.

(In milliore)

Group Disabiliry and Life.'We expect most of the severance to be paid
by the end of 2015.

2012 Pkn. During the third quarter of 2012, the Company, in
connection with the execudon of its scrategy, committed to a series of
actions to further improve its organizational alignment, operational

effectiveness, and efficiency. As a result, the Company recognized

charges in other operating expenses of $77 million pre-tax
($50 million after-tax) in the third quarter of 2012 consisting

primarily of severance costs. The Global Health Care segment

reported $65 million pre-tax ($42 million after-tax) of the charge. The
remainder was reported as follows: $9 million pre-mx ($6 million
after-tax) in Global Supplemental Benefits and $3 million pre-tax
($2 million after-tax) in Group Disabiliry and Life. 'We 

expect

substantially all payments to be complete by first quarter 2014.

Severance Red estate Totd

Third quarrer 2012 chasge

Less: 2012 Davments

72 5

I b

Balance, December 31, 2012

Fourth quarter 2013 charge

Less: 2013 payments

IJ/

4/
46

7r
60

50

4

13

4

Balmce, December 31, 2013 8lr368

NOTE 7 Reinsurance

The Companyt insurance subsidiaries enter into agreements with
other insurance companies to assume and cede reinsurance,

Reinsurance is ceded primarily to limit losses from large exposures and

to permit recovery of a porcion of direct or assumed losses.

Reinsurance is also used in acquisition and disposition fiansacdons

when the underwriting company is not being acquired. Reinsurance

does not relieve the originating insurer of liabiliry. The Company
regularly evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and
monitors its concentrations of credit risk.

Effective Exit of GMDB and GMIB Business

On February 4,2013, the Company entered into an agreement with
Berlshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska
("Berkshire") to effectively exit the GMDB and GMIB businesses via

a reinsurance transaction. Berkshire reinsured 1000/o of the

Companyt future claim payments in these businesses, net of
retrocessional arrangements existing at that time. The reinsurance

agreement is subject to an overall limit of approximately $3.8 billion
plus future premiums collected under the contracts being reinsured

that will be paid to Berkshire. The Company estimates that these

future premium amounts will be from $0.1 to $0.3 billion and,
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accordingly, expeccs future claims of approximately $4 billion to be

covered by the agreement.

This transaction resulted in an after-tax charge to shareholders' net

income in the first quarter of 2013 of $507 million ($781 million
pre-tax reported as follows: $727 million in other benefits expense;

$45 million in GMIB fair value [oss; and $9 million in other operating

expenses). The payment to Berkshire under the agreement was

$2.2 billion and was funded from the sale of investment assets, tax

benefits relared to the transaction and available parent cash.

Recouerables for GMDB and GMIB Business

The Company had reinsurance recoverables related to the GMDB
business of $1.3 billion and GMIB assets of $751 million as of
December 31, 2013. Approximately 90olo of the combined GMDB
recoverables and GMIB asses of $2.1 billion are secured by assets in
trust, letters of credit, or are not subject to collection risk.

Approximately $t.6 billio" of the combined GMDB recoverables and

GMIB assets relate to the February 4,2013 reinsurance arrangement

with Berkshire, .including approximately $0.7 billion for the cost of
reinsurance (excess ofpayment over recorded reserves).

The following disclosures for the reinsured GMDB and GMIB
business provide firrther context to prior year resul*, as well as activity

in the assets and liabilities for these businesses, including the impact of
the reinsurance transaction with Berkhire.

Activity in future policy benefit reserves for the GMDB business was as follows:

Balance at January 1,

Add: Unpaid claims

kss: Reinsurance and other amounts recoverable

Balance at January 1, net

Add: Incurred benefits

[rss: Paid benefits (includine the $1,647 for Berlahire reinsurance transaction)

Ending balance, net

Less: Unpaid claims

Add: Reinsurance and other amounts recoverable

Balance at December 31,

Benefits paid and incurred are net of ceded amounts. For 2013,

incurred benefits reflect the Febnnry 4,2013 reinsurance transaction.

The ending net retained reserve as of December 31, 2013 covers

ongoing administrative expenses, as well as claims retained by the

Company. Incurred benefits reflect the favorable or unfavorable

impact of a rising or falling equity market on rhe liability, and

included resewe srrengrhening of $43 million ($27 million after-tax)

in20l2 due primarily to reductions to the lapse rate assumptions and

adverse interest rate impacrs that reflected managementt

consideration of the anticipated impact of continued low short-term
interest rates. Reserve strengthening of $70 million ($45 million

GMDB
The Company estimates this liabilicy with an internal model using

many scenarios and assumptions based on the Companyt experience

and future expectations over an extended period, consistenc with the

long-term nature of this product. Because this product is premium
deficient, the Company records increases to the reserve if it is

inadequate based on the model. Prior to the February 4, 2014

reinsurance transacdon with Berkshire, any such reserve increases were

recorded as a charge to shareholders' net income. Reserve increases

after February 4,2013 are expected to have a corresponding increase

in the recorded reinsurance recoverable, provided that the increased

recoverable remains within the overall Berkshire limit (including the

GMIB asset).

The payment attributable to GMDB from the Berkshire reinsurance

transaction was approximately $1.6 billion. Because this payment

exceeded the recorded reserve on February 4, 2013, the Company

recorded a reserve strengthening of$0.7 billion ($0.5 billion after-tax)

in the first quarter of 2013.

The Companys dynamic hedge programs to reduce equicy and

interest rate exposures were discontinued during the first quarrer of
2013 due to the Berkshire reinsurance transaction. These hedge

programs generated losses (included in Other Rwenues) of
$32 million in20l3, $105 million in2012 and $14 million in 2011.

Offsetting amounts were recorded in benefits and expenses. As a result

of discontinuing the hedge programs, the growth rate assumption for

the underlying equiry funds was changed to use long-term historical

averages, resulting in a decrease in the gross reserve liabiliry and the

offsetting reinsurance recoverable.

2012 20il
r,t70

40

53

|,157
17

102

1,138

37

1,072
24

42

5l

r,r57
40

53

1 1)4

r38
105

1,090 1,r70

after-tax) in 2011 was driven primarily by volatiliry-related impacts

due to turbulent equity market conditions and adverse interest rate

impacts.

The majority of the exposure arises under annuities that guarantee

that the benefit received at death will be no less than the highest

historical account value of the related mutual firnd investments on a

contractholderl anniversary date. Under this type of death benefit,

the Company is liable co the extent the highest historical anniversary

account value exceeds the Fair value of the related mutual fund
investments at the time of a contractholdert death.
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The table below presents the account value, net arnount at risk and average attained age ofunderlying contractholders for guarantees assumed by
the Company in the event of death. The net amount at risk is the amount that the Company would have to pay if all contractholders died as of the

specified date. Unless the Berkshire reinsurance limit is exceeded, the Company would be reimbursed in full for these payments.

ntMtouc 2013 2012

Account vdue

Net amounc ac risk

Average attained age ofcontractholders (weighted by exposure)

Number of contractholders

$ 13,303

$ 4,018

72

435,000

GMIB
As discussed further in Note 10, because GMIB contracts are wirhout

significant life insurance risk, they ate not accounted for as insurance

products. Instead, the Company reports GMIB liabilities and assets as

derivatives at fair value. The GMIB asset is classified in Other assets,

including other intangibles, and the GMIB liabiliry is classified in
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet. Disclosures related to fair value are

included in Note 10 and derivatives are further described in Note 12.

The Berlahire reinsurance transaction resulted in an increase in
GMIB assets, represendng the increased receivable from that
uansaction. As of December 31, 2013, GMIB assets included

$352 million from Berlahire.

In addirion, the GMIB business had GMIB assets of $399 million
(classified in Other assets, including other intangibles in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet) from two other retrocessionaires as of
December 31,2013.

Other Run-off

The Companyt Run-off Reinsurance operations also assumed risks

related to workers' compensation and personal accident business, and

purchased reinsurance coverage to reduce the risk of loss on these

contracts. The reinsurance recoverables were $107 million as of
December 31,2013 and,89o/o were secured by assets in trust or letters

of credit.

Other Reinsurance

Suppbmental bnefi* business. The Company had reinsurance

recoverables of $363 million as of December 31, 2013 and

$402 million as of December 31, 2012 from Great American Life
Insurance Company resulting from the acquisition of Great American

in 2012. The life insurance and annuity lines of business written by

the acquired legd entities were fully reinsured by the seller as pan of
the uansacdon. The resulting reinsurance recoverables are secured

primarily by fixed maturities with book value equal to l00o/o of the

reinsured policy liabilitia. These fixed maturities are held in a trust
established for the benefit of the Company.

Retitemmt bmefre business. The Company had reinsurance

recoverables of $1.2 billion as of December 31,2013 and $1.3 billion
as of December 31,2012 from Prudential Retirement Insurance and

Annuity Company resulting from the sale of the retirement benefits

business, primarily in the form of a reinsurance arrangement. The
reinsurance recoverable is reduced as the Companyt reinsured

liabilities are paid or directly assumed by the reinsurer and is secured

primarily by fixed maturities whose book value is equal to or greater

than 1000/o of the reinsured liabilities. These fixed maturities are held

in a trust established for the benefit of the Company. As of
December 31, 2013, the book value of the trust assets exceeded the

recoverable.

Indiaidual life and annuity reinsurance. The Company had

reinsurance recoverables of$3.9 billion as ofDecember 31,2013 and,

$4.0 billion as of December 31, 2012 from The Lincoln National Life
Insurance Company and Lincoln Life & Annuiry of New York

resulting from the 1998 sale of the Companyt individual life
insurance and annuity business through indemnity reinsurance

arrangements. The Lincoln National Life Insurance Company and

Lincoln Life & Annuity of New York must maintain a specified

minimum credit or claims prying rating, or they will be required to
fully secure the outstanding balance. As of December 31, 2013, both
companies had ratings sufficient to avoid triggering this contractual

obligation.

Ceded Reinsurance: Ongoing operations. The Company's insurance

subsidiaries have reinsurance recoverables from various reinsurance

arrangements in the ordinary course of business for its Global Health
Care, Global Supplemental Benefits and Group Disabiliry and Life
segments as well as the nonJeveraged and leveraged corporate-owned

life insurance business. Reinsurance recoverables of $407 million as of
December 31,2013 are expected to be collected from more than 80

reinsurers.

The Company reviews its reinsurance arrangements and establishes

reserves against the recoverables in the event that recovery is not
considered probable. As of Decembet 31, 2013, the Companyt
recoverables related to these segments were net of a reserve of
$3 million.

Sumtnary, The Companyt reserves for underlying reinsurance

exposures assumed by the Company, as well as for amounts

recoverable from reinsurers/retrocessionaires for both ongoing

operadons and the run-off reinsurance operation, are considered

appropriate as of December 31,2013, based on current information.
The Company bears the risk of loss if its retrocessionaires do not meet

or are unable to meet their reinsurance obligations to the Company.
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The following table presents direct, assumed and ceded premiums and fees for both short-duration and long-duration insurance contracts. It also

presents reinsurance recoveries that have been netted against direct benefits and expenses in the Companyt Consolidated Statements oflncome.

2013 20L2

382
(2r7)

24,rt9

$ 26,187

Jlo
201

20tl

158

08t)
t7,273

r,9r9
36

(203)

6e)
t.693

Premiums and Fees

Short-duration contracrs:

Direct

Assumed

Ceded

Long-duration contracts:

Direct
Assumed

Ceded:

Individual life insurance and annuity business sold

Other

TOTAL

Reinsurance recoveries

Individual life insurance and annuiry business sold

Other

TOTAL

As noted in the GMDB section above,2013 recoveries are net of the

impact ofa decrease in reinsurance recoverables due to a change in the

growth rate assumption, resulting from the discontinuance of the

hedge programs following the reinsurance transaction with Berkshire.

The increase in direct premiums in 20L2 as compared to 20ll
primarily reflects the Companys acquisidons of HealthSpring and

Great American Supplemental Benefits as well as the conversion of
Vanbreda business from service to insurance contracts in 2012. The

$ 26,445 $ 23,954 $ 17,300

:

2,234

86

310

2t3

5r7 523

increase in long-duration assumed premiums in 2013 largely results

from the acquisition of Great American Supplemental Benefits in
2012.The increase in assumed premiums in 2012 largely results from
the acquisition of FirstAssist in 2011.

The effects of reinsurance on wriften prerniums and fees for short-

duration contracts were not materidly different from the recognized

Dremium and fee amounts shown in the table above.

NOTE B Goodwill, Other Intangibles, and Property and Equipment

Goodwill is primarily reported in the Global HeaIth Care segment ($5.7 billion) and, to a lesser extent, the Global Supplemental Benefits segment

($340 million).

Activity in Goodwill during 2013 and, 2012 was as follows:

z0t2

Balance at January 1,

Goodwill acquired:

Finans Emeklilik

FirstAssist

HealthSpring

Great American Supplement

Other

$ 3,164

Balance at December 31,

33

7

2,54r
168Benefits
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Accumulated Net Carrying
Cost Amortization Value

2013

Total reported in other assets, including other intangibles

Value of business acquired (reported in deferred policy acquisition costs)

"&,W

$ r,278

328

Internal-use software

TOTAL OTHER IMhNGIBLE ASSETS

2012

Customer relationships

Other

ano

$ 466 $ 812
80 248

Total reported in other assets, including other intangibles

Value of business acquired (reported in deferred poliry acquisition costs)

Internal-use software (reported in proDerty and equiDment)

r,606

172

|,738

)4b
2

l,191

r,060

170

)4/

TOTAL OTHER INIhNGIBLE ASSETS $ 3,516 r,739 1,777

Properry and equipment was comprised of the following as of December 3l:

(Dolkrs in milliou)

2013
Internal-use software

Other property and

TOTAL PROPERTYAND PMENT

2012

Internal-use software

Accurnulated Net Carrying
Amortization Value

$ r,738 l, l9l
842

$ 547

573and 1,4r5

TOTAL PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT $ 3,153 2,O33 I,r20

Orher property and equipment includes assets recorded under capital

leases with a cost of $306 million, accumulated amortization of
$16 million, and a net carrying value of $290 million as oF

December 31,2013. Assets under capital leases were not material in
2012.

Depreciation and amortization was comprised of the following for the years ended December 31:

Internal-use software

Other properry and equipment

Value of business acquired (reported in deferred policy acquisition cos*)

TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Other property and equipment includes depreciation on assets

recorded under capital leases of $16 million in 2013.

The increase in amortization of other intangibles in 2012 relates

primarily to the acquisitions of HealthSpring and, to a lesser extent,

Great American Supplemental Benefits and Finans Emeklilik.

2013 2012

$ 209

144

2

205

$ 560

The Company estimates annual pre-tax amortization for intangible

assets, including inrernal-use software, over the next five calendar

years to be as follows: $410 million in 2014, $327 million in 2015,

$253 million in2016, $167 million in2017, and $133 million in
2018.
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NOTE 9 Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

A. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries provide pension, health

care and life insurance defined benefits to eligible retired employees,

spouses and other eligible dependents through various domestic and

foreign plans. The effect of its foreign pension and other
poscretirement benefit plans is immaterial to the Companyt results of
operations, liquidiry and financial position. Effective July l, 2009, the

Company froze its primary domestic defined benefit pension plans.

Benefit obligation, January I
Service cost

Interest cost

(Gain) loss from past experience

Effect of plan amendment

Benefits paid from plan assets

Benefits paid - other
Curtailment

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets, January I
Actual return on plan assets

During the first quarter of 2013, the Company announced rwo
changes to its postretirement medical plan:

. Effective March 31, 2013, the Company frozp. accive employees'

future benefit accruals, resulting in a pre-tax curtailment gain of
$19 million ($12 million after-tax recorded in shareholders' net

income).

. The Company also announced a change in the cost sharing

arrangement with retirees for pharmacy subsidy payments received

from the U.S. Government effective January l, 2014. This plan

amendment resulted in a reduction to the other post retirement

benefit obligation of $57 million ($37 million a[ter-tax, recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income).

The Company measures the assets and liabilities of its domestic pension and other postretirement benefit plans as of December 31. The following
table summarizes the projected benefit obligations and assets related to the Company's domestic and international pension and other
postretirement benefit plans as of, and for the year ended, December 31:

Pension Benefits

Other Postretirement

Benefits

(h nilliow) 2013 2012 2013 2Ol2

Change in benefit obligation
$ 5'067

'3
181

\464)

198

283

(256)

(28)

12

(37)

(57).,, 
:::

,,,,'. (3J,,11:11':'

s 4>2

2

r6
(2)

(3)

(23)

Benefir December 3l 442

3.298
(1)

Benefits paid

Contributions

Fair value of plan assets, December 3l

Funded Status

The postretirement benefits liability adjustment included in accumulated other comprehensive loss consisted of the following as of December 3l:

Pension Benefits

Other Postretirement

Benefits

(In nilliare) 20t3 2013 2012

Unrecognized net gain (loss)

lor servlce cost

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS LI,ABILITY

47n

(256)

253

$ (28)

23

During 2013, the Companyt postretirement benefits liability
adjustment decreased by $830 million pre-tax ($539 million afrer-tax)

resulting in an increase to shareholders' equiry. The decrease in the

liabiliry was primarily due ro an increase in the discount rate, actual

82 CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2013 Form r}-K

investment returns greater than expected in 2013, the effect of the

plan amendment described above, and amortization.

Pensiotr benefts. The Companys pension plans were underfunded

bv $0.6 billion in 2013 and $1.6 billion in 2012 and had related



(h milliow) 2Ol3 2Ol2 20f l
Service cosc

accumulated benefit obligations of $4.7 billion as of December 31,

2013 and $5.3 billion as of December 31,2012.

The Company funds its qualified pension plans at least at the

minimum amount required by the Employee Retirement Income

Securicy A6 of 1974 and the Pension Protection Act of 2006. For

Components of net pension cost for the years ended December 31

Interesr cost

Expected long-term return on plan ssets

Amortizadon of:

Net loss from past experience

Settlement loss

NET PENSION COST

The Company expects to recognize pre-tax losses of $57 million in
2014 from amortization of past experience. This estimate is based on a

weighted average amortization period for the frozen and inactive plans

that is based on the average expected remaining life of plan

participants of approximately 28 years.

Interesr cosr

Expected long-term return on plan assets

Amortizarion of:

Prior service cost

PART II
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2014, the Company expects to make minimum required

contributions totaling approximately $100 million. Future years'

contributions will ultimately be based on a wide range of factors

including but not limited to asset returns, discount rates, and funding
rargets,

were as follows:

198

Q7o)

58

6

$ (5)

Otber postretirement benefts. Unfunded retiree healrh benefit

plans had accumulated benefit obligations of $190 million at

December 31,2013 and,$294 million at December 31, 2012. Retiree

life insurance plans had accumulated benefit obligations of
$133 million as of December 31,2013 and $148 million as of
December 31,2012.

228

(267)

38

Components of net other postretirement benefit cost for the years ended December 3l were as follows:

(In milliow) 2013 2Ol2 20ll
Sewice cosr

I2
(1)

(4) (r2) (16)

l6
(1)

20
(1)

Curtailment sai

NET OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT COST $5
The Company expects to recognize immaterial pre-tax gains related to based on an average expected remaining

amortization of prior service cost and no pre-tax gains from 28 years.

amortization of past experience in 2014. The amortization period is

life of plan parricipants of

The estimated rate of future increases in the per capita cost of health care benefits is 7o/o in 2014, decreasin gby 0.5o/o per ye r to 5o/o in 2018 and

beyond. This estimate reflects the Companyt current claim experience and management's estimate that rates of growth will decline in the future.

A l%o increase or decrease in the estimated rate would have changed 2013 reported amounts as follows:

(In nilliont) Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost

Effect on postretirement benefit obliqation

Phn assets. The Company's current target invescment allocation

percentages (500/o fixed income, 25o/o eqrity securities, 1 1%o securities

partnerships, 7o/o hedge funds and 7o/o real estate) are developed by

management as guidelines, although the fair values of each asset

category are expected to vary as a result of changes in market

conditions. As funding levels improved during 2013, the Company

gradually reduced its allocation to equicy securities and moved into
fixed income to mitigate some of the volatiliry in returns. As the

funding level continues to improve, the Company would expect to
further reduce the allocation to equiry securities and move further into
fixed income investments. Although it has decreased its allocation to
equiry securities in 20 I 3, the pension plan asset portfolio continues to

include a 29o/o allocacion of equity securities, consisting of domestic

and international investments, in an effort to achieve a higher rate of
return on pension plan investments over the long-term payout period

of the pension benefir obligarions.

As of December 31, 2013, pension plan assets included $3.8 billion
invested in the separate accounts of Connecticut General Life
Insurance Company ("CGLIC") and Life Insurance Company of
Norrh America, that are subsidiaries of the Company as well as an

additional $245 million invested directly in funds offered by the buyer

of the retirement benefits business.
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The Fair values ofplan assets by category and by the fair value hierarchy as defined by GAAP are as follows, See Note l0 for a description ofhow
fair value is determined, including the level within the fair value hierarchy and the procedures the Company uses to validate fair value

measurements.

December 3l,2Ol3
(In milliou)

Significant
Unobsen'able

Inputs

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(l,evel l)

Sipificant Other
Observable Inputs

Phn assets at fair ralue:
Fixed maturities:

Federal government and agency

Corporate

Morrgage md ocher asser-backed

Fund investments and

TOTAL FDGD M/ITURITIES

Equiry securities:

Domestic
International, includine funds and

TOTAL EOUTY SECURITIES

Red esmte and mortgage loans, including pooled separate

accounts (l)

Securides pannerships

Hedge funds

Guaranteed deposit account conract
Cash eoui

TOTAI PI.AN ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

December 3l,2Ol2
0n nillior)

(l"evel

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for Sigrificant Other Unobservable

Identicd Assets Obsemble Inputs Inputs
(Level r) $.qel2\ (Lwel 3)

accounts (l)

Total

(l) A poobd rparatc dccolnt bu seueral participating bencfit pknt and eech owns a share ofthe tltal pool ofiwertmens.

PImt assets at fair ualue:

Fixed maturities:

Federal government and agenry

Corporate - 416
Mortgage and other asset-backed - 8

Fund investments and pooled separate accounts (l) - 519

-D 4

443

TJ

27

TOTALFDGD MATURITIES 947 t5 982

Equity securities:

Domestic 1,202

International, including funds and pooled separate accounts (t) 158

4

r49
1,216

307

l0

T1OTAL EQUITY SECURITIES r,360 r53 t0 r,523

Real estate and mortgage loans, including pooled separare

accounts (l)

Securities partnerships

Hedge funds

Guaranteed deposit account contract
Cash eouivalents

351

328

327

47

107

35r
328
327

47

r07

TOTAL PI.AN ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE $ 1,360 $ 1,207 r,098 $ 3,665

(l) A pooled rcparate accouni ltat rcueral paricipating bcneft plant and each owns a sharc ofthe total pool ofinuestment.

Plan assets in Level I include exchangeJisted equity securities. Level 2 valued based on the pension plan's ownership share of the equiry of
assets primarily include: the investee including changes in the fair values of its underlying

. fixed income and international equity funds priced using their daily lnvestmenB'

net asset value that is the exit price; and The following table summarizes the changes in pension plan assets

. . _:r__.._.._:.:__ __ classified in lrvel 3 for the years ended December 31,2013 and. tlxed matufltres valuec usrng recent trades ot stmtlat secufltres or
r | | ., r | | I)ecember 31,2012. Actual return on plan assets in this table may

Prlclng mooers as oescrlDeo Delow' 
include changes in fair value that are a*ributable to both observable

Plan assets classified in Level 3 include investments primarily in and unobservable inputs.
securities partnerships, equiry real estate and hedge funds generally
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& Equity & Mortgage

Securities Loans
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Securities

Guaranteed

Deposit
Account
Contract

Balance at Tanuarv 1

Actual return on plan assets:

Assets still held at the reporting date

Assets sold durine the oeriod

TOITAL ACTUAI. RETURN ON PLAN ASSETS

Purchases, sales, setdements, net

Tiansfers into/out of Level 3

Balance at December 31,2013

Fixed

Maturities Real Estate

& Equity & Mortgage Securities

(In million) Securities Loans Partnerships

Guaranteed

Deposit
Account

Hedge Funds Contract Total

Bdance at Jaauary 1,2012 $ 26 $ 303 $ 314 $ 148 $ 39 $ 830

Actual return on plan msets:

Assets still held at the reporting date

Assets sold during the period

ur_38 18 t0

TOTAL ACTUAL RETURN ON PI.AN ASSETS 69l838

Purchases, sales, settlements, net

Tiansfers into/out of lrvel 3

5

l,

lt (4) r69 186

t3
5

Balance at Decembet 31,2012 44$ 352 $ 328 $ 327 $ 47 $ 1,098

The assets related ro orher postretirement benefit plans are invested in they are classified as Level 3. During 2013, these assets had a loss of
deposir funds with interest credited based on fixed income $l million,aswell asanetwithdrawalfromthefundof $3million,
investments in the general account of CGLIC. fu there are significant while during 2012, they earned a return of $ 1 million, offset by a net

unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value of these assets, withdrawal of $3 million.

Assumptionsfor?ension and otherpostetiremmt bmeft pkas. Management determined the present value of the projected benefit obligation

and the accumulared other posrretirement benefit obligation and related benefit costs based on the following weighted average assumptions as of
and for the years ended December 3l:

2013 2012

Discount rate:

Pension benefit obligation
Other postretirement benefi t obligation

Pension benefit cost

Ocher postretirement benefit cost

4.50o/o 3.50o/o

3.25o/o

4.00o/o

3.75o/o

8.00%

5.00%

In measuring the benefit obligation, the Company sets discounr rates

by applying actual annualized yields at various durations from a

discount mte curve to the expected cash flows of the pension and

other postretirement benefits liabilities. The discount rate curve is
constructed using an array ofbonds in various industries throughout
the domestic market for high qualiry bonds, but only selects those for

the curve that have an above average return at each duration. The
bond portfolio used to construct the curve is monitored to ensure that
only high qualiry issues are included. The Company believes that this

curve is representative of the yields that the Company is able to
achieve in its plan asset investment strategy. As paft ofits discount rate

setting process, the Company reviewed alternative indices and

determined that they were not materially different than the result

produced by the curve used.

Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets were developed

considering actual long-term historical returns, expected long-term

market conditions, plan asset mix and management's investment

strategy, that continues a significant allocation to domestic and

foreign equiry securities as well as real estate, securities partnerships

and hedge funds. Expected long-term market conditions take into
consideration certain key macroeconomic trends including expected

domestic and foreign GDP growth, employment levels and inflation.
The expected return assumption is considered reasonable for 2013.

The Company will be re-assessing its expected return assumption for

2014 glen the change in asset mix that occurred during 2013.
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To measure pension costs, the Company uses a market-related asset

valuation for domestic pension plan assets invested in non-fixed

income investments. The market-related value of these pension assets

recognizes the difference between actual and expected long-term
returns in the portfolio over 5 years, a method that reduces the

short-term .impact of market fluctuations on pension cost. At
December 3 l, 2013, the market-related asset value was approximately

$3.8 billion compared with a market value of approximately

$4.1 billion.

Benefit payments. The following benefit payments, including expected future services, are expected to be paid in:

(In nillions)

Other
Posuetirement

Pension Benefir Benefits

20r4
20r5
20r6
2017

2018

2019-2022

$4r7$33
$336$32
$335$31
$335$30
$334$28
$ 1,62r I 117

B. 401(k) Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan in which the Company

matches a portion of employees' pre-tax contributions. Another
401 (k) plan with an employer match was frozen in 1999. Participants

in the active plan may invest in various funds that invest in the

Companyt common stock, several diversified stock funds, a bond
fund or a fixed-income fund. In conjunction with the action to freeze

the domestic defined benefit pension plans, effective January 1, 2010,

NOTE l0 Fair Value Measurements

the Company increased its matching conributions to 401(k) plan

participants.

The Company may elect to increase its matching contributions if the

Company's annual performance meets certain targets. A substantial

iunount o[rhe Company's matching contributions are invested in the

Company's common stock. The Companyt expense for these plans

was $91 million for 2013, $78 million for 2012 and $72 million for
2011.

The Company carries certain financial instruments at fair value in the

financial statements including fixed maturities, equiry securities,

short-term investments and derivatives. Other financial instruments

are measured at fair value under certain conditions. such as when

impaired.

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset could be exchanged

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the balance

sheet date. A liabiliryt fair value is defined as the amount that would
be paid to transfer the liabiliry to a market participant, not the

amount that would be paid to settle the liabiliry with the creditor.

The Companyt financial assets and liabilities caried at fair value have

been classified based upon a hierarchy defined by GAAP The
hierarchy gives the highesr ranking to fair values determined using

unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and

liabilities (trvel l) and the lowest ranking to fair values determined

using methodologies and models with unobservable inputs (Level 3).
An assett or a liabiliryt classification is based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to its measurement. For example, a financial

asset or liability carried at fair value would be classified in Level 3 if
unobservable inputs were significant to the instrumentt fair value,

even though the measurement may be derived using inputs that are

both observable (Levels I and 2) and unobservable (Level 3).

The Company estimates fair values using prices from third parties or
internal pricing methods. Fair value esrimates received from rhird-
party pricing services are based on reported trade activiry and quoted
market prices when available, and other market information that a
market participant may use to estimate fair value. The internal pricing
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methods are performed by the Companyt investment professionals

and generally involve using discounted cash flow analyses,

incorporating current market inputs for similar financial instruments

with comparable terms and credit qualiry, as well as other qualitative
factors. In instances where there is little or no market activiry for the

same or similar instruments, fair value is estimated using methods,

models and assumptions that the Company believes a hypothetical

market participant would use to determine a current transaction price.

These valuation techniques involve some level of estimation and

judgment that becomes significant with increasingly complex

instruments or pricing models.

The Company is responsible for determining fair value, as well as the

appropriate level within the fair value hierarchy, based on the

significance of unobservable inputs, The Company reviews

methodologies, processes and controls of third-party pricing services

and compares prices on a test basis ro those obtained from other

external pricing sources or internal estimates. The Company performs

ongoing analyses of both prices received from third-parry pricing
services and those developed internally to determine that they

represent appropriate estimates of fair value. The controls completed

by the Company and third-parcy pricing services include reviewing to

ensure that prices do not become stale and whether changes from
prior valuations are reasonable or require additional review The

Company also performs sample testing of sales values to confirm the

accuracy of prior fair value esdmates. Exceptions identified during
these processes indicate that ad.iustments co prices are infrequent and

do not significantly impact valuations.
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Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Carried at Fair Value

The following tables provide information as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 about the Company's financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value. Separate account assets that are also recorded at fair value on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets are reported separately under the

heading "Separate account assets" as gains and losses related to these assets generally accrue directly to poliryholders.

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical fusets
Significant Other

Significant
Unobservable

l,evel I 3

Financial assets at fair vdue:
Fixed maturities:

Federal government and agenry
State and local government
Foreign govemment

Total fixed maturities (t)

secufltres

Subtotal
Short-term invesrments
GMIB assets(2)

Other derivative assets t3)

TOTAL FINANCIAI ASSETS AI FAIR VALUE.
H(CLUDING SEPARATE ACCOI.]NTS

Financial liabilities at fair value;

GMIB liabilities
Other derivative liabitities (3)

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VAIUE
(])Fixedmatuitiesincludtd$458niIlionofnetappreciationrquiredtoadjutfunrepoliEbneftfortberan.ofsettbmentanniEbuinesinduding$60millio

ruritia chtsifud in Lael 3-

(2) The GMIB uset: represented retrocesiorul controctt in phce fmn three atemal reiuarqt tbat cotq the qpomres on tbese contracn. Se No* 7 for additional infomtion-

(3)othrdeiuatfeasetrefzcudintqettrateandforeigncunenc7swapsqmlifingacahfauhedgr.otherdcivatiueliabilitiainchdtd$15n
swaps qualifiing a cuh flow hedga and $l willion of intnat rute andforeign ilnncl seapt not designaced * accounting hedga. See Note 12 for additiowl infomtion.

December 31,2Ol3

December 31,2012
(In millions)

Observable

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Mrkets for Significant Other Unobservable

Identical fuserc Observable Inputs Inputs
(Level l) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Corporate
Federd agency mortgage-backed
Other mortgage-backed
Other assec-backed

Financial assets at fair yalue:

Fixed maturities:
Federal governmenr and agency

State and local government
Foreign government
Corporate
Federal agenry morcgage-backed
Orher mortgage-backed
Ocher asset-backed

t56 $ 746 $
2,437
1,298

I 1,201

122
88

340

-$ 902
2,437
1 \))

1 1,896
122
89

937

1l

695

1

597

Total fixed maturities (l)

Equity securities
r56

4
t6,232

73
r,3r7

34
17,705

lll
Subtoral

Short-term invesrments
GMIB assets 

(2)

Other derivative xsets 13)

160 r6,305
154

4I

r,35r

622

17,816
r54
622

41

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AI FAIR VALUE,
HrcLUDING SEPARAIE ACCOT]NTS

Financial liabilitiis ai' fair value:

GMIB liabilities
Other derivative liabilities 13)

160 $ 16,500 $

r,170
3l

TOThL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AI FAIR VALUE -$ 3l$1,170$1,20r
(1)FixednanridetincIuded$875nillionofnetappreciationrquiredtoadjultfuturepolirbeneftfortherun-ofrtthmentannait7buinesin

rrurities clasifed in Leuel 3.

(2)TheGMIBaset'rEre'entedretroce''ionalcontractsin2kcefromtwoutenalreinslrenthatcour55o/ooftbeexposuresonthesecontrdcts.SeeNote7foratio

(3) Other deiuatfe usets incladed $5 million of intoest rate tnd forign cunncl swaps qukfing a crb Jhw hedgr and $36 million of interett rate twapt not desigmted r accounting
hedges. Other dziutive liabilities ry'lected foreign annE and interest rate wapr qulifying c cuh fow hedgr. See Note 12 for addiiorul infomtion.
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Level I Financial Assets

Inputs for instruments classified in lrvel I include unadjusted quoted

prices for identical assets in active markets accessible at the

measurement date. Active markets provide pricing data for trades

occurring at least weekly and include exchanges and dealer markets.

Assets in Level 1 include actively-traded U.S. government bonds and

exchange-listed equity securities. Given the narrow definition of
trvel I and the Companyt investment asset strategy to maximize

investment returns, a relatively small portion of the Companyt
investment assets are classified in this category.

Lsrel2 Financial Assets and Financid Liabilities

Inputs for instruments classified in kvel 2 include quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices from those

willing to trade in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are

market observable or can be corroborated by market data for the term
of the instrument. Such other inputs include market interest rates and

volatilities, spreads and yield cuwes. An instrument is classified in
Level 2 if the Company determines that unobservable inputs are

insignificant.

Fixed maturities and equity securities. Approximately 910/o of the

Companyt investments in fixed maturities and equiry securities are

classified in Level 2 including most public and private corporate debt

and equity securities, federal agency and municipal bonds,

non-government mortgage-backed securities and preferred stocls.
Because many fixed maturities do not trade daily, third-parry pricing
services and internal methods often use recent trades ofsecurities with
similar Features and characteristics. 'When recent trades are not
available, pricing models are used to determine these prices. These

models calculate fair values by discoundng future cash flows at

estimated market interest rates. Such market rates are derived by
calculating the appropriate spreads over comparable U.S. Tieasury

securities, based on the credit quality, industry and structure of the

asset. Typical inputs and assumptions to pricing models include, but
are not limited to, a combination of benchmark yields, reported

trades, issuer spreads, liquidiry, benchmark securities, bids, offers,

reference data, and industry and economic events. For mortgage-

backed securities, inputs and assumptions may also include

characterisdcs of the issuer, collateral attributes, prepayment speeds

and credit rating.

Nearly all of these instruments are valued using recent trades or
pricing models. Less than 10lo of the fair value of investments classified

in Level 2 represents foreign bonds that are valued using a single

unadjusted market-observable input derived by averaging muldple
broker-dealer quotes, consistent with local market pracdce.

Short-term inaestmerts are carried at fair value which approximates

cost. On a regular basis the Company compares market prices for
these securities to recorded amounts to validate that current carrying

amounts approximate exit prices. The short-term nature of the

investments and corroboration of the reported amounts over the

holding period support their classification in l,evel 2.

Otber deioathtes classified in Level 2 represent over-the-counter

instruments such as interest rate and foreign currenry swap contrac$.

Fair values for these instruments are determined using market

observable inputs including forward currenc1' and interest rate curves

and widely published market observable indices. Credit risk related to

the counterparty and the Company.is considered when estimating the

fair values of rhese derivatives. However, the Company is largely

protected by collateral arrangements with counterparties, and

determined that no adjustment for credit risk was required as of
December 31,2013 or December 31,2012. The nature and use of
these ocher derivatives are described in Note 12.

Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Certain inputs for instruments classified in Level 3 are unobservable

(supported by little or no market activiry) and significant to rheir

resulting fair value measurement. Unobservable inputs reflect the

Companyt best estimate of what hypotherical market participans
would use to determine a transaction price for the asset or liabiliry at

the reporting date.

The Company classifies certain newly issued, privately-placed,

complex or illiquid securities, as well as assets and liabilities relating to
GMIB, in Level 3.

Fixed matuities and eqrity secuirtes. Approximately 7o/o of fixed, maturities and equity securities are priced using significant unobservable

inputs and classified in this category, including:

(In milliow)

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Orher asset and mortgage-backed securities - valued using pricing models

Corporate and government fixed maturities - valued using pricing models

Corporate fixed maturities - valued at fansaction price

598

596
\')7

34ity securities - valued at transaction

TOTAL I

Fair values of orher asset and mortgage-backed securides and

corporate and government fixed maturides are primarily determined
using pricing models that incorporate the specific characteristics of
each asset and related assumptions including the investment type and

structure, credit qualiry, industry and maturiry date in comparison to
current market indices, spreads and liquidity of assets with similar

characteristics. For other asset and mortgage-backed securities, inputs
and assumptions for pricing may also include collateral attributes and

prepayment speeds. Recenc trades in the subject securiry or similar

securities are assessed when available, and the Company may also

review published research in its evaluation, as well as the issuert

financial statements. Approximately l0o/o of fixed maturities classified
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in kvel 3 represent single, unadjusted, non-binding broker quotes

that are not considered market observable. Certain private equiry

investments and subordinated cotporate fixed maturities, representing

approximately 15o/o of securities included in kvel 3, are valued at

transaction price in the absence ofmarket data indicating a change in
the estimated fair values.

Quantitative Information about Unobservable Inputs

The following tables summarize the fair value and significant

unobservable inputs used in pricing Level 3 securities that were

developed directly by the Company as of December 31, 2073 and

20l2.The range and weighted average basis point amounts reflect the

Companys best estimates of the unobservable adjustments a market

participant would make to the market observable spreads (adjustment

to discount rates) used to calculate the fair values in a discounted cash

flow analysis.

As ofDecember 31,20L3
(In milliot *cept bat points)

PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Other atset and mortgage-bached secuities, The significant
unobservable inputs used to value the following other asset and

mortgage-backed securities are liquidiry and weighting of credit

spreads. \When there is limited trading activiry for the securiry an

adjustment for liquidiry is made as of the measurement date that
considers current market conditions, issuer circumstances and

complexity of the securiry structure. An adjustment to weight credit

spreads is needed to value a more complex bond structure with
multiple underlying collateral with no standard market valuation

technique. The weighting of credit spreads is primarily based on the

underlying collateralt characteristics and their proportional cash flows

supporting the bond obligations. The resulting wide range of
unobservable adjustments in the table below is due to the varying

liquidity and quality ofthe underlying collateral, ranging from high
credit quality to below investment grade.

Corporate and gouernment fxed maturities. The significant unobservable input used to value the following corporate and government fixed

maturities is an adjustment for liquidiry. tVhen there is limited trading activiry for the securiry an adjustment is needed to reflect current market

conditions and issuer citcumsrances.

Fair Value

Unobservable
Input

Unobservable Mjustment
to Discount Rates Range

(Weighted Average) in
Basis Points

Other. asset and mortgage-backed securities $ 593

Corporate and qovernment fixed maturities $ 305

Liquidity
'W'eighting of credit spreads

60 - 620 (170)

120 - 2,090 (290)

Liquidicy 80 - 370 (200)

As ofDecember 3l,2Ol2
(In milliow excett bqb toints) Fair Value Input

Unobservable Adjustment
to Discount Rates Range

Unobservable (Weighted Average) in
Basis Points

Other asset md mortgage-backed securities Liquidiry
Veighting of credit spreads

Corporate and government fixed maturities $ 439 , Liquidity

)d4 60 - 410 (140)

50 - 4,540 (4to)
20 - 640 (190)

Significant increases in any of these inputs would result in a lower fair
value measurement while decreases in these inputs would result in a

higher fair value measurement. Generally, the unobservable inputs are

not interrelated and a change in the assumption used for one

unobservable input is not accompanied by a change in rhe other

unobservable input. The tables do not include Level 3 secur.ities when

fair value and significant unobservable inputs were not dweloped
directly by the Company, including securities using a single,

unadjusted non-binding broker quote and securities valued at

transacdon price. See the preceding discussion regarding the

Companyt valuation processes and controls.

Graranteed minimam ineome beuft contractr. As discussed in
Note 7, the Company effectively exited the GMIB business as a result

of the February 4,2013 agreement with Berkshire. Although these

GMIB assets and liabilities must continue to be reported as derivatives

at Fair value, the only assumption that is expected to impact future
shareholders' net income is dre risk of non-performance. This
assumption reflects a market participant's view of (a) the risk of the

Company not fulfilling its GMIB obligations (GMIB liabiliry) and

(b) the credit risk that the reinsurers do not pay their obligations
(GMIB asset).

The Company reports GMIB liabilities and assets as derivatives at fair
value because cash flows of these liabilities and assets are affected by

equity markets and interest rates, but are without significant life
insurance risk and are settled in lump sum payments. Under the terms

of these written and purchased contracts, the Company periodically

receives and pays Fees based on either contractholders' account values

or deposits increased at a contractual rate. The Company will also pay

and receive cash depending on changes in account values and interest

rates when contractholders first elect to receive minimum income

payments. The Company estimates the fair value of the assets and

liabilities for GMIB contracts by calculating rhe results for many

scenarios run through a model utilizing various assumptions that
include non-performance risk, among other things.

The non-performance risk adjustment is incorporated by adding an

addidonal spread to the discounr rate in the calculation ofboth (a) the

GMIB liabiliry to reflect a market participantt view of the risk of the
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Company not fulfilling its GMIB obligarions, and (b) the GMIB asset

to reflect a market participantt view ofthe credit risk of the reinsurers,

after considering collateral. Non-performance risk adjustments had an

immaterial effect on shareholders' net income in 2013 and,2012.

Other assumptions that affect the GMIB asset and liability include

capital market assumptions (including market returns, interest rates

and market volatilities of the underlying equity and bond mutual fund
investments) and future annuitant behavior (including mortality,
lapse, and annuiry election rates). As ceftain assumpdons used to
estimate fair vdues for these contracts are largely unobservable

(primarily related to future annuitant behavior), the Company

classifies GMIB assets and liabilities in Level 3.

The Company regularly evaluates each of the assumpdons used in
establishing these assets and liabilities. Significant decreases in

Losses required to adjust future poliry benefits for setdement

mnuities (l)

Purchases, issuances, settlements:

Purchases

Sales

sales and settlements

Timsfers into/(out of) Level 3:

Tianslers into Level 3

Tiansfers out of Level 3

Total transfers into/(out o0 Level 3

Balance at December 31,2013

Total gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income attributable ro

instrumencs held at the reportinq date

assumed lapse rates or spreads used to cdculate non-performance risk,

or increases in assumed annuiry election rates would result in higher

fair value measurements, A change in one of these assumptions is not
necessarily accompanied by a change in another assumprion.

GMIB liabilities are reported in the Companyt Consolidated Balance

Sheets in Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilides.

GMIB assets associated with these contracts represent net receivables

in connection with reinsurance that the Company has purchased from
three exrernal reinsurers and are reported in the Companys

Consolidared Balance Sheets in Other assets, includinq other
intaneibles.

Changes in Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Carried at Fair Value

The following tables summarize the changes in financial assets and financial liabilities classified in Level 3 for the years ended December 31, 2013

and2012. Separate account asset changes are reported separately under the heading "Separare accounr assets" as the changes in fair values ofthese

assets accrue directly to policyholders. Gains and losses reported in these tables may include net changes in fair value that are attributable to both
observable and unobservable inouts.

Fircd

On itv Securities GMIB Assets GMIB Liabilitie.s GMIB Net

Balance at

Gains (losses) included in shreholders' net income:

GMIB fair value gain/(loss)

Other

Total gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income

Losses included in other comprehensive income

Total

Maturities &

(1) Amounts dt not acme to shareboldm-
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Fixed

GMIB Assets GMIB Liabilitier GMIB Net

Balance ac January l,2012 $ 1,002 (r,333) $ (621)7t2

Gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income:

GMIB fair value gain/(los)

Other r3
(55) 4T96

Total gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income 4l96(55)13

Gains included in orher comprehensive income

Losses required to adjust future poliry benefits for settlement

annuities(l)
Purchases, issuances, settlements:

Purchases

Sales

Setrlemens

(10)

188

(l)
(88) (35) 4)67

Total purchases, sdes, and sertlements tJ/(35)

Tiansfers into/(out of) Level 3:

Transfers into Level 3

Transfers out of Level 3

283
(44)

Total transfers into/(out oO Level 3 )?q

Balance at December 3L,2012 r,35r 622 (1,170) (54t1

Total gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income anributable to

instruments held at rhe reDorting date 4l(55)(1)

(1) Amoantt do not accrue to thareholden

As noted in the tables above, total gains and losses included in
shareholders' net income are reflected in the following captions in the

Consolidated Statements o[ Income:

. Realized investment gains (losses) and net investment income for
amounts related to fixed maturities and equiry securities and realized

investment gains (losses) for the impact of changes in
non-performance risk related to GMIB assers and liabilities

beginning February 4, 2013, similar to hedge ineffectiveness; and

. GMIB fair value (gain) loss for amounts related to GMIB assets and

liabilities, except for the impact of changes in non-performance risk

subsequent to February 4,2013.

In the tables above, gains and losses included in other comprehensive

income are reflected in net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on

securities in the Consolidared Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Reclassifications impacting Level 3 financial instruments are reported

as transfers into or out of the Level 3 caregory as of the beginning of
the quarter in which the transfer occurs. Therefore gains and losses in

2013
In
Guaranteed separate accounts (See Note 23)

accounts (l)

TOTAL SEPARA.TE ACCOUNT ASSETS

income only reflect activity for the period the instrument was

classified in Level 3.

TransFers into or out of the Level 3 category occur when unobservable

inputs, such as the Company's best estimate of what a market

participant would use to determine a current transaction price,

become more or less significant to the fair value measurement. For the

years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, transfers between Level 2

and Level 3 primarily reflect the change in significance of the

unobservable inputs used to value certain public and private corporate

bonds, principally related to liquidity ofthe securities and credit risk

of the issuers.

Because GMIB reinsurance arrangements remain in effect at the

reporting date, the Company has reflected the total gain or loss for the

period as the total gain or loss included in income attributable to
instruments still held at the repofting date. Howevet the Company

reduces the GMIB assets and liabilities resulting from these

reinsurance arrangements when annuitants lapse, die, elect their
benefit, or reach the age after which the right to elect their benefit

expires.

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Mrkets for Signifimt Other Unobseryable

Identical fusets Observable Inputs Inputs

Separate account assets

Fair values and changes in the fair values of separate account assets generally accrue directly to the policyholders and are excluded from the

Companyt revenues and expenses. Ar December 31, separate account assets were as follows:

(1) Atof Decenber3l,2013,non-gaaranteedvparutedccounttinchded$3SbillioninuserrupportingtheCom?anfipenrionphngirluding$983millionclasifedinLnel j
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2012
(In milliow)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for Significant Other

Identical Assets Obseruable Inpurc
(Level r) [-ercl2)

Significmt
Unobservable

Inputs
(Lwel 3)

Guaranteed separate accounts (See Note 23)
Non-guaranteed separate accounts 

(l)
$ 245 $ 324

r,925 4,258
$ -$

1,005
569

7,1 88

TOTAL SEPARATE ACCOUNT ASSETS 2,170 $ 4,582 $ 1,005 $ 7,757
(1) As of Decmber 31, 2012, non-guaranteed rcparate dccounu inchded $3.4 billion in asett ta??orting the Companyi peuion phns, including $956 nillion clasifed in Lnel 3.

Separate account assets in Level I primarily include exchange-listed

equiry securities. Level 2 assets primarily include:

. corporate and structured bonds valued using recent trades ofsimilar
securities or pricing models that discount future cash flows at

estimated market interest rates as described abovet and

The following table summarizes the change in separate account assets reported

0n milliow)

. actively-traded institutional and retail mutual fund investments and

separate accounts priced using the daily net asser value that is the
exit price.

Separate account assets classified in Level 3 include invescments

primarily in securities partnerships, real estate and hedge funds
generally valued based on the separate accountt ownership share of
the equity of the investee including changes in the fair values of its
underlying investments.

in Level 3 for rhe years ended December 31,2013 nd 2012.

2013 2012

Ba.lance at January I
Policyholder gains (r)

Purchases, issuances, setdemenrs:

Purchases

Sales

Se mlements

sales and setdements

Tiansfers into/(out of) Level 3:
Tiansfers into Level 3 :.a::::::::.:\

Tiansfers out of Level

Total transfers into/(out o0 Level 3:

Balance at December 3l $1
(1)Includedinthisamountweregaiwof$76nillionattribltablet0inrtrumentslillheldatDecember31,201jandgainsof$49nillionat*ibutabletoin5fument'

Deceuber 31,2012.

$ 750
55

283
(6)

$ 1,005
82

'173

Total 187

L7
(4)

t,

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value under
Certain Conditions

Some financial assets and liabilities are not carried at fair value each

reporting period, but may be measured using fair value only under

certain conditions, such as investments in partnerships and

commercial mortgage loans when they become impaired. Impaired

commercial mortgage loans and partnerships representing less than

1%o of total investments were written down to their fair va.lues,

resulting in realized investment losses of $t2 million, after-tax in 2013

and $7 million. after-tax in 2012.

(In miltiou)

Commercial mortgage loans

Contractholder deposit funds, excluding universal life producrs

debt, includine aurrent maturities, leases

The fair values presented in the table above have been estimared using
market information when available. The following valuation
methodologies and inputs are used by the Company to determine fair
vatue,
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Fair Value Disclosures for Financial Instruments Not
Carried at Fair Value

The following table includes the Companyt financial instruments not
recorded at fair value that are subject to fair value disclosure

requirements at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Financial instruments that are carried in the Company's Consolidated

Financial Statements at amounts rhat approximate fair value are

excluded from the following table.

Classifiation in
Fair Value

December 3l,2Ol3 December 31,2012

Carying Fair Carryrng
VaIue VaIue Value VaIue

I*vel 3

Level 3

Inel 2

I OOq

1,082

2,85r
1,0t6$

$ s 4

Commercial mortgage hans. The Company estimates the fair value

of commercial mortgage loans generally by discounting the

contractual cash flows at estimated market interest rates that reflect

the Companvt assessment of the credit oualiw of the loans. Market



interest rates are derived by calculating the appropriate spread over

comparable U.S. Tieasury rates, based on the property rype, qualiry

rating and average life of the loan. The qualiry ratings reflect the

relative risk of the loan, considering debc service coverage, the

loan-to-value ratio and other factors. Fair values ofimpaired mortgage

loans are based on the estimated fair value ofthe underlying collateral

generally determined using an internal discounted cash flow model.

The fair value measurements were classified in Level 3 because the

cash flow models incorporate significant unobservable inputs.

Contractholder dEosit funds, excluding aniaersal life products.

Generally, these funds do not have stated maturities. Approximately
60% of these balances can be withdrawn by the customer at any time

without prior notice or penalry. The fair value for these contracts is the

amount estimated to be payable to the customer as of the reporting

date, which is generally the carrying value. Most of the remaining

contractholder deposit funds are reinsured by the buyers of the

individual life and annuiry and retirement benefits businesses. The

fair value for these contracts is determined using the fair value ofthese

NOTE 11 Investments
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buyers' assets supporting these reinsured contracts. The Company had

a reinsurance recoverable equal to the carrying value of these reinsured

contracts. These instruments were classified in Level 3 because certain

inputs are unobservable (supported by little or no market activity) and

significant to their resulting fair value measurement.

Lotg-term debt, including cuftert maturities, excluding capital
leases. The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted market

prices for recent trades. tffhen quoced market prices are not available,

fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis and the

Companyt estimated current borrowing rate [or debt of similar terms

and remaining maturities. These measurements were classified in
Level 2 because the fair values are based on quoted market prices or
other inputs that are market observable or can be corroborated by

market data.

Fair values of off-balance-sheet financial insrruments were nor

material as of December 31,2013 and 2012.

A. Fixed Maturities and Equity Securities

Securities in the following table are included in fixed maturities and equiry securities on the Companyt Consolidated Balance Sheets. These

securities are carried at fair vdue with changes in fair value reported in other realized investment gains (losses) and interest and dividends reported

in net investment income. Hybrid investments include certain oreferred stock or debt securities with call or conversion features.

(In milliorc) 2013 2012

Included in 6xed maturities:

Tiading securities (amortired cost: $l; $1)

Hybrid securities (amordzed cost: $5; $15)

$l$
5

I
t5

TOTAL $6$16
Included .in equity securities:

$70

The following information about fixed maturities excludes trading and hybrid securities. The amortized cost and fair value by contractual

maturity periods for fixed maturities were as follows at December 3L, 2013l.

(h millior)
Amortized

Cost

Fair
Value

Due in one year or less

Due after one year through five years

Due after five years through ten years

Due after ten years

Mortqage and other asset-backed securities

$ l,l5r $

5,283
5,260

2,622

951

1,r73

),o)o
5,530

3,084
1,037

TOTAL $ 15,267 $ 16,480

Actual maturities could differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without
penalties. In some cases, the Company may also extend maturity dates.
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Gross unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on fixed maturities by ,yp. of issuer is shown below (excluding trading securities and hybrid
securiries with a fair value of $6 million at December 31, 2013 and $t6 million at December 31,2012).

December 3l,2Ol3

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
(In miltiore) Cost

Federal government and agency

State and local government

Foreign government

Corporate

Federal agency mortgage-backed

Other mortgage-backed

Other asset-backed

TOTAL

December 3l,2Ol2

(Ir miltior)

Amortized Unrealized
Cost Appreciation

Unrealized

Depreciation

Fair

VaIue

Federal government and agency

Srate and local government

Foreign government

Corporate

Federal agency mortgage-backed

Orher mortgage-backed

Orher asser-backed

$ 509

2,r69
r,r97

10,590

12l
82

797

$ 393
270

t26
1,308

I
l1

t4>

)-
(2)

(l)
(r7)

(4)

(6)

$ 902
2,437

1,322

I r,881

122

89

936

TOTAL $ 15,465 $ 2,254 $ (30) $ 17,689

The above table includes investments with a fair value of $2.6 billion
supporting the Companyt run-off sertlement annuity business, with
gross unrealized appreciation of $478 million and gross unrealized

depreciation of $20 million at December 31, 2013. Such unrealized

amounts are required to support future poliry benefit liabilities ofthis
business and, as such, are not included in accumulated other
comprehensive income. At December 31, 2012, investments

supporting this business had a fair vdue of $3.1 billion, gross

unrealized appreciation of $883 million and gross unrealized

depreciation of $8 million.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had commitments to
purchase $56 million of fixed maturities, all of which bear interest at a

fixed market rate.

Rnieu of declines in fair ulue. Management reviews fixed
maturities with a decline in fair value from cost for impairment based

on criteria that include:

. length of time and severiry of decline;

. financial health and specific near term prospects of the issuer;

. changes in the regulatory, economic or general market environment

of the issuert industry or geographic region; and

. the Companys intent to sell or the likelihood of a required sale prior
to recovery.

As of Decembe r 31, 2013, fixed maturities (excluding trading and hybrid securities) with a decline in fair value from amortized cost (primarily

corporate securities) were by length of rime of decline, as follows:

December 31,2013

(Dollan in milliore)

Fair Amortized Unrealized Number
Value Cost Depreciation oflssues

Fixed maturities:

One year or less:

Invatment grade l

Below investment grade

More than one year:

Investment grade

Below investment gride

$ 2,250 $

$237 $

$256 $

$ 46 $

2,317 $
243 $

278 $

50$

(67)

(6)

(22)
(4\

599

210

72

l6

As of Decembe r 31, 2013, the unredized depreciation of investment grade fixed maturities is primarily due to increases in market yields since

purchase. Excluding trading and hybrid securities, equity securities with a fair value lower than cost were not material at December 31,2013.
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B. Commercial Mortgage Loans

Mortgage loans held by the Company are made exclusively to commercial borrowers and are diversified by properry rype, location and borrower.

f-oans are generally issued at a fixed rate of interest and are secured by high qualiry, primarily completed and substantially leased operating

PfoPerues.

At December 31, commercial mortgage loans were distributed among the following properry rypes and geographic regions:

(In nillions) 2013 2012

Property type

Office buildings

Aprtment buildings
Industrial

Hotels

Retail facilities

Other

TOTAL

Geographic region

Pacific

South Atlantic
New England

Central

Middle Atlantic

Mountain

TOTAL

At December 31, 2013, scheduled commercial mortgage loan

maturities were as follows (in millions): $177 in20l4, $287 in20l5,
$719 in 2016, $252 \n 2017 and $817 thereafter. Actual maturities

could differ from contractual maturities for several reasons: borrowers

may have the right to prepay obligations with or without prepayment

penalties; rhe maturity date may be extended; and loans may be

refinanced.

As of December 31,2013, the Company had commitments to extend

credit under commercial mortgage loan agreements of $7 million.

Credit quality, The Company regularly evaluates and monirors credit

risk, beginning with the initial underwriting of a mortgage loan and

continuing throughout the investment holding period. Mortgage

origination professionals employ an internal credit qualiry rating

system designed to evaluate the relative risk ofthe ffansaction at each

loan's origination that is then updated each year as part ofthe annual

ponfolio loan review. The Company evaluates and monitors credit

quality on an ongoing basis, classifring each loan as a loan in good

standing, potential problem loan or problem loan.

Qualiry ratings are based on our evaluation of a number of key inputs

related to the loan, including real estate market-related factors such as

rental rates and vacancies, and properry-specific inputs such as growth

rate assumptions and lease rollover statistics. However, the wo most

significant contributors to the credit quality rating are the debt service

coverage and loan-to-value ratios, The debt service coverage ratio

measures the amount of property cash flow available to meet annual

interest and principal payments on debt with a ratio below 1.0

indicating that there is not enough cash flow co cover the required

loan payments, The loan-to-value ratio, commonly expressed as a

percentage, compares the amount of the loan to the fair vdue of the

underlying property collateralizing the loan.

S 76t

32l
450

407

285

$ 866

57r
532

463

346

$ 966

730
387

352

s 80t
564

379

260

/J

$ 2,851

The following tables summarize the credit risk profile of the Company's commercial mortgage loan portfolio based on loan-to-value and debt

service coverage ratios, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31,2013

loan-to-Value Ratios
Debt Service Coverage Ratio

[,3Ox or Greater 1.20x to 1.29x l.l0x to 1.00x to 1,09x kss thm 1.00x

Below 507o

50o/o to 59o/o

600/o to 690/o

80o/o to 89o/o

90o/o ro 99o/o

1007o or above

70o/o ro 79o/o

TOTAL
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Loan-to-Vdue Ratios
(In nillhrc)

December 3lr 2Ol2

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

l.3ox or Greater 1.20x to 1.29x l.l0x to 1.19x 1.0(k to 1,09x Less t[an 1.00x Total

Below 50%o

50o/o ro 59o/o

600/o rc 690/o

70o/o to 79o/o

80o/o to 89%
90o/o to 99o/o

l00o/o or above

297 $
614
562
194

r4

8$
104
75

147

42
30

-$

132

13r

30

r6
58
58
66

50$
5)
66

4
l8

-$ 355
795
703
489
294
t02
11317

TOTAL $ r,726 $ 4O2 $ 318 $ 207 $ 198 92,851

The Companyt annual in-depth review of its commercial mortgage

loan investments is the primary mechanism for identifring emerging
risks in rie porfolio. The most recent review $ras completed by the
Companyt investment professionals in the second quarter of 2013
and included an analysis of each underlying propertyt most recent

annual financial statements, rent rolls, operating plans, budgets, a

physical inspection of the property and other pertinent facrors. Based

on historicd results, current leases, lease expirarions and rental
conditions in each market, the Company estimates the current year

and future stabilized property income and fair value, and categorizes

the investments as loans in good standing, potential problem loans or
problem loans. Based on properry valuations arrd cash flows estimared

as part of chis rwiew, and considering updates for loans where material
changes were subsequendy idendfied, the portfoliot average

loan-to-value ratio improved to 640/o at December 31, 2013 from
650/o at December 31, 2012. The porfolio's average debt sewice

coverage ratio was estimated to be 1.62 at December 31, 2013, e

modest improvement from 1.56 at December 31,2012.

Qualiry ratings are adjusted beween annual reviews iF new properry
information is received or events such as delinquency or a borrowert
request for restructure cause management to believe that the

Companyt estimate of financial performance, fair value or the risk
profile of the underlying property has been impacted.

During 2013, the Company restructured its subordinate interest in
Nvo cross-collarercJizrd pools of industrial loans rohling $31 million
by extending the maturity dates and reducing the interesr rates. This
modification was considered a troubled debt restructuring and the
loans were classified as problem mortgage loans because rhe borrower
was experiencing financial difficulties and an interest rate concession

was granred. No valuation reserves were required because the fair
values ofthe underlying properties exceeded the carrying values ofthe
outstanding loans.

Dwing2012, che Company restructured a $119 million problem
mortgage loan, net of a valuadon reserve, into rwo notes carried at

$100 million and $19 million. The $100 million note was reclassified

to impaired commercial mortgage loans with no valuation reserves

and the $19 million nore was classified as an orher lons-term

Impaired commercial mortgage hans. The cerrying value of the Companyt impaired commercial morrgage loans and related valuation reserves

were as follows:

20t2

Impaired commercial mortgage loans wirh valuation reserues

investment. This modification was considered a troubled debt
restructuring because the borrower was experiencing financid
difficulties and an interest rate concession was granted. No valuation
reserve was required because the fair value ofthe underlying properry
equaled the carrying value of the outstanding loan. Following the
restructuring, the $100 million note was reclassified to good standing
based on the results of rhe 2012 annual loan review and has been

subsequently paid in full. In addition, the $19 million note was paid
in full in the fourth quarter of2013.

Certain other loans were modified during 2013 and,2012. However,
these were not considered troubled debt restruccures and the impact of
such modifications was not material to the Company's results of
operations, financial condition or liquidiry.

Potential problem mortgage loans are considered current (no payment
more than 59 days past due), but exhibit certain characteristics that
increase the likelihood of fuure default. The characteristics

management considers include, but are not limited to, the
deterioration of debt service coverage below 1.0, estimated

loan-to-value ratios increasing to 100% or more, downgrade in
qualiry rating and requesr from the borrower for resrructuring. In
addition, loans are considered potential problems if principal or
interest payments are past due by more than 30 but less than 60 days,

Problem mortgage loans are either in default by 60 days or more or
have been restructured as to terms. which could include concessions

on interest rate, principal payment or maturity date. The Company
monitors each problem and potential problem mortgage loan on an

ongoing basis, and updates the loan categorization and qualiry rating
when warranted.

Problem and potential problem mortgage loans, net of valuation
reserves, totaled $158 million at December 31,2013 and

$215 million at December 31,2012. At December 31,2073 nd,
December 31, 2012, mortgage loans located in the South Adantic
region represented the most significant component of problem and

potential problem mortgage loans. Loans collateralized by industrial
properties represented the most significanr concentration by properry
tl?e at December 31, 2013, with no significant concentration by
properry type at December 31,2012.

NetReservesGross

65

60

r25

72
60

$(7)$
commercid mortgage loans with no valuation reserves

TOTAL
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The average recorded investment in impaired loans was $ 127 million
during 2013 and $167 million during 2012. The Company

recognizes interest income on problem mortgage loans only when

payment is actually received because of the risk profile of rhe

underlying investment. Interest income that would have been

reflected in net income if interest on non-accrual commercial

PART II
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mortgage loans had been received in accordance with the original
terms was not significant for 2013 or 2012. Interest income on

impaired commercial mortgage loans was not significant for 2013 or
2012. See Note 2 for further information on impaired commercial

mortgage loans.

The following table summarizes the changes in valuation reserves for commercial mortgage loans:

Reserve ba.lance, January 1,

Increase in valuation reserves

Charge-offs upon sdes and repaymens, net of recoveries

Tiansfers to other long-term investments

Tiansfers to foreclosed real eStare

2013 2012

$19
10
(3)

(16)

o)
RESERVE DECEMBER $7

C. ReaI Estate
As of Decembe r 3l,2013 and2012, real estate investments consisted primarily of office and industrial buildings in California. Investments with a

carryingvalue of $63 million as of December 31,2013 and $49 million as of December 31,2012 wete non-income producing during the

tJ::,*1,T.* months. As of December 31,2013, the Company had commitments to contribute additional equity of $3 million to real estate

D. Other Long-Term Investments

As of December 31, other long-term investments consisted of the following:

(In miltiore) 2013

Real estate entities
Securities partnerships

$ Bl2
357

Other

It
823

89

,255TOTAL

Investments in real estate entities and securities partnerships with a

carrying value of $154 million at December 31, 2013 and,

$199 million at December 31, 2012 were non-income producing
during the preceding twelve months.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had commitmen$ to
contribute:

. $305 million to limited liability entities that hold either real estate

or loans to real estate entities that are diversified by properry rype
and geographic region; and

. $338 million to entities that hold securities diversified by issuer and

maturiry date.

The Company expects to disburse approximately 630/o of the
committed amounts in 201+.

NOTE 12 Derivative Financial Instruments

E. Short-Term Investments and Cash

Equivalents
Short-term investments and cash equivalents included corporate

securities of $2.2 billion, federal government securities of
$323 million and money market funds of $35 million as of
December 31, 2013. The Companyt short-term investments and cash

equivalents as of December 31,2012 included corporate securities of
$ l. I billion, federal government securities of $167 million and money

market funds of $217 million.

F. Concentration of Risk
fu of December 31, 2013 md 2012, the Company did not have a

concentration ofinvestments in a single issuer or borrower exceeding

10% of shareholders' equiry,

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage the

characteristics of investment assets to meet the varying demands of the

related insurance and contractholder liabilities. The Company has

written and purchased reinsurance contracts under its Run-off

Reinsurance segment that are accounted for as freestanding

derivatives. The Company also used derivative financial instruments

to manage the equiry, foreign currency, and certain interest rate risk

exposures ofits Run-offReinsurance segment until February 4,2013
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(for further information, see Note 7). For information on the

Companyt accounting poliry for derivative financial instruments, see

Note 2. Derivatives in the Company's separate accounts are excluded

from rhe following discussion because associated gains and losses

generally accrue directly to separate account policyholders.

Collzteral and tertnindtion featares. The Company routinely
monitors exposure to credit risk associated with derivatives and

diversifies the portfolio among approved dealers ofhigh credit qualiry

to minimize this risk. Certain of the Companyt over-the-counter

derivative instruments contain provisions requiring either the

Company or the counterparty to post collateral or demand immediate

payment depending on the amount of the net liabiliry position and

predefined financial strength or credit rating thresholds. Collateral

posting requirements vary by counterparry. The ner liability posirions

of these derivatives were not material as of December 31,2013 or
2012.

Derivative instruments used in the Company's
investm€nt risk management.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments as a part of its
investment strategy to manage the characteristics of investment assets

(such as duration, yield, currenry and liquidity) to meet the varying

demands ofthe related insurance and contractholder liabilides (such

as paying claims, investment returns, and withdrawals). Derivatives

are rypically used in this strategy to reduce interest rate and foreign

currency risks.

Inaestment Cash Flou Hedges,

Purpose. The Company uses interest rate, foreign currency, and

combination (interest rate and foreign currency) swap contracts to
hedge the interest and foreign currency cash flows oFits fixed maturity
bonds to match associated insurance liabilities.

Accounting policy. Using cash flow hedge accounting, fair values are

reported in other long-term investments or other liabilities. Changes

in fair value are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income

and amortized into net investment income or reported in other

realized investment gains and losses as interest or principal payments

are received.

Cah flowl Under the terms of these various contracts, the Company

periodically exchanges cash flows between variable and fixed interest

rates and/or beween two currencies for both principal and interest.

Foreign currency swaps are primarily Euros, Australian dollars,

Canadian dollars, Japanese yen, and British pounds, and have terms

for periods of up to eight years. Net interest cash flows are reported in
oPeratrng actrvlues.

Vohrme of actiuity. The following table provides the notionai

Instrument

values of these derivative instruments as of December 3l:

Notional Amount (In milliot)

20t3 2012

Interest rate swaps ls 58
t33
64

Foreign currency swaps

Combination interest rate and foreign currency waps

TOTAL $ 203 255

The following table provides the effect of these derivative instruments on the financial statements for the indicated periods:

Fair Value Effect on the Financial Statements (In millions)

Other I-ong-Term
Investments

Accomts Payable, Accrued
F-4enses

and Other Liabilities

Gain (Loss) Recognized in
Other

Comprehensive Income (1)

fu of December 31, As of December 31,
For the years ended

December 31,

Instrument 20t3 20t2 2013 20t2 2013 20t2
Interest rate swaps

Foreign currenry swaps

Combination interest rate and foreign

$4
I

$ (3)
(3)

TOTAI
(l) Other compreheuiu inconcforforeign ilnenc) tutpt scludes amovrB required to adjustfunre policy bcneftsfor the ran-of settlrment dnnuiqr buines.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the amount of As a result, the following disclosures related to derivative instruments

gains (losses) reclassified from accumulated othet comprehensive associated with the GMIB and GMDB business are provided for
income into shareholders' net income was not material. No amounts context, including a description of the derivative accounting for the

were excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and no gains GMIB contracts. Cash flows on derivative instruments associated

(losses) were recognized due to hedge ineffectiveness. with the GMIB and GMDB business are reported in operating

acuvriles.

Derivative instruments associated with the ComDany's
Run-off Reinsurance segment. Guaranteed Minimurn Income Benefits (GMIB)'

fu explained in Note Z, the Company entered into an agreement to As described further in Note 7, the Company effectively exited the

effectiuelyexittheGMIBandGMDBbusinessonFe:rulry4,2013. GMIB business by purchasing additional reinsurance coverage for
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these contracts in 2013. The fair value effects on the financial

statements are included in Note 10 and the volume of activity is
included in Note 23.

Purpose, The Company has written reinsurance contracts with issuers

of variable annuiry conuacts that provide annuitants with certain

guarantees of minimum income benefits resulting from the level of
variable annuity account values compared with a contractually

guaranteed amount ("GMIB liabilities"). According to the contractual

terms of the written reinsurance contracts, payment by the Company

NOTE 13 Variable Interest Entities

PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

depends on the actual account value in the underlying mutual funds

and the level ofinterest rates when the contractholders elect to teceive

minimum income payments.

GMDB and GMIB Hedge Programs.
As a result of the reinsurance agteement with Berlahire to effectively

exit the GMDB and GMIB business, the GMDB and GMIB hedge

programs were terminated beginning February 4, 2013. See Note 7
for further details regarding this business.

'When the Company becomes involved with a variable interest entity

and when the nature of the Company's involvement with the entity
changes, in order to determine if the Company is the primary
beneficiary and must consolidate the entiry it evaluates:

. the structure and purpose of the entiry;

. the risks and rewards created by and shared through the entity; and

'the entity's participants' abiliry to direct its activities, receive its

benefits and absorb its losses. Participants include the entiry's

sponsors, equity holders, guarantors, creditors and servicers.

In the normal course of its investing activities, the Company makes

passive investments in securities that are issued by variable interest

entities for which the Company is not the sponsor or manager. These

investments are predominanrly asset-backed securities primarily
collateralized by foreign bank obligations or mortgage-backed

securities. The asset-backed securities largely represent fixed-rate debt

securities issued by ffusts that hold perpetual floating-rate

subordinated notes issued by foreign banks. The mortgage-backed

securities represent senior interests in pools of commercial or
residential mortgages created and held by special-purpose entities to

provide investors with diversified exposure to these assets. The
Company owns senior securities issued by several entities and receives

fixed-rate cash flows from the underlying assets in the pools.

To provide certain services to its Medicare Advantage customers, the

Company contracts with independent physician assoclations (lPAs)

that are variable interest entities. Physicians provide health care

services to the Medicare Advantage customers and the Company
provides medical management and administrative services to the IPAs.

The Company is not the primary beneficiary and does not consolidate

these entities because eirher:

. it had no power to direct the activiries that most significantly impact

the entities' economic performance; or

. it had neither the right to receive benefits nor the obligation to

:*::3r.4"- 
that could be significant to these variable interest

The Company has not provided, and does not intend to provide,

financial support to these entities that it is not contractually required

to provide. The Company performs ongoing qualitative analyses of its

involvement with these variable interest entities to determine if
consolidation is required. The Companyt maximum potential
exposure to loss related to the investment entities is limited to the

carrying amount of its investment reported in fixed maturities and

equiry securities, and its aggregate ownership interest is insignificant

relative to the total principal arnount issued by these entities. The

Companyt maximum exposure'to loss related to the IPA

arrangemenrs is limited to the liabiliry for incurred but not reported

claims for the Company's Medicare Advantage customers. These

liabilities are not material and are generally secured by deposits

maintained by the IPAs.

NOTE 14 Investment Income and Gains and Losses

A. Net Investment Income
The components of pre-tax net investment income for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

[n milliore) 2Ol3 2Ol2 20ll

Equiry securities

Commercial mortgagi loans
Poliry loans

Real estate

4
lq?

(')\

[t

2r8
86
(2)

Less invesrment 40 37

NET INVESTMENT INCOME $ 1.144 $ r,146

Net investment income for seDarate accounts that is excluded from rhe Company's revenues was $232 million for 2013, $181 million for 2012,

and. $207 million for 2011.

Other long-term investments 59 48

Short-cetni investmints and c:sh
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B. Realized Investment Gains and Losses

The following realized gains and losses on investments for the years ended December 3l exclude amounts required to adjust future policy benefits

for the run-off serdement annuiry business.

2013 2012 20tl
Fixed maturities

Equiry securities

Comrnercial mortgage loans

Real estare

Other investments, derivatives

Realized investment gains, before income txes
Less income taxes

NET REALIZED INVESTMENT GAINS

Included in pre-rax realized investment gains (losses) were increases

other-than-temporary impairments on fixed marurities and partnership

in valuation reserves related to commercid
investments as follows:

$50
(l)

(16)

(6)

5)

OL

2l

$ 3r$ 4r

mortgage loans and

48

4
(e)

(r)
2

44

20L3 2012

Credit related (t)

Other
$ (20) $

(2)

TOTAL
(1) Tberc were no credit loses on fued mnritiet for which a portion of the impaimnt wat recognizcd in other comprehensite income.

The Company recognized pre-tax gains of $3 million in2013, compared with pre-tax gains of $5 million in2012 and pre-tax losses of $7 million
in 2011 on hybrid securities.

Realized investment gains in other investments, including derivatives, in
properties held in joint ventures.

2013 and 2011, primarily represented gains on sde of real estate

Realized investment gains that are excluded from the Companyt revenues for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

In millioni 2013 2Ol2 20ll
Separate accounts $ 206 $ 210

Sales information for available-for-sale fixed maturities and equity securities for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2013 2012

Proceeds from sales

Gross gains on sales

Gross losses on sdes

$ 591

$37
2

876

53

7

D

D
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NOTE 15 Debt

(ln nilliow) 2013 2012

Short-term:
Commercial paper
Curent maturities of long-term debt

Other

TOTAL SHORT-TERM DEBT

[,ong-term:
Uncollateralized debt:
2,75% Notes due 2016

5.375% Notes due2017
6.350lo Notes due 2018
8.5% Notes due 2019
4.375% Notes due 2020

5.125% Notes due 2020
6.370lo Notes due 2021

4.50lo Notes due 2021
4% Notes dre2022
7.650lo Notes drc 2023
8.3% Notes dw 2023

7.875o/o Debentnres dre 2027
8.3% Step Down Noces d,te 2033
6.157o Notes drc2036
5.875% Notes due 2041
5.375% Notes due2042
Other

$ 600
250
l3l
?<l

249
299
78

299
743
100

17

300
83

500
298
750

38

TOTAL IONG-TT,RM DEBT

As described in Note 3, the Company acquired HealthSpring on

January 31, 2012. At the acquisition date, HealthSpring had

$326 million ofdebt outstandlng. In accordance with debt covenants,

HealthSpringt debt obligation was paid immediately following the

acquisition. This repayment is reported as a financing activity in the

statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2012.

In December 2012, rhe Company extended the life of its June 201 1

five-year revolving credit and letter of credit agreement for

$1.5 billion, that permits up to $500 million to be used for letters of
credit. This agreemenr is diversified among 16 banla, with 3 banks

having approximarely 35o/o of the commitment and the remainder

spread among 13 banla. The credit agreement includes options that

are subject to consent by the administrative agent and the committing
banks, to increase the commitment amount to $2 billion and to
extend the term past December 2017. The credit agreemenr is

available for general corporate purposes, including as a commercial

paper backstop and for the issuance ofletters ofcredit. This agreement

has certain covenants, including a financial covenant requiring the

Company to maintain a total debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at or
below 0.50 to 1.00. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had

$6.0 billion of borrowing capacity within the maximum debt coverage

covenant in the agreemenr in addition to the $5.2 billion of debt

outstanding. There were letters of credic of $39 million issued as of
December 31, 2013.

On November 10, 2011, the Company issued $2.1 billion of
long-term debt as follows: $600 million of 5-Year Notes due

November 15, 2016 at a stated interest rate of 2.75o/o ($600 million,
net of discount, with an effective interest rate of 2.9360/o per year),

$750 million of lO-Year Notes due February 15, 2022 at a stated

interest rate of 4o/o ($743 million, net of discount, with an effective

interest rate of 4.3460/o per year) and $750 million of 30-Year Notes

due February 15, 2042 at a stated interest rate of 5.375o/o

($750 million, net of discount, with an effective interest rate of
5.542o/o per year), Interest is payable semi-annually for the l-Year,
10-Year and 30-Year Notes. The proceeds ofthis debt were used to
fund the HealthSpring acquisition in January 2012.

The Company may redeem these Notes, at any time, in whole or in
part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:

. l00o/o of che principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed; or

. the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments

on the Notes being redeemed, discounted at the applicable Tieasury

rate plus 30 basis points (5-Year 2.75% Notes due 2016),35 basis

points (lO-Year 40lo Notes due 2022), or 40 basis points (30-Year

5.375o/o Notes due 2042).

In March 2011, the Company issued $300 million of l0-Year Notes

due March 15,2021 at a stated interest rate of 4.5o/o ($298 million,
net ofdiscount, with an effective interest rate of4 .6830/o per year) and,

$300 million of 3O-Year Notes due March 15,2041 at a stated interest

trte of 5.875o/o ($298 million, net of discounr, with an effective

interest rate of 6.0080/o per year). Interest is payable semi-annually.

The proceeds of this debt were used for general corporate purposes,

including the repayment of debt maturing in 2011.

The Company may redeem these Notes, at any time, in whole or in
part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:

. 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed; or

. the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments

on the Notes being redeemed, discounted at the applicable Tieasury

rate plus 20 basis points (IO-Year 4.5%o Notes due 2021) or 25 basis

points (30-Year J.875o/o Notes due 2041).
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During 2011, the Company repaid, $449 million in maturing
long-term debt.

Maturities of debt and capital leases are as follows (in millions): $133
in20r4,$28 in20l5, $618 in 2016,$253in2017,$131 in 2018 and

the remainder in years after 2018. Interest expense on long-term debt,

NOTE 16 Common and Preferred Stock

short-term debt and capital leases was

$268 million in 2012, and $202 million

The Company was in compliance with
December 31,2013.

$270 million in 2013,
in 2011.

its debt covenants as of

fu of December 31, the Company had issued the following shares:

(Shares in thouandr) 20t3 2012

Common: Par value $0.25 600,000 shares authorized
Ourstanding - January I
Issued for stock option and other benefit plans

rchase of common stock

Oustanding - December 3l 285,829
Tieasury stock

ISSUED - DECEMBER 3T

On November 16,2011, the Company issued 15.2 million shares of
its common stock at $42.75 per share. Proceeds of $650 million
($629 million net of underwriring discounr and fees) were used to
partially fund the HealthSpring acquisition in January 2012.

The Company maintains a share repurchase program that was

authorized by its Board of Directors. The decision to repurchase

shares depends on market conditions and alternative uses ofcapital.
The Company has, and may continue from time to time, to
repurchase shares on the open market through a Rule l0b5-l plan
that permits a company to repurchase its shares at times when it
otherwise might be precluded from doing so under insider trading
laws or because of self-imposed trading blackout periods.

,r..llri:.lrlil::285,829 285,533
4,695

(4,399)

ln2013 we repurchased 13.6 million shares for $1.0 billion. From

January l, 2014 through February 26, 2014 we repurchased

5.0 million shares for $4ll million. On February 26,2014, rhe

Companyt Board ofDirectors increased share repurchase authority by

$500 million. Accordingly, the total remaining share repurchase

authorization as of February 26, 2014 was $901 million. The
Company repurchased 4.4 million shares for $208 million during
2012.

The Company has authorized a total of 25 million shares of $l par
value preferred stock. No shares ofpreferred stockwere outstanding at

December 31,2013 or 2012.

NOTE 17 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated orher comprehensive loss excludes amounts required to adjust future policy benefits for the run-offsertlement annuity business and

a portion of deferred acquisition costs associated with the corporate owned life insurance business. As required by GAAB rhe Company
parenthetically identifies the income statement line item affecred by reclassification adjustments in the table below. Changes in the components of
accumulated other comprehensive loss were as follows:

2013
Tax

(Expense)
Benefit

After-
Tax

Net unredized depreciation securities:
Net unrealized depreciation on securities arising during the year

Reclassification adjustment for (gains) included in shaieholders' ner income

(other operating expenses)

Reclassification adjustment for currailment qain (other

Total reclassification adjustment to shareholders' net inome (orher operating expenses)

Net

Net

due to valuation update and plan arnendments

benefits liabiliw ad

tnvestrnenl

Net unredized

Net unrealized derivatives

Net translation of currencles

Postretirement benefi ts liability adiustment:
Rechsification adjustment for amortization of net losses from past experience and prior service costs
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Pre-Tax
After-

Tax

Net unrealized appreciation, securities:

Net unrealized appreciation on securities arising during the year

Reclassificatioo adiustment for (gains) included in shareholders' ner income (realized investment gains)

271

(521

$ (90) $ 181

18 (34)

Net unredized appreciation, securities r47(72)219

Net wealized depreciation, derivatives (5)(7)

Net translation of foreign curtencres 66(r2)'79

Postretirement benefits liability adjustment:

Reclassification adjustment for amorrization ofnet losses from past experience and prior service costs

and settlement charges (other operating expenses)

Net change arising from arsumption and plan changes and experience (181)
$52 $34

(r26)
$ (18)

55

Ner oostretiremenr benefits liabiliw adiustment 9 (r29) (92)37

After-
Tax

Tax
(Fxpense)

BenefitPre-Tax
20lr
(In millions)

Net unrealized appreciation, securities:

Net unrealized appreciarion on securities arising during the year

Reclassification adjustment for (gain$ included in net income (realized investment gains)

366
(4e)

$ (r27)

l8
$ 239

(a t1

Net untealized appreciation, securities

Net unrealized appreciation derivatives

208

I

Net translation of foreign currencies (22)

Postretirement benefits liability adjustment:

Reclassification adjustment for amortization of net losses from past experience and prior service cosrs

(other operating expenses)

Net change arising from assumprion and plan changes and experience

$22
(580)

$lt
(375)

$ (7)

205

Net oostredrement benefi ts liabiliw adiustment $ (558) 198 $ (360)

NOTE 18 Shareholders' Equiry and Dividend Restrictions

State insurance departments and foreign jurisdictions that regulate certain ofthe Companyt subsidiaries prescribe accounting practices (differing

in some respects from GAAP) to determine statutory net income and surplus. The Company's life insurance and HMO company subsidiaries are

regulated by such statutory requirements. The scatucory net income for the years ended, and statutory surplus as of, December 3l of the

Companyt life insurance and HMO subsidiaries were as follows:

(In millions) 2013 2012 20ll
Net income $ 1,520 $ 953

The minimum statutory surplus required by regulators for rhe

Company's life insurance and HMO company subsidiaries was

approximately $2 billion as of December 31, 2013. As of
December 31, 2013, statutory surplus for each of the Companyt life
insurance and HMO subsidiaries is sufficient to meet the minimum
required by regulators. As of Decembe r 31, 2013, the Companyt life
insurance and HMO subsidiaries had investments on deposit with
state departments of insurance with statutory carrying values of
$335 million. The Company's life insurance and HMO subsidiaries

are also subject to regulatory resrrictions thac limit the amount of

annual dividends or other distribudons (such as loans or cash

advances) insurance companies may extend to the parent company

without prior approval of regulatory authorities. The maximum
dividend distribution that the Companyt life insurance and HMO
subsidiaries may make during 2014 without prior approval is

approximately $772 million. Restricted net assets of the Company as

of December 31,2013, were approximately $8.4 billion. Certain life
insurance subsidiaries of the Company are permitted to loan up to

$600 million to the parent company without prior approval.
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NOTE, 19 Income Thxes

A. Income Tax Expense

The components of income taxes for the years ended December 3l were as follows:

Cunent taxes

U.S. income taxes

Foteign income taxes

State income tues

Deferred tues (benefits)

U.S. income taxes

Foreign income taxes

State income txes

Tax expense at norninal mte

Tu advmtaged investments

Effect of indefinitely reinvesrcd foreign earnings

Raolution oF Federal ta( matters

State income tax (net of federal income tax benefit)

2012

$ 604

20ll

1a

17

719

$ 867
(31)

(37)

28

657
(33)

(r7)
(30)

r4

320

58

20

398

717134

t93
23

I

TOTAL INCOME TA)(ES $ 853 $ 615

Total income taxes for the years ended December 3l were different from the amount computed using the nominal federal income tex rate of 35o/o

for the following reasons:

2012 20ll2013

(18)

27

Other 26 24

TOTAL INCOME TAXES $ 853 $6r
Consolidated pre-tax income from the Companys foreign operations was approximately 12o/o in 2013, 8o/o in 2012 and l0o/o in 2011.

Indefinite Reinvestment of Foreign Earnings

The Company continues to indefinitely reinvest overseas the

undistributed earnings of certain foreign operations, including those

ofits Korea operations. As a result, income taxes are provided on the

earnings ofthese operations using the respective foreign jurisdictions'

tax rate, as compared to the higher U.S. statutory tax rate. The
Compary continues to evaluate this reinvestment of foreign earnings

for additional jurisdictions.

The indefinite reinvestment of earnings of foreign operations resulted

in an increase to shareholders' net income of $42 million in 2013 and

$37 million in 2012. The Company has accumulated indefinitely
reinvested foreign earnings of $l.l billion with cumulative

unrecognized deferred tax liabilities of $160 million through
December 31,2013.

Completion of IRS Fxaminations

In the third quarter of2013, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS")

completed its examination of the Company's 2009 and 2010

consolidated federd income tax returns, resulting in an increase to

shareholders' net income of $18 million.

In 201l, the IRS completed its examination of the Company's 2007

and 2008 consolidated federal income tax returns, resulting in an

increase to shareholders' net income of $24 million.
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B. Deferred Income Thxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as follows:

(Ir milliow) 2013 2Ol2

Employee and reriree benefit plans

Investments, net

Other insurance and contractholder liabilities
Deferred gain on sale of businesses

Policy acquisition expenses

Other accrued liabilities
Bad debt expense

Other

Deferred tax assets before vduation allowance

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

Deferred ta.l( assers. ner ofvaluation allowance

Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation and amortization
Foreign operations, net

Unrealized appreciation on investmenrs and translation

Total defered tax liabilities

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAXASSETS

Management believes that consolidated taxable income expected to be

generated in the future will be sufficient to realize the Companyt net
deferred tax asset. Substantially all of the Companyt deferred tax
benefits may be carried forward indefinitely. The Company
establishes a valuation dlowance when it determines it is more likely

r,332

374

than not that a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Valuation

allowances have been established for certain deferred tax assets that are

evaluated for realization on a separate entiry basis, rather than

considering consolidated results.

$ 765
84

486
.39

r47
r64
2l
42

r,748
(42)

147

48r

C. Uncertain Tax Positions

A reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

Balance at January l,
Decrease due to prior year positions

Increase due to current yeu positions

Reducrion related ro settlements with taxine aurhorities

Reduction related to laose of statute of limiations

BAI-ANCE AI DECEMBER 3T.

Unrecognized tax benefits decreased $34 million in 2013 of which
$16 million increased shareholders' net income. The decrease was

primarily attributable to completion of the IRS examination of the

Company's 2009 and 2010 consolidated federal income tax returns.

The Company classifies net interest expense on uncerrain rax

positions and any applicable penalties as a component of income tax

expense, but excludes these amounts from the liability for uncertain

tax positions. The Company's liability for net interest and penalties

was immaterial ar December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

5r $52

D. Federal Income Tax Examinations,
Litigation and Other Matters

The Companyt long-standing dispute with the IRS for tax years 2004
through 2006, regarding the appropriate reserye methodology for
certain reinsurance contracts, has been resolved. On February 28,
2013, the United States Tax Court entered its decision on this matter

for the 2004 tax year, finding the Company had an overpayment of
federal income tax for the period. The refundwas received onJune 24,
2013. On January 9,2013, the United States Tax Court entered its

decision on this matter for the 2005 and 2006 tax years, finding that
the Company had no additional tax liabiliry For these years. There are

no outstanding IRS related matters with regard to the 2007 and 2008

tax years.

2012
{ <a

(5)

7

(3)

20tl
$ r77

(l 13)

7
(r7)

(2)

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2013 Form r}-K 105



PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The IRS has completed their examination of the Company's 2009 and

2010 tax years. Two issues could not be resolved at the examination

level that related ro the timing of income tax deductions. On
October 22, 2013, the Company filed a formal protesr challenging the

IRS positions on the two disputed matters. The IRS has since agreed

to withdraw its challenge relating to one of these matters and is

NOTE 20 Employee Incentive Plans

expected to re-issue the revenue agents report. The Company

continues efforts to resolve the second matter.

The Company conducts business in numerous state and foreign
jurisdictions, and may be engaged in multiple audit proceedings at

any given time. Generally, no further state audit activiry is expected

for tax years prior to 2009, and prior to 2003 for foreign audit activity.

The People Resources Committee ("the Committee") of the Board of
Directors awards stock options, restricted stock, delerred stock and

strategic performance shares to certain employees. The Committee
has issued common stock instead of cash compensation and dividend
equivalent rights to a very limited extent, as part of restricted and

deferred stock units. The Company issues shares from Tieasury stock

for option exercises, awards of restricted stock grants and payment of
strategic performance shares, deferred srock units and restricted srock

unlts.

Compensation cost and related tar benefts for these awards were as follows:

As explained further in Note 3, in connection with the HealthSpring

acquisition on January 31, 2012, HealthSpring employees' awards oF

options and restricted shares ofHealthSpring stock were rolled over to

Cigna stock options and restricted stock. Unless otherwise indicated,

information in this footnote includes the effect of the HealthSpring

rollover awards.

Compensariori cost

Tax benefits

The Company had the following number of common stock shares

available for award at December 31 : 13.2 million in 2013,8.4 million
in 2012 and 17.7 million in 2011.

The table below shows the status o[, and changes in, common stock

2013

20tl
$61
$14

Stoch optiorts. The Company awards options to purchase the

Company's common stock at the market price of the stock on the

grant date. Options vest over periods ranging from one to five years

and expire no later than 10 years from grant date.

opdons during the last three years:

2012 20r I

2012

98

26$

W'eighted Average

Exercise

Price

Weighted Average

Exercise

Price

'$feighted Average

Exercise

in thownds)

Ouatanding - January I
Granted

Exercised

red or canceled

OUTSTANDING - DECEMBER 31

9,581 $

3,446 $

(3,740) $

(336) $

8,95r $

5,73r $

33.92 12,093

28.29 r,546
7) 7)

37.85

(3,480)

(578)

Price

27.93

33.61D

31.10

42.36

36.29 I 33.92

exercisable ar year-end 34.93 6,r47 14.94

Compensation expense of $25 million related to unvested stock options at December 31, 2013 will be recognized over the next two years

(weighted average period).

The table below summarizes information for stock options exercised during the lasc three years:

(In milliorc) 2Ol3 2Ol2 20ll

Cash received lor options exercised ? $ 35 $ 97
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The following table summarizes information for outstanding common stock options at December 31, 2013:

Options Options

Toral intrinsic value
'Weighted 

average exercise price
'Weiehted remainins contractual life

Excluding the HealthSpring rollover options issued in 2012, the weighted average fair value of options granted under employee incentive plans

was$19.81 for2013,$14.99for2012and$l3.96for20l1,usingtheBlack-Scholesoption-pricingmodelandtheassumptionspresentedinthe
following table. See Note 3 for additional information regarding the valuation of the HealthSpring rollover awards.

2013 20t2 2011

Dividend yield

Expected volatiliry

::,.t,:...',;..g;,\ 
:,.1:,;

0.Io/o 0.1%

40.0o/o 40.0o/o

0.8o/o l.7o/o

4,5 years 4 yexs
Risk-free interest rate

Expected option life

The expected volatility reflects the Companyt past daily stock price

volatility. The Company does not consider volatiliry implied in the

market prices of traded opdons to be a good indicator of future

voladliry because remaining maturities o[traded options are less than

one year. The risk-free interest rate is derived using the four-year U.S.

Tieasury bond yield rate as ofthe award date for the primary grant.

Expected option life reflects the Companyt historical experience.

Restricted stoch. The Company awards restricted stock to its

employees or directors with vesting periods ranging from two to five

years. These awards are generally in one of two forms: restricted stock

grants or restricted stock units. Restricted stock grants are the most

widely used form of restricted stock award and are used for

subscantially all U.S,-based employees receiving such awards.

Recipients of restricted stock grants accumulate dividends and can

vote during the vesring period, but forfeit their awards and

accumulated dividends if their employment terminates before the

vesting date. Awards ofrestricted stock units are generally limited to
overseas employees. A restricted stock unit represents a right to receive

a common share of stock when the unit vests. Recipients of restricted

stock units are entitled to accumulate hypothetical dividends, but
cannot vote during the vesting period. They forfeit their units and

accumulated dividends if their emolovment terminates before the

vesting date.

20tl

The table below shows the status of, and changes in, restricted stock grants and units during the last three years:

20r3 2012

(Auards in tbowandt)

Weighted Average

Fair Vdue at

Grants/Units Award Date

'Weighted Average

Fair Value at

Grants/Units As,ard Date

Veighted Average

Fair Value at

Grants/Units Award Date

Outstanding - January I
Awarded

Vested

Forfeited

OIITSTANDING - DECEMBER 3T

The fair value of vested restricted stock was: $94 million in 2013,
$66 million in 2012 end, $24 million in 201l.

At the end of 2013, approximately 3,200 employees held 2.8 million
restricted stock grants and units with $58 million of related

compensation expense to be recognized over the next three years

(weighted average period).

Strategic Performance Sbares. The Company awards strategic

performance shares to executives and certain other key employees

28.88

44.37

27.60

33.6r

4,306

945
(564)
(441)

27.70

42.62

42.79

28.99

$ 28,88

generally with a performance period of three years. Strategic

performance shares are divided into two broad groups: 50%o are

subjecc to a market condition (total shareholder return relative to
indusry peer companies) and 500/o are subject to performance

conditions (revenue growth and cumulative adjusted net income).

These targets are set by the Committee. At the end of the performance

period, holders of strategic performance shares will be awarded

anylvhere from 0 to 200o/o of the original grant of strategic

performance shares in Cigna common stock.

4,246 $

1,563 $

(1,485) $
(260) $
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The able below shows the status of, and changes in, strategic performance shares during the last three years:

2013 20t2 2011

(Auar* in thouandt)

'W'eighted Average

Fait Vdue at

Grants/Units Award Date Grants/Units

Weighted Average

Fair Value at
Award Date Grants/Units

Weighted Average

Fair Vdue at

Award Date

Outstanding - January l' S34 $ 39.45

Awarded iii saz g 44.49

(76) $

430 $

5D$
34.73

42.92

Vested

Forfeited

OUTSTANDING - DECEMBER 3T

The fair value of vested strategic performance shares was $42 million
in2013. No strategic performance shares vested in2012 and 2011.

At the end of 2013, approximately 1,100 employees held 1.6 million
strategic performance shares and $33 million oI related compensation

NOTE 2l Leases and Rentals

r.600 $ 41.92 834 39.

expense was expected to be recognized over the next two years. For

strategic performance shares subject to a performance condition, the

amount of expense may vary based on actual performance in 2014
and,2015.

43.39 (l 37.92

The Companyt operating leases are primarily for office space. Some

of these leases include renewal options and other incentives that are

amortized over the life of the lease. Rental expenses for operating

leases amounted to $120 million in 2013, $130 million in 2012 and,

$115 million in 2011. As of December 31,2013, future net

minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases

were approximately $641 million, payable as follows (in millions):

NOTE 22 Segment Information

$131 in 2014, $127 in 2015, $105 in 2016, $75 in 2017, $59

in 2018 and, $144 thereafter.

The Company also has capital lease arrangemen$. See Note 8 and

Note 15 for further information on assets recorded under capital

leases and the related obligations.

The financial results o[ the Company's businesses are reponed in the

following segmen$:

Global Health Care aggregares the Commercial and Government

operating segments due to their similar economic characteristics,

products and services and regulatory environment:

. The Commercial operating segment encompasses borh the U.S.

commercial and certain international health care businesses serving

employers and their employees, other groups, and individuals.

Products and services include medical, dental, behavioral health,

vision, and prescription drug benefit plans, health advocacy

programs and other products and services to insured and

self-insured customers.

. The Goaernmenf operating segment offers Medicare Advantage

and Medicare Part D plans to seniors and Medicaid plans.

Global Sapplamental Benefix includes supplemental health, life
and accident insurance Droducts offered in selected international
markets and in the U,S.

Groap Dbability and Life provides group long-term and short-term
disabiliry, group life, accident and specialty insurance products and
related services.

R*n-of Rehmrraaca is predominantly comprised of GMDB and

GMIB business that was ceded to Berkshire on February 4,2013.

The Company also reports results in two other categories.
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Other Operatiozs consist of:

. corporate-owned life insurance ("COLI");

. deferred gains recognized from the 1998 sale ofthe individual life
insurance and annuity business and the 2004 sale ofthe retirement

benefits business; and

. run'off settlement annuicy business.

Corporate reflects amounts not allocated to other segments, such as

net interest expense (defined as interest on corporate debt less net

investment income on investments not supporring segment

operations), interest on uncertain tax positions, certain litigation
matters, intersegment eliminations, compensation cost for stock

options, expense associated with its frozen pension plans, certain

corporate project and overhead costs.

The Company measures the financial results of its segments using
"segment earnings (loss)", defined as shareholders' income (loss) from
continuing operations before after-tax realized investment results. The
Company determines segment earnings (loss) consistent with
accounting policies used in preparing the consolidated financial

statements, except that amounts included in Corporate are not
allocated to segments. The Company allocates certain other operating

expeDses, such as systems and other key corporate overhead expenses,

on systematic bases. Income taxes are generally computed as if each

segment were filing a separate income tax return. The Company does

not report total assets by segment as this is not a metric used to
allocate resources or evaluate segment performance,



Summarized segment financial information for the years ended December 31 was as follows:

(Ir milliow)

Global Health Care

Premiums and €ees:

Medical:

Guaranteed cost

Experience-rated

Stop loss

International health care

Dental

Medicare

Medicaid

Medicare Part D
Other

Toal medicsl

Fees

PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

2013 20tl

$ 4463
2 292

| 907

| 752

I 139

. 5639
317

4,256 $ 4,176

2,022 1,934
r,672 r,45r
r,648 r,344

1,005 894

4,969 489

207

r,421

17,877

3,096

20,973

r,623

225

259

23,080

5r6

rr,573
2,870

r4,443

r,447

236
263

685

600

Total premiumi and fees

Mail order pharmary reYenues

Other revenues

Net investment income

Segment rsvenues

Depreciation and amortiation
Income taxes

t6,389
3r4

793 616

$
(

$

Global Supplemental Benefits

Premiums and fees

Other revenues

Ner invesrment income

Segment revenues

Depreciation and amortization

Income taxes'

Equiry in income of investees

Group Disability and Ufe
Premiums and fees:

Life
Disabiliry

Other

Total

Depreciadon md amortiation
lncome tues

Run-offReinsumce
Premiums and fees aird other revenues

Net investment income

Segment revenues

Income tax benefits

I5
83

D

r,626
')<l

36
10

r42

t4
JO

15

97

,::.:,.,,.::::::t,:':: $ 50 $

:,:::::llllllll $::,:" 50 $
' , i]iiiiiii,t$ 17 $

D

o

D

)

3,409 $

11 $

116 $

279 $

(es; 5

r02

$ 1,333

r,268
z)6

2,857

29r

3,148
ll

113

20
103

r23
(ee)

(183)

295

loss

)

D

Other Operations
Premiums and fees and other revenues

Net investment income

Segment revenues

388

r69
400

569

z
)<l

89

Depreciation and amortization

Income raxes

$

$

D

543

I
43

82

{
$
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(In million) 20L2 201 l
Corporate
Other revenues and eliminations
Net investmenr income

Segment revenues

Depreciation and amortization
Income tax benefits

loss

Realized investment ga.ins

Realized investment gains

Income taxes

Realized investment sains net of taxes and

Total
Premiums and fees and other revenues

Mail order pharmacy revenues

Net investment income

Total revenues

Depreciation and amortization
Income taxes

Segment earnings

Medical
Disability
Supplemenral Health, Life, ard Accident
Mail order pharmary

L;f .

r,827

2013

4 \7)

(521

4
(1 ol)

44
r3

3l

$ 26,308 $ 19,210
r,623 1,447
r,r44 r,146

44 62

$ 29,119 $ 21,865

$ 560 $ 345

$ 853 $ 6tt
$ r,592 $ r,zrs

20t2 2011

(61)

5

66)
3

(r48)
$

20,973 $

1,413

(541

6

14,443
1,268

$

$62
2l

$41

Revenue from exrernal customers includes premiums and fees, mail order pharmacy revenues and other revenues. The following rable presents

these revenues by product type for the years ended December 31:

3,680
r,623

242

27,93r $ 20,657

2012

3,r17
1,447

382Other

TOTAL

Revenues from external customers by geographic location were as follows for the years ended December 3l:

(In milliou) 2Ol3

US $ 27,868 $ 25,217 $ t8,522
909South Korea

All other

TOTAL

1,076
I

27,93r $

amounts were reporced in the Government operating segment

included in the Global Health Care reporring segment.

fu a percentage of consolidated revenues, premiums and fees from
CMS were 22.0o/o in 2013, 21.9o/o in 2012 

^nd 
4.60/0 in 201 l. These

NOTE 23 Contingencies and Other Matters

The Company, through its subsidiaries, is contingently liable for
various guarantees provided in the ordinary course of business.

A. Financial Guarantees: Retiree and Life
Insurance Benefits

Separate account assets are contractholder funds maintained in
accounts with specific investment objectives. The Company records

separate accounr liabilities equal to separate account assets. In certain

cases, the Company guarantees a minimum level of benefits for
retirement and insurance contracts written in separate accounts, The
Company establishes an additional liabiliry if management believes

that the Company will be required to make a payment under chese

guarantees.

ll0 CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2013 Form 10-K

The Company guarantees that separate account assets will be

sufficienc to pay certain retiree or life benefits. The sponsoring

employers are primarily responsible for ensuring that assets are

sufficient to pay these benefits and are required to maintain assets that

exceed a certain percentage of benefit obligations. This percentage

varies depending on the asset class within a sponsoring employert
portfolio (for example, a bond fund would require a lower percentage

than a riskier equity fund) and thus will vary as the composition of the

portfolio changes. If employers do not mainrain the required levels of
separate account assets, the Company or an affiliate ofthe buyer ofthe
retirement benefits business (see Note 7 for additional information)
has the right to redirect the management of the related assets to

provide for benefit payments. As of December 31, 2013, employers

maintained assets that exceeded the benefit obligations. Benefit



obligations under these arrangements were $514 million as of
December 31,2013. fu of December 31,2013, approximately 14%

of these guarantees are reinsured by an affiliate of the buyer of the

retirement benefits business. The remaining guarantees are provided

by the Company with minimal reinsurance from third parties. There

were no additional liabilities required for these guarantees as of
December 31, 2013. Separate account assets supporting these

guarantees are classified in Levels I and.2 of the GAAP fair value

hierarchy. See Note l0 for further information on the fair value

hierarchy.

The Company does not expect that these financial guarantees will
have a material effect on the Companyt consolidated results of
operationsr liquidiry or financial condition.

B. Guaranteed Minimum Income Benefit
Contracts

Effective with the reinsurance agreement entered into on February 4,

2013, the Company has retrocessional coverage in place that covers

the exposures on these contracts. See Notes 7, l0 and, 12 for further

information on GMIB contracts.

Under these guarantees, the future payment amounts are dependent

on equiry and bond fund market and interest rate levels prior to and at

the date of annuitization election that must occur within 30 days of a

policy anniversary after the appropriate waiting period. Therefore, the

future payments are not fixed and determinable under the terms of
these contracts. Accordingly, the Companyt maximum potentid

undiscounted future payment of $760 million, without considering

any retrocessional coverage, was determined using the following

hypothetical assumptions:

. no annuitants surrendered their accountsr

. all annuitants lived to elect their benefit:

. all annuitants elecred to receive their benefit on the next available

date (2014 through 2019); and

. all underlying mutual fund investment values remained at the

December 31, 2013 value of $1.2 billion with no future returns.

The Company bears rhe risk of loss if its GMIB retrocessionaires do

not meet or are unable to meet their reinsurance obligations to the

Company.

C. Certain Other Guarantees

The Company had indemnification obligations to lenders of up to
$265 million as of December 31, 2013, related to borrowings by
certain real estate joint ventures that the Company either records as an

investment or consolidates, These borrowings, that are nonrecourse to

the Company, are secured by the joint ventures' real estate properties

with fair values in excess of the loan amounts and mature at various

dates beginning in 2014 through 2042. The Company's

indemnification obligations would require payment to lenders for any

actual damages resulting from certain acts such as unauthorized

ownership transfers, misappropriation of rental payments by others or
environmental damages. Based on inidal and ongoing reviews of
properry management and operations, the Company does not expect

that payments will be required under these indemnification
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obligations. Any payments that might be required could be recovered

through a refinancing or sale of the assets. In some cases, the

Company also has recourse to partners for their proportionate share of
amounts paid. There were no liabilities required for these

indemnification obligations as of December 31,2013.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company guaranteed that it would
compensate the lessors for a shortfall of up to $41 million in the

market value of certain leased equipment at the end of the lease.

Guarantees of $16 million expire in 2016 and, $25 million expire in
2025.The Company had liabilities for these guarantees of $5 million
as of December 31,2013.

The Company had indemnification obligations as of December 31,

2013 in connection with acquisition, disposition and ternsurance

transactions. These indemnification obligations are triggered by the

breach of representations or covenants provided by the Company,

such as representations for the presentation of financial statements,

acruarial models, the filing of tax returns, compliance with law or the

identification of outstanding litigadon. These obligations are typically
subject to various time limitations, defined by the contract or by

operation of law, such as statutes of limitation. In some cases, the

maximum potential amount due is subject to contractual limitations
based on a percencage ofthe transaction putchase price, while in other

cases limitations are not specified or applicable. The Company does

not believe that it is possible to determine the maximum potential

amount due under these obligations, because not all amounts due

under these indemnification obligations are subject to limitation.
There were no liabilities for these indemnification obligations as of
December 31,2013.

The Company does not expect that these guarantees will have a

material adverse effect on the Companyt consolidated results of
operations, financial condition or liquidiry.

D. Guaranty Fund Assessments

The Company operates in a regulatory environment that may require

the Company to participate in assessments under state insurance

guaranty association laws. The Companyt exposure to assessments fot
certain obligations oI insolvent insurance companies to policyholders

and claimants is based on its share of business wricten in the relevant

jurisdiccions. For the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
charges related to guaranty fi.rnd assessments were immaterid to the

Companyt results o[ operations.

The Company is aware of an insurer that is in rehabilitation, an

intermediate action before insolvency. ln 2012, the state court denied

the regulator's amended petitions for liquidation and set forth specific

requirements and a deadline for the regulator to develop a plan of
rehabilitation without liquidating the insurer. The regulator has

appealed the court's decision. During the second quarter of20l3, the

regulacor submitted a rehabilitation plan to the court that calls for
significant benefit reductions to current policyholders. If the

rehabilitation plan is approved by the court, guaranty fund payments

may be required to restore to policyholders some of the benefit

reductions mandated by the rehabilitation plan. In addition, if the

actions taken in the rehabilitation plan fail to improve this insurer's

financial condition, or if the state count ru.ling is overturned on

appeal, this insurer may be forced to liquidate. In that event, the

Company would be required to pay additional Future assessments.
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Due to the uncertainties surrounding this matter, the Company is

unable to estimate the amount of potential guaranry fund assessments.

The Company will continue to monitor this situation.

Legal and Regulatory Matters
The Company is routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits,

regulatory and IRS audits, investigations and other legal mamers

arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of managing a health

services business, including payments to providers and benefit level

disputes. These legal acdons may include benefit claims, breach of
contract claims, tort claims, provider disputes, disputes regarding
reinsurance arrangements, employment and employment
discrimination-related suits, employee benefit claims, wage and hour
claims, tax matters, privacy, inrellectual properry claims and real estate

related disputes. Litigadon of income tax mafters is accounted for
under FASB's accounting guidance for uncertain income tax

positions. Further information on income tax matters can be found in
Note 19. Also, there are currendy, and may be in rhe future, attempts
to bring class action lawsuits against the industry.

The business of administering and insuring health services programs,
particularly health care and group .insurance programs, is heavily
regulated by federal and state laws and administrative agencies, such as

state departments of insurance and the U.S. Departments of Labor
and Justice, as well as the courts. Health care regulation and legislation
in its various forms, including the implementation of the Patienr

Protection and Affordable Care Act, other regulatory reform
initiatives, such as those relating to Medicare programs, or additional
changes in existing laws or regulations or their interpretations, could
have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of
operations and financial condition.

In addition, there is heightened rwiew by federal and state regulators

of the health care, disabiliry and life insurance industry business and
related reporting practices. Cigna is frequently rhe subject of
regulatory market conduct reviews and other examinations of its

business and reporting practices, audits and investigations by state

insurance and health and welfare departments, srate atrorneys general,

the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ('CMS) and the
Office of Inspector General ("OIG"). !7ith respect to Cigna's

Medicare Advantage business, CMS and OIG perform audits to
determine a health plant compliaace with federal regulations and
contractual obligations, including compliance with proper coding
practices (sometimes referred to as Risk Adjustment Data Validation
Audits or RADV audits), that may result in retrospective ad.justments

to payments made to health plans. Regulatory actions can result in
assessments, civil or criminal fines or pendties or orher sanctions,

including loss of licensing or exclusion from pardcipation in
government Programs.

Regulation, legislation and judicial decisions have resulted in changes

to industry and the Companyt business practices, financial liabiliry or
other sanctions and will conrinue to do so in the future.
'When the Company (in the course of is regular review of pending
litigation and legal or regulatory matters) has determined that a

material loss is reasonably possible, the matter is disclosed. In
accordance with GAAB when lirigation and regulatory matters

present loss contingencies that are both probable and estimable, rhe

Company accrues the estimated loss by a charge to income. The
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amount accrued represents the Companys best estimate of the
probable loss at the time. If only a range of estimated losses can be

determined, the Company accrues an amount within the range rhat,
in the Companyt judgment, reflects the most likely outcome; if none

of the estimates within that range is a better esrimare than any orher
amount, the Company accrues the minimum amount of the range. In
cases when the Company has accrued an estimated loss, the accrued

amount may differ materially from the ulcimare amount of the loss. In
many proceedings, it is inherently difficult to determine whether any

loss is probable or even possible or to estimate the amount or range of
any loss. The Company provides disclosure in the aggregate for
materid pending litigation and legal or regulatory marters, including
accruals, range ofloss, or a statement that such information cannot be

estimated. As a litigation or regulatory marter develops, the Company
monitors the matter for further developments that could affect the
amount previously accrued, if any, end, updates such amount accrued

or disclosures previously provided as appropriate.

The outcome of litigation and other legal or regulatory matters is

always uncertain, and unfavorable outcomes that are not justified by
the evidence or existing law can occur. The Company believes that it
has valid defenses to rhe matters pending against it and is defending
itself vigorously. Except as otherwise noted, the Company believes

that the legal actions, regulatory matcers, proceedings and

investigations currently pending against ir should not have a material

adverse effect on the Company's resuhs of operation, financial

condidon or liquidity based upon current knowledge and taking into
consideration current accruals. The Company had pre-tax reserves as

of December 31, 2013 of $189 million ($123 million after-tax) for
the matters discussed below. Due to numerous uncertain factors

presented in these cases, it is not possible to estimate an aggregate

range of loss (if any) for these matters ar this time. In lighr of the

uncertainties involved in these matters, there is no assurance rhat their
ultimate resolution will not exceed the amounts currendy accrued by
the Company. An adverse outcome in one or more of these matters

could be material to the Company's results of operations, financial

condition or liquidiry for any particular period.

Litigation Mtttters

Amara cash baknce pension pkn lirtgation On December 18,

2001, Janice Amara filed a class action lawsuit, captioned. Janice C.

Amara, Gisek R Brodeich, Annette S. Gknz indiaidua$t and on

behalf of all others simikrly situated u. Cigna Corpordtion and Cigna

Pension Plan, in the United States District Court for the District of
Connecticut against Cigna Corporation and the Cigna Pension Plan

on behalf of herself and other similarly situated participants in the

Cigna Pension Plan affected by the 1998 conversion to a cash balance

formula. The plaintiffs allege various ENSA violations including,
among other things, that the Plant cash balance formula discriminates

against older employees; that the conversion resulted in a wear-away

period (when the pre-conversion accrued benefit exceeded the
post-conversion bene0r); and that these conditions are nor adequately
disclosed in the Plan.

In 2008, the court issued a decision finding in favor of Cigna
Corporation and the Cigna Pension Plan on the age discrimination
and wear-away claims. However, the court found in favor of the
plaintiffs on many aspects of the disclosure claims and ordered an



enhanced level of benefits from the existing cash balance formula for
the majority of the class, requiring class members to receive their
frozen benefits under the pre-conversion Cigna Pension Plan and their
post-1997 accrued benefis under the post-conversion Cigna Pension

Plan. The court also ordered, among other things, pre-judgment and

post-judgment interest.

Both parties appealed the court! decisions to the United States Court

ofAppeals for the Second Circuit that issued a decision on October 6,

2009 affirming the District Courtt judgment and order on all issues.

On January 4,2010, both parties filed separate petitions for a writ of
cerriorari to the United States Supreme Court. Cignat Petition was

granted, and on May 16,2011, the Supreme Court issued its Opinion
in which it reversed the lower courts' decisions and remanded the case

to the trial judge for reconsideration of the remedy. The Court
unanimously agreed with the Companyt position that the lower

courts erred in granting a remedy for an inaccurate plan description

under an ENSA provision that allows only recovery of plan benefits.

However, the decision identified possible avenues of "appropriate

equitable relief" that plaintiffs may pursue as an alternative remedy.

The case was returned to the trial court and hearings took place on

December 9,2011 and March 29-30, 2012.

On December 20, 2012, the court issued a decision awarding

equitable relief to the class. The courtk order requires the Company to

reform the pension plan to provide a substantially identical remedy to
that ordered in 2008. Both parties appealed the order and the judge

stayed implementation of the order pending resolution of the appeals.

*:.aotPtnt 
will continue to vigorously defend im position in this

Ingenix, On February 13, 2008, State of New York Attorney General

Andrew M. Cuomo announced an industry-wide investigation into
the use of data provided by Ingenix, Inc., a subsidiary of
UnitedHealthcare, used to calculate payments for services provided by

out-of-network providers. The Company received four subpoenas

from the New York Anorney Generalt office in connection with this

investigation and responded appropriately. On February 17 ,2009, the
Company entered into an Assurance of Discontinuance resolving the

investigation. In connection with che industry-wide resolution, the

Company contributed $10 million to the establishment of a new

non-profit company that now compiles and provides the data

formerly provided by Ingenix.

The Company was named as a defendant in a number of putative

nationwide class actions asserting that due to the use of data from
Ingenix, Inc., the Company improperly underpaid claims, an

industry-wide issue. All of the class actions were consolidated into
Franco u. Connecticut General Life Innrance Company et al. that is
pending in the United Stares District Court for the District of New

Jersey. The consolidated amended complaint, filed onAugust 7, 2009,

asserts claims under ERISA, the NCO statute, the Sherman Antitrust
Act and New Jersey state law on behalf of subscribers, health care

providers and various medical associations.

On September 23, 2011, the court granted in part and denied in part
the Companyt motion to dismiss the consolidated amended

complaint. The court dismissed all claims by the health care provider

and medical association plaintiffs for lack ofstanding to sue, and as a

result the case proceeded only on behalf of subscribers. In addition,
the court dismissed all of the antitrust claims, the ENSA claims based

on disclosure and the NewJersey state law claims. The court did not
dismiss the ERISA claims for benefits and claims under the RICO
statute,
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Plaintiffs filed a motion to certiry a nationwide class of subscriber

plaintiffs on December 19, 20ll that was denied on January 16,

2013. Plaintiffs pedtioned for an immediate appeal of the order

denying class certification, but their petition was denied by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit on March 14,2013,
meaning that plaintiffs cannot appeal the denial of class certification
until there is a final judgment in the case. fu a result, the case is

proceeding in the District Court on behalf of the named plaintiffs
only.

It is reasonably possible that others could initiate additional litigation
or additional regulatory action against the Company with respect to
use of data provided by Ingenix, Inc. The Company denies the

allegations asserted in the investigations and litigation and will
vigorously defend itself in these matters.

A&tentist Heabh System. The Company defended icelf in an

arbitration filed in February 2011 under the rules of the American

fubitration Association titled Adventist Health System v. Cigna

HealthCare of Florida, et. aI. Adventist alleged that it was under-

reimbursed by Cigna under an Orlando-based contract between the

parties that expired in 2009. The Company has denied the claims in
the arbitration. In October 2013, the parties seftled this matter.

Regulatory Matters
Disability chims reguhtory matten Over the past few years, there

has been heightened review by state regulators of the claims handling

practices within the disabiliry and life insurance industry. This has

resulted in an increase in coordinated multi-state examinations that

target specific market practices in addition to regularly recurring

single state examinations of an insurert overall operations. The
Company has been subject to such an examination and, during the

second quarter of 2013, finalized an agreement with the Departments

of Insurance for Maine, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, Connecticut

and California (together, the "monitoring states") related to the

Companyt long-term disabilicy claims handling practices.

The agreement requires, among other things: (1) enhanced claims

handling procedures related to documentation and disposition that
are similar to those imposed on orher companies through regulatory

actions or settlements; (2) monitoring the Companyt
implementation of these procedures during a two-year period
following the execution date of the agreement; and (3) a reassessment

of claims denied or closed during a Nvo-year prior period, except

California for which the reassessment period is three years.

In connection with the terms of the agreement, the Company

recorded a charge of $77 million before-tax ($5t million after-tax) in
the first quarter of 2013. The charge is comprised of cwo elements:
(1) $48 million of benefit costs and reserves from reassessed claims

expected to be reopened, including $925,000 in fines, $750,000 in
regulatory surcharges and $9.5 million in claims handling expenses;

and (2) $29 million in additional costs for open claims as a result of
the claims handling changes being implemented. This charge is

reported in the Group Disabiliry and Life segment. The Company

will be subiect to re-examination 24 months after the execution date

of the agreement. If the monitoring states find material

non-compliance with the terms of the agreement upon

re-examination, the Company may be subject to additional fines or
penalties. In addition to the monitoring states, most of the other
jurisdictions have joined the agreement as participating,

non-monrtoflng states.
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Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
The following unaudited quarterly financial data is presented on a consolidated basis for each of rhi years ended December 31, 2013 and

December 31,2012. Quarterly financial results necessarily rely heavily on estimates. This and certain other factors, such as the seasonal nature of
portions of the insurance business, suggest the need to exercise caution in drawing specific conclusions from quarterly consolidated results.

Three Months Ended

(In miltiar, thare anonb)

Consolidated Results

2013
Total revenues

Income before income tues
Shreholders' net income

Shareholders' net income per share:

Basic

Diluted
2012
Total revenues

Income before income taxes

Shareholders' net income

Shareholders' net income per shre:
Basic

Diluted
Stock md Dividend Data
2013
Price range of common r,".0 

_ il*
Dividends declared per common share

2012
Price range o[ common stock - high

- low
Dividends declared per common share

March 3f

l o,/)4
552
371tt)

1.30

1.28

$ 7,422

588

380 (t)

r.33

1.31

$ 7,323

718
466 (6)

r.64

1.61

$ 7,620

619

406Q)

r.43' 
1.4r

$ 49.89 $ 49.63

$ 41.27 $ 42.2r

$0.04$-

$

$

$

47.92

39.34

54.53

47.3r

(1)Thefrstquarterof201jincludelandfef6gainof$25fortheGMIBbusines,anarer+uchargeof$507nillionforthetran'rtionwithBerhshiretoefeiue|uittheRun-$
Reinrurancc buiness, and an afer-tax charge of $51 million rekted to thc disabilitl clairu regulatory runer in the Group Disabiliry and Life segment.

(2) The rcond qurter of 2013 includes an af*mx charge of $24 nillion for the Phamcy Bcnfitr Maugo (PBM) 2arnring dgftment with Caururan.
(3) The fourtb quartcr of 201j inclades an aftcrux cbdrge of $40 nillion for an organiutioul ffi.cinq phn
(4)Thefrstquanerof20I2includcsanafer+mgainof$4lmillionforthcGMIBbuines,anafer-tuchargeof$28millionforcostsrsociatedwithacquisitions,an

$lj nillion for clstt 6s0ciated with a litigation maner in Global Heahh Care.

(5) Therccondqaarterof20l2includesanafer-tuhsof$5lmillionfortbeGM|Bbasnes.
(6)Thethirdquarterof20l2incIafsanafer+ugainof$32millionfortheGMIBbusines,anafer.tachargeof$I2millionforcoxtdsociated

of $50 nillion for con asociated with an organiatioul effciencl plzn.

(7) The foutth quarter of 2012 inchdts an afo-tu gain of $7 nillion for the GMIB busines and an afo-tu cbarye of $68 million for litigation mtters.
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ITEM gL.Controls and Procedures
A. Disclosure Controls and Procedures

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Based on an evaluadon of the effectiveness of Cigna's disclosure

controls and procedures conducted under the supervision and with
the participation of Cigna's management, Cignat Chief Executive

Ofticer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of
the period covered by this report, Cigna's disclosure controls and

procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be

disclosed by Cigna in the reports that it files or submits under the

Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported,

within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms.

B. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managementt Annual Report on Internd
Control over Financial Reporting

Management of Cigna Corporation is responsible for establishing and

maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting. The

Companys internal controls were designed to provide reasonable

assurance to the Companyt management and Board of Directors that

the Companyt consolidated published financial statements for

external purposes were prepared in accordance with generally accepted

accoundng principles. The Companyt internal control over financial

reporting include those policies and procedures that:

(0 pertain to the maintenance ofrecords that, in reasonable detail,

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets and liabilides of the Company;

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statemens in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and

that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made

only in accordance with authorization of management and

directors of the Company; and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection ofunauthorized acquisitions, use or disposition ofthe
Company's assets that could have a material effect on the

financial statements.

(i0

(iii)

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal

controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. In making

this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tieadway

Commission ("COSO") in Internal Control-Inugrated Franeuorh
(1992). Based on managementt assessment and the criteria set forth
by COSO, it was determined that the Companyt inrernal controls

over financial reporting are effecdve as o[ December 31,2013.

The Companyt independent registered public accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, has audited the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting, as stated in their

report located on page 60 in this Form l0-K.

Changes in Internal Conffol Over Financial

Reporting

During the period covered by this report, there have been no changes

in Cignat internal control over financial reporting that have materidly

affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Cignat internal

control over financial reporting.

ITEM 98. Other Information
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ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the
Registrant

A. Directors of the Registrant

The information under the captions "Board of Directors'Nominees," "Directors \X;bo Viil Continue in Office," and "Board Meetings" (as it
relates to Audit Committee disclosure) in Cignat definitive prory statement telated to the 2014 annud meeting of shareholders is incorporated by

reference,

B. Executive Officers of the Registrant

See PART I - "Executive Officers of the Registrant" on page 27 in this Form l0-K.

C. Code of Ethics and Other Corporate Governance Disclosures

Cignat Code of Ethics is the Company's code of business conduct and

ethics, and applies to Cigna's directors, officers (including the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Ofiicer and Chief Accounting
Officer) and employees. The Code of Ethics is posted on the

Corporate Governance section found on the 'About Cigna" page of
the Companyt website, wwwcigna.com. In the event the Company
substantively amends its Code of Ethics or waives a provision of the

Code, Cigna intends to disclose the amendment or waiver on the

Corporate Governance section of the Companyt website.

In addition, the Companyt corporate governance guidelines (Board

Practices) and the charters of its board commiftees (Audit, Corporate

Governance, Executive, Finance and People Resources) are available

on the Corporate Governance section of the Companyt website.

These corporate governance documents, as well as the Code ofEthics,
are available in print to any shareholder who requests them.

f

D. Section l6(a) Beneficial Ownershi

The information under the caption "Ownership of Cigna Common Stock- Section l6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in
Cigna's definitive proxy statement related to the 2014 annual meeting ofshareholders is incorporated by reference.

ITEM I 1. Executive Compensation
The information under the captions "Non-Employee Director Compensation," "Report of the People Resources Committee," "Compensation

Discussion and Analysis" and "Executive Compensation Thbles" in Cigna's definitive proxy statement related to the 2014 annual meeting of
shareholders is incorporated by reference.
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PART III
ITEM 12. Securiry Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The following table presents information regarding Cignat equiry compensation plans as of December 31,2013:

(a) ot

Securities To Be Issued

Upon Exercise Of
Outstanding Options,

Plan Cateeory Warrants And Rights

6) tzr

Veighted Average

Exercise Price Per

Share Of
Outstanrling Options,
Warrants And Rights

(c) ot

Securities Remaining

Available For Future
Issmce Under Equity

Compeosation Plans
(Excluding Securities

Reflected In Column (a))

Equicy Compensation Plans Approved by Security Holders

Equiry Compensation Plans Not Approved by Securiry

Holders

r0,693,149 42.24 13,568,874

1o,693,149 $ 13,568,874

(1)Inclado,inadditionnoa''mndingstochoptiou,]07']08retraedstockunits,88,807dtfmedshares,2,388diraordefmedthareunitsthatscnIlinsharesa
petforunce sharc, uhich are rqorted at the wimxm 200% payoat mte. Abo inclads 788,808 shdrc of common xoch un*rlying toch option awards grantcd unda tltc

Healthspring, Inc. ,4nndtd and Restated 2006 Eqaity Incntiu Phn and 26,304 shdrct of common stoch anfurlying stoch option awards granted undo the NmQuest Holl.ings, Inc.

2005 Snch Option Phn, each ofwhich was appmved fu the applicdbh company's sbarehollen before Cignai acquisition of HeahhSping in January 2012.

(2)Theueighted-auerageexercisepriceisbacdonfonoaRtandiigrt0choptiow,TheoutttandinglockoptionsaslmeddaetoCignaidcqaisitionofHeahbSpring
aueragc ercrcise price of$17.22, Excluding these usumed options rewlts in a weigb*d-auerage exercise price of$45,36,

(3)Indudes373'870sharesofcomnonstochauilabhuoftheclouofbasinesDecembcr3I,20l3forfvnrtilsuanceandzrtheCigndDirrtonEquirPlanandl3'195'
common ttlch droihble u of the closc of bwines on Decembn 31, 2013 forfunre isunce undn the Cigna ltng-lim Inrcntive Phn a sharcs of ratrioed stoch, ttrutegic pffomance
sharet, tharc in paymmt ofdfuidend equivalent righr, shara in lin ofcuh payabh undo the Companli othu thort- and long-tm incntivc comlntdtion llau and non-tu qulified
npphmnal retimnt bneft phu, or thares in payment of SPSs or SPU-

The information under the captions "Ownership of Cigna Common Stock - Stock held by Directors, Nominees and Executive Ofiicers" and

"Ownership of Common Stock - Largest Security Holders" in Cigna's definitive proxy statement related to the 2014 annual meeting of
shareholders is incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Thansactions

and Director Independence
The information under the captions "Corporate Governance - Certain Tiansactions" and "Corporate Governance - Director Independence" in
Cigna's definitive proxy statement related to the 2014 annual meeting of shareholders is incorporated by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information under the captions "Policy for the Pre-Approval ofAudit and Non-Audit Services" and "Fees to Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm' in Cignat definitive proxy statement related to the 2014 annual meeting of shareholders is incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(") (l) The following Financial Statements appear on pages 60

through I 13:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,

Consolidated Satements of Income for the vears ended

December 31, 2013, 2012 and, 2011.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the
years ended December 31,2013,2012 and20ll.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2013 and
2012.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Total Equicy for the

years ended December 31,2013,2012 and,2}ll.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended

December 31, 2013,2012 and,2011.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemens.

(2) The financial statement schedules are listed in the Index to
Financial Statement Schedules on page FS-I.
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PART IV
ITEM 15 Signatures

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements ofSection 13 or l5(d) ofthe Securities ExchangeActof1934, the rcgistranthas dulycaused this reportto besigned

on im behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CIGNA CORPORATION

Date: February 27,2014
By, /s/ Thomas A. McCarthy

i, Thomas A. McCarthy
becatiue Vice Presifunt and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Offcer)

;. 
iri 

"' . tr

'l:i ''::;'i ::11'

... 
, . :i .,jL

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behdfofthe
registrant and in the capacities indicated as of February 27,2014.

Simaturc fidc

/s/ David M. Cordani Chief Executive Ofticer and Director (Principal Executive Ofticer)

David M. Cordani

/s/ Thomas A McCarthy Execudve Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Oftcer)

fiomas A McCarthy
lsl Mary T Hoeltzel Vice Piesident dnd Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

M".y T. Hoelcel
/s/ Eric J. Foss Director

Eric J. Foss

/s/ Isaiah Harris, Jr. Chairman of the Board

Eric C. Wiseman

Donaa F. 7arcone

'William D.7nllarc
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INDD( TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
ITEM 15 Exhibis and Financial Statement Schedules

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedules ..,...................FS-2

Schedules

I - Summary of Investments - Other Than Inve.stments in Related Parties as of Decembet 31,2Ol3 ..........FS-3
II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)... .......FS4

V - Valuation

Schedules orher than those listed above are omitted because they are not required or are not applicable, or the required information is shown in
the financial statemen$ or notes thereto.

PAGE
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PART IV
ITEM 15 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedules

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Financial Statement Schedules

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Cigna Corporation

Our audits ofthe consolidated financial statements and ofthe effectiveness ofinternal control over financial reporting referred to in our report

dated February 27 , 2014 (which report and consolidated financial statements are included under Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K)
also included an audit ofthe financial statement schedules listed in Item l5(aX2) ofthis Form 10-K. In our opinion, these financial statement

::**f::..-nt 
fairlp in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 27,2014
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ITEM 15. Exhibim and Financial Statement iffi"il

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule I - Summary of Investments - Other Than Investments in Related Parties

December 31,2013

Type oflnvestment
(In milliot) Cost

Amount at

which shown in
Fair the Consolidated

Value Balance Sheet

Fixed maturities:

Bonds:

United States government and government agencies and authorities

States, municipalities and political subdivisions

Foreign governments

Public utilities

All other corporate bonds

Asset backed securities:

United States government agencies mortgage-backed

Other mortgage-backed

Other asset-backed

Redeemable preferred stocla

640 $

1,983
I 1c)?

90

10,r76

880

2,144
r,444

92

r0,849

$ 880

2,144

1,444

92

10,849

77

/o
799

40

/o
77

884

40

76

77

884

40

TOTAL FDGD MAIT,IRITIES 15,273 r6,486 16,486

Equity securities:

Common stocla:

Industrial, miscellaneous and all other
Non redeemable preferred stoctcs

64

77

64

77

)/
89

TOTAL EQUITY SECURITIES t4lt41r46

Commercial mortgage loms on real estate

Policy loans

Real estate investments

Other long-term investments

Short-term investments

) )\')
I,46)

97

1,250

63r

2,252
1,485

97

1,273

63r

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 2r,r34 22,365
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PART TV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation - (Registrant)

Statements of Income

(In milliow)

Operating expenses:

Interest

Intercompany interest

Other

TOTAL OPEMIING E)(PENSES

Loss before income tues
Income tax benefit

Loss ofparent company

in income of subsidiaries

STIAREHOLDERS' NET INCOME

Shareholders' otf,er conrprehensive incone (loss):

Net unrealized (depreciation) appreciation on securities:

Fixed maturities

For tf,e years ended December 31,

2013 2012 20tl

(306)

(199)

$ r95

19
C)?

2r0r44
secunues 3

147

(5)

oo

(92)

116

r,739 $

Net unrealized (depreciation) appreciation on securities

Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation), derivatives

Net translarion of foreign currencies

208

I
Q2)

Postrerirement bene0ts

Shareholderd other

STIAREHOLDERS' COMPREHENSTVE INCOME
Sce Notet t0 Financial Starcmcnts on th following pagcs.
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ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)

Balance Sheets

(In milliou)

ASSETSI

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in subsidiaries

Intercompany

Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIASILITIES:
Intercompany

Shoit-term debt

Long-term debt

Other liabilities

TOTAL LTABIUTIES

SzuREHOLDERS',EQUITY:
Common stock (shares issued, 366; authorized, 600)

Additional paid-in capital

As of December 31,

Net unrealized appreciation - fixed maturities

Net unrealized appreciation - equity securities

Nec unrealized depreciation - derivatives

Net translation of foreign currencies

2013 20t2

115

t6,r25
37

729

17

12,330
(5,277)

9

$17

Postretirement benefi ts

Retained earnings

Less treasury stock, at cost

TOTAL STIAREHOLDERS'

TOTAL LIABIUTIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'

See Notet to Financial Statemenu on the following paget
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)

Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31,

(In million) 2013 2012 20ll
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Shareholders' Net Income

Adjustmens to reconcile shareholden' net income to ner cash provided by operating activities:

Equity in income of subsidiaries

Dividends received from subsidiaries

Other liabilities

Other, net

Net cash

Cash Flows from Invescing Activities:

Other. net

$ r,476

(1,702)

506

$ r,623 $ 1,260

(r,932)
: 671

Net cash used in invesring activiries

Cash Flows from Financing Acriviries:

Net change in amounts due to / from afiiliates

Nec change in short-term debt

Nec proceeds on issuance of long-teim debt
Repayment of long-rerm debt

Issuance of common stock

Common dividends paid

Net cash used in financing activitres

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

7t1
(100)

r50
(l 1)

(2r3)

19r

121

(11)

115

(921

340 548

(19)

(re)

(208) (3,258)

100

(44e)

734
(t t)

il5$
Cash and cash eoui

Cash and cash end of

Net cash used in financing activitres

See Noter to Financial Statements on the follouing paget
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ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Sratement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements

The accompanying condensed financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the

accompanying notes thereto contained in this Form 10-K.

Note I - For purposes of these condensed financial statements, Cigna

Corporationt (the Company) wholly owned and majoriry owned

subsidiaries are recorded using the equiry basis of accounting.

Note 2 - Short-term and long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31:

Short-term:

Commercial

TOTAL SHORT.TERM DEBT

Long-terml

Uncollat€ralired debt:

2.75% Notes due 2016

5.375% Notes due 2017

6.35% Notes due 2018

8.5% Notes due 2019

4.375% Notes due 2020

5.125% Notes due 2020

4.50lo Notes drc 2021

4% Notes due2022
7.65% Notes dte 2023

8.3% Notes dle 2023

7.875% Debentures dte 2027

8.37o Step Down Notes due 2033

6.15% Notes drc2036
5.875olo Notes dlue 2041

5.3750lo Notes due 2042

TOTAL LrONG-TERM DEBT

In December 2012, rhe Company extended the life of its June 201 I
five-year rwolving credit and letter of credit agreement for

$1.5 billion that permits up to $500 million to be used for letters of
credit. This agreement is diversified among 16 banks, with 3 banks

having approximately 35o/o of the commitment and the remainder

spread among l3 banks. The credit agreement includes options that
are subject to consent by the administrative agent and the committing
banks, to increase the commitment amount to $2 billion and to
extend the term past December 2017. The credit agreement is

available for general corporate purposes, including as a commercial

paper backstop and For the issuance ofletters ofcredil This agreement

has certain covenants, including a financial covenant requiring the

Company to maintain a total debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at or
below 0.50 to 1.00. fu of December 31, 2013, the Company had

$6.0 billion of borrowing capacity within the maximum debr coverage

covenant in the agreement in addition to the $5.2 billion of debt

outstanding. There were letters of credit of $39 million issued as of
December 31, 2013.

On November 10, 2011, the Company lssued $2.1 billion of
long-term debt as follows: $600 million of 5-Year Notes due

November 15, 2016 at a stated interest rate of 2.75o/o ($600 million,
net of discount, with an effective interest rate of 2.9360/o per year),

2013 December 3l

298

750

$750 million of l0-Year Notes due February 15, 2022 at a stated

interest rate of 4o/o ($743 million, net of discount, with an effective

interest rate of 4.3460/o per year) and $750 million of 30-Year Notes

due February 15, 2042 at a stated interest rate of 5.375o/o
($750 million, net of discount, with an effective interest rate of
5.542o/o per year). Interest is payable on May 15 and November 1 5 of
each year beginning May 15, 2012 for the 5-Year Notes and

February I 5 and August 1 5 ofeach year beginning February 15,2012
for the l0-Year and 30-Year Notes. The proceeds of this debt were

used to fund the HealthSpring acquisition in 2012.

The Company may redeem these Notes, ar any rime, in whole or in
pafi, 

^t 
a redemption price equal to the grearer of:

. 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed; or

. the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments

on the Notes being redeemed discounted at the applicable Tieasury

Rate plus 30 basis points (5-Year 2.75% Notes due 2016), 35 basis

points (l0-Year 4% Notes drc 2022), or 40 basis points (3O-Year

5.375o/o Notes due 2042).

In March 201 l, the Company issued $300 million of l0-Year Notes

due March 15,2021 at a stated interest rate oF 4.5o/o ($298 million,

600

250

131

)(t
249
? ac)

299

743

100
17

300

83

500
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net ofdiscount, with an effective interest rate of4.683% per year) and

$300 million oF3O-Year Notes due March 15,2041at a stated inrerest

rare of 5.875o/o ($298 million, net of discount, with an effective

interest rate of 6.008% per year). Interest is payable on March l5 and

September 15 of each year beginning September 15, 2011. The
proceeds of this debt were used for general corporate purposes,

including the repayment of debt maturing in 2011.

The Company may redeem these Nores, at any time, in whole or in
part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:

. 100%o of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed; or

. the present value of the remaining principal and interest paymenrs

on the Notes being redeemed discounted at the applicable Tieasury

Rate plus 20 basis points (10-Year 4.5% Notes due 2021) or 25 basis

points (3O-Year 5.875o/o Notes due 2041).

Maturities ofdebt are as follows (in rnillions): none in 2014 and,20l5,

$600 in 20 I 6, $250 in 2017, $ I 3 I in 20 I 8 and the remainder in years

after 2018. Interest expense on long-term and short-term debt was

$264 million in 2013, $262 nillion in 2012, and $195 million in
2011. Interest paid on long-term and short-term debt was

$259 million in 2013, $242 mllion in 2012, and $179 million in
201t.

The Company was in compliance with its debt covenants as of
December 31,2013.

Note 3 - Intercompany liabilities consist primarily of loans payable to
Cigna Holdings, Inc. of $ 1,043 million as of December 31 ,2013 and
$289 million as of December 31, 2012. The proceeds of the debt

issuance in November 2011 of $2.1 billion (see Note 2) and the equiry

issuance of $629 million (see Note 5) were used to reduce the

intercompany loan payable balance with Cigna Holdings and

ultimately used to fund the HealthSpring acquisition in 2012. Interest

was accrued at an average monthly rate of 0.59o/o for 2Ol3 and, 0.7 lo/o

for 2012.

Note 4 - As of December 31, 2013, the Company had guarantees and

similar agreements in place to secure payment obligations or solvency

requirements of certain wholly owned subsidiaries as follows:

. The Company has arranged for bank letters of credit in the amount
of $3 million to provide collateral in support of its indirect wholly
owned subsidiaries.

. Various indirect, wholly-owned subsidiaries have obtained surety

bonds in the normal course ofbusiness, If there is a claim on a surety

bond and the subsidiary is unable to pay, the Company guarantees

payment to the company issuing the surety bond. The aggregate

amount of such surery bonds as of December 31, 2013 was

)/) mllllon.

. The Company is obligated under a $12 million letter of credit
required by the insurer of its high-deductible self-insurance

programs to indemnifr the insurer for claim liabilities that fdl
within deductible amounts for policy years dating back to 1994.

. The Company also provides solvency guarantees aggregating

$34 million under state and federal regulations in support of its
indirect wholly-owned medical HMOs in several states.

. The Company has arranged a $23 million letter of credit in support

of Cigna Europe Insurance Company, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary. The Company has agreed to indemnifr the banla

providing the letters of credit in the event of any draw. Cigna

Europe Insurance Company is the holder of the letters oF credit.

. The Company has agreed to indemnifr payment of losses included

in Cigna Europe Insurance Companyt reserves on the assumed

reinsurance business transferred from ACE. As of December 31,
2013, rhe resewe was $25 million.

[n2013, no payments have been made on these guarantees and none

are pending. The Company provided other guarantees to subsidiaries

that, in the aggregate, do not represent a material risk to the

Companyt resuhs of operations, liquidity or financial condition.

Note 5 - On November 16,2011, the Company issued 15.2 million
shares of its common stock at $42.75 per share, Proceeds were

$650 million ($629 million net of underwriting discount and fees)

and used to reduce the intercompany loan payable balance with Cigna

Holdings and ultimately used to fund the HealthSpring acquisition in

Jantary 2012.
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule III - Supplementary Insurance Information

Deferred
policy

acquisition
costs

Future policy
benefis and

contractholder

deposit

fitnds

Medical claims
payable and Unearned

unpaid premiums

claims and fees

Segment
(In milliow)

Year Ended December 31,2013:
Global Health Care

Global Supplemenral Benefits

Group Disability and Life

Run-off Reinsurance

Other Operations

Ymr Ended December 31,2012:
Global Heahh Care

Global Supplemental Benefits

Group Disabiliry and Life

Run-off Reinsurance

Orher Operations

Corporare

l9
t,tt3

I

65

175
', )'r7

1,599

t,094
t2,678

r,856
306

3,482
153

142
(2r)

$ ttt
388

ZD

2;

$ 1,198 17,773 5,9r8

Year Ended December 3l,20Il:
Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefim

Group Disabiliry and Life
Run-off Reinsurance

Other Operations

Corporate

$ 19

729
I

68

r70
| ?((
1,572

1,r72

t2,977

$ 103

J40

1l)

27

1,443

177

3,228

240

160

0)
8r7 t7,146 5,241
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Anortization
of deferred

policy
acquisition

Other
oPeratinB

Year Ended December 31,2013:
Global Healrh Care

Global Supplemental Benefits

Group Disabiliry and Life

Run-off Reinsurance

Other Operations

Year Ended December 31,2012:
Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefi ts

Group Disabiliry and Life

Run-off Reinsurance

Orher Operations

TOTAL

Premiums

and fees (l)

$ 20,973

r,984
3,109

)1

100

Net
investment

income (2)

$259$
90

300

102

388

t4,228
1,005

2,290

l6
361

tJ,> / t
770

72r
(r2)

51

42r

$68$
14r

3

6

Corporate - 5

TOTAL $ 26,187 $ r]& $ rz,goo $ zra $ 8,524

Year Ended December 31, 201 l:
Global Healrh Care

Global Supplemental Benefits

Group Disabiliry and Life

Run-off Reinsurance

Other Operations

Corporate

$ 14,443

r,528
2,857

24

rr4

263

83

29r
103

400

6

9,125

754

2,086

AO

385

139

110

4

6

$ 5,404
628

650

265

60
144

TOTAL $ 18,966 $ r,146 $ 12,490 $ 259 7,240
(l) Amounts presented are shown net ofthe efects of reinsurance. See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statementt included in this Form l1-K

(2) The alhcation of net inuestwent income is bued apon the inue$mnt year method, the identifcation of rertain portfolios with specifc vgments, or a combination of botb.

(3) Beneft upenes inclade Global Heahb Care medical ckire expewe end other beneft expenses.

(4)otheroperatingexpewesinchdemailorderpbamac7costofgoodsn|/,GMIBfairulue(gain)losandotheroperdtingexpen'e!,andexcludesamortiution
ocqutrtilon exPenset.
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule [V - Reinsurance

(In niltiow)

Year Ended December 31,2013:
Life insurance in force

Premiums md fees:

Life insurance and annuiries

Accident and health i

TOTAL

Year Ended December 31,2012:
Life insurance in force

Gross amount
Ceded to other Assumed from

other

710,140 $ 48,702 $

Percentage

of amount
Net a-rrount assunred to net

4,435 $ 665,873 0.7o/o

Premiums and fees:

Life insurance and annuities

Accident md health insurance

)n)\ {
24,163

268 $

201
29$

439 ,

r,786
24,401

1.60/o

l.8o/o

TOTAL 26,188 $ 469 $ 468 $ 26,187 l.8o/o

Year Ended December 31,2017:
Life insurance in force 606,587 $ 48,078 $ 9,163 $ 567,672 l.60/o

Premiums and fees:

Life insurance and annuities

Accident and health insurance
$ 1,990 $

1'7 t) q
280 $

167

40$
l>4

1,750

17,216:
2.3o/o

0.90/o

TOTAL $ r9,2r9 $ 447 $ r94 $ r8,966 l.0o/o

FS-ll CIGNA CORPOMTION - 2013 Form 10-K
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule V - Valuation and Quatifring Accounts and Reserves

Balance at
inninq qf

Charged
(Credited)

to costs and

Charged
(Credited)

to olher
accounts(l)

Ot[er
deductions(2)

Bdance at
end of oeriod

Dscription
(In

2O13t

Investment asset valuation reseryes: Commercial morqage loans

Allowance for doubdrl accounr: Premiums. accounts and noces

receivable

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

Re.insurance recoverables

20122

Investmenc asset valuation reserves: Commercial mortgage loans

Allowance for doubtirl accounLs: Premiums. accounts ard notes

receivable

Deferred tax asset valuation allowmce

Reinsurance recoverables

20tl:
Investment asset valuation reseryes: Commercial mortgage loans

Allowance for doubdil accounr: Premiums, accounrs and nores

receivable

Deferred tu asset valuation allowance

$19 $ lo $ (22)

$ (e)

$ (7)

)
(
(

(

$49
$26

$16

$4
$4

$ 19

$ 4 $ I $ r $ 5l
$ 4 $(7) $ - $42
$(1) $ - $ - $ 4

+>

4>

t2

$45
$45
$5

$ (l)
$ t5
.t-Reinsurance recoverables $ tO $ (5)

(1) 201I inmar to defmed ru net valuation allowance reflected cfrt of the acqilsition of First Asist in Noumber 201 1.

(2)AmountsforcomnercialmortgageIoansprinaril7refectch4rge-ofu?on'ale'andrepd1ment',xwellattrantferstoforeclosedrealestate
to Othcr Long-term Inuestments.

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2013 Form 70-K FS-r2
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Index to Exhibits

Number Description Method of Filing

2.1 Agreement md Plm of Merger dated as of October 24, 20ll by
and among Cigna Corporation, Cigna Mignolia Corp. and

HeakhSpring, Inc.* .,

2.2 Voting Agreement dated as of October 24, 2011 among Cigna

Corooration and Herbert A. Fritch
3.1 Restared Certificate oflncorporadon ofthe registrant as last

amended October 28, 2011 i '

3.2 By-Laws of the regisrranr as last amended and restated December 6, Filed as Exhibir 3.2 to the regisrranr's Form l0-K for the year ended

2012 December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

4.1 (a) Indenture dated August 16,2006 benveen Cigna Corporation and Filed as Exhibit 4.1(a) to the registrantt Form lO-K for the year

U.S. Bank National Association ended December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Supplemenral Indenture No. 1 dated November 11, 2006 beween Filed as Exhibit 4.1(b) to rhe registrant's Form 10-K for the year

Cigna Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association ended December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

(c) Supplemenral Indenture No. 2 dated March 15,2008 berween Filed as Exhibit 4.1(c) to the registrantt Form l0-Qfor the

Cigna Corporation and U.S. Bmk National Association qu.anerly period ended March 31, 2011 and incorporated herein by
telerence

(d) Supplemenral Indenture No. 3 dated Mxch7,2008 berween Cigna Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant's Form 8-K on March 10,

Coroorarion and U.S. Bank National Association
(i) Supplemental Indenture No. 8 dated November 10, 2011 berween

Cigna Corporadon and U.S. Bank National Associated

Marine Midland Bank
4.3 Indencure dated June 30, 1988 berween Cigna Corporation and

Bankers Thust

Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the registrmtt Form 8-K on October 27,
2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 2.3 to the registrantt Form 8-K on October 26,
20ll and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant's Form l0-Qfor the quarterly
petiod ended September 30,20lI and incorporated herein by
reterence,

and incorporared herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 4.1 ro the registrant's Forrn 8-K on November 14,

2011 and incorporated herein by reference,

December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the regiscrantt Form lO-K for the year ended
December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference,

Coroorarion and U.S. Bank National Association 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.

(e) Supplemenral Indenture No. 4 dated Mry 7 , 2009 berween Cigna Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the registrantt Form 8-K on May 12, 2009
CorporarionandU.S.BankNationalAssociadonarrdincorporatedhereinbyreference.

(F) Supplemental Indenture No. 5 dated Mzy 17,2010 beween Cigna Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the registranr's Form 8-K on May 28,2010
Corporation and U.S. Bank National fusociation and incorporared herein by reference.

(g) Supplemental Indenrure No. 6 dated December 8, 2010 between Filed as Exhibir 99.2 to the registrant's Form 8-K on December 9,
Cigna Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

(h) Supplemenral Indenture No. 7 dated Mach 7, 20ll benveen Cigna Filed as Exhibir 4.1 to the registrantt Form 8-K on March 8, 20ll

4.2 Indenrure dared January 1, 1994 berween Cigna Corporation and Filed as Exhibir 4.2 rc rhe registrantt Form 10-K for the year ended

Exhibits 10.1 through 10.33 are identified as compensatory plans, management contracrs or arrangemenrs pursuant to ftem l5 of Form l0-K.
10.1 Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors of Cigna Corporation, as Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form l0-K for the year

amended and restated Jnnry 1,1997 ended December 31,20ll and incorporated herein by teference.

I0.2 Deferred Compensation Plan of 2005 for Directors of Cigna Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Form 10-K for the year

Corporation, Amended and Restated effective April 28, 2010 ended December 31,2010 and incorporated herein by reference,

10.3 Cigna Corpoiation Non-Employee Director Compensation Program Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant's Form l0-K for the year
amended and restated effective January 1, 2012 ended December 31,2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.4 Cigna Restricted Share Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant! Form lO-K for the year

ended December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Form 10-Qfor the quuterly

as amended and restated effective Ianuary 1, 2008 ended December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.5 Cigna Corporation Direcror Equity Plan Filed as Exhibir 10.3 to the registranrt Form 10-Qfor the quarterly
period ended March 3I, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.6 Cigna Corporation Stock Plan, as amended and restated through Filed as Exhibic 10.7 to the registrant's Form l0-K for the year

July 2000 ended December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.7 (a) Cigna Srock Unit Plan, as amended and restated effecriveldy 22, Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Form l0-Qfor the quarterly
2008 Or..i.t:.0n;ld.O September 30, 2008 and incorporated herein by

(b) Amendment No. I to the Cigna Stock Unit Plm, as amended and Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the registrantt Form lO-Q for the quarterly
resrated effective llJry 22,2008 period ended June 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.8 Cigoa Executive Severmce Benefits Plan u amended md restated Filed as Exhibit 10,2 to the registrmtt Form lO-Qfor the quarterly
effective April 27, 2010 period ended June 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.9 Description of Severance Benefits for Execudves in Non-Change of Filed u Exhibit 10.10 to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year
Control Circumstanccs

10.10 Description of Cigna Corporation Srrategic Performance Share

Program period ended June 30, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
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Number Description Mer:hod of Filinq

10.1 1

10.12 (a)

10.13

10.14

10.15 (")

(b)

(c)

10.16 (a)

(b)

10.17

10.18

1 0.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

t0.24

10.25

10.26

r0.27

10.28

r0.29

10.30

10.31

r0.32

10.33

(b)

(c)

Cigna Executive Incenrive Plan amended and restated as of
Jantary 12,2012
Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended and restated effective
as ofApril 28,2010
Amendment No. I to the Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan as

amended and restated effective as ofApril 28, 2010
Amendment No. 2 ro rhe Cigna long-trm Incentive Plan as

amended and restated effective as ofApril 28, 2010
Cigna Deferred Compensacion Plan, as amended and restated
October 24, 2001
Cigna Deferred Compensation Plan of 2005 effective as of
January l, 2005
Cigna Supplemental Pension Plan as amended and restated effective
August l, 1998

Amendment No. 1 to rhe Cigna Supplemental Pension Plan,
amended and restared effective as ofSeptember 1, 1999
Amendment No. 2 dated December 6, 2000 to the Cigna
Supplemental Pension
Cigna Supplemenral Pension Plan of2005 effective as ofJanuary l,
2005
Amendment No. I to rhe Cigna Supplemental Pension Plan of
2005
Cigna Supplemental 401(k) Plan effective January 1, 2010

Description of Cigna Corporation Financial Sewices Program

Form of Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan: Nonqualified Stock
Ootion and Grant Letter
form of Cigna long-Term Incentive Plan: Restricted Stock Giait
and Grant Letter
Form of Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan: Restricted Stock Unit
Grant and Grant Letter
Schedule regatding Amended Deferred Stock Unit Agreements .

effective December 31, 2008 with John M. Murabito and Form of
Amended Deferred Stock Unir Agreement
Nicole Jones' Offer of Employment dated April 27, 2011

Matthew Manders' Promotion kmer dated November 18, 2011

Thomx A. McCarrhy's Offer Lener dared May 9, 2013

Retenrion Agreement with Herbert Fritch dated October 24,2}ll

Agreement dared December 7, 201I with Herbert Fritch

Hea.lthSpring, Inc. Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive
Plan (the "HeafthSpring Equiry Incentive Plan')
HealthSpring Equicy Incentive Plan: Form of Resrricted Share
Award
HealthSpring Equiry Incentive Plan: Form of Non-Qualified Stock
Option Agreement
Ralph Nicolettit Offer of Employment dated April 27,2011

Agreement and Release wirh Ralph J. Nicoleni dated July 10, 2013

Master Transaction Agreement, dated February 4, 2013 mong
Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, Berlshire Hathaway
Lile Insurance Company of Nebraska and, solely for purposes of
Sections 3.10, 6.1,6.4,6.6,6.9 and Articles II, V MI, and VIII,
thereoF, National Indemniry Company (including the Forms of
Retrocession Agreement, the Collateral Tiust Agreement, the
Securiry and Control Agreement, the Surery Poliry and the ALC
Model Purchase Option Agreement as exhibits)
Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charqis

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Form l0-Qfor the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2012 md incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.2 ro rhe regisrrant's Form l0-Q for the quarrerly
period ended March 31,2010 and incoroorared herein bv reference.
iil.d r" E*hibit 10.1 to the registrant! Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibir l0.l to the registrantt Form lO-Qfor rhe quarterly
period ended March 3l,20ll and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to rhe registrantt Form lO-K for the year
ended December 31,20ll and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the regisrranrt Form l0-K for the year
ended December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.15(a) to the registrantt Form l0-K for the year
ended December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.15(b) to the registrantk Form 10-K for rhe year
ended December 31,2009 and incorporated herein bv referencc.
Filed as Exhibit 10.16(c) to the regisirantt Form 10-k for rhe yer
ended December 31,20ll and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the registrantt Form 10-K for rhe year
ended December 31,2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registranti Form l0-Qfor rhe quarterly
period ended June 30, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31,2009 and incoroorated herein bv reference.
Filed ai Exhibit 10.18 to the registrantt Form 10-K fo. th. y.".
ended Decembei 31,2009 and incorporated herein bv reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the regisrranr's Form 10-K for the yea.
ended December 31,20Il and incoroorated herein bv reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.22 ro the registrantt Form l0-K for the year
ended December 31,20ll and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the registrant's Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010 and incorporated herein bv reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the regisuant's Form 10-K for rhe yeat
ended December 31, 2008 and incorporated herein by teference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 ro the registrant's Form 10-Q for the period
ended March 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit l0.l to the resistrant's Form 8-K filed on Mav 13,

2013 and incorporared herein 
"by 

reference.
Filed as Exhibit l0.l to the registrmt's Form I0-Qfor rhe period
ended March 3L,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registranrt Form 10-Qfor rhe period
ended March 31,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the registrantt Form l0-Qfor the period
ended March 31,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibir 10.4 to the regisrranrt Form l0-Qfor the period
ended March 31,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as F-xhibit 10.5 to the registranrt Form 10-Q for the period
ended March 31,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Fotm 8-K filed on May 31,
2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit I0.1 to the registrant's Form 8-K filed on July 17,
2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed u Exhibit 10.29 to the registranis Form l0-K for the year
ended December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

t2
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* Schcdubs bave becn omincd p*rsuant to ltm 601(b)(2) of Regahion S-K, Thc Companl agrca tofurnish npplnmtally to the Scuitics and Erhdnge Commission a copy ofany omitted
tchcduh u?on rcqactt,

The registrant will furnish to the Commission upon request of any other instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt.

Shareholders may obtain copies of exhibits by writing to Cigna Corporation, Shareholder Services Depattment, 160l Chestnut Street,

Philadelphia, PA 19192.
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Income bdore income taxes

Adjustments:

Income from equity investee

Income atrributable to

Income before income taxes, as

Fixed charges included in income:

Interest portion of rental expense

Interest credited to contractholders

$ 1,802

(l 8)

$ 1,853

0e)(10) (tr)
(t) (l

$ 1,831

268
43

,,4

202

38

5

$ 166

46

3

$ 182

42
(

Income available for fixed

RANO OF EARNINGS TO FDGD CTIARGES:

315 $ 245

2,781

8.8

$ 229 $ 2r5

$ 2,009 $ 2,046

8.886

EXHIBIT 12 Cigna Corporation - Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Year Ended December 31,
(Dolhn iz 2012 20tl 20r0 2009

$ 2,477 $ 1,876
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Exhibit 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Listed below are subsidiaries of Cigna Corporation as of December 31, 2013 with their jurisdictions of organization shown in parentheses. Those

subsidiaries not listed would not, in the aggregate, constitute a "significant subsidiary' of Cigna Corporation, as thac term is defined in
Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X.

Entity Name Jurisdiction

Allegiance Life & Hedth Insurance Company, Inc.

Allegiance Re, Inc.

American Retirement Life Insurance Company

Benefia Management Corp.

Bravo Health Mid-Atlantic, Inc.

Bravo Health of Pennsylvania, Inc.

Bravo Health, LLC
Central Reserve Life Insurance Company

Ceres Sales of Ohio, LLC
Cigna & CMC Life Insurance Company Limited
Cigna Apac Holdings Limited
Cigna Arbor Life Insurance Company

Cigna Behavioral Health of California, Inc.

Cigna Behavioral Health ofTexas, Inc.

Cignd Behavioral Hedth, Inc.

Cigna Benefits Financing, Inc.

Cigna Brokerage Sewices (Thailand) Limited

Cigna Chestnur Holdings, Lrd.

Cigna Corporate Seruices, LLC
Cigna Data Services (Shanghai) Company Limited

Cigna Denta.l Health of California, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Colorado, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Delaware, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Florida, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Illinois, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Kansas, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Kentucky, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Maryland, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Missouri, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of New Jersey, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of North Carolina, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Ohio, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Pennsylvania, Inc.

Cigna Dentd Health of Texas, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Virginia, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health Plan of Arizona, Inc.

Cigna Denral Heahh, Inc.
Cigna Europe Insurance Company S.A.-N.V.

Cigna European Services (UK) Limited
Cigna Finans Emeklilik ve Hayar A.S.

Cigna Global Holdings, Inc.

Cigna Global Insurance Company Limited

Cigna Global Reinsurance Company, Ltd.

Cigna Hayat Sigorta A.S.

Cigna Health and Life Insurance Corirpany
Cigna Hea.lrh Corporacion

Cigna Health Managemeni; Inc,

Cigna Health Solutions India Pvt. Ltd.
Cigna Hea.lthcaie Holdings, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare Mid-Atlanric, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Arizona, Inc.
Cigna Healthcare of California, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Colorado, Inc.
Cigna Healthcare of Connecticut, Inc.

Cigna Healchcare of Florida, Inc.

Montana

Montana

Ohio

Montana

Maryland
Pennsylvania

Delaware

Ohio

Ohio

China

New Zalard
Connecticut

California

Texas

Minnesota

Delaware

Thailand

United Kingdom

Delaware

China

California

Colorado

Delaware

Florida

Illinois

Kansas

Kentucky
Maryland

Missouri
New Jersey
North Carolina

Ohio
Pennsylvania

Texas

Virginia
Arizona

Florida
Belgium

United Kingdom

Turkey
Delaware

Guernsey, C.I
Bermuda

Tirrkey

Connecticut

Delaware

Delaware

India

Colorado

Maryland

fuizona
California

Colorado i

Connecticut

Florida

CIGNA CORPORATION - 2013 Form l}-K E-5
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Entiw Name Jurisdiction
Cigna Healthcare of Georgia, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Illinois, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Indiana, inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Maine, Inc. , .

Cigna Healthcare of Massachusetts, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of New Hampshire, Inc,

Cigna Healthcare of New Jersey, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of New York, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare o€North Carolina, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Pennsylvania, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of South Carolina, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of St. lnuis, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of tnnessee, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Texas, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Utah, Inc.

Cigna HLA Technology Services Company Limited

Cigna Holdings Overseas, Inc.

Cigna Holdings, Inc.

Cigna Hong Kong Holdings Company Limited

Cigna Insurance Publ.ic Company Limited I

Cigna Insurance Services (Europe) Limited

Cigna Inrernadonal Corporarion

Cigna International Services Australia Pty. Ltd.

Cigna Investment Group, Inc,

Cigna Investments, Inc.

Cigna Korea Foundation

Cigna Life Insurance Company of Canada

Cigna Life Insurance Company of Europe S.A.- N.V
Cigna Life Insurance Company of New York

Cigna Life Insurance New Zalmd Limited

Cigna Nederland AIpha Cooperatief U.A.

Cigna Nederland Beta N.V
Cigna Nederland Gmma N.V.

Cigna Brokerage & Marketing (Thailand) Limited
Cigna Saico Benefits Services VIL
Cigna Taiwan Life Assurance Company Limited
CignaTTK Health Insurance Company Limited

Cigna \?'orldwide General Insurance Company Limired

Cigna Vorldwide Insurance Company

Georgia

lillnots
Indiana

Maine
Massachusetrs

New Hampshire

New Jersey
New York

North Carolina
Pennsylvania

Sourh Carolina

Missouri
Tennessee

Texas

Cigna Worldwide Life Insurance Company Limited

Connecticut General Corporarion

Connecticut General Life Insurance Company

FirstAssist Administration Limiteo

FirstAssist Group Holdingi Limited
FirstAssist Grouo Limited

FirsoAssist Legal Protection Limited
Great-\West Healthcare of Illinois, Inc.

Healthsource, Inc.

HealthSpring of Alabama, Inc

HealthSpring of Florida, Inc.

HealthSpring Life & Health Insurance Company, Inc.

HealthSpring Management, Inc.

HealthSpring of Tennessee, Inc.

KDM Thailand Limited
Life Insunnce Company of North Ainerica

LINA Financial Service

LINA Life Insurance Company of Korea

Loyal American Life Insurance Company

MCC Independent Practice Association of New York, Inc.
NewQuest, LLC
Provident American Life and Health Insurance Company

E-6 CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2013 Form r}-K

Urah

Hong Kong
Delaware

Delaware

Hong Kong
Thailand

United Kingdom

Delaware

Australia

Delaware

Delaware

Korea

Canada

Belgium

New York
New Zealand

Netherlands

Netherlands

Nerherlands

Thailand

Bahrain

Thiwan

India
Hong Kong
Delaware

Horig Kong

Connecticur

Connecticut
United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Illinois
New Hampshire

Delaware

A.labama

Florida

Texas

Tennessee

Tennessee

Thailand
Pennsylvania

Korea

Korea

Ohio

New York
Texas

Ohio
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EXHIBIT 23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Ve hereby cons€nt to rhe incorporation by reference in the

Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-183238) and Form S-8

(No. 333-179307, No. 333-166583, No. 333-163899,
No. 333-147994, No. 333-64207, No. 333-129395,
No. 333- I 0783 9, No. 333 -907 85, No. 333-31903, No. 333 -2239 l,

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopen LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 27, 2014

No. 033-60053 and No. 033-51791) ofCigna Corporation ofour
rcports dared February 27, 2014 relating to the financial statements,

the financial statement schedules and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, which appear in this Form lO-K.

F-8 CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2013 Form lO-K
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EXHIBIT 3I.I Certification

I, DAVID M. CORDANI, certifr that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form l0-K of Cigna

Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this reporc does not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statemens made, in light of the

circumsrances under which such statements were made. not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other

financial information included in this report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations

and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods

presented in this report;

4. The registrantt other certi$,ing officer(s) and I are responsible

for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and

l5d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(0 and l5d-15(f)) for the

registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused

such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relaring to the registrant, including its consolidated

subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report

is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or
caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability offinancial reporting and

the preparation of financial statements for exrernal

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounring

principles;

d waluated the effecdveness of the registrantk disclosure

controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as of the end ofthe period covered

by this report based on such evaluacion; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's

internal conuol over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrantt most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
repoft) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrantt internal control over

financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifring officer(s) and I have disclosed,

based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrantt auditors and the audit
committee of the registrantt board of directors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the

design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrantt abiliry co record, process, summarize and report

financial informationr and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves

managemenr or other employees who have a significant role

in ttre regisuantt internal control over financial repofting.

A/ David M. Cordani

Chief Executiue Offcer
Date: February 27,2014

CIGNA CORPORATION - 2013 Form lO-K E-9



PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

EXHIBIT 31.2 Certification

I, THOMAS A. MCC RTHY, certif, that:

l. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form l0-K of Cigna

Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the

circumsrances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other

financial information included in this report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condirion, results of operations

and cash flows of the regiscrant as o[, and for, the periods

presented in this report;

4. The registrantt other certifring officer(s) and I are responsible

for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15(e) and

t5d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-1 5(0 and I 5d-l 5(0) for the

registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused

such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report

is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or
caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliabiliry offinancial reporting and

the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles;

c) evaluated the effeciiveness of the registrantt disclosure

controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as ofthe end ofthe period covered

by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's

internal control over financial repordng that occurred

during the registrantt most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrantt fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual

report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrantt internal confiol over

financial reporting; and

5. The registrantt other certifring officer(s) and I have disclosed,

based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrantt auditors and the audit
committee of the registrantt board of directors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the

design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the

registrant's abiliry to record, process, summarize and report

financia.l information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves

management or other employees who have a significant role

in the registrantt internal concrol over financial reporting.

/s/ Thomas A. McCarthy

Date:

Chief Financial Offcer
February 27,2014

E-10 CIGNA CORPORATION - 2013 Form 70-K



PART ry
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

D(HIBIT 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Cigna Corporation pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

I certifr that, to the best of my knowledge and belie|, the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cigna Corporation for the fiscal period ending

December 31,2013 (the "Report"):

(l) complieswiththerequirementsofSectionl3(a)orl5(d)oftheSecuritiesExchangeActof1934;and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Cigna

Corporation.

A/ David M. Cordani

David M. Cordani
Chief becatiae fficer
February 27, 2014

CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2013 Forn 10-K E-ll



PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

EXHIBIT 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Cigna Coqporation pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

I certifr that, to the best ofmy knowledge and beliefi, the Annual Report on Form l0-K ofCigna Corporation for the fiscal period ending

December 31,2013 (the "Report"):

(l) complies with the requirements of Section l3(a) or l5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Repon fairly presencs, in dl materid respects, the financial condition and resula of operations of Cigna

Corporation.

/s/ Thomas A McCarthy

Thomar A. McCarthy
Chicf Financial ffier
February 27, 2014

E-r2 CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2013 Form r}-K
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